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The information in this preliminary prospectus is not complete and may be changed. These securities may not be distributed until the registration
statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission is effective. This preliminary prospectus is not an offer to sell nor does it seek an offer
to buy these securities in any jurisdiction where the offer or sale is not permitted.
SUBJECT TO COMPLETION, DATED OCTOBER 25, 2011
PROSPECTUS

RXi PHARMACEUTICALS CORPORATION
Shares of Common Stock
This prospectus is being furnished to the holders of common stock of Galena Biopharma, Inc. (“Galena”) in connection with the distribution by Galena to
its stockholders of [______] shares of common stock of RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation (“RXi”). Assuming the full conversion of RXi’s Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock without regard to applicable conversion limitations, the [____] RXi shares being distributed pursuant to this prospectus will
constitute approximately 8% of the fully diluted shares of RXi common stock immediately following the distribution and the other transactions referred to in
this prospectus. Each holder of Galena common stock as of the close of business on [_______], 2011, the record date for the distribution, will receive a
dividend of one share of our common stock for each share of Galena common stock held by such holder. The distribution will be effective on or about
[_______], 2011. Galena expects that the distribution will be treated as a taxable distribution. See the “Material United States Federal Income Tax
Consequences” section of this prospectus. Holders of Galena common stock should consult with their own individual tax advisors regarding the tax
consequences of the distribution.
This prospectus describes the distribution and contains important information about RXi. No vote or approval of Galena’s stockholders is required in
connection with the distribution. Galena’s stockholders will not be required to pay for the shares of RXi common stock to be received by them in the
distribution, or to surrender shares of Galena common stock in order to receive RXi common stock, and Galena’s stockholders will continue to own all shares
of Galena common stock held by them.
Galena currently holds all of RXi’s common stock. Accordingly, there is no current trading market for RXi common stock. Following the completion of
the distribution, we anticipate that our common stock will trade in the OTC Markets Group under the symbol [“RXII.”] We anticipate that a limited market,
commonly known as a “when-issued” trading market, for our common stock will develop on or shortly before the record date for the distribution and will
continue up to and including through the distribution date, and we anticipate that “regular-way” trading of our common stock will begin on the first trading
day following the date of the distribution. For a further explanation of “when-issued” and “regular-way” trading, see the “Plan of Distribution — Trading
Between the Record Date and the Distribution Date” section of this prospectus
In reviewing this prospectus, you should carefully consider the matters described under the heading “Risk Factors” beginning on page 11.
Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or
determined if this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.
The date of this prospectus is __________, 2011.
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All references to “RXi,” “we,” “our,” “us” and similar terms in this prospectus refer to RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation. All references to “Galena” in
this prospectus refer to Galena Biopharma, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiary, Apthera, Inc.
You should rely only on the information contained in this prospectus. We have not authorized anyone to provide you with different information. You
should not assume that the information contained in this prospectus is accurate as of any date other than the date on the front of this prospectus.
Some of the industry data contained in this prospectus are derived from data from various third-party sources. We have not independently verified any of
this information and cannot assure you of its accuracy or completeness. While we are not aware of any misstatements regarding any industry data presented
herein, such data are subject to change based on various factors, including those discussed under the heading “Risk Factors” in this prospectus.
Neither RXi nor Galena will receive any consideration for the shares of RXi common stock that are being distributed pursuant to this prospectus. The
registration fee that is set forth in the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part was calculated based on our book value and does not reflect any
assessment of the market value of our common stock.
i
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PROSPECTUS SUMMARY
The following is a summary of some of the information contained in this prospectus. In addition to this summary, we urge you to read the entire prospectus
carefully, especially the risks relating to our business and common stock discussed under the heading “Risk Factors” and our financial statements.
On [_______], 2011, we effected a [_______]-for-1 stock split of our outstanding common stock. Unless otherwise indicated, all share data in this
prospectus give retroactive effect to this stock split. Unless otherwise indicated, all share data in this prospectus also assume the acquisition by Tang Capital
Partners, LP and RTW Investments, LLC of our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock on the terms described in this prospectus.
RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation
Our Business
We are a biotechnology company focused on discovering, developing and commercializing innovative therapies addressing major unmet medical needs
using RNAi-targeted technologies. We are pursuing proprietary therapeutics based on RNA interference (“RNAi”), which is a naturally occurring cellular
mechanism that has the potential to effectively and selectively interfere with, or “silence,” expression of targeted disease-associated genes.
We believe that certain human diseases can potentially be treated by silencing targeted genes that lead to disease. While no therapeutic RNAi products
have been approved by the Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) to date, there has been significant interest in the field of RNAi therapeutic development.
This interest is driven by the potential ability to use RNAi to develop lead compounds that specifically and selectively inhibit single target genes, many of
which are thought to be incapable of being inhibited by other modalities. We are currently focusing our internal therapeutic development areas in fibrosis,
with dermal anti-scarring as our first indication. We believe that RXI-109, our first RNAi product candidate, may inhibit CTGF (connective tissue growth
factor) in human fibrotic disease. RXI-109 is initially being developed as a dermal anti-scarring therapy. The highlights of our RXI-109 development program
are the following:
•

We are currently working towards filing an investigational new drug application (“IND”) for RXI-109 and initiating a Phase I/II clinical trial in
2012.

•

Numerous studies implicate CTGF overexpression in scarring and fibrotic diseases. Data obtained from studies of our self-delivering RNA
compounds, including RXI-109, in preclinical models using direct local administration to the skin demonstrate robust cellular delivery and
statistically significant, dose-dependent silencing of CTGF for at least one week.

•

We believe that the potential commercial market for an effective dermal anti-scarring therapy is significant. Approximately 42 million surgical
procedures are performed annually, with many patients experiencing hypertrophic scarring and keloids.

•

We believe that RXI-109 or other CTGF-targeting compounds may be able to treat other indications, including pulmonary fibrosis, liver fibrosis,
acute spinal injury, ocular scarring and restenosis. If clinical studies of RXI-109 produce successful results in anti-scarring, we may explore
opportunities in these indications as well as other dermatology applications.

We intend to maintain our core RNAi discovery and development capability and to develop products both on our own and through collaborations. By
utilizing our expertise in RNAi and the comprehensive RNAi platform that we have established, we believe we will be able to discover and develop lead
compounds and progress them into and through clinical development for potential commercialization. Our proprietary therapeutic platform is comprised of
two main components:
•

Novel RNAi Compounds, referred to as rxRNATM compounds, that are distinct from, and we believe convey significant advantages over, classic
siRNA (conventionally-designed “small interfering RNA” compounds), and offer many of the properties that we believe are important to the clinical
development of RNAi-based drugs. We have developed a number of unique forms of rxRNA compounds, all of which have been shown to be highly
potent both in vitro and in preclinical in vivo models. These RNAi compounds include rxRNAoriTM, rxRNAsoloTM and sd-rxRNATM, or “selfdelivering” RNA. Based on our research, we believe that these different, novel siRNA configurations have various potential advantages for
therapeutic use. These potential advantages include high potency, increased resistance to nucleases and off-target effects, and, in the case of the sdrxRNA compounds, access to cells and tissues with no additional formulation required.

•

Advanced Delivery Technologies that enable the delivery of our rxRNA compounds to potentially treat a variety of acute and chronic diseases using
both local and systemic approaches, potentially providing a competitive advantage in the development of many RNAi therapeutic compounds. Our
suite of delivery technologies is comprised of delivery vehicles, which can be combined with various rxRNA compounds, as well as sd-rxRNA
compounds, which are chemically modified and have the unique property of entering cells and tissues to effect silencing without the need for any
additional delivery vehicle. This suite of delivery technologies has broad applications for multiple therapeutic areas targeting both local and systemic
applications for the delivery of the RNAi drug.
1
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Our Separation from Galena Biopharma, Inc.
Prior to September 24, 2011, our business was operated as an unincorporated division within Galena Biopharma, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Galena”).
On September 8, 2011, we were incorporated in Delaware as a wholly owned subsidiary of Galena.
On September 24, 2011, we entered into a contribution agreement with Galena pursuant to which:
•

Galena assigned and contributed to us substantially all of its RNAi-related technologies and assets, which consist primarily of novel RNAi
compounds and licenses relating to its RNAi technologies, as well as the lease of its Worcester, Massachusetts laboratory facility, fixed assets and
other equipment located at the facility and its employment arrangements with certain scientific, corporate and administrative personnel who have
become our employees, as well as research grants of approximately $800,000 that are subject to the approval of the granting institutions; and

•

We agreed to assume approximately $ 411,000 of accrued expenses of the RXi-109 development program, including assumed capital lease
obligations, and all future obligations under the contributed licenses, employment arrangements and other agreements. Additionally, we agreed to
make future milestone payments to Galena of up to $45 million, consisting of two one-time payments of $15 million and $30 million, respectively, if
we achieve annual net sales equal to or greater than $500 million and $1 billion, respectively, of any covered products that may be developed with
the contributed RNAi technologies.

The Distribution of RXi Common Stock
Assuming the full conversion of RXi’s Series A Convertible Preferred Stock without regard to applicable conversion limitations, the [____] RXi shares
being distributed pursuant to this prospectus will constitute approximately 8% of the fully diluted shares of our common stock immediately upon the
completion of the spin-off transaction. Each holder of Galena common stock as of the close of business on [_______], 2011, the record date for the
distribution, will receive a dividend of one share of our common stock for each
2
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share of Galena common stock held by such holder. The distribution will be made on or about [_______], 2011.
No vote or approval of Galena’s stockholders is required in connection with the distribution. Galena’s stockholders will not be required to pay for the
shares of RXi common stock to be received by them in the distribution, or to surrender shares of Galena common stock in order to receive RXi common
stock, and Galena’s stockholders will continue to own all shares of Galena common stock held by them.
Galena expects that the distribution will be treated as a taxable distribution in an amount equal to the fair market value of our shares on the distribution
date. This amount will be treated as a taxable dividend to the extent of any current year earnings and profits of Galena, including gain resulting from the
distribution, with any excess treated as a non-taxable return of capital to the extent of a holder’s tax basis in Galena’s common stock and any remaining
excess treated as capital gain. For a discussion of the tax consequences to Galena and Galena’s stockholders of the distribution, see the “Material United
States Federal Income Tax Considerations” section of this prospectus. Galena’s stockholders should consult with their own individual tax advisors regarding
the tax consequences of the distribution.
Agreements with Tang Capital Partners, LP and RTW Investments, LLC
On September 24, 2011, we entered into a securities purchase agreement with Galena, Tang Capital Partners, LP (“TCP”) and RTW Investments, LLC
(“RTW”) pursuant to which:
•

TCP and RTW agreed to purchase a total of $9,500,000 of our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (the “Series A Preferred Stock”) at the closing
of the spin-off transaction and to lend to us up to $1,500,000 to fund our operations prior to the closing, with the outstanding principal and accrued
interest on the loan to be converted into Series A Preferred Stock at the closing, at a conversion price of $1,000 per share, and such conversion will
be applied to the $9,500,000 total investment by TCP and RTW;

•

We agreed that the Series A Preferred Stock will be convertible by TCP or RTW at any time into shares of our common stock, except to the extent
that the holder would own more than 9.999% of the shares of our common stock outstanding immediately after giving effect to such conversion.
Without regard to this conversion limitation, the shares of the Series A Preferred Stock to be held by TCP and RTW would be convertible into shares
of our common stock representing approximately 83% of the fully diluted shares of our common stock upon the completion of the spin-off
transaction;

•

We agreed that the Series A Preferred Stock will have the rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions summarized below under “Description of
Capital Stock—Preferred Stock”;

•

Galena agreed to contribute $1.5 million of cash to us;

•

Galena agreed to distribute to its stockholders the shares of RXi common stock that are the subject of this prospectus; the distribution by Galena of
the shares of RXi common stock and RXi’s separation from Galena is referred to in this prospectus as the “spin-off transaction”;

•

We and Galena agreed to take all necessary actions to constitute our initial board of directors as described in the “Management” section of this
prospectus; and

•

We agreed, upon completion of the spin-off transaction, to reimburse Galena for up to a total of $300,000, and to reimburse TCP and RTW for a total
of up to $100,000, of transaction costs relating to the contribution agreement with Galena, the
3
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securities purchase agreement summarized above and the transactions contemplated by those agreements.
Advirna Agreement
As part of the transactions contemplated by the contribution and securities purchase agreements, on September 24, 2011, we entered into agreements with
Advirna, LLC (“Advirna”), a company affiliated with Anastasia Khvorova, Ph.D., our Senior Vice President and Chief Scientific Officer, pursuant to which:
•

Advirna assigned to us its existing patent and technology rights related to sd-rxRNA technology in exchange for our agreement to pay Advirna an
annual $100,000 maintenance fee and a one-time $350,000 milestone payment upon the future issuance of the first patent with valid claims covering
the assigned patent and technology rights;

•

We will be required to pay a 1% royalty to Advirna for any licensing revenue received by us with respect to future licensing of the assigned Advirna
patent and technology rights;

•

We have granted back to Advirna a license under the assigned patent and technology for fields of use outside the fields of human therapeutics and
diagnostics; and

•

We have agreed to issue to Advirna, upon the completion of the spin-off transaction, shares of our common stock equal to approximately 5% of the
fully diluted shares of RXi common stock assuming the conversion in full of all outstanding Series A Preferred Stock.
4
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Risks Related to RXi
We face a number of risks and uncertainties relating to our separation from Galena and our business. These risks and uncertainties include:
•

We may be unable to achieve some or all of the benefits that we expect to achieve from our separation from Galena.

•

We may be unsuccessful in recruiting a Chief Executive Officer or other key employees.

•

We may not be able to obtain sufficient funding and may not be able to commercialize our product candidates.

•

The approach we are taking to discover and develop novel therapeutics using RNAi is unproven and may never lead to marketable products.

•

We may not be able to maintain the third-party relationships that are necessary to develop or commercialize some or all of our product candidates.

•

If our preclinical testing does not produce successful results or our clinical trials do not demonstrate safety and efficacy in humans, our products may
not receive FDA approval and we will not be able to commercialize our drug candidates.

•

Even if we receive regulatory approval to market our product candidates, our product candidates may not be accepted commercially, which may
prevent us from becoming profitable.

•

We are dependent on technologies we license, and if we lose the right to license such technologies or we fail to license new technologies in the
future, our ability to develop new products would be harmed.

For further discussion of these and other risks and uncertainties that RXi faces, see the “Risk Factors” section beginning on page 11 of this prospectus and
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” section beginning on page 35 of this prospectus.
Corporate Information
Our principal executive offices are located at 60 Prescott Street, Worcester, Massachusetts 01605, and our telephone number is (508) 767-3861. Our
Internet address is www.rxipharmaceuticals.com. Our website and the information contained on that site, or connected to that site, is not part of or
incorporated by reference into this prospectus.
5
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The Distribution
Distributing company

Galena Biopharma, Inc., a Delaware corporation.

Distributed company

RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation, a Delaware corporation.

Securities to be distributed

A fixed number of [_______] shares of RXi common stock will be distributed to Galena’s stockholders.

Reasons for the distribution

Galena’s lead therapeutic programs are based on peptide-based immunotherapy products for the treatment
of various cancers, while our therapeutic programs are focused on RNAi. The discovery and development
of immunotherapy products requires skills, patents and management expertise that are different from the
skills, patents and management expertise that are required for RNAi drug development and discovery.
Because of the difference in focus with respect to therapeutic programs, and the difficulties that may arise
adequately funding and managing programs in both of these areas, the Galena board of directors
determined that the best strategy for realizing the potential value of Galena’s RNAi assets was to contribute
them to RXi, with a focus on developing and commercializing RNAi therapeutics, followed by the spin-off
of RXi as described in this prospectus.
6
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Distribution ratio and record date

Each holder of Galena common stock as of the close of business on [_______], 2011, the record date for
the distribution, will receive a dividend of one share of RXi common stock for each share of Galena
common stock held by such holder.

Manner of effecting the distribution

The distribution will consist of Galena’s payment of a dividend to Galena’s stockholders in the form of
shares of RXi common stock. No vote or approval of Galena’s stockholders is required in connection with
the distribution. You will not be required to make any payment, or to surrender or exchange your shares of
Galena’s common stock, or take any other action to receive your shares of our common stock, and Galena’s
stockholders will continue to own all shares of Galena common stock held by them. If you own Galena
common stock as of the close of business on the record date, Galena, with the assistance of Computershare,
the distribution agent and RXi’s transfer agent, will electronically issue shares of our common stock to you
or to your brokerage firm on your behalf by way of direct registration in book-entry form. Computershare
will mail to you a book-entry account statement that reflects your shares of RXi common stock, or your
bank or brokerage firm will credit your account for the shares. If you sell shares of Galena common stock
in the “regular-way” market up to and including through the distribution date, you will be selling your right
to receive shares of RXi common stock in the distribution. Following the distribution, stockholders may
request that their shares be transferred to a brokerage or other account at any time, without charge. Please
see “The Distribution —Direct Registration System” section of this prospectus for a more detailed
description of the direct registration system and how shares of Galena common stock may be sold and
transferred.

Expected distribution date

[_______], 2011.

Distribution agent, transfer agent and registrar
for the shares

Computershare will be the distribution agent for the distribution and the transfer agent and registrar for
RXi common stock following the distribution.

United States federal income tax consequences
of the distribution

Galena expects that the distribution will be treated as a taxable distribution in an amount equal to the fair
market value of the RXi shares on the distribution date. This amount will be treated as a dividend to the
extent of any current year earnings and profits of Galena, including any gain resulting from the
distribution, with the excess treated as a non-taxable return of capital,
7
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to the extent of a holder’s tax basis in Galena common stock and any remaining excess treated as capital
gain. For a discussion of the tax consequences to Galena and Galena’s stockholders of the distribution, see
the “Material United States Federal Income Tax Considerations” section of this prospectus. Galena’s
stockholders should consult with their own individual tax advisors regarding the tax consequences of the
distribution.
Trading market

There currently is no public market for our common stock. Following the completion of the distribution,
we anticipate that our common stock will trade in the OTC Markets Group under the symbol [“RXII.”] We
anticipate that trading will commence on [_______], 2011. We cannot predict the trading prices for our
common stock before or after the distribution date.

Relationship with Galena after the distribution

Immediately following the completion of the spin-off transaction, Galena will own approximately 4% of
our common stock on a fully diluted basis assuming the conversion in full of all Series A Preferred Stock
without regard to applicable conversion limitations. We are a party to several agreements with Galena
relating to its ownership of our common stock and other matters as described in the “Certain Relationships
and Related Party Transactions” section of this prospectus.

Post-distribution dividend policy

RXi has never declared a dividend on its common stock and does not plan to do so for the foreseeable
future.

Risk factors

You should carefully consider the matters discussed in the “Risk Factors” section of this prospectus.

Where Galena’s stockholders can obtain more
information

If you have any questions relating to the separation of RXi from Galena, you should contact:
Mark J. Ahn, Ph.D
President and Chief Executive Officer
Galena Biopharma, Inc.
310 N. State Street, Suite 208
Lake Oswego, Oregon 97034
(855) 855-4253
8
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Summary Historical Financial Information
The following summary historical financial information should be read in conjunction with the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” section and the financial statements and corresponding notes to financial statements included elsewhere in this
prospectus.
Prior to December 31, 2010, Galena was engaged primarily in conducting discovery research and preclinical development activities based on RNAi, and
Galena’s financial statements for periods prior to December 31, 2010 reflected solely the assets, liabilities and results of operations attributable to Galena’s
RNAi-based assets, liabilities and results of operations. Subsequent to December 31, 2010, but prior to June 30, 2011, Galena broadened its strategic direction
by adding the development and commercialization of cancer therapies that utilize peptide-based immunotherapy products, including a main product
candidate, NeuVax, for the treatment of various cancers. Accordingly, the historical financial information for the six-month period ended June 30, 2011 and
the cumulative period from inception (January 1, 2003) through June 30, 2011 has been “carved out” of the financial statements of Galena, as our
“Predecessor,” for such periods. Such carved-out financial information reflects Galena’s RNAi-related activities, assets and liabilities only, and excludes
activities, assets and liabilities attributable to Galena’s cancer therapies. On September 24, 2011, Galena contributed to RXi substantially all of Galena’s
RNAi-related technologies and assets.
The carved-out financial information includes both direct and indirect expenses. The historical direct expenses consist primarily of the various costs for
technology license agreements, sponsored research agreements, fees paid to scientific advisors and employee expenses of employees directly involved in
RNAi-related activities. Indirect expenses represent employee expenses incurred by Galena that were allocable to RXi. The indirect expenses are based upon
(1) estimates of the percentage of time spent by Galena employees working on RXi matters and (2) allocations of various expenses associated with the
employees, including salary, benefits, rent associated with the employees’ office space, accounting and other general and administrative expenses. The
percentage of time spent by Galena employees was multiplied by these allocable expenses to arrive at the total employee expenses allocable to RXi and
reflected in the carved out financial statements. Management believes the assumptions underlying the carved-out financial information are reasonable;
however, RXi’s actual financial position and expenses may have been materially different if RXi had operated as a stand-alone entity during the periods
presented.
9
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The information presented as of and for the six-month periods ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively, is unaudited and has been prepared on the same
basis as the audited financial statements and includes all adjustments, consisting of only normal recurring adjustments, necessary for the fair presentation of
this information in all material respects. The results of any interim period are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations to be expected for a full
fiscal year.
Period from
January 1, 2003
(Date of Inception)
to June 30, 2011

Six Months Ended June 30,
2011
2010
(Amounts in thousands)

Statement of Expenses Data:
Expenses:
Research and development expense
General and administrative expense

$

Total operating expenses
Interest income (expense)
Other income (expense)
Net loss

43,055
35,235
78,290
628
6,155

$

(71,507)

$

3,948
4,165

$

8,113
—
2,390

4,190
5,020

Years Ended December 31,
2010
2009

$

9,210
2
3,181

$ (5,723)

$ (6,027)
June 30, 2011

7,873
8,752

$

16,625
5
4,627
$ (11,993)

8,892
8,628
17,520
(5)
(862)

$ (18,387)

December 31,
2010
2009
(Amounts in thousands)

Balance Sheets Data:
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets
Equipment and furnishings, net
Total assets

$

Total liabilities
Divisional equity (deficit)
Total liabilities and divisional equity (deficit)

$

$

—
80
433
513

13,326
(12,813)
$
513
10

$

$
$
$

6,891
7,041
419
7,476

$

5,684
5,804
432
6,252

5,046
2,430
7,476

$

5,511
741
6,252

$
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RISK FACTORS
You should carefully consider the risks described below and all of the other information contained in this prospectus in evaluating us and our common
stock. If any of the following risks and uncertainties develop into actual events, they could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition
or results of operations. In that case, the trading price of our common stock could decline.
Risks Relating to Our Spin-off From Galena
We may be unable to achieve some or all of the benefits that we expect to achieve from our spin-off from Galena.
As a separate company, we believe that our business will benefit from, among other things, an enhanced ability to compete with other companies dedicated
to developing proprietary RNAi therapeutics. However, we may not be able to achieve some or all of the benefits that we expect to achieve as a separate,
independent public company. For example, we may not be able to obtain approval from one or more granting institutions to Galena’s assignment to us of
approximately $800,000 of research grants, in which case we will not be able to retain the grants. We also may not be able to raise funds as a separate
company, which might have been available to a combined company that may have offered a broader investment opportunity to a wider range of potential
investors. Nor will we have the benefit of Galena’s relationships with sources of funding.
In addition, as we have prepared to operate as a separate company, we have had to bear the cost of establishing our own accounting, human resources and
other administrative functions. We may not be able to continue to perform or engage third parties to provide these functions with the same level of expertise
and on the same or more favorable terms as they were provided by Galena in the past. As a result, we could incur additional expenses for such services, and in
such event, our business and operations may be adversely affected.
We may be unsuccessful in recruiting a Chief Executive Officer or other executives.
We will need to recruit and hire a Chief Executive Officer to replace Mark J. Ahn, Ph.D., who currently serves as our President and Chief Financial
Officer, and other executive officers and key employees. There is intense competition for experienced executive officers and other key personnel, and we may
not be able to recruit and retain the personnel we need. If we fail to do so, our business prospects may suffer.
You may have difficulty evaluating our business because we have no history as a separate company and our historical financial information may not
be representative of our results as a separate company.
The historical financial information included in this prospectus does not necessarily reflect the financial condition, results of operations or cash flows that
we would have achieved as a separate company during the periods presented or those that we will achieve in the future. Prior to the contribution of our RNAi
assets from Galena, our RNAi research and development activities were conducted by Galena as part of its broader operations, rather than as an independent
division or subsidiary. Galena also performed various corporate functions relating to our business, as discussed above. Our historical financial information
reflects allocations of corporate expenses from Galena for these and similar functions. We believe that these allocations are comparable to the expenses we
would have incurred had we operated as a separate company, although we may incur higher expenses as a separate company.
We may not be able to effectively operate as a separate company.
We are a discovery-stage company with limited operating history. We will focus on developing and, if we obtain regulatory approval for our product
candidates, commercializing therapeutic products based upon RNAi technologies, and there is no assurance that we will be able to successfully implement our
business plan. While our management collectively possesses substantial business experience, there is no assurance that, as a separate company, we will be
able to manage our business effectively, or that we will be able to identify, hire and retain any needed additional management or scientific personnel to
develop and implement our product
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development plans, obtain third-party contracts or any needed financing, or achieve the other components of our business plan.
The obligations associated with being an independent public company will require significant resources and management attention.
In connection with the distribution of our common stock, we will become subject to the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act”), and the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. The Exchange Act requires that we file annual, quarterly and current reports. Our
failure to prepare and disclose this information in a timely manner could subject us to penalties under federal securities laws, expose us to lawsuits and restrict
our ability to access financing. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires that we, among other things, establish and maintain effective internal controls and
procedures for financial reporting and we are presently evaluating our existing internal controls in light of the standards adopted by the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board. During the course of our evaluation, we may identify areas requiring improvement and may be required to design enhanced
processes and controls to address issues identified through this review. This could result in significant cost to us and require us to divert substantial resources,
including management time, from other activities.
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires annual management assessments of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. In
preparation for this, we may identify deficiencies that we may not be able to remediate in time to meet the deadline for compliance with the requirements of
Section 404. Our failure to satisfy the requirements of Section 404 on a timely basis could result in the loss of investor confidence in the reliability of our
financial statements, which in turn could have a material adverse effect on our business and our common stock.
Risks Relating to Our Business
We will be dependent on the success of our lead drug candidate, which may not receive regulatory approval or be successfully commercialized.
RXI-109, our first RNAi-based product candidate, targets CTGF and may have a variety of medical applications. We are planning to file an IND
application with the FDA and begin a Phase I/II clinical trial in 2012 for RXI-109. The FDA, however, may deny our application or require additional
information before approving the application, and such information may be costly to provide. There is no assurance that we will be able to successfully
develop RXI-109 or any other product candidate.
We currently generate no revenue from sales and may never be able to develop marketable products. The FDA or similar foreign governmental agencies
must approve our products in development before they can
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be marketed. The process for obtaining FDA approval is both time-consuming and costly, with no certainty of a successful outcome. Before obtaining
regulatory approval for the sale of any drug candidate, we must conduct extensive preclinical tests and clinical trials to demonstrate the safety and efficacy in
humans of our product candidates. We have not yet shown safety or efficacy in humans for any RNAi-based product candidates, including RXI-109. A failure
of any preclinical study or clinical trial can occur at any stage of testing. The results of preclinical and initial clinical testing of these products may not
necessarily indicate the results that will be obtained from later or more extensive testing. It is also possible to suffer significant setbacks in advanced clinical
trials, even after obtaining promising results in earlier trials.
A number of different factors could prevent us from obtaining regulatory approval or commercializing our product candidates on a timely basis, or
at all.
We, the FDA or other applicable regulatory authorities or an institutional review board (“IRB”) may suspend clinical trials of a drug candidate at any time
for various reasons, including if we or they believe the subjects or patients participating in such trials are being exposed to unacceptable health risks. Among
other reasons, adverse side effects of a drug candidate on subjects or patients in a clinical trial could result in the FDA or other regulatory authorities
suspending or terminating the trial and refusing to approve a particular drug candidate for any or all indications of use.
Clinical trials of a new drug candidate require the enrollment of a sufficient number of patients, including patients who are suffering from the disease the
drug candidate is intended to treat and who meet other eligibility criteria. Rates of patient enrollment are affected by many factors, and delays in patient
enrollment can result in increased costs and longer development times.
Clinical trials also require the review and oversight of IRBs, which approve and continually review clinical investigations and protect the rights and
welfare of human subjects. An inability or delay in obtaining IRB approval could prevent or delay the initiation and completion of clinical trials, and the FDA
may decide not to consider any data or information derived from a clinical investigation not subject to initial and continuing IRB review and approval.
Numerous factors could affect the timing, cost or outcome of our drug development efforts, including the following:
•

Delays in filing the initial drug application for RXI-109 or other product candidates;

•

Difficulty in securing centers to conduct trials;

•

Conditions imposed on us by the FDA or comparable foreign authorities regarding the scope or design of RXi’s clinical trials;

•

Problems in engaging IRBs to oversee trials or problems in obtaining or maintaining IRB approval of studies;

•

Difficulty in enrolling patients in conformity with required protocols or projected timelines;

•

Third-party contractors failing to comply with regulatory requirements or to meet their contractual obligations to us in a timely manner;

•

Our drug candidates having very different chemical and pharmacological properties in humans than in laboratory testing and interacting with human
biological systems in unforeseen, ineffective or harmful ways;
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•

The need to suspend or terminate clinical trials if the participants are being exposed to unacceptable health risks;

•

Insufficient or inadequate supply or quality of our drug candidates or other necessary materials necessary to conduct our clinical trials;

•

Effects of our drug candidates not being the desired effects or including undesirable side effects or the drug candidates having other unexpected
characteristics;

•

The cost of our clinical trials being greater than we anticipate;

•

Negative or inconclusive results from our clinical trials or the clinical trials of others for similar drug candidates or inability to generate statistically
significant data confirming the efficacy of the product being tested;

•

Changes in the FDA’s requirements for testing during the course of that testing;

•

Reallocation of our limited financial and other resources to other clinical programs; and

•

Adverse results obtained by other companies developing similar drugs.

It is possible that none of the product candidates that we may develop will obtain the appropriate regulatory approvals necessary to begin selling them or
that any regulatory approval to market a product may be subject to limitations on the indicated uses for which we may market the product. The time required
to obtain FDA and other approvals is unpredictable, but often can take years following the commencement of clinical trials, depending upon the complexity
of the drug candidate. Any analysis we perform of data from clinical activities is subject to confirmation and interpretation by regulatory authorities, which
could delay, limit or prevent regulatory approval. Any delay or failure in obtaining required approvals could have a material adverse effect on our ability to
generate revenue from the particular drug candidate.
We also are subject to numerous foreign regulatory requirements governing the conduct of clinical trials, manufacturing and marketing authorization,
pricing and third-party reimbursement. The foreign regulatory approval process includes all of the risks associated with the FDA approval described above as
well as risks attributable to the satisfaction of local regulations in foreign jurisdictions. Approval by the FDA does not assure approval by regulatory
authorities outside of the United States.
The approach we are taking to discover and develop novel therapeutics using RNAi is unproven and may never lead to marketable products.
RNA interference is a relatively new scientific discovery. Our RNAi technologies have not yet been clinically tested, nor are we aware of any clinical trials
for efficacy having been completed by third parties involving these technologies. To date, no company has received regulatory approval to market
therapeutics utilizing RNAi, and a number of clinical trials of RNAi technologies by other companies have been unsuccessful. The scientific evidence to
support the feasibility of developing drugs based on these discoveries is both preliminary and limited. To successfully develop RNAi-based products, we must
resolve a number of issues, including stabilizing the RNAi material and delivering it into target cells in the human body. We may spend large amounts of
money trying to resolve these issues and may never succeed in doing so. In addition, any compounds that we develop may not demonstrate in patients the
chemical and pharmacological properties ascribed to them in laboratory studies, and they may interact with human biological systems in unforeseen,
ineffective or even harmful ways.
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The FDA could impose a unique regulatory regime for RNAi therapeutics.
The substances we intend to develop may represent a new class of drug, and the FDA has not yet established any definitive policies, practices or guidelines
in relation to these drugs. While we expect any product candidates that we develop will be regulated as a new drug under the Federal Food, Drug, and
Cosmetic Act, the FDA could decide to regulate them or other products we may develop as biologics under the Public Health Service Act. The lack of
policies, practices or guidelines may hinder or slow review by the FDA of any regulatory filings that we may submit. Moreover, the FDA may respond to
these submissions by defining requirements that we may not have anticipated.
The FDA approval process may be delayed for any drugs we develop that require the use of specialized drug delivery devices or vehicles.
Some drug candidates that we develop may need to be administered using specialized vehicles, such as an implantable pump, that deliver RNAi
therapeutics directly to diseased parts of the body. The drug delivery vehicles that we expect to utilize to deliver our drug candidates have not been approved
by the FDA or other regulatory agencies. In addition, the FDA may regulate the product as a combination product of a drug and a device or require additional
approvals or clearances for the modified delivery.
If a specialized delivery vehicle is owned by another company, we would need that company’s cooperation to implement the necessary changes to the
vehicle, or its labeling and to obtain any additional approvals or clearances. Any delays in finding suitable drug delivery vehicles to administer RNAi
therapeutics directly to diseased parts of the body could negatively affect our ability to successfully develop our RNAi therapeutics.
Even if we receive regulatory approval to market our product candidates, our product candidates may not be accepted commercially, which may
prevent us from becoming profitable.
The RNAi product candidates that we are developing are based on new technologies and therapeutic approaches. RNAi products may be more expensive
to manufacture than traditional small molecule drugs, which may make them more costly than competing small molecule drugs. Additionally, for various
applications, RNAi products are likely to require injection or implantation and to not readily cross the so-called blood brain barrier, which will make them
less convenient to administer than drugs administered orally. Key participants in the pharmaceutical marketplace, such as physicians, medical professionals
working in large reference laboratories, public health laboratories and hospitals, third-party payors and consumers may not accept products intended to
improve therapeutic results based on RNAi technology. As a result, it may be more difficult for us to convince the medical community and third-party payors
to accept and use our products or to provide favorable reimbursement. If medical professionals working with large reference laboratories, public health
laboratories and hospitals choose not to adopt and use our RNAi technology, our products may not achieve broader market acceptance.
We will be subject to competition and may not be able to compete successfully.
A number of companies are using RNAi technologies, including for at least some of the disease indications we have been focusing our efforts on to date.
Companies working in the RNAi area include: Alnylam Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Marina Biotech, Inc., Tacere Therapeutics, Inc., Benitec Limited, OPKO
Health, Inc., Silence Therapeutics plc, Quark Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Rosetta Genomics Ltd., Lorus Therapeutics, Inc., Tekmira Pharmaceuticals Corporation,
Calando Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Regulus Therapeutics Inc., and Santaris Pharmaceuticals, as well as a number of large pharmaceutical companies.
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Furthermore, a number of companies are developing therapeutics for the same diseases we are targeting, including anti-scarring for which we are
developing our first RNAi product candidate, using technologies other than RNAi, and, for some of these diseases, there are existing therapeutics currently on
the market. For example, Excaliard Pharmaceuticals, Inc. has successfully advanced an anti-CTGF antisense oligonucleotide through several Phase I and II
clinical trials and has demonstrated improved scar outcome over placebo.
Most of these competitors have substantially greater research and development capabilities and financial, scientific, technical, manufacturing, marketing,
distribution and other resources than we have, and we may not be able to successfully compete with them. In addition, even if we are successful in developing
our product candidates, in order to compete successfully we may need to be first to market or to demonstrate that our RNAi based products are superior to
therapies based on different technologies. A number of our competitors have already commenced clinical testing of RNAi product candidates and may be
more advanced than we are in the process of developing products. If we are not first to market or are unable to demonstrate superiority, any products for
which we are able to obtain approval may not be successful.
We will be dependent on technologies we license, and if we lose the right to license such technologies or fail to license new technologies in the future,
our ability to develop new products would be harmed.
Many patents in the RNAi field have already been exclusively licensed to third parties, including our competitors. If any of our existing licenses are
terminated, the development of the products contemplated by the licenses could be delayed or terminated and we may not be able to negotiate additional
licenses on acceptable terms, if at all, which would have a material adverse effect on our business.
We may be unable to protect our intellectual property rights licensed from other parties; our intellectual property rights may be inadequate to
prevent third parties from using our technologies or developing competing products; and we may need to license additional intellectual property
from others.
Therapeutic applications of gene silencing technologies, delivery methods and other technologies that we license from third parties are claimed in a
number of pending patent applications, but there is no assurance that these applications will result in any issued patents or that those patents would withstand
possible legal challenges or protect our technologies from competition. The United States Patent and Trademark Office and patent granting authorities in
other countries have upheld stringent standards for the RNAi patents that have been prosecuted so far. Consequently, pending patents that we have licensed
and those that we own may continue to experience long and difficult prosecution challenges and may ultimately issue with much narrower claims than those
in the pending applications. Third parties may hold or seek to obtain additional patents that could make it more difficult or impossible for us to develop
products based on RNAi technology without obtaining a license to such patents, which licenses may not be available on attractive terms, or at all.
In addition, others may challenge the patents or patent applications that we currently license or may license in the future or that we own and, as a result,
these patents could be narrowed, invalidated or rendered unenforceable, which would negatively affect our ability to exclude others from using RNAi
technologies described in these patents. There is no assurance that these patent or other pending applications or issued patents we license or that we own will
withstand possible legal challenges. Moreover, the laws of some foreign countries may not protect our proprietary rights to the same extent as do the laws of
the United States. Any patents issued to us or our licensors may not provide us with any competitive advantages, and there is no assurance that the patents of
others will not have an adverse effect on our ability to do business or to continue to use its technologies freely. Our efforts to enforce and maintain our
intellectual property rights may not be successful and may result in substantial costs and diversion of management time. Even if our rights are valid,
enforceable and broad in scope, competitors may develop products based on technology that is not covered by our licenses or patents or patent application
that we own.
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We have received a letter from a third party claiming that we require access to such third party’s patent and patent applications and demanding that we stop
engaging in unspecified alleged infringing activities unless we obtain a license from such third party. We understand that other companies working in the
RNAi area have received similar letters from this third party. Although we do not believe, based on the advice of our patent counsel, that our current and
planned activities infringe any valid patent rights of such third party, there is no assurance that we will not need to alter our development candidates or
products or obtain a license to such third party rights to avoid any such infringement.
There is no guarantee that future licenses will be available from third parties for our product candidates on satisfactory terms, or at all. To the extent that
we are required and are able to obtain multiple licenses from third parties to develop or commercialize a product candidate, the aggregate licensing fees and
milestones and royalty payments made to these parties may materially reduce our economic returns or even cause us to abandon development or
commercialization of a product candidate.
Our success depends upon our ability to obtain and maintain intellectual property protection for our products and technologies.
The applications based on RNAi technologies claim many different methods, compositions and processes relating to the discovery, development, delivery
and commercialization of RNAi therapeutics. Because this field is so new, very few of these patent applications have been fully processed by government
patent offices around the world, and there is a great deal of uncertainty about which patents will issue, when, to whom and with what claims. It is likely that
there will be significant litigation and other proceedings, such as interference and opposition proceedings in various patent offices, relating to patent rights in
the RNAi field and that we may be a party to such proceedings.
We will rely upon third parties for the manufacture of our clinical product candidates.
We do not have the facilities or expertise to manufacture supplies of any of our potential product candidates for clinical trials. Accordingly, we will be
dependent upon contract manufacturers for these supplies. There is no assurance that we will be able to secure needed supply arrangements on attractive
terms, or at all. Our failure to secure these arrangements as needed could have a material adverse effect on our ability to complete the development of our
product candidates or, if we obtain regulatory approval for our product candidates, to commercialize them.
We may not be able to establish or maintain the third-party relationships that are necessary to develop or potentially commercialize some or all of
our product candidates.
We expect to depend on collaborators, partners, licensees, clinical research organizations and other third parties to support our discovery efforts, to
formulate product candidates, to manufacture our product candidates and to conduct clinical trials for some or all of our product candidates. We cannot
guarantee that we will be able to successfully negotiate agreements for or maintain relationships with collaborators, partners, licensees, clinical investigators,
vendors and other third parties on favorable terms, if at all. Our ability to successfully negotiate such agreements will depend on, among other things,
potential partners’ evaluation of the superiority of our technology over competing technologies, the quality of the preclinical and clinical data that we have
generated and the perceived risks specific to developing our product candidates. If we are unable to obtain or maintain these agreements, we may not be able
to clinically develop, formulate, manufacture, obtain regulatory approvals for or commercialize our product candidates. We cannot necessarily control the
amount or timing of resources that our contract partners will devote to our research and development programs, product candidates or potential product
candidates, and we cannot guarantee that these parties will fulfill their obligations to us under these arrangements in a timely fashion. We may not be able to
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readily terminate any such agreements with contract partners even if such contract partners do not fulfill their obligations to us.
Even if we obtain regulatory approvals, our marketed drugs will be subject to ongoing regulatory review. If we fail to comply with continuing U.S.
and foreign regulations, we could lose our approvals to market drugs and our business would be materially and adversely affected.
Following regulatory approval of any drugs we may develop, we will remain subject to continuing regulatory review, including the review of adverse drug
experiences and clinical results that are reported after our drug products are made available to patients. This would include results from any post-marketing
tests or vigilance required as a condition of approval. The manufacturer and manufacturing facilities we use to make any of our drug products will also be
subject to periodic review and inspection by the FDA. The discovery of any new or previously unknown problems with the product, manufacturer or facility
may result in restrictions on the drug or manufacturer or facility, including withdrawal of the drug from the market. We would continue to be subject to the
FDA requirements governing the labeling, packaging, storage, advertising, promotion, recordkeeping and submission of safety and other post-market
information for all of our product candidates, even those that the FDA had approved. If we fail to comply with applicable continuing regulatory requirements,
we may be subject to fines, suspension or withdrawal of regulatory approval, product recalls and seizures, operating restrictions and other adverse
consequences.
We are subject to potential liabilities from clinical testing and future product liability claims.
If any of our future products are alleged to be defective, they may expose us to claims for personal injury by patients in clinical trials of our products. If
our products are approved by the FDA, users may claim that such products caused unintended adverse effects. We will seek to obtain clinical trial insurance
for clinical trials that we conduct, as well as liability insurance for any products that we market. There is no assurance that we will be able to obtain insurance
in the amounts we seek, or at all. We anticipate that licensees who develop our products will carry liability insurance covering the clinical testing and
marketing of those products. There is no assurance, however, that any insurance maintained by us or our licensees will prove adequate in the event of a claim
against us. Even if claims asserted against us are unsuccessful, they may divert management’s attention from our operations and we may have to incur
substantial costs to defend such claims.
Any drugs we develop may become subject to unfavorable pricing regulations, third-party reimbursement practices or healthcare reform initiatives,
which could have a material adverse effect on our business.
We intend to sell our products primarily to hospitals, oncologists and clinics which receive reimbursement for the health care services they provide to their
patients from third-party payors, such as Medicare, Medicaid and other domestic and international government programs, private insurance plans and
managed care programs. Most third-party payors may deny reimbursement if they determine that a medical product was not used in accordance with costeffective treatment methods, as determined by the third-party payor, was used for an unapproved indication or if they believe the cost of the product
outweighs its benefits. Third-party payors also may refuse to reimburse for experimental procedures and devices. Furthermore, because our programs are still
in development, we are unable at this time to determine their cost-effectiveness and the level or method of reimbursement for them. Increasingly, the thirdparty payors who reimburse patients are requiring that drug companies provide them with predetermined discounts from list prices, and are challenging the
prices charged for medical products. If the price we are able to charge for any products we develop is inadequate in light of our development and other costs,
our profitability could be adversely affected.
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We currently expect that any drugs we develop may need to be administered under the supervision of a physician. Under currently applicable law, drugs
that are not usually self-administered may be eligible for coverage by the Medicare program if:
•

They are “incidental” to a physician’s services;

•

They are “reasonable and necessary” for the diagnosis or treatment of the illness or injury for which they are administered according to accepted
standard of medical practice;

•

They are not excluded as immunizations; and

•

They have been approved by the FDA.

Insurers may refuse to provide insurance coverage for newly approved drugs, or insurance coverage may be delayed or be more limited than the purpose
for which the drugs are approved by the FDA. Moreover, eligibility for insurance coverage does not imply that any drug will be reimbursed in all cases or at a
rate that covers our costs, including research, development, manufacture, sale and distribution. Interim payments for new drugs, if applicable, may also not be
sufficient to cover our costs and may not be made permanent. Reimbursement may be based on payments for other services and may reflect budgetary
constraints or imperfections in Medicare data. Net prices for drugs may be reduced by mandatory discounts or rebates required by government health care
programs or private payors and by any future relaxation of laws that presently restrict imports of drugs from countries where they may be sold at lower prices
than in the United States. Third-party payors often rely upon Medicare coverage policy and payment limitations in setting their own reimbursement rates. Our
inability to promptly obtain coverage and profitable reimbursement rates from both government-funded and private payors for new drugs that we develop
could have a material adverse effect on our operating results, our ability to raise capital needed to develop products and our overall financial condition.
Additionally, third-party payors are increasingly attempting to contain health care costs by limiting both coverage and the level of reimbursement for
medical products and services. Levels of reimbursement may decrease in the future, and future legislation, regulation or reimbursement policies of third-party
payors may adversely affect the demand for and price levels of our products. If our customers are not reimbursed for our products, they may reduce or
discontinue purchases of our products, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Comprehensive health care reform legislation, which was recently adopted by Congress and was subsequently signed into law, could adversely affect our
business and financial condition. Among other provisions, the legislation provides that a “biosimilar” product may be approved by the FDA on the basis of
analytical tests and certain clinical studies demonstrating that such product is highly similar to an existing, approved product and that switching between an
existing product and the biosimilar product will not result in diminished safety or efficacy. This abbreviated regulatory approval process may result in
increased competition if we are able to bring a product to market. The legislation also includes more stringent compliance programs for companies in various
sectors of the life sciences industry with which we may need to comply and enhanced penalties for non-compliance with the new health care regulations.
Complying with new regulations may divert management resources, and inadvertent failure to comply with new regulations may result in penalties being
imposed on us.
Some states and localities have established drug importation programs for their citizens, and federal drug import legislation has been introduced in
Congress. The Medicare Prescription Drug Plan legislation, which became law in December 2003, required the Secretary of Health and Human Services to
promulgate regulations for drug reimportation from Canada into the United States under some circumstances, including
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when the drugs are sold at a lower price than in the United States. The Secretary, however, retained the discretion not to implement a drug reimportation plan
if he finds that the benefits do not outweigh the costs, and has so far declined to approve a reimportation plan. Proponents of drug reimportation may attempt
to pass legislation that would directly allow reimportation under certain circumstances. Legislation or regulations allowing the reimportation of drugs, if
enacted, could decrease the price we receive for any products that we may develop and adversely affect our future revenues and prospects for profitability.
If we fail to attract, hire and retain qualified personnel, we may not be able to design, develop, market or sell our products or successfully manage
our business.
Our business prospects are dependent on our management team. The loss of Dr. Anastasia Khvorova (our Senior Vice President and Chief Scientific
Officer) or Dr. Pamela Pavco (our Senior Vice President of Pharmaceutical Development), or any of our other key employees, or our inability to identify,
attract, retain and integrate additional qualified key personnel, could make it difficult for us to manage our business successfully and achieve our business
objectives.
Competition for skilled research, product development, regulatory and technical personnel is intense, and we may not be able to recruit and retain the
personnel we need. The loss of the services of any key research, product development, regulatory and technical personnel, or our inability to hire new
personnel with the requisite skills, could restrict our ability to develop our product candidates.
We may not be able to obtain sufficient financing and may not be able to develop our product candidates.
With the proceeds received in connection with the spin-off transaction, we believe that we have sufficient working capital to fund our currently planned
expenditures through December 31, 2012. However, in the future we may need to incur debt or issue equity in order to fund our planned expenditures as well
as to make acquisitions and other investments. We cannot assure you that debt or equity financing will be available to us on acceptable terms or at all. If we
cannot, or are limited in the ability to, incur debt, issue equity or enter in strategic collaborations, we may be unable to fund discovery and development of our
product candidates, address gaps in our product offerings or improve our technology.
We anticipate that we will need to raise substantial amounts of money to fund a variety of future activities integral to the development of our business,
which may include but are not limited to the following:
•

To conduct research and development to successfully develop our RNAi technologies;

•

To obtain regulatory approval for our products;

•

To file and prosecute patent applications and to defend and assess patents to protect our technologies;

•

To retain qualified employees, particularly in light of intense competition for qualified scientists;

•

To manufacture products ourselves or through third parties;

•

To market our products, either through building our own sales and distribution capabilities or relying on third parties; and

•

To acquire new technologies, licenses or products.
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We cannot assure you that any needed financing will be available to us on acceptable terms or at all. If we cannot obtain additional financing in the future,
our operations may be restricted and we may ultimately be unable to continue to develop and potentially commercialize our product candidates.
Future financing may be obtained through, and future development efforts may be paid for by, the issuance of debt or equity, which may have an
adverse effect on our stockholders or may otherwise adversely affect our business.
If we raise funds through the issuance of debt or equity, any debt securities or preferred stock issued will have rights, preferences and privileges senior to
those of holders of our common stock in the event of a liquidation. In such event, there is a possibility that once all senior claims are settled, there may be no
assets remaining to pay out to the holders of common stock. In addition, if we raise funds through the issuance of additional equity, whether through private
placements or public offerings, such an issuance would dilute your ownership in us.
The terms of debt securities may also impose restrictions on our operations, which may include limiting our ability to incur additional indebtedness, to pay
dividends on or repurchase our capital stock, or to make certain acquisitions or investments. In addition, we may be subject to covenants requiring us to
satisfy certain financial tests and ratios, and our ability to satisfy such covenants may be affected by events outside of our control.
We expect to continue to incur significant research and development expenses, which may make it difficult for us to attain profitability, and may
lead to uncertainty about or as to our ability to continue as a going concern.
Substantial funds were expended to develop our RNAi technologies, and additional substantial funds will be required for further research and
development, including preclinical testing and clinical trials of any product candidates, and to manufacture and market any products that are approved for
commercial sale. Because the successful development of our products is uncertain, we are unable to precisely estimate the actual funds we will require to
develop and potentially commercialize them. In addition, we may not be able to generate enough revenue, even if we are able to commercialize any of our
product candidates, to become profitable.
If we are unable to achieve or sustain profitability or to secure additional financing, we may not be able to meet our obligations as they come due, raising
substantial doubts as to our ability to continue as a going concern. Any such inability to continue as a going concern may result in our common stock holders
losing their entire investment. There is no guarantee that we will become profitable or secure additional financing. Our financial statements contemplate that
we will continue as a going concern and do not contain any adjustments that might result if we were unable to continue as a going concern. Changes in our
operating plans, our existing and anticipated working capital needs, the acceleration or modification of our expansion plans, increased expenses, potential
acquisitions or other events will all affect our ability to continue as a going concern.
Risks Relating to Our Common Stock
The distribution of our common stock to Galena’s stockholders is expected to be taxable, and our stockholders will be required to pay U.S. federal
income taxes.
Galena expects that the distribution of our common stock will be taxable to holders of Galena common stock. An amount equal to the fair market value of
our common stock on the distribution date will be treated as a dividend to the extent of any current year’s earnings and profits of Galena, including any gain
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resulting from the distribution, with the excess treated as non-taxable return of capital to the extent of a holder’s tax basis in Galena common stock and any
remaining excess treated as capital gain. Although Galena will be ascribing a value to our shares in this distribution for tax purposes, this valuation is not
binding on the Internal Revenue Service or any state taxation agency. These taxing authorities could ascribe a higher valuation to our shares, particularly if
our stock trades at prices significantly above the value ascribed to our shares by Galena in the period immediately following the distribution. Galena’s
stockholders should consult with their own tax advisors regarding the tax consequences of the distribution.
Because there has not been any public market for our common stock, the market price and trading volume of our common stock may be volatile,
and you may not be able to sell your shares at or above the initial market price of our stock following the distribution.
Prior to the distribution of our common stock made under this prospectus, there will have been no trading market for our common stock. We cannot predict
the extent to which investors’ interest will lead to a liquid trading market or whether the market price of our common stock will be volatile. The market price
of our common stock could fluctuate for many reasons, including the following factors:
•

Announcements of regulatory developments or technological innovations by us or our competitors;

•

Changes in our relationship with our licensors and other strategic partners;

•

Our quarterly and annual operating results;

•

Developments in patent or other technology ownership rights;

•

Public concern regarding the safety of our technology;

•

Government regulation of drug pricing; and

•

General changes in the economy, the financial markets or the pharmaceutical or biotechnology industries.

In addition, factors beyond our control may also have an impact on the price of our common stock. For example, to the extent that other large companies
within our industry experience declines in their stock price, our stock price may decline as well. In addition, when the market price of a company’s common
stock drops significantly, stockholders often institute securities class action lawsuits against the company. A lawsuit against us could cause us to incur
substantial costs and could divert the time and attention of our management and other resources.
As a result, there is no assurance that you will be able to sell your shares of our common stock at or above the initial market price of our stock following
the distribution.
You may have difficulty selling our shares of common stock if they are deemed “penny stocks.”
Since our common stock will not be listed on a national securities exchange during the foreseeable future, trading in our common stock will be subject to
the requirements of certain rules promulgated under the Exchange Act, which require additional disclosure by broker-dealers in connection with any trades
involving a stock defined as a penny stock (generally, any non-national securities exchange equity security that has a market price of less than $5.00 per
share, subject to certain exceptions that we may not fall within in the future). Such rules require the delivery, prior to any penny stock transaction, of a
disclosure schedule
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explaining the penny stock market and the risks associated therewith and impose various sales practice requirements on broker-dealers who sell penny stocks
to persons other than established customers and accredited investors (generally defined as an investor with a net worth in excess of $1,000,000 or annual
income exceeding $200,000 individually or $300,000 together with a spouse). For these types of transactions, the broker-dealer must make a special
suitability determination for the purchaser and have received the purchaser’s written consent to the transaction prior to the sale. The broker-dealer also must
disclose the commissions payable to the broker-dealer, current bid and offer quotations for the penny stock and, if the broker-dealer is the sole market-maker,
the broker-dealer must disclose this fact and the broker-dealer’s presumed control over the market. Such information must be provided to the customer orally
or in writing before or with the written confirmation of trade sent to the customer. Monthly statements must be sent disclosing recent price information for the
penny stock held in the account and information on the limited market in penny stocks. The additional burdens imposed upon broker-dealers by such
requirements could discourage broker-dealers from effecting transactions in our common stock, which could severely limit the market liquidity of the
common stock and the ability of holders of the common stock to sell their shares.
Our shares of common stock distributed to Galena’s stockholders will be eligible for immediate sale, which may adversely affect our stock price.
The shares of our common stock that Galena distributes to its stockholders generally may be sold immediately in the public market. Any sales of
substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market, or the perception that such sales might occur, whether as a result of the distribution or
otherwise, may cause the market price of our common stock to decline. We are unable to predict the extent to which common stock will be sold in the open
market following the distribution or whether a sufficient number of buyers for our common stock will be in the market at that time.
We will issue preferred stock upon the closing of the spin-off transaction and possibly may issue more preferred stock in the future, and the terms of
the preferred stock may reduce the value of our common stock.
We are authorized to issue up to [_________] shares of preferred stock in one or more series, and we will issue [___] shares of our Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock to TCP and RTW upon the completion of the spin-off transaction. Our board of directors may determine the terms of future preferred stock
offerings without further action by our stockholders. The issuance of our preferred stock could affect your rights or reduce the value of our outstanding
common stock. In particular, rights granted to holders of preferred stock may include voting rights, preferences as to dividends and liquidation, conversion
and redemption rights and restrictions on our ability to merge with or sell our assets to a third party. For a summary of the rights granted to the holders of our
Series A Preferred Stock, see the “Description of Capital Stock — Preferred Stock” section of this prospectus.
We may acquire other businesses or form joint ventures that may be unsuccessful and could adversely dilute your ownership of our company.
As part of our business strategy, we may pursue future acquisitions of other complementary businesses and technology licensing arrangements. We also
may pursue strategic alliances. We have no experience with respect to acquiring other companies and limited experience with respect to the formation of
collaborations, strategic alliances and joint ventures. We may not be able to integrate such acquisitions successfully into our existing business, and we could
assume unknown or contingent liabilities. We also could experience adverse effects on our reported results of operations from acquisition related charges,
amortization of acquired technology and other intangibles and impairment charges relating to write-offs of goodwill and other intangible assets from time to
time following the acquisition. Integration of an acquired company requires management resources that otherwise would be available for ongoing
development of our existing
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business. We may not realize the anticipated benefits of any acquisition, technology license or strategic alliance.
To finance future acquisitions, we may choose to issue shares of our common stock or preferred stock as consideration, which would dilute your ownership
interest in us. Alternatively, it may be necessary for us to raise additional funds through public or private financings. Additional funds may not be available on
terms that are favorable to us and, in the case of equity financings, may result in dilution to our stockholders. Any future acquisitions by us also could result
in large and immediate write-offs, the incurrence of contingent liabilities or amortization of expenses related to acquired intangible assets, any of which could
harm our operating results.
The holders of our Series A Preferred Stock may be able to delay or prevent a change in corporate control that would be beneficial to our
stockholders.
The holders of our Series A Preferred Stock have the right to convert at any time their shares of our Series A Preferred Stock into shares of our common
stock, except to the extent that the holder would own more than 9.999% of our common stock outstanding immediately after giving effect to the conversion.
Without regard to this conversion limitation, our Series A Preferred Stock would be convertible, at the completion of the spin-off transaction, into
approximately 83% of the fully diluted shares of our common stock then outstanding. Although our Series A Preferred Stock generally is non-voting stock,
the holders of our Series A Preferred Stock will be entitled to vote on an as-converted basis together with our common stock with respect to any transaction
that would constitute a deemed liquidation event under our charter, including any proposal merger or sale of Company. By virtue of their voting rights, the
holders of our Series A Preferred Stock will be able to significantly influence the outcome of the vote on any deemed liquidation event required to be
submitted to a vote of our stockholders. This right may adversely affect the market price of our common stock by:
•

Delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of our company;

•

Impeding a merger, consolidation, takeover or other business combination involving our company; or

•

Discouraging a potential acquirer from making a tender offer or otherwise attempting to obtain control of our company.

Future sales of our common stock by TCP and RTW, or the possibility of such sales, could adversely affect our stock price.
We have agreed in the securities purchase agreement with TCP and RTW to file a registration statement with the SEC covering the resale of 20% of the
shares of our common stock underlying their Series A Preferred Stock. The availability of a significant number of our shares of common stock for resale
publicly by TCP and RTW, as well as any actual sales of these shares, could adversely affect the market price of our shares following the distribution.
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We do not anticipate paying dividends in the foreseeable future.
Our business requires significant funding. We currently plan to invest all available funds and future earnings in the development and growth of our
business and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. As a result, capital appreciation, if any, of our
common stock will be your sole source of potential gain for the foreseeable future.
Provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and Delaware law might discourage, delay or prevent a change of control of our company
or changes in our management and, as a result, depress the trading price of our common stock.
Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws contain provisions that could discourage, delay or prevent a change of control of our company or changes in
our management that the stockholders of our company may deem advantageous. These provisions:
•

Authorize the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock that our board could issue to increase the number of outstanding shares and to discourage a
takeover attempt;

•

Prohibit stockholder action by written consent, which requires all stockholder actions to be taken at a meeting of our stockholders;

•

Provide that the board of directors is expressly authorized to adopt, alter or repeal our bylaws; and

•

Establish advance notice requirements for nominations for election to our board or for proposing matters that can be acted upon by stockholders at
stockholder meetings.

Although we believe these provisions collectively provide for an opportunity to receive higher bids by requiring potential acquirers to negotiate with our
board, they would apply even if the offer may be considered beneficial by some stockholders. In addition, these provisions may frustrate or prevent any
attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management team by making it more difficult for stockholders to replace members of our
board, which is responsible for appointing the members of our management.
Moreover, because we are incorporated in Delaware, we are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which
prohibits a person who owns in excess of 15% of our outstanding voting stock from merging or combining with us for a period of three years after the date of
the transaction in which the person acquired in excess of 15% of our outstanding voting stock, unless the merger or combination is approved in a prescribed
manner. The restrictions contained in Section 203 are not applicable to any of our existing stockholders that will own 15% or more of our outstanding
common stock upon the completion of the spin-off of RXi.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
Any statements in this prospectus about our expectations, beliefs, plans, objectives, assumptions or future events or performance are not historical facts
and are forward-looking statements. These statements are often, but not always, made through the use of words or phrases such as “believe,” “will,” “expect,”
“anticipate,” “estimate,” “intend,” “plan” and “would.” For example, statements concerning financial condition, possible or assumed future results of
operations, growth opportunities, industry ranking, plans and objectives of management, markets for our common stock and future management and
organizational structure are all forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of performance. They involve known and
unknown risks, uncertainties and assumptions that may cause actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to differ materially from any
results, levels of activity, performance or achievements expressed or implied by any forward-looking statement.
Any forward-looking statements are qualified in their entirety by reference to the risk factors discussed throughout this prospectus. Some of the risks,
uncertainties and assumptions that could cause actual results to differ materially from estimates or projections contained in the forward-looking statements
include but are not limited to:
•

We may be unable to achieve some or all of the benefits that we expect to achieve from our spin-off from Galena;

•

We may be unable to achieve some or all of the benefits that we expect to achieve from our spin-off from Galena;

•

We may be unsuccessful in recruiting a Chief Executive Officer or other key employees;

•

Higher costs associated with being a separate, publicly traded company;

•

The difficulty in evaluating our financial information due to the distribution;

•

The inability to raise additional future financing and lack of financial and other resources to us as a separate company;

•

Our ability to control product development costs;

•

We may not be able to attract and retain key employees;

•

We may not be able to compete effectively;

•

We may not be able enter into new strategic collaborations;

•

Changes in government regulation affecting our RNAi-based therapeutics could increase our development costs;

•

Our involvement in patent and other intellectual property litigation could be expensive and could divert management’s attention;

•

The possibility that there will be no market acceptance for our products; and

•

Changes in third-party reimbursement policies could adversely affect potential future sales of any of our products that are approved for marketing.
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The foregoing list sets forth some, but not all, of the factors that could affect our ability to achieve results described in any forward-looking statements.
Stockholders are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such statements, which speak only as of the date of this prospectus. We assume no obligation and
expressly disclaim any duty to update any forward-looking statement to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this prospectus or to reflect the
occurrence of unanticipated events. In addition, we cannot assess the impact of each factor on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination
of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements contained in this prospectus.
All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to us or any person acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by
the cautionary statements contained or referred to in this section.
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PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION
Reasons for the Distribution
The Galena board of directors periodically reviews and assesses strategic alternatives to ensure that all of its technologies and other assets are being
utilized in the best manner to create value for Galena and its stockholders. The Galena board determined that the best strategy for realizing the potential value
of Galena’s RNAi assets was to contribute them to us, with our focus on developing and commercializing RNAi therapeutics.
The Galena board considered a number of potentially negative factors in evaluating the separation of RXi from Galena, including the risks of being unable
to achieve the expected benefits of the distribution of RXi common stock, the risks associated with obtaining additional financing for the separate businesses
and activities of Galena and RXi, and the transaction costs associated with the spin-off of RXi and increased future aggregate general and administrative costs
of the two companies relative to Galena’s historical general and administrative costs. The Galena board concluded, however, that the potential benefits of the
separation outweighed these factors.
In view of the numerous factors considered in connection with the evaluation of the separation of RXi from Galena and the complexity of these matters,
the Galena board did not find it useful to, and did not attempt
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to, quantify, rank or otherwise assign relative weights to the factors considered. The individual members of the Galena board likely may have given different
weights to different factors.
The distribution of RXi common stock is not being underwritten by an investment bank or otherwise. We anticipate that the fees and expenses attributable
to the distribution of RXi common stock and the other transactions described in this prospectus that relate to the spin-off transaction will be approximately
$[_______].
Manner of the Distribution
Galena expects to effect the distribution on or about [_______], 2011 by distributing shares of RXi common stock to Galena’s stockholders as of the close
of business on [_______], 2011, which is the record date for the distribution. To be entitled to receive shares of our common stock in the distribution,
Galena’s stockholders must be such at the close of business (Eastern Time) on the record date of [_______], 2011. Each holder of Galena common stock as of
the record date will receive a dividend of one share of our common stock for each share of Galena common stock held by such holder.
For Galena’s stockholders as of the record date whose shares are held in their own names, our transfer agent will credit their shares of RXi common stock
to book entry direct registration accounts established to hold their RXi common stock. Our distribution agent will send these stockholders a statement
reflecting their RXi common stock ownership. Book entry refers to a method of recording stock ownership in our records in which no physical certificates are
used. For Galena’s stockholders who own Galena common stock through a broker or other nominee that is a member of (or has a correspondent relationship
with) the Depository Trust Company, their shares of RXi common stock will be credited to the stockholders’ accounts by the broker or other nominee.
Galena’s stockholders will not be required to pay for shares of our common stock received in the distribution or to surrender or exchange shares of Galena
common stock to receive RXi common stock.
Direct Registration System
We will have a direct registration (book-entry) program with respect to record ownership of our common stock. Direct registration is a service that allows
shares to be owned, reported and transferred electronically without having a physical stock certificate issued. Persons who acquire shares of our common
stock will not be entitled to receive a physical stock certificate; rather, ownership of the shares will be recorded in the names of such persons electronically on
our books and records. Direct registration is intended to alleviate problems relating to stolen, misplaced or lost stock certificates and to reduce the paperwork
relating to the transfer of ownership of our common stock.
Upon completion of the distribution, Galena’s stockholders as of the record date whose shares are registered in their own names will receive statements
confirming the issuance to them of the appropriate number of shares of our common stock through direct registration, rather than issuing a physical stock
certificate. For stockholders who hold Galena common stock through a broker or other nominee that is a member of (or has a correspondent relationship with)
the Depository Trust Company, their shares of RXi common stock will be credited to these stockholders’ accounts by the broker or other nominee.
To utilize the services of a stockbroker to sell their shares, a stockholder holding his shares through direct registration must first add the appropriate
stockbroker information to the direct registration account maintained by the transfer agent. Thereafter, such stockholder may transfer our common stock by
telephone to a brokerage account and then may sell or transfer such shares by giving instructions to the broker.
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Results of the Distribution
After the distribution of RXi common stock made under this prospectus, we will be a publicly traded company. Immediately after the distribution, we
expect to have approximately [____] record holders of shares of our common stock and [_______] shares of our common stock outstanding.
Immediately following the distribution of RXi common stock under this prospectus: (1) the Galena stockholders who receive RXi shares under this
prospectus will own [_______] shares of our outstanding common stock; (2) Galena will own [_______] shares of our outstanding common stock; and
(3) Advirna will own [_______] shares of our outstanding common stock.
Immediately following the distribution of our common stock, TCP and RTW will own shares of our Series A Preferred Stock that are convertible by either
or both stockholders at any time into shares of RXi common stock, except to the extent that the holder would own more than 9.999% of the shares of our
common stock outstanding immediately after giving effect to such conversion. Without regard to this conversion limitation, upon the completion of the spinoff transaction, the shares of the Series A Preferred Stock to be held by TCP and RTW would be convertible into shares of our common stock representing
approximately 83% of the fully diluted shares of our common stock after the conversion of the Series A Preferred Stock. Assuming such conversion in full of
our Series A Preferred Stock: (1) the Galena stockholders who receive RXi shares under this prospectus would own approximately 8% of the fully diluted
shares of RXi common stock upon the completion of the spin-off transaction; (2) Galena would own approximately 4% of the fully diluted shares of RXi
common stock; and (3) Advirna would own approximately 5% of the fully diluted shares of RXi common stock.
Other Transactions Related to the Distribution of RXi Common Stock
On September 24, 2011, we entered into a securities purchase agreement with Galena, TCP and RTW pursuant to which:
•

TCP and RTW agreed to purchase a total of $9,500,000 of our Series A Preferred Stock at the closing of the spin-off transaction and to lend to us up
to $1,500,000 to fund our operations prior to the closing, with the outstanding principal and accrued interest from the loan to be converted into
Series A Preferred Stock at the closing, at a conversion price of $1,000 per share, and such conversion will be applied to the $9,500,000 total
investment by TCP and RTW;

•

We agreed that the Series A Preferred Stock will be convertible by TCP or RTW at any time into shares of our common stock, except to the extent
that the holder would own more than 9.999% of the shares of our common stock outstanding immediately after giving effect to such conversion;

•

We agreed that the Series A Preferred Stock will have the rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions summarized in the “Description of Capital
Stock—Preferred Stock” section of this prospectus;

•

Galena agreed to contribute $1.5 million of cash to us;

•

Galena agreed to distribute to its stockholders, on a share-for-share basis, the RXi common stock that is the subject of this prospectus; the
distribution of the RXi common stock and our separation from Galena is referred to in this prospectus as the “spin-off transaction”; and

•

We agreed, upon completion of the spin-off transaction to reimburse Galena, for up to a total of $300,000, and to reimburse TCP and RTW for up to
a total of $100,000, of transaction costs relating to the contribution agreement with Galena, the securities purchase agreement and the transactions
contemplated by the agreements.
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Advirna Agreement
As part of the transactions contemplated by the contribution and securities purchase agreements, on September 24, 2011, we entered into agreements with
Advirna, which is affiliated with Anastasia Khvorova, Ph.D., our Senior Vice President and Chief Scientific Officer, pursuant to which:
•

Advirna has assigned its existing patent and technology rights related to sd-rxRNA technology in exchange for an annual $100,000 maintenance fee
and a one-time $350,000 milestone payment to Advirna upon the future issuance of the first patent with valid claims covering the assigned
technology;

•

We will be required to pay a 1% royalty to Advirna for any licensing revenue received by RXi on the license of the assigned Advirna technology;

•

We have granted back to Advirna a license under the assigned technology for fields of use outside the fields of human therapeutics and diagnostics;
and

•

We have agreed to issue to Advirna, upon the completion of the spin-off transaction, a number of shares of our common stock equal to
approximately 5% of the fully diluted shares of RXi common stock upon completion of the spin-off transaction.

Compensatory Arrangements With Certain Officers
On September 24, 2011, we entered into employment agreements with Anastasia Khvorova, Ph.D., and Pamela Pavco, Ph.D., pursuant to which:
•

Dr. Khvorova serves as our Senior Vice President and Chief Scientific Officer at an annual salary of $310,000 and is entitled to a grant of stock
options to purchase 2% of the fully diluted common stock after the spin-off transaction at an exercise price per share to be determined based on the
fair value of our common stock at the date of grant; the options will be subject to vesting in equal monthly installments over the four-year period
following the effective date of her employment, subject to accelerated vesting in some events; and

•

Dr. Pavco serves as our Senior Vice President of Pharmaceutical Development at an annual salary of $300,000 and also is entitled to a grant of stock
options to purchase 2% of the fully diluted common stock after the spin-off transaction at an exercise price per share to be determined based on the
fair value of RXi common stock at the date of grant; the options will be subject to vesting in equal monthly installments over the four-year period
following the effective date of her employment, subject to accelerated vesting in some events.

Trading Market
Galena currently owns all of our outstanding shares of common stock. Accordingly, there has been no public market for our common stock.
Following the completion of the distribution, we anticipate that our common stock will trade in the OTC Markets Group under the symbol [“RXII”].
However, an active trading market may not develop or be sustained in the future. We expect that a limited market for shares of our common stock, commonly
known as a “when-issued” trading market, will develop on or shortly before the record date for the distribution.
We cannot predict the prices at which our common stock may trade before the distribution on a “when-issued” basis or after the distribution. “Whenissued” trading refers to a transaction made conditionally
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because the security has been authorized but not yet issued. On the first trading day after the distribution date, any “when-issued” trading in respect of our
common stock will end and “regular-way” trading will begin. Prices will be determined by the marketplace and may bear no relationship to the book value
per share or other common indicators of the value of our common stock. The future prices at which trading in shares of our common stock occurs may
fluctuate significantly. These prices may be influenced by many factors, including quarter-to-quarter variations in our actual or anticipated financial results or
those of our competitors in the industries or the markets that we serve, investor perception of our company and the RNAi-based therapeutics industry, and
general economic and market conditions. In addition, the stock market in general has experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have affected
the market price of many stocks and that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of these companies. These are just some
factors that may adversely affect the market price of our common stock.
Shares of our common stock that you will receive in the distribution will be freely tradable, except if you are considered an “affiliate” of ours under
Rule 144 under the Securities Act. Persons who can be considered our affiliates after the distribution generally include individuals or entities that directly, or
indirectly through one or more intermediaries, control, are controlled by, or are under common control with us, and may include our directors, executive
officers and principal stockholders. Our affiliates may only sell common stock received in the distribution under:
•

A registration statement that the SEC has declared effective under the Securities Act; or

•

An exemption from registration under the Securities Act, such as the exemption afforded by Rule 144, as summarized below in “Shares Eligible for
Future Sale.”

Trading Between the Record Date and Distribution Date
Beginning on or shortly before the record date and continuing up to and including the distribution date, there will be two markets in Galena common stock:
a “regular-way” market and an “ex-distribution” market. Shares of Galena common stock that trade on the “regular-way” market will trade with an
entitlement to our shares of common stock distributed pursuant to the distribution. Shares that trade on the “ex-distribution” market will trade without an
entitlement to our shares of common stock distributed pursuant to the distribution. Therefore, if you sell shares of Galena common stock in the “regular-way”
market up to and including the distribution date, you will be selling your right to receive shares of our common stock in the distribution. If you own shares of
Galena common stock at the close of business on the record date and sell those shares on the “ex-distribution” market, up to and including through the
distribution date, you will still receive the shares of our common stock that you would be entitled to receive pursuant to your ownership of the shares of
Galena common stock.
Furthermore, beginning on or shortly before the record date and continuing up to and including through the distribution date, there will be a “when-issued”
market in our common stock. “When-issued” trading refers to a sale or purchase made conditionally because the security has been authorized but not yet
issued. The “when-issued” trading market will be a market for shares of our common stock that will be distributed to Galena’s stockholders on the distribution
date. If you owned shares of Galena common stock at the close of business on the record date, you would be entitled to shares of our common stock
distributed pursuant to the distribution. You may trade this entitlement to shares of our common stock, without the shares of Galena common stock you own,
on the “when-issued” market. On the first trading day following the distribution date, “when-issued” trading with respect to our common stock will end and
“regular-way” trading will begin.
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Reason for Furnishing this Prospectus
This prospectus is being furnished to provide information to Galena’s stockholders who are entitled to receive shares of RXi common stock in the
distribution of such shares by Galena. This prospectus is not, and is not to be construed as, an inducement or encouragement to buy, hold or sell RXi common
stock or Galena common stock.
We believe that the information in this prospectus is accurate as of the date set forth on the cover page. Changes may occur after that date, and neither RXi
nor Galena undertakes any obligation to update such information except in the normal course of its respective public disclosure obligations.
USE OF PROCEEDS
We will not receive any proceeds as a result of the distribution of our shares of common stock by Galena.
DIVIDEND POLICY
We do not anticipate paying any dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. We expect to retain future earnings, if any, for use in our
development activities and the operation of our business. The payment of any future dividends will be subject to the discretion of our board of directors and
will depend, among other things, upon our results of operations, financial condition, cash requirements, prospects and other factors that our board of directors
may deem relevant. Additionally, our ability to pay future dividends may be restricted by the terms of any debt financing to which we are a party.
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CAPITALIZATION
The following table presents our capitalization as of June 30, 2011 on (1) an actual unaudited historical basis and (2) an unaudited pro forma basis as
adjusted to give effect to the distribution of our common stock described in this prospectus and the purchase by TCP and RTW of a total of $9,500,000 of our
Series A Preferred Stock, which purchase is described above under “Prospectus Summary.” The following table excludes shares of our common stock that
will be issuable upon the exercise of stock options that may be granted to our directors and officers, including stock options to be granted to Anastasia
Khvorova, Ph.D. and Pamela Pavco, Ph.D. as described in the “Executive Compensation—Employment Agreements” section of this prospectus.
You should read the information below in connection with our financial statements and related notes and the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” section of this prospectus.

Cash and cash equivalents
Stockholders’ equity:
Series A Preferred Stock, [$0.001] par value; no shares authorized or issued and outstanding (actual); [_____] shares
authorized and issued and outstanding (as adjusted)
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 1,000 shares authorized and 100 shares issued and outstanding (actual); [____]
shares authorized and [____] shares issued and outstanding (as adjusted)
Deficit accumulated during the developmental stage
Divisional (deficit) equity
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and divisional equity
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As of June 30, 2011
Actual
As Adjusted
(unaudited)
(unaudited)

$

—

$

—
—
$
—
$ (12,813)
$
—
$
513

$
$
$
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
You should read the following discussion in conjunction with our financial statements and the notes to financial statements included elsewhere in this
prospectus. This discussion contains forward-looking statements that reflect our plans, estimates and beliefs. Our actual results could differ materially from
those discussed in the forward-looking statements as a result of various factors discussed below and elsewhere in this prospectus, particularly in the “Risk
Factors” and “Forward-Looking Statements” sections.
Overview
We are a biotechnology company focused on discovering, developing and commercializing innovative therapies addressing major unmet medical needs
using RNAi-targeted technologies. We are pursuing proprietary therapeutics based on RNA interference (“RNAi”), a naturally occurring cellular mechanism
that has the potential to effectively and selectively interfere with, or “silence,” expression of targeted disease-associated genes.
We believe that certain human diseases can potentially be treated by silencing targeted genes that lead to disease. While no therapeutic RNAi products
have been approved by the FDA to date, there has been significant interest in the field of RNAi therapeutic development. This interest is driven by the
potential ability to use RNAi to develop lead compounds that specifically and selectively inhibit single target genes, many of which are thought to be
incapable of being inhibited by other modalities. RXI-109, our first RNAi product candidate, is a dermal anti-scarring therapy that targets connective tissue
growth factor (“CTGF”). We are currently working towards filing an investigational new drug application (“IND”) for RXI-109 and commencing a Phase I/II
clinical trial in 2012. We believe that RXI-109 or other CTGF-targeting RNAi compounds may be able to treat other indications, including pulmonary
fibrosis, liver fibrosis, acute spinal injury, ocular scarring and restenosis. We intend to maintain our core RNAi discovery and development capability and to
develop products both on our own and through collaborations.
Research and Development
To date, our research programs have focused on identifying product candidates and optimizing the delivery method and technology necessary to make
RNAi compounds available by local, systemic or oral administration, as appropriate for disease for which we intend to develop an RNAi therapeutic. Since
we commenced operations, research and development has comprised a significant proportion of our total operating expenses and is expected to comprise the
majority of our spending for the foreseeable future.
There are risks in any new field of drug discovery that preclude certainty regarding the successful development of a product. We cannot reasonably
estimate or know the nature, timing and costs of the efforts necessary to complete the development of, or the period in which material net cash inflows are
expected to commence from, any product candidate. Our inability to make these estimates results from the uncertainty of numerous factors, including but not
limited to:
•

Our ability to advance product candidates into preclinical research and clinical trials;

•

The scope and rate of progress of our preclinical program and other research and development activities;

•

The scope, rate of progress and cost of any clinical trials we commence;
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•

The cost of filing, prosecuting, defending and enforcing patent claims and other intellectual property rights;

•

Clinical trial results;

•

The terms and timing of any collaborative, licensing and other arrangements that we may establish;

•

The cost and timing of regulatory approvals;

•

The cost of establishing clinical and commercial supplies of our product candidates and any products that we may develop;

•

The cost and timing of establishing sales, marketing and distribution capabilities;

•

The effect of competing technological and market developments; and

•

The effect of government regulation and insurance industry efforts to control healthcare costs through reimbursement policy and other cost
management strategies.

Failure to complete any stage of the development of our product candidates in a timely manner could have a material adverse effect on our operations,
financial position and liquidity.
License Agreements
We have entered into licensing relationships with academic institutions, research foundations and commercial entities, and may seek to enter into
additional licenses with pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies. We also may enter into strategic alliances to expand our intellectual property portfolio
and to potentially accelerate our development programs by gaining access to technology and funding, including equity sales, license fees and other revenues.
For each product that we develop that is covered by the patents licensed to us including our material licenses discussed elsewhere in this prospectus, we are
obligated to make additional payments upon the attainment of certain specified product development milestones. See the “Business — Intellectual Property”
section of this prospectus for information on our material license agreements.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Predecessor’s Financial Statements and Carve-Out Financial Statements
Prior to December 31, 2010, Galena was engaged primarily in conducting discovery research and preclinical development activities based on RNAi, and
Galena’s financial statements for periods prior to December 31, 2010 reflected solely the assets, liabilities and results of operations attributable to Galena’s
RNAi-based assets, liabilities and results of operations. Subsequent to December 31, 2010, but prior to June 30, 2011, Galena broadened its strategic direction
by adding the development and commercialization of cancer therapies that utilize peptide-based immunotherapy products, including a main product
candidate, NeuVax, for the treatment of various cancers. Accordingly, the historical financial information for the six-month period ended June 30, 2011 and
the cumulative period from inception (January 1, 2003) through June 30, 2011 has been “carved out” of the financial statements of Galena, as our
“Predecessor,” for such periods. Such “carved-out” financial information reflects Galena’s RNAi-related activities, assets and liabilities only, and excludes
activities, assets and liabilities attributable to Galena’s cancer therapies. On September 24, 2011, Galena contributed to RXi substantially all of Galena’s
RNAi-related technologies and assets.
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The carved-out financial information includes both direct and indirect expenses. The historical direct expenses consist primarily of the various costs for
technology license agreements, sponsored research agreements, fees paid to scientific advisors and employee expenses of employees directly involved in
RNAi-related activities. Indirect expenses represent employee expenses incurred by Galena that were allocable to RXi. The indirect expenses are based upon
(1) estimates of the percentage of time spent by Galena employees working on RXi matters and (2) allocations of various expenses associated with the
employees, including salary, benefits, rent associated with the employees’ office space, accounting and other general and administrative expenses. The
percentage of time spent by Galena employees was multiplied by these allocable expenses to arrive at the total employee expenses allocable to RXi and
reflected in the carved out financial statements. Management believes the assumptions underlying the carve-out financial information are reasonable;
however, RXi’s actual financial position, expenses and cash flows may have been materially different if RXi had operated as a stand-alone entity during the
periods presented.
The information presented as of and for the six-month periods ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively, is unaudited and has been prepared on the same
basis as the audited financial statements and includes all adjustments, consisting of only normal recurring adjustments necessary for the fair presentation of
this information in all material respects. The results of any interim period are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations to be expected for a full
fiscal year.
We have generated no revenues since our inception, and anticipate that no revenues will be generated for the year ending December 31, 2011. Accordingly,
for accounting purposes we are considered a development stage company.
Use of Estimates
Management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations include the financial statements as of and for the years ended
December 31, 2010 and 2009 and as of and for the six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010. The preparation of these financial statements required
management to make estimates, allocations and judgments that affected the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. On an ongoing basis, management evaluates its estimates, including those related to impairment of long-lived
assets, accrued liabilities and certain expenses. We base our estimates about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources on historical experience and on other assumptions believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ materially from
these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. Additionally, the financial information included here may not necessarily reflect the financial
position, operating results, changes in our invested equity and cash flows in the future or what they would have been had we been a separate, stand-alone
entity during the periods presented.
Our significant accounting policies are summarized in the footnotes to our financial statements. We believe the following critical accounting policies
involve significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our financial statements.
Research and Development Expenses
Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Included in research and development costs are wages, benefits and other operating costs,
facilities, supplies, external services and overhead directly related to our research and development departments as well as costs to acquire technology
licenses.
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Stock-Based Compensation
The following stock-based compensation information relates to stock options issued by Galena. Stock-based compensation expense is allocated to the
carved-out financial statements based on an estimate of time spent by galena employees, board members, scientific advisory board members and outside
consultants on RXi related matters. Galena follows the provisions of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification
(“ASC”) Topic 718, “ Compensation — Stock Compensation ” (“ASC 718”), which requires the measurement and recognition of compensation expense for
all share-based payment awards made to employees, non-employee directors and consultants, including employee stock options. Stock compensation expense
based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of ASC 718 is recognized as an expense over the requisite service period.
For stock options granted as consideration for services rendered by non-employees, Galena recognizes compensation expense in accordance with the
requirements of FASB ASC Topic 505-50 (“ASC 505-50”), “Equity Based Payments to Non- Employees.” Non-employee option grants that do not vest
immediately upon grant are recorded as an expense over the vesting period of the underlying stock options. At the end of each financial reporting period prior
to vesting, the value of these options, as calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, will be re-measured using the fair value of our common
stock and the non-cash compensation recognized during the period will be adjusted accordingly. Since the fair market value of options granted to nonemployees is subject to change in the future, the amount of the future compensation expense will include fair value re-measurements until the stock options
are fully vested.
With respect to options to acquire its common stock granted by our predecessor, Galena, during the six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 and the
years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 and reflected in the financial statements that are included in this prospectus, the fair value of each option grant is
estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, with the following weighted average assumptions:
For the Six Months ended June 30,
2011
2010

Weighted average risk-free interest rate
Weighted average expected volatility
Weighted average expected lives (years)
Weighted average expected dividend yield

2.35%
111.78%
5.78
0.00%

3.06%
120.84%
7.26
0.00%

Galena’s expected common stock price volatility assumption was based upon the volatility of a basket of comparable companies. The expected life
assumptions for employee grants were based upon the simplified method provided for under ASC 718, which averages the contractual term of our options of
ten years with the average vesting term of four years for an average of six years. The expected life assumptions for non-employees were based upon the
contractual term of the option. The dividend yield assumption of zero was based upon the fact that we have never paid cash dividends and presently have no
intention of paying cash dividends in the future. The risk-free interest rate used for each grant was also based upon prevailing short-term interest rates.
The financial statements reflect an estimated annualized forfeiture rate of 15.0% for options granted to employees, and 8.0% for options granted to senior
management and no forfeiture rate for the directors. An additional expense was recorded if the actual forfeitures were lower than estimated and a recovery of
prior expense was recorded if the actual forfeiture rates were higher than estimated.
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Derivative Financial Instruments
During the normal course of business, from time to time, Galena issues warrants and options to vendors as consideration to perform services. Galena may
also issue warrants as part of a debt or equity financing. The Company does not enter into any derivative contracts for speculative purposes.
We recognize all derivatives as assets or liabilities measured at fair value with changes in fair value of derivatives reflected as current period income or
loss unless the derivatives qualify for hedge accounting and are accounted for as such. During the period ended June 30, 2011 and the years ended
December 31, 2010 and 2009, Galena issued derivatives to purchase 17,950,000, 540,000 and 978,142 shares of its common stock, respectively, in connection
with an equity transaction. In accordance with ASC Topic 815-40, “Derivatives and Hedging — Contracts in Entity’s Own Stock” (“ASC 815-40”), the value
of these derivatives is required to be recorded as a liability, as the holders have an option to put the derivatives back to Galena in certain events, as defined.
Results of Operations for the Six Months Ended June 30, 2011 and 2010
For the six months ended June 30, 2011, our net loss was approximately $5,723,000 compared with a net loss of $6,027,000 for the six months ended
June 30, 2010. Reasons for the variations in the losses between the two periods are discussed below.
Results of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2010 and 2009
For the year ended December 31, 2010, our net loss was approximately $11,993,000, compared with a net loss of $18,387,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2009. Reasons for the variations in the losses between the years are discussed below.
Revenues
Since we are a development-stage biopharmaceutical company, we have not generated any revenues since inception.
Research and Development Expense (in thousands)
For the Six Months
Ended June 30,
2011
2010

Research and development expense
Research and development employee stock-based compensation expense
Research and development non-employee stock-based compensation expense
Total research and development expense

$

$

3,631
392
(75)
3,948

$

$

2,983
540
667
4,190

For the Years Ended
December 31,
2010
2009

Research and development expense
Research and development employee stock-based compensation expense
Research and development non-employee stock-based compensation expense
Total research and development expense

$

$

6,046
1,084
743
7,873

$

$

6,728
867
1,297
8,892

Research and development expense consists primarily of compensation-related costs for our employees dedicated to research and development activities and
for our Scientific Advisory Board (“SAB”) members as well as licensing fees, patent prosecution costs and the cost of lab supplies used in our research and
development programs. We expect to continue to devote a substantial portion of our resources to research and development programs. We expect research and
development expenses to increase as we expand our research and development activities.
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Research and development expenses were approximately $3,948,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2011, compared with $4,190,000 for the six
months ended June 30, 2010. The decrease of $242,000, or 6%, was due primarily to decreases of $742,000 in non-employee non-cash stock based
compensation and $148,000 in employee non-cash stock based compensation, which decreases were partially offset by an increase of $648,000 in research
and development cash expenses associated with ocular and dermal anti-scarring related studies and reduction-in-force expenses.
Research and development expenses for the year ended December 31, 2010 were approximately $7,873,000 as compared to $8,892,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2009. The decrease of $1,019,000, or 11%, was primarily due to decreases of $554,000 in non-employee non-cash stock based compensation
and $682,000 in research and development cash expenses related to the timing of patent applications and prosecution on internal discoveries, which decreases
were partially offset by an increase of $217,000 in costs associated with employee non-cash stock based compensation primarily related to timing and
changes in Galena Black-Scholes assumptions.
Research and Development Non-Employee Stock-Based Compensation Expense
Galena issued options to purchase shares of its common stock as compensation to SAB members and consultants. For financial statement purposes, these
shares were valued at their fair value. Fluctuations in non-employee stock-based compensation expense results from variations in the number of common
stock options issued, vesting schedules and the Black-Scholes fair values of common stock options granted to SAB members.
General and Administrative Expense (in thousands)
For the Six Months Ended
June 30,
2011
2010

General and administrative expenses
Fair value of Parent Company common stock warrants issued for general and administrative expense
Fair value of Parent Company common stock issued in exchange for general and administrative expense
General and administrative employee stock-based compensation expense
Total general and administrative expense

$

$

2,797
81
23
1,264
4,165

$

$

3,102
500
—
1,418
5,020

For the Years Ended
December 31,
2010
2009

General and administrative expenses
Fair value of Parent Company common stock warrants issued for general and administrative expense
Fair value of Parent Company common stock issued in exchange for general and administrative expense
General and administrative employee stock-based compensation expense
Total general and administrative expense
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$

$

5,493
718
—
2,541
8,752

$

$

5,483
826
281
2,038
8,628
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General and administrative expenses include compensation-related costs for our employees dedicated to general and administrative activities, legal fees,
audit and tax fees, consultants and professional services and general corporate expenses.
General and administrative expenses were approximately $4,165,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2011, compared with $5,020,000 for the six
months ended June 30, 2010. The decrease of $855,000, or 17%, was primarily due to decreases of $419,000 in non-cash stock based compensation related to
business advisory services, $154,000 in employee non-cash stock based compensation and $305,000 in general and administrative expenses due to severance
payments in connection with a reduction-in-force offset, which decreases were partially offset by a $23,000 increase in non-cash stock based compensation
expense.
General and administrative expenses were $8,752,000 for the year ended December 31, 2010 compared with $8,628,000 for the year ended December 31,
2009. The increase of $124,000, or 1%, was primarily due to an increase in headcount, including $2,541,000 in non-cash stock based compensation expense
in 2010 compared to $2,038,000 in 2009, which increase was partially offset by a decrease of $108,000 in stock based compensation related to business
advisory services, as well as the expensing in 2009 of shares related to a standby equity distribution agreement.
Interest Income (Expense)
Interest income (expense) was negligible for both the six months ended June 30, 2011 and June 30, 2010 and the years ended December 31, 2010 and
December 31, 2009. The key objectives of our investment policy are to preserve principal and ensure sufficient liquidity, so our invested cash may not earn as
high a level of income as longer-term or higher risk securities, which generally have less liquidity and more volatility. The interest rates available on lower
risk, shorter-term investments in today’s market are lower than rates available in the prior period.
Other Income (expense)
Other income (expense) is summarized as follows (in thousands):
For the Six Months Ended
June 30,
2011
2010

Change in fair value of derivatives issued
Other income (expense), net

$
$

2,390
2,390

$
$

3,181
3,181

For the Years Ended
December 31,
2010
2009

Change in fair value of derivatives issued
Reduction of potential redemption liability
Other income
Other income (expense), net

$

$

3,049
785
793
4,627

$

$

(858)
—
(4)
(862)

Other income and expense for the six months ended June 30, 2011 was approximately $2,390,000, which was attributable to a non-cash gain from a
change in the fair value of the derivatives issued in connection with several transactions in 2009, 2010 and 2011. Other income and expense for the six
months ended June 30, 2010 includes $3,181,000 in non-cash income related to a gain on the change in the fair value of derivatives issued in connection with
several transactions in 2009 and 2010.
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Other income (expense) was $4,627,000 and $(862,000) for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The overall increase of
$5,489,000, or 637%, was due to an increase of $3,907,000 attributable to the change in fair value of derivatives issued, the reduction of potential redemption
liability of $785,000 and an increase of $797,000 of other income, representing primarily an increase in grant income.
Income Taxes
There was no income tax expense for the six months ended June 30, 2011 and June 30, 2010 and the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 due to the
fact that we have incurred significant tax losses since we began operations. A tax benefit would have been recorded for losses however, due to the uncertainty
of realizing these assets, a valuation allowance was recognized which fully offset the deferred income tax assets.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Overview
We had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $6.9 million as of December 31, 2010 and $1.9 million as of October 15, 2011.
We have not generated revenue to date and may not generate product revenue in the foreseeable future, if ever. We expect to incur significant operating
losses as we advance our product candidates through the drug development and regulatory process. We will need to generate significant revenues to achieve
profitability and might never do so. In the absence of product revenues, our potential sources of operational funding are expected to be the proceeds from the
sale of equity, funded research and development payments and payments received under partnership and collaborative agreements.
On September 24, 2011, we entered into a securities purchase agreement pursuant to which TCP and RTW agreed to purchase a total of $9,500,000 of our
Series A Preferred Stock at the closing of our spin-off from Galena and to lend to us up to $1,500,000 to fund our operations between September 24, 2011 and
the closing of the spin-off transaction, with the outstanding principal and accrued interest from the loans to be converted into shares of our preferred stock at
the closing. As of October 15, 2011, TCP and RTW have advanced $500,000 to RXi under this bridge loan arrangement. We believe that the cash to be
received under the securities purchase agreement should be sufficient to fund our operations through December 31, 2012. In the future, we will be dependent
on obtaining funding from third parties, such as proceeds from the sale of equity, funded research and development programs and payments under partnership
and collaborative agreements, in order to maintain our operations and meet our obligations to licensors. There is no guarantee that debt, additional equity or
other funding will be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. If we fail to obtain additional funding when needed, we would be forced to scale back, or
terminate, our operations or to seek to merge with or to be acquired by another company.
Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities
Net cash used in operating activities was approximately $5,062,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2011, compared with $6,151,000 for the six months
ended June 30, 2010. The decrease of approximately $1,089,000 resulted primarily from a net loss of $5,723,000, of which $1,685,000 related to stock-based
compensation, $83,000 related to depreciation, $900,000 related to the loss on exchange of equity instruments, $3,272,000 that reflects derivatives issued in
financings completed by Galena in 2009, 2010 and 2011 and $1,265,000 related to changes in current assets and liabilities.
Net cash used in operating activities was approximately $10,257,000 for the year ended December 31, 2010 compared with $11,769,000 net cash used in
operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2009.
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The decrease of approximately $1,512,000 resulted primarily from a net loss of $11,993,000, less the add back of non-cash items of $1,424,000, of which
$4,368,000 related to stock-based compensation, $718,000 related to stock based compensation expense in exchange for services, $785,000 related to a
reduction of potential redemption liability, $172,000 related to depreciation and $312,000 related to changes in current assets and liabilities and $3,049,000
that reflects the fair value of derivatives issued with the registered direct financings completed by Galena in 2009 and 2010.
Net Cash Flow from Investing Activities
Net cash used in investing activities was approximately $53,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2011, compared with $6,050,000 for the six months
ended June 30, 2010. The decrease was due to $53,000 in purchases of equipment and furnishings in 2011 compared with $5,996,000 in short term
investments and $54,000 in purchases of equipment and furnishing for the same period in 2010.
Net cash used in investing activities was approximately $106,000 for the year ended December 31, 2010, compared with net cash used in investing
activities of $83,000 for the year ended December 31, 2009. The increase of approximately $23,000 in cash used in investing activities was primarily due to
purchases of equipment and furnishings in 2010.
Net Cash Flow from Financing Activities
Net cash used by financing activities was $1,776,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2011, compared with net cash provided by financing activities of
$11,610,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2010. The decrease was primarily due to net cash distributions to Galena in the amount of $1,730,000
compared with positive cash contributions from Galena in the amount of $11,641,000 in the first half of 2010.
Net cash provided by financing activities was $11,570,000 for the year ended December 31, 2010, compared with $7,680,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2009. This increase was primarily due to net cash contributions from Galena of $11,640,000 in 2010 compared to $7,714,000 in 2009.
Recently Issued Accounting Standards
Effective January 1, 2010, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2010-06, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (Topic
820): Improving Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements, or ASU 2010-06. A reporting entity should provide additional disclosures about the different
classes of assets and liabilities measured at fair value, the valuation techniques and inputs used, the activity in Level 3 fair value measurements, and the
transfers between Levels 1, 2, and 3 fair value measurements. The adoption of the additional disclosures for Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements did
not have an impact on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows. The disclosures regarding Level 3 fair value measurements were
adopted by the Company January 1, 2011 and did not have an impact on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows or require
additional disclosures.
Effective January 1, 2010, the Company adopted ASU No. 2009-17, Consolidations (Topic 810): Improvements to Financial Reporting by Enterprises
Involved with Variable Interest Entities, or ASU 2009-17. The amendments in this update replace the quantitative-based risks and rewards calculation for
determining which reporting entity, if any, has a controlling financial interest in a variable interest entity with an approach focused on identifying which
reporting entity has the power to direct the activities of a variable interest entity that most significantly impact the entity’s economic performance and (1) the
obligation to absorb losses of the entity or (2) the right to receive benefits from the entity. An approach that is expected to be primarily qualitative will be
more effective for identifying which reporting entity has a controlling financial interest in a variable interest entity. The amendments in this update also
require additional disclosures about a reporting entity’s involvement in
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variable interest entities, which will enhance the information provided to users of financial statements. The Company evaluated its business relationships to
identify potential variable interest entities and has concluded that consolidation of such entities is not required for the periods presented. On a quarterly basis,
the Company will continue to reassess its involvement with variable interest entities.
In December 2010, the FASB issued ASC Update 2010-29, Business Combinations (Topic 805) - Disclosure of Supplementary Pro Forma Information for
Business Combinations (Update No. 2010-29). This update requires a public entity to disclose pro forma information for business combinations that occurred
in the current reporting period. The disclosures include pro forma revenue and earnings of the combined entity for the current reporting period as though the
acquisition date for all business combinations that occurred during the year had been as of the beginning of the annual reporting period. If comparative
financial statements are presented, the pro forma revenue and earnings of the combined entity for the comparable prior reporting period should be reported as
though the acquisition date for all business combinations that occurred during the current year had been as of the beginning of the comparable prior annual
reporting period. This update affects any public entity that enters into business combinations that are material on an individual or aggregate basis and is
effective prospectively for business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on
or after December 15, 2010. The Company adopted update No. 2010-29 beginning January 1, 2011. The Company does not expect this standard will have a
material impact on its financial statements.
In May 2011, the FASB issued a new accounting standard that clarifies the application of certain existing fair value measurement guidance and expands
the disclosures for fair value measurements that are estimated using significant unobservable (Level 3) inputs. This new standard is effective on a prospective
basis for annual and interim reporting periods beginning on or after December 15, 2011. The Company does not expect that adoption of this new standard will
have a material impact on its financial statements.
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In February 2010, the FASB issued ASC Update No. 2010-09, Subsequent Events (Topic 855) Amendments to Certain Recognition and Disclosure
Requirements (Update No. 2010-09). This update requires SEC registrants to evaluate subsequent events through the date that the financial statements are
issued and removes the requirement to disclose the date through which management evaluated subsequent events. This guidance was effective immediately
upon issuance.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
In connection with certain license agreements, we are required to indemnify the licensor for certain damages arising in connection with the intellectual
property rights licensed under the agreement. In addition, we are a party to a number of agreements entered into in the ordinary course of business that
contain typical provisions that obligate us to indemnify the other parties to such agreements upon the occurrence of certain events. These indemnification
obligations are considered off-balance sheet arrangements in accordance with ASC Topic 460, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for
Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others.” To date, we have not encountered material costs as a result of such obligations and
have not accrued any liabilities related to such obligations and have not accrued any liabilities related to such obligations in our financial statements. See Note
7 to our audited financial statements included in this prospectus for further discussion of these indemnification agreements.
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BUSINESS
Overview
We are a biotechnology company focused on discovering, developing and commercializing innovative therapies addressing major unmet medical needs
using RNAi-targeted technologies. We are pursuing proprietary therapeutics based on RNA interference (“RNAi”), which is a naturally occurring cellular
mechanism that has the potential to effectively and selectively interfere with, or “silence,” expression of targeted disease-associated genes. Our principal
executive offices are located at 60 Prescott Street, Worcester, Massachusetts 01605, and our telephone number is (508) 767-3861. Prior to September 24,
2011, our business was operated as an unincorporated division within Galena. We were incorporated in Delaware as a wholly owned subsidiary of Galena on
September 8, 2011.
We believe that certain human diseases can potentially be treated by silencing targeted genes that lead to disease. While no therapeutic RNAi products
have been approved by the Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) to date, there has been significant interest in the field of RNAi therapeutic development.
This interest is driven by the potential ability to use RNAi to develop lead compounds that specifically and selectively inhibit single target genes, many of
which are thought to be incapable of being inhibited by other modalities. We are currently focusing our internal therapeutic development areas in fibrosis,
with dermal anti-scarring as our first indication. We believe that RXI-109, our first RNAi product candidate, may inhibit CTGF (connective tissue growth
factor) in human fibrotic disease. RXI-109 is initially being developed as a dermal anti-scarring therapy. The highlights of our RXI-109 development program
are the following:
•

We are currently working towards filing an investigational new drug application (“IND”) for RXI-109 and initiating a Phase I/II clinical trial in
2012.

•

Numerous studies implicate CTGF overexpression in scarring and fibrotic diseases. Data obtained from studies of our self-delivering RNA
compounds, including RXI-109, in preclinical models using direct local administration to the skin demonstrate robust cellular delivery and
statistically significant, dose-dependent silencing of CTGF for at least one week.

•

We believe that the potential commercial market for an effective dermal anti-scarring therapy is significant. Approximately 42 million surgical
procedures are performed annually, with many patients experiencing hypertrophic scarring and keloids.

•

We believe that RXI-109 or other CTGF-targeting compounds may be able to treat other indications, including pulmonary fibrosis, liver fibrosis,
acute spinal injury, ocular scarring and restenosis. If clinical studies of RXI-109 produce successful results in anti-scarring, we may explore
opportunities in these indications as well as other dermatology applications.

We intend to maintain our core RNAi discovery and development capability and to develop products both on our own and through collaborations. By
utilizing our expertise in RNAi and the comprehensive RNAi platform that we have established, we believe we will be able to discover and develop lead
compounds and progress them into and through clinical development for potential commercialization. Our proprietary therapeutic platform is comprised of
two main components:
•

Novel RNAi Compounds, referred to as rxRNATM compounds, that are distinct from, and we believe convey significant advantages over, classic
siRNA (conventionally-designed “small interfering RNA” compounds), and offer many of the properties that we believe are important to the clinical
development of RNAi-based drugs. We have developed a number of unique forms of rxRNA compounds, all of which have been shown to be highly
potent both in vitro and in preclinical in vivo models. These RNAi compounds include rxRNAoriTM, rxRNAsoloTM and sd-rxRNATM, or “selfdelivering” RNA. Based on our research, we believe that these different, novel siRNA configurations have various potential advantages for
therapeutic use. These potential advantages include high potency, increased resistance to nucleases and off-target effects, and, in the case of the sdrxRNA compounds, access to cells and tissues with no additional formulation required.

•

Advanced Delivery Technologies that enable the delivery of our rxRNA compounds to potentially treat a variety of acute and chronic diseases using
both local and systemic approaches, potentially providing a competitive advantage in the development of many RNAi therapeutic compounds. Our
suite of delivery technologies is comprised of delivery vehicles, which can be combined with various rxRNA compounds, as well as sd-rxRNA
compounds, which are chemically modified and have the unique property of entering cells and tissues to effect silencing without the need for any
additional delivery vehicle. This suite of delivery technologies has broad applications for multiple therapeutic areas targeting both local and systemic
applications for the delivery of the RNAi drug.
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Recent Business Developments
During the past year, we announced several important developments that are outlined below.
•

In November 2010, we announced that the United States Internal Revenue Service awarded us four Therapeutic Discovery Project, or TDP, grants
totaling $977,917 as part of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010. The TDP grants were awarded in four equal amounts for
developing: (1) sd-rxRNAi therapeutics for fibrotic disease; (2) sd-rxRNAi therapeutics for age-related macular degeneration; (3) sd-rxRNAi
therapeutics for ALS (Lou Gehrig’s disease); and (4) glucan-encapsulated siRNAs that can be delivered orally for rheumatoid arthritis.

•

In January 2011, we announced positive research results in collaboration with Generex Biotechnology Corporation, and its wholly owned subsidiary
Antigen Express, Inc., in developing proprietary vaccine formulations for active immunotherapy. Initial results demonstrated success in using sdrxRNA compounds to silence genes up to 80% in hematopoietic cells. The ability to reduce expression of certain genes in isolated hematopoieticderived cancer cells (ex vivo) has the potential to convert them into specific immune-stimulants.

•

In January 2011, we announced positive initial results as part of our collaboration with miRagen Therapeutics, Inc. in creating microRNA mimics, or
artificial copies of microRNAs, using our sd-rxRNA technology. In particular, the collaboration demonstrated efficacy in down-regulating a reporter
gene (in vitro) whose expression is controlled by the microRNA in cell culture model systems develop by miRagen. Increasing the level of particular
microRNAs by using therapeutic mimics may treat certain diseases, including cardiovascular, cancer, and inflammatory, fibrotic and metabolic
disorders.

•

In February 2011, we announced the initiation of our development program for RXI-109. IND-enabling toxicology studies of RXI-109 are currently
underway and the manufacturing of the clinical drug supply is ongoing. We are on track for an IND submission and a Phase I/II trial in 2012.

•

In March 2011, we announced new preclinical data using our proprietary sd-rxRNA compounds, including RXI-109. We announced preclinical in
vivo data showing robust, dose dependent, long-lasting, target-specific silencing data with an sd-rxRNA compound targeting CTGF. Included in
these new data were our preclinical results using intradermal injection of CTGF targeting sd-rxRNAs that showed strong silencing for more than a
week, as well as downstream effects related to abrogation of scar formation.

•

In April 2011, we announced that the National Institutes of Health ("NIH") awarded us two Small Business Innovation Research grants totaling
approximately $580,000. The first grant was in the amount of $304,559 to provide funding for an ongoing collaboration between us and Robert
Brown, M.D., D.Phil., Chair of the Department of Neurology at UMASS, which is focused on the preclinical development of novel RNAi
therapeutics for ALS and other neurodegenerative disorders. The second grant was in the amount of $273,824 to provide funding for a project
seeking to improve the delivery of RNAi therapeutics through medicinal chemistry.

•

In April 2011, we announced that our collaborative project on development of an sd-rxRNA based ALS therapeutic with Dr. Brown was selected to
receive $500,000 of additional funding from Massachusetts Life Sciences Center Cooperative Research Grant.

•

In September 2011, we announced new preclinical data using our proprietary sd-rxRNA compounds, including RXI-109, at the 7th Annual Meeting
of the Oligonucleotide Therapeutics Society. The data included preclinical efficacy data of RXI-109 demonstrating robust, dose dependent, longlasting, target-specific silencing of CTGF in skin, which in turn, impacted myofibroblast differentiation and collagen deposition, key markers of the
fibrosis process. In addition, intraocular efficacy and safety data were presented along with preliminary data clarifying the mechanism of cellular
uptake of sd-rxRNA compounds in cultured cells.

Financial Condition
We have not generated revenue to date and may not generate product revenue in the foreseeable future, if ever. We expect to incur significant operating
losses as we advance our product candidates through
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the drug development and regulatory process. We will need to generate significant revenues to achieve profitability and might never do so. In the absence of
product revenues, our potential sources of operational funding are expected to be the proceeds from the sale of equity, funded research and development
payments and payments received under partnership and collaborative agreements.
In the future, we will be dependent on obtaining funding from third parties, such as proceeds from the sale of equity, funded research and development
programs and payments under partnership and collaborative agreements, in order to maintain our operations and meet our obligations to licensors. There is no
guarantee that debt, additional equity or other funding will be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. If we fail to obtain additional funding when
needed, we would be forced to scale back, or terminate, our operations or to seek to merge with or to be acquired by another company.
As described in the “Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions” section of this prospectus, on September 24, 2011, we entered into a securities
purchase agreement pursuant to which TCP and RTW agreed to purchase a total of $9,500,000 of our Series A Preferred Stock at the closing of our spin-off
from Galena and to lend up to $1,500,000 to us to fund our operations between September 24, 2011 and the closing of the spin-off transaction, with the
outstanding principal and accrued interest from the loans to be converted into shares of our preferred stock at the closing. Such conversion will be applied to
the $9,500,000 total investment by TCP and RTW.
Introduction to the Field of RNAi Therapeutics
RNAi is a naturally occurring phenomenon where short double-stranded RNA molecules interfere with the expression of targeted genes. RNAi technology
takes advantage of this phenomenon and potentially allows us to effectively interfere with particular genes within living cells by designing RNA-derived
molecules targeting those genes. RNAi is regarded as a significant advancement in the scientific community, as evidenced by the journal Science’s selection
of RNAi as the “Breakthrough of the Year” in 2002 and by the awarding of the 2006 Nobel Prize in Medicine to the co-discoverers of RNAi, including
Dr. Craig Mello, a founder of Galena.
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RNAi offers a novel approach to the drug development process because, as described below under “The RNAi Mechanism,” RNAi compounds can
potentially be designed to target any one of the thousands of human genes, many of which are undruggable by other modalities. In contrast, an article
published in the December 2005 edition of Drug Discovery Today, by Andreas P. Russ and Stefan Lampel, has demonstrated that only a subset of the proteins
encoded in the human genetic code (human genome) are able to be targeted efficiently by traditional medicinal chemistry or antibody-based approaches. The
specificity of RNAi is achieved by an intrinsic well-understood biological mechanism based on designing the sequence of an RNAi compound to match the
sequence of the targeted gene. The specificity of RNAi may be sufficient to permit therapeutic targeting of only a single gene and, importantly, may even
selectively reduce or eliminate expression from a single abnormal copy of a gene while preserving expression from a normal copy (“allele-specific”
targeting). This is critical in diseases such as cancer and neurodegenerative disorders that are often caused by abnormal copies of genes.
The RNAi Mechanism
The genome is made of a double-strand of DNA (the double helix) that acts as an instruction manual for the production of the roughly 30,000 to 50,000
human proteins. Proteins are important molecules that allow cells and organisms to live and function. With rare exceptions, each cell in the human body has
the entire complement of genes. However, only a subset of these genes directs the production of proteins in any particular cell type. For example, a muscle
cell produces muscle-specific protein, whereas a skin cell does not.
In order for a gene to guide the production of a protein, it must first be copied into a single-stranded chemical messenger (messenger RNA or mRNA),
which is then translated into protein. RNAi is a naturally occurring process by which a particular messenger RNA can be destroyed before it is translated into
protein. The process of RNAi can be artificially induced by introducing a small double-stranded fragment of RNA corresponding to a particular messenger
RNA into a cell. A protein complex within the cell called RISC (RNA-Induced Silencing Complex) recognizes this double-stranded RNA fragment and splits
the double-strands apart, retaining one strand in the RISC complex. The RISC then helps this guide strand of RNA bind to and destroy its corresponding
cellular messenger RNA target. Thus, RNAi provides a method to potentially block the creation of the proteins that cause disease.
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Since gene expression controls most cellular processes, the ability to inhibit gene expression provides a potentially powerful tool to treat human diseases.
Furthermore, since the human genome has already been decoded, and based on numerous gene-silencing reports, we believe that RNAi compounds can
readily be designed to interfere with the expression of any specific gene. Based on our internal research and our review of certain scientific literature, we also
believe that our RNAi platform may allow us to develop create therapeutics with significant potential advantages over traditional drug development methods,
including:
•

High specificity for targeted genes;

•

High potency (low doses);

•

Ability to interfere with the expression of potentially any gene;

•

Accelerated generation of lead compounds; and

•

Low toxicity, natural mechanism of action.

RXi’s RNAi Therapeutic Platform
RNAi Compound Design
RNAi compounds are made from a strand or strands of RNA that are manufactured by a nucleic acid synthesizer. The synthesizer is programmed to
assemble a strand of RNA of a particular sequence using the four kinds of nucleotide units (Adenine (“A”), Uracil (“U”), Cytidine (“C”) and Guanosine
(“G”)) that match a small segment of the targeted gene. The hallmark of an RNAi compound is that it has a double stranded region. The compounds can be of
various lengths of nucleotide units (nt). The two strands can have overhangs, or they can have blunt ends. A single strand can form an RNAi compound by
forming a structure referred to as a hairpin.
The length and shape of the compound can affect the activity and hence the potency of the RNAi in cells. The first design of RNAi compounds to be
pursued for development as a human therapeutic was a short double-stranded RNA that included at least one overhanging single-stranded region, known as
small interfering RNA, or siRNA, which we also refer to as classic siRNA.
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In the case of classic siRNA, double-stranded RNA with single-stranded overhangs is used. We believe that classic siRNAs have drawbacks that may limit
the usefulness of those agents as human therapeutics, and that we may be able to utilize the technologies we have licensed and developed internally to
optimize RNAi compounds for use as human therapeutic agents. It is the combination of the length, the nucleotide sequence and the configuration of chemical
modifications that are important for effective RNAi therapeutics.
Our internal research leads us to believe that next generation rxRNA compounds offer significant advantages over classic siRNA used by other companies
developing RNAi therapeutics, highlighted by the following characteristics:
•

Up to 100 times more active than classic siRNA;

•

More resistant to nuclease degradation;

•

Readily manufactured;

•

Potentially more specific for the target gene;

•

More reliable at blocking immune side effects than classic siRNA; and

•

In the case of sd-rxRNA, the unique ability to be “self delivering,” without the need for any additional delivery vehicle.

Based on our own research, we have developed a variety of novel siRNA configurations with potential advantages for therapeutic use. The first of these
has been termed rxRNA ori . This configuration has some similarities to classic siRNA in that it is composed of two, short RNA strands. We have found that
by using a somewhat longer length (25-29 bp), removing the overhangs and using proprietary chemical modification patterns we achieve a higher hit rate of
very potent (picomolar potency) compounds in a given target sequence. These rxRNA ori compounds are modified to increase resistance to nucleases and to
prevent off-target effects including induction of an immune response. These novel RNAi compounds are distinct from the siRNA compounds used by many
other companies developing RNAi therapeutics in that they are designed specifically for therapeutic use and offer many of the properties that we believe are
important to the clinical development of RNAi-based drugs.
The second novel configuration has been called “sd-rxRNA” to indicate its novel “self-delivering” properties which do not require additional delivery
vehicles for efficient cellular uptake and RISC-mediated silencing. A combination of at least three characteristics is required for activity: (1) specific,
proprietary chemical modifications; (2) a precise number of chemical modifications; and (3) reduction in oligonucleotide content. Kineteic analyses of
fluorescently-labeled compounds demonstrate that efficient cellular internalization is observed within minutes of exposure. These molecules are taken up
efficiently and cause target gene silencing in diverse cell types (cell lines and primary cells). This novel class of RNAi compounds may afford a broad
opportunity for therapeutic development.
We believe the both chemical modification and formulation of RNAi compounds may be utilized to develop RNA drugs suitable for therapeutic use. The
route by which an RNAi therapeutic is brought into contact with the body depends on the intended organ or tissue to be treated. Delivery routes can be
simplified into two major categories: (1) local (when a drug is delivered directly to the tissue of interest); and (2) systemic (when a drug accesses the tissue of
interest through the circulatory system). Local delivery may avoid some hurdles associated with systemic approaches such as circulation clearance and tissue
extravasation (crossing the endothelial barrier from the blood stream). However, the local delivery approach can only be applied to a limited number of organs
or tissues (e.g., skin, eye, lung and potentially the central nervous system).
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The key to therapeutic success with RNAi lies in delivering intact RNAi compounds to the target tissue and the interior of the target cells. To accomplish
this, we have developed a comprehensive platform that includes local, systemic and oral delivery approaches. We work with chemically synthesized RNAi
compounds that are optimized for stability and efficacy and combine delivery at the site of action and formulation with delivery agents to achieve optimal
delivery to specific target tissues.
Local Delivery
sd-rxRNA molecules have unique properties which improve tissue and cell uptake. Delivery of sd-rxRNA by a local route of administration may avoid
hurdles associated with systemic approaches such as rapid clearance from the bloodstream and inefficient extravasation (e.g., crossing the endothelial barrier
from the blood stream). We have studied sd-rxRNA molecules in a rat model of dermal delivery. Direct application of sd-rxRNA with no additional delivery
vehicle to the skin (incision introduced) demonstrates that target gene silencing can be measured after topical delivery. The dose levels required for these
direct injection methods are small and suitable for clinical development suggesting that local delivery indications will be very accessible with the sd-rxRNA
technology platform. Target tissues that are potentially accessible for local delivery using sd-rxRNA compounds include lung, eye, skin, CNS, mucosal
tissues, sites of inflammation and tumors (direct administration).
Systemic Delivery
Systemic delivery occurs when a drug accesses the tissue of interest through the circulatory system. In some cases, such as in targeting a treatment to the
liver, the optimal route of delivery may be by a systemic route. We have developed a portfolio of systemic delivery solutions utilizing our RNAi therapeutic
platforms. One novel approach involves the use of sd-rxRNA compounds. The self-delivering technology introduces properties required for in vivo efficacy
such as cell and tissue penetration and improved blood clearance and distribution properties. Systemic delivery of these compounds to mice has resulted in
gene specific inhibition with no additional delivery vehicle required. In addition, we have developed novel nanotransporter formulations to aid in transport of
RNAi compounds to both liver and various other target tissues in the body. These nanotransporters are chemically synthesized molecules that form
nanometer-sized particles when mixed with RNAi compounds and alter the clearance, distribution and tissue penetration properties of the RNAi compounds.
Delivery of RNAi compounds to the liver might be critical for the treatment of many diseases and using rxRNA in conjunction with such delivery vehicles
has enabled us to demonstrate gene specific inhibition at low doses in a mouse model after intravenous, systemic delivery. Target tissues that are potentially
accessible using rxRNA compounds by systemic delivery include liver, lung, adipocytes, cardiomyocytes, bone marrow, sites of inflammation, tumors,
vascular endothelium and kidney.
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Oral Delivery
Most RNAi therapeutic products being developed today require recurring intravenous injections or other forms of administration which are not patient
friendly. To address the desire for RNAi therapeutics with improved modes of administration, we are testing a novel formulation technology, GlucanEncapsulated RNAi Particles (GeRPs) that may allow our rxRNA compounds to be incorporated into orally administered pills. Early data to date suggest that
the GeRP delivery system appears to be more potent than previous methods used for systemic delivery of RNAi therapeutics by intravenous injection.
Additional studies will need to be conducted to clearly establish the flexibility of the GeRP system and to determine whether they can either be used to
administer a single RNAi compound, multiple RNAi compounds, or could potentially allow co-delivery of RNAi, DNA, protein and small molecule
combinations.
Alliance Partners in Therapeutic Areas
We are actively seeking to leverage our technology platforms by seeking to work with pharmaceutical and biotechnology partners in the partners’ fields of
interest. Our team has experience targeting genes in virtually every major therapeutic area, and based on this experience, we believe we can discover many
more drug candidates by working with partners than we can develop with our own resources. We are seeking to work with partners in the discovery and
development of drugs in a number of therapeutic areas.
Intellectual Property
We actively seek protection for our proprietary information by means of United States and foreign patents, trademarks and copyrights. In addition, we rely
upon trade secret protection and contractual arrangements to protect certain of our proprietary information and products. We have pending patent applications
that relate to potential drug targets, compounds we are developing to modulate those targets
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(described throughout herein as rxRNA), methods of making or using those compounds and proprietary elements of our drug discovery platform.
Much of our technology and many of our processes depend upon the knowledge, experience and skills of key scientific and technical personnel. To protect
our rights to our proprietary know-how and technology, we require all employees, as well as our consultants and advisors when feasible, to enter into
confidentiality agreements that require disclosure and assignment to us of ideas, developments, discoveries and inventions made by these employees,
consultants and advisors in the course of their service to us.
We have also obtained rights to various patents and patent applications under licenses with third parties, which require us to pay royalties or milestone
payments, or both. The degree of patent protection for biotechnology products and processes, including ours, remains uncertain, both in the United States and
in other important markets, because the scope of protection depends on decisions of patent offices, courts and lawmakers in these countries. There is no
certainty that our existing patents or others, if obtained, will afford us substantial protection or commercial benefit. Similarly, there is no assurance that our
pending patent applications or patent applications licensed from third parties will ultimately be granted as patents or that those patents that have been issued
or are issued in the future will stand if they are challenged in court. We assess our license agreements on an ongoing basis, and may from time to time
terminate licenses to technology that we do not intend to employ in our immunotherapy or RNAi technology platforms, or in our product discovery or
development activities.
Patents and Patent Applications
We are actively prosecuting 14 pending patent applications families encompassing what we believe to be important new compounds and their use as
therapeutics in RNAi, chemical modifications of RNAi compounds that improve the compounds’ suitability for therapeutic uses (including delivery) and
compounds directed to specific targets (i.e., that address specific disease states). Any patents that may issue from these pending patent applications will be set
to expire between 2028 and 2031, not including any patent term extensions that may be afforded under the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act (and the
equivalent provisions in foreign jurisdictions) for any delays incurred during the regulatory approval process relating to human drug products (or processes
for making or using human drug products).
License Agreements
We have secured exclusive and non-exclusive rights to develop RNAi therapeutics by licensing key RNAi technologies and patent rights from third
parties. These rights relate to chemistry and configuration of RNAi compounds, delivery technologies of RNAi compounds to cells and therapeutic targets. As
we continue to develop our own proprietary compounds, we continue to evaluate both our in-licensed portfolio as well as the field for new technologies that
could be in-licensed to further enhance our intellectual property portfolio and unique position in the RNAi space.
University of Massachusetts Medical School. We hold a non-exclusive license from the University of Massachusetts Medical School (“UMMS”). This
license grants to us rights under certain UMMS patent applications to make, use and sell products related to applications of RNAi technologies in particular
fields, including HCMV and retinitis, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, known as “ALS” or “Lou Gehrig’s Disease,” diabetes and obesity. We must pay UMMS
annual maintenance fees and milestone payments. We will be required to pay to UMMS a percentage of income received from any sublicensees under this
license and to pay expenses incurred by UMMS in prosecuting and maintaining the licensed patents.
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Other Technology Agreements
Dharmacon. We have entered into a license agreement with Dharmacon, Inc. (now part of Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc.), pursuant to which we obtained
an exclusive license to certain RNAi sequences to a number of target genes for the development of our rxRNA compounds. Furthermore, we hold the right to
license additional RNAi sequences, under the same terms, disclosed by Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc. in its pending patent applications against target genes
and have received an option for exclusivity for other siRNA configurations. As partial consideration for this license, we have agreed to pay future clinical
milestone payments and royalty payments based on sales of siRNA compositions developed in connection with the licensed technology.
Advirna. We have entered into agreements with Advirna pursuant to which Advirna assigned to us its existing patent and technology rights related to sdrxRNA technology in exchange for our agreement to pay Advirna an annual $100,000 maintenance fee and a one-time milestone payment of $350,000 upon
the issuance of the first patent with valid claims covering the assigned technology. Additionally, we will be required to pay a 1% royalty to Advirna for any
licensing revenue received by us with respect to future licensing of the assigned Advirna patent and technology rights. We also agreed to grant back to
Advirna a license under the assigned patent and technology rights for fields of use outside human therapeutics and diagnostics and to issue to Advirna, upon
the completion of the spin-off transaction, shares of common stock equal to approximately 5% of our outstanding common stock on a fully diluted basis
assuming the conversion of all outstanding Series A Preferred Stock.
Competition
A number of companies are using RNAi technologies, including for at least some of the disease indications we have been focusing our efforts on to date.
Companies working in the RNAi area include: Alnylam Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Marina Biotech, Inc., Tacere Therapeutics, Inc., Benitec Limited, OPKO
Health, Inc., Silence Therapeutics plc, Quark Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Rosetta Genomics Ltd., Lorus Therapeutics, Inc., Tekmira Pharmaceuticals Corporation,
Calando Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Regulus Therapeutics Inc., and Santaris Pharmaceuticals, as well as a number of large pharmaceutical companies.
Furthermore, a number of companies are developing therapeutics for the same diseases we are targeting, including anti-scarring for which we are
developing our first RNAi product candidate, using technologies other than RNAi, and, for some of these diseases, there are existing therapeutics currently on
the market. For example, Excaliard Pharmaceuticals, Inc. has successfully advanced an anti-CTGF antisense oligonucleotide through several Phase I and II
clinical trials and has demonstrated improved scar outcome over placebo.
Most of these competitors have substantially greater research and development capabilities and financial, scientific, technical, manufacturing, marketing,
distribution and other resources than we have, and we may not be able to successfully compete with them. In addition, even if we are successful in developing
our product candidates, in order to compete successfully we may need to be first to market or to demonstrate that our RNAi based products are superior to
therapies based on different technologies. A number of our competitors have already commenced clinical testing of RNAi product candidates and may be
more advanced than we are in the process of developing products. If we are not first to market or are unable to demonstrate superiority, any products for
which we are able to obtain approval may not be successful.
Government Regulation
The United States and other developed countries extensively regulate the preclinical and clinical testing, manufacturing, labeling, storage, record-keeping,
advertising, promotion, export, marketing and distribution of drugs and biologic products. The FDA regulates pharmaceutical and biologic products under
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the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, the Public Health Service Act and other federal statutes and regulations.
To obtain approval of our future product candidates from the FDA, we must, among other requirements, submit data supporting safety and efficacy for the
intended indication as well as detailed information on the manufacture and composition of the product candidate. In most cases, this will require extensive
laboratory tests and preclinical and clinical trials. The collection of these data, as well as the preparation of applications for review by the FDA involve
significant time and expense. The FDA also may require post-marketing testing to monitor the safety and efficacy of approved products or place conditions
on any approvals that could restrict the therapeutic claims and commercial applications of these products. Regulatory authorities may withdraw product
approvals if we fail to comply with regulatory standards or if we encounter problems at any time following initial marketing of our products.
The first stage of the FDA approval process for a new biologic or drug involves completion of preclinical studies and the submission of the results of these
studies to the FDA. These data, together with proposed clinical protocols, manufacturing information, analytical data and other information submitted to the
FDA, in an IND, must become effective before human clinical trials may commence. Preclinical studies generally involve FDA regulated laboratory
evaluation of product characteristics and animal studies to assess the efficacy and safety of the product candidate.
After the IND becomes effective, a company may commence human clinical trials. These are typically conducted in three sequential phases, but the phases
may overlap. Phase I trials consist of testing the product candidate in a small number of patients or healthy volunteers, primarily for safety at one or more
doses. Phase II trials, in addition to safety, evaluate the efficacy of the product candidate in a patient population somewhat larger than Phase I trials. Phase III
trials typically involve additional testing for safety and clinical efficacy in an expanded population at multiple test sites. A company must submit to the FDA a
clinical protocol, accompanied by the approval of the Institutional Review Boards at the institutions participating in the trials, prior to commencement of each
clinical trial.
To obtain FDA marketing authorization, a company must submit to the FDA the results of the preclinical and clinical testing, together with, among other
things, detailed information on the manufacture and composition of the product candidate, in the form of a new drug application (an “NDA”), or, in the case
of a biologic, a biologics license application (a “BLA”).
The amount of time taken by the FDA for approval of an NDA or BLA will depend upon a number of factors, including whether the product candidate has
received priority review, the quality of the submission and studies presented, the potential contribution that the compound will make in improving the
treatment of the disease in question and the workload at the FDA.
The FDA may, in some cases, confer upon an investigational product the status of a fast track product. A fast track product is defined as a new drug or
biologic intended for the treatment of a serious or life threatening condition that demonstrates the potential to address unmet medical needs for this condition.
The FDA can base approval of an NDA or BLA for a fast track product on an effect on a surrogate endpoint, or on another endpoint that is reasonably likely
to predict clinical benefit. If a preliminary review of clinical data suggests that a fast track product may be effective, the FDA may initiate review of entire
sections of a marketing application for a fast track product before the sponsor completes the application.
We anticipate that our products will be manufactured by our strategic partners, licensees or other third parties. Before approving an NDA or BLA, the FDA
will inspect the facilities at which the product is manufactured and will not approve the product unless the manufacturing facilities are in compliance with the
FDA’s current good manufacturing practice (“cGMP”), which are regulations that govern the manufacture,
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holding and distribution of a product. Manufacturers of biologics also must comply with the FDA’s general biological product standards. Our manufacturers
also will be subject to regulation under the Occupational Safety and Health Act, the Nuclear Energy and Radiation Control Act, the Toxic Substance Control
Act and the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act and other applicable environmental statutes. Following approval, the FDA periodically inspects drug
and biologic manufacturing facilities to ensure continued compliance with the good manufacturing practices regulations. Our manufacturers will have to
continue to comply with those requirements. Failure to comply with these requirements subjects the manufacturer to possible legal or regulatory action, such
as suspension of manufacturing or recall or seizure of product. Adverse patient experiences with the product must be reported to the FDA and could result in
the imposition of marketing restrictions through labeling changes or market removal. Product approvals may be withdrawn if compliance with regulatory
requirements is not maintained or if problems concerning safety or efficacy of the product occur following approval.
The labeling, advertising, promotion, marketing and distribution of a drug or biologic product also must be in compliance with FDA and Federal Trade
Commission requirements which include, among others, standards and regulations for off-label promotion, industry sponsored scientific and educational
activities, promotional activities involving the internet, and direct-to-consumer advertising. We also will be subject to a variety of federal, state and local
regulations relating to the use, handling, storage and disposal of hazardous materials, including chemicals and radioactive and biological materials. In
addition, we will be subject to various laws and regulations governing laboratory practices and the experimental use of animals. In each of these areas, as
above, the FDA has broad regulatory and enforcement powers, including the ability to levy fines and civil penalties, suspend or delay issuance of product
approvals, seize or recall products and deny or withdraw approvals.
We will also be subject to a variety of regulations governing clinical trials and sales of our products outside the United States. Whether or not FDA
approval has been obtained, approval of a product candidate by the comparable regulatory authorities of foreign countries and regions must be obtained prior
to the commencement of marketing the product in those countries. The approval process varies from one regulatory authority to another and the time may be
longer or shorter than that required for FDA approval. In the European Union, Canada and Australia, regulatory requirements and approval processes are
similar, in principle, to those in the United States.
Environmental Compliance
Our research and development activities involve the controlled use of potentially harmful biological materials as well as hazardous materials, chemicals
and various radioactive compounds. We are subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations governing the use, storage, handling and disposal of these
materials and specific waste products. We are also subject to numerous environmental, health and workplace safety laws and regulations, including those
governing laboratory procedures, exposure to blood-borne pathogens and the handling of bio-hazardous materials. The cost of compliance with these laws
and regulations could be significant and may adversely affect capital expenditures to the extent we are required to procure expensive capital equipment to
meet regulatory requirements.
Human Resources
As of September 30, 2011, we had ten full-time employees, eight of whom were engaged in research and development and two of whom were engaged in
management, administration and finance. None of our employees is represented by a labor union or covered by a collective bargaining agreement, nor have
we experienced any work stoppages.
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Insurance
We currently purchase insurance policies for property and liability risks arising out of current operations.
Properties
We occupy our facility located at 60 Prescott Street, Worcester, Massachusetts, pursuant to a lease agreement, dated September 25, 2007, with Newgate
Properties, LLC (an affiliate of Worcester Polytechnic Institute). The facility is approximately 6,800 square feet, of which 5,600 square feet is laboratory
space used for research and development and the additional 1,200 square feet is used for general and administrative offices. On June 9, 2011, the lease was
extended through July 31, 2012. The monthly rental fee is approximately $16,000. On May [__], 2011 we reduced space occupied by us to approximately
5,355 square feet and extended the lease agreement for another year ending June 20, 2012. We believe that the space is suitable for our current needs.
Legal Proceedings
Although we are not currently involved in any legal proceedings, from time to time, we may become a party to various legal actions and complaints arising
in the ordinary course of business.
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MANAGEMENT
Board of Directors
Mark J. Ahn, Ph.D., currently serves as our only director. Upon completion of the spin-off transaction, our authorized number of directors will be no fewer
than two nor more than five. Our initial board of directors at the time of the spin-off will consist of Dr. Ahn and two other directors, Kevin C. Tang and
Roderick T. Wong. Information regarding our initial directors is set forth below.
Mark J. Ahn, Ph.D. (49). Dr. Ahn has served as our President and Chief Financial Officer since our inception on September 9, 2011, and has served as the
President and Chief Executive Officer of Galena since March 31, 2011 and as a director since 2007. Dr. Ahn has served as the interim Chief Financial Officer
of Galena since September 26, 2011. He brings more than 20 years of experience in the biopharmaceutical industry. Prior to RXi, Dr. Ahn was Principal at
Pukana Partners, Ltd., which provides strategic consulting to life science companies, and Associate Professor, Global Management at Atkinson Graduate
School of Management, Willamette University. He previously served as Chair, Science & Technology Management, Victoria University at Wellington, New
Zealand. Dr. Ahn was also founder, President, and Chief Executive Officer of Hana Biosciences. Prior to Hana, he served as Vice President, Hematology and
corporate officer at Genentech, Inc., as well as held positions of increasing responsibility at Amgen and Bristol-Myers Squibb Company. Dr. Ahn also serves
as a director of several public and venture capital-backed companies, including RXi, Access Pharmaceuticals, Mesynthes and ScribesSTAT. Dr. Ahn is the
author of over 50 peer-reviewed journal articles and books. Dr. Ahn received a B.A. and M.B.A. from Chaminade University and an M.A. from Victoria
University. He was a graduate fellow in Economics at Essex University and obtained a Ph.D. from the University of South Australia. Dr. Ahn is a Henry
Crown Fellow at the Aspen Institute. Dr. Ahn’s qualifications as a director include his extensive prior experience as both an executive and a director of a
number of pharmaceutical and biotech companies, and his scientific and academic qualifications, as well as his expertise in financial and other related matters
pertaining to the operation of publicly traded pharmaceutical companies. Accordingly, we believe Dr. Ahn has the appropriate skills to serve on our board of
directors.
Kevin C. Tang (44). We have agreed in the securities purchase agreement with TCP and RTW that Mr. Tang will serve as one of our directors upon
completion of the spin-off transaction as described in the “Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions” section of this prospectus. Mr. Tang is the
Managing Director of Tang Capital Management, LLC, a life sciences-focused investment company he founded in August 2002. From September 1993 to
July 2001, Mr. Tang held various positions at Deutsche Banc Alex Brown, Inc., an investment banking firm, most recently serving as Managing Director and
head of the firm’s life sciences research group. Mr. Tang currently serves as a director of A.P. Pharma, Inc. and Ardea Biosciences, Inc. He was previously a
director of Trimeris, Inc. until 2009 and Penwest Pharmaceuticals Co. until 2010. Mr. Tang received a B.S. degree from Duke University. Mr. Tang’s
investment and leadership experience in the healthcare industry provides relevant expertise in strategic areas, as well as in-depth knowledge of the healthcare
industry and valuable insight and guidance on matters such as corporate strategy and financial and risk management. Accordingly, we believe Mr. Tang has
the appropriate skills to serve on our board of directors.
Roderick T. Wong, M.D. (34). We have agreed in the securities purchase agreement with TCP and RTW that Dr. Wong will serve as one of our directors
upon completion of the spin-off transaction as described in the “Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions” section of this prospectus. Dr. Wong
founded RTW Investments, LLC in 2010 and serves as its Chief Investment Officer and Managing Partner. From March 2005 to January 2009, Dr. Wong
worked for Davidson Kempner Capital Management LLC, where he served as Managing Director and Portfolio Manager for the Davidson Kempner
Healthcare Funds from inception. Dr. Wong graduated from the University of Pennsylvania Medical School, received his M.B.A. from Harvard Business
School, and graduated Phi Beta Kappa with a B.S. in Economics from Duke University. Dr. Wong also serves as an Adjunct Assistant Professor at the New
York University Stern Business School. Dr. Wong previously served as a director of Penwest Pharmaceuticals Co.
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until 2010. Dr. Wong’s medical training and experience in the healthcare industry provide relevant expertise and in-depth knowledge that will be beneficial to
our board of directors with respect to corporate strategy and other operational matters. Accordingly, we believe Dr. Wong has the appropriate skills to serve
on our board of directors.
Director Independence
Our securities are not listed on a national securities exchange or in an inter-dealer quotation system that requires that a majority of our board of directors
be independent. Our board of directors has determined that Dr. Ahn is not an “independent director” as defined by The NASDAQ Capital Market.
Committees of the Board of Directors
Following the completion of the spin-off transaction, our board of directors may establish an Audit Committee, a Compensation Committee and a
Nominating and Governance Committee. In the meantime, our board of directors as a whole performs the functions normally associated with such
Committees.
Executive Officers
Set forth below is information regarding our current executive officers (other than information relating to Dr. Ahn, our President and Chief Financial
Officer, which information is set forth above under “Board of Directors”). Each officer’s age is indicated in parentheses after her name.
Anastasia Khvorova, Ph.D. (42). Dr. Khvorova has been our Senior Vice President and Chief Scientific Officer since September 24, 2011. From
October 2008 until that time, she served as the Chief Scientific Officer of Galena. From September 2002 until November 2007, she served as the Director of
Research and Development and then as Vice President of Research and Development and Chief Scientific Officer of Dharmacon (a subsidiary of
ThermoFisher Scientific). From November 2007 until joining Galena, Dr. Khvorova served as an independent consultant. During her career, Dr. Khvorova
has significantly contributed to research in the RNAi field. While at Dharmacon, she made major technology advances in RNAi and microRNA.
Dr. Khvorova was also responsible for establishing and managing several drug discovery/development collaborations with major pharmaceutical companies,
including Abbott and Alcon. Her groundbreaking work has enabled her to author more than 200 patents and patent applications, several book chapters and
over 40 peer-reviewed publications. Dr. Khvorova received her Ph.D. in Biochemistry from the Russian Academia of Sciences in Moscow in 1994. Dr.
Khvorova is a board member of the Oligonucleotide Therapeutic Society and a member of other distinguished professional organizations.
Pamela Pavco, Ph.D. (55). Dr. Pavco has been our Senior Vice President of Pharmaceutical Development since September 24, 2011. From March 2007
until that time, she served as the Vice President of Pharmaceutical Development of Galena. Dr. Pavco has over 20 years of research and development
experience in oligonucleotides. From 2002 until 2006, Dr. Pavco was Senior Director, Research and Development Project Management at Sirna Therapeutics,
previously known as Ribozyme Pharmaceuticals, where she was responsible for the discovery research and development of Sirna-027, the first chemically
modified siRNA to enter into clinical trials. Dr. Pavco also managed Sirna’s alliance with Allergan that was initiated to continue discovery research in the
area of ophthalmology and take Sirna-027 forward into Phase 2 clinical studies. While at Sirna, Dr. Pavco served in various additional capacities, including
Director of Biology Research and Director of Pharmacology and she also managed numerous corporate collaborations and internal programs developing
therapeutic oligonucleotides in the fields of oncology, anti-angiogenesis, hepatitis, respiratory disease and Huntington’s disease. Dr. Pavco has authored
numerous scientific articles and
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contributed to approximately 58 patents and patent applications in the oligonucleotide therapeutics field. Dr. Pavco received a Ph.D. in Biochemistry from
Virginia Commonwealth University in 1983 and did her post-doctoral work at Duke University. She is a member of the American Association of Cancer
Research and the Association for Research and Vision in Ophthalmology.
We may establish a Scientific Advisory Board prior to or following the completion of the spin-off transaction.
EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Summary Compensation Table
Dr. Ahn is not compensated by us for his service as our President and Chief Financial Officer. Our other executive officers, Drs. Khvorova and Pavco,
have been employed by us only since September 24, 2011. The principal terms of our employment agreements with Drs. Khvorova and Pavco are described
below in the “Executive Compensation — Employment Agreements” section of this prospectus.
The following table sets forth the compensation paid or accrued by Galena, our predecessor, during the fiscal years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 to
Noah D. Beerman, the former President and Chief Executive Officer of Galena, and to Drs. Khvorova and Pavco:

Name and Principle Position

Year

Salary
($)

Bonus
($)(1)

Option
Awards
($)(2)

All Other
Compensation
($)(3)

Total
($)

Noah D. Beerman(4)
Former President and Chief Executive
Officer of Galena

2010

376,731

90,000

29,455

300

496,486

2009

53,365

55,657

690,305

50

799,377

Anastasia Khvorova, Ph.D.
Chief Scientific Officer of Galena

2010
2009

283,752
264,855

49,941
42,559

198,572
263,900

300
300

532,565
571,614

Pamela Pavco, Ph.D.
Vice President of Pharmaceutical
Development of Galena

2010

281,197

38,933

203,006

300

523,436

2009

249,192

36,158

174,544

300

460,194

(1)

Represents year-end bonuses that were accrued at December 31, 2010 and 2009 and paid in January 2011 and January 2010, respectively.

(2)

Represents options to purchase common stock of Galena, our predecessor. The amounts shown reflect the grant date fair value computed in accordance
with FASB ASC 718 for the indicated year, adjusted to disregard the effects of any estimate of forfeitures related to service-based vesting. The
assumptions we used in valuing options are described more fully in the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis” section and the footnotes to our
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2010.

(3)

Consists of life insurance premiums.

(4)

Mr. Beerman became President and Chief Executive Officer of Galena on November 5, 2009. He resigned effective March 31, 2011. The salary, bonus,
option awards and other compensation paid to Mr. Beerman by Galena may not be indicative of what we may pay to the person or persons who may
serve in the same capacities following the spin-off of RXi.

RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation 2011 Incentive Plan
We intend to adopt an RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation 2011 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2011 Incentive Plan”) prior to the completion of the spin-off
transaction, subject to the approval of our board of directors and of Galena as our sole our stockholder. Under the 2011 Incentive Plan, we may grant incentive
common stock options, nonqualified stock options and restricted and unrestricted stock awards. We anticipate that a
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maximum of [_________] shares of common stock will be authorized for issuance and available for future grants under our 2011 Incentive Plan, including the
grants of stock options to be made to Drs. Khvorova and Pavco as provided in our employment agreements with them. Our board of directors or a committee
of our board will act as the administrator of our 2011 Incentive Plan.
Subject to board approval, the administrator will have the power to select the participants, establish the price, terms and conditions of each option, issue
shares upon option exercises and interpret option agreements, and the administrator may at any time modify or amend the 2011 Incentive Plan in any respect,
except where stockholders’ approval is required by law or where such termination or modification or amendment affects the rights of an optionee under a
previously granted option and such optionee’s consent has not been obtained.
In the event of a change of control in which there is an acquiring or surviving entity, the administrator may provide for the assumption or substitution of
some or all of the outstanding awards by the acquiror or survivor. In the absence of an assumption or substitution, each stock option will become fully
exercisable prior to the transaction on a basis that gives the holder of the stock option a reasonable opportunity as determined by the administrator, to
participate as a stockholder in the transaction following exercise, and the stock option will terminate upon consummation of the transaction. In the case of
restricted stock, the administrator may require that any amounts delivered, exchanged or otherwise paid in respect of such stock in connection with the
transaction be placed in escrow or otherwise made subject to such restrictions as the board of directors deems appropriate.
Upon termination of employment of an employee, the unvested portion of any stock option generally will terminate and the balance, to the extent
exercisable, will remain exercisable for the lesser of (i) a period of three months or (ii) the period ending on the latest date on which such stock option could
have been exercised without regard to this provision. The 2011 Incentive Plan may provide for exceptions to the vesting of options upon an individual’s death
or in other circumstances.
Outstanding Equity Awards
We have no outstanding stock options or other stock awards.
Nonqualified Deferred Compensation
We do not have any nonqualified deferred compensation plans.
Termination-Based Compensation; Employment Agreements
We have employment agreements in place with two of our named executive officers as described below that provide for acceleration of option vesting and
severance payments upon termination of such officer’s employment or a change of control.
On September 24, 2011, we entered into an employment agreement with each of Dr. Khvorova and Dr. Pavco. The employment agreements each provide
that, upon termination of Dr. Khvorova’s or Dr. Pavco’s employment without “cause” (as defined) by RXi, or by Dr. Khvorova or Dr. Pavco for “good
reason” (as defined), Dr. Khvorova or Dr. Pavco, as the case may be, will be entitled to payment of: (a) any accrued but unpaid salary and unused vacation as
of the date of her termination; (b) twelve months (in the event of such termination within twelve months of the effective date of her employment) or six
months (in the event of such termination after twelve months from the effective date of her employment), as the case may be, of salary from the date of
termination; and (c) continued participation, at RXi’s expense, during the applicable severance period in RXi’s sponsored group medical and dental plans. In
the event her employment is terminated within twelve months following a “change of control” of RXi, Dr. Khvorova or Dr. Pavco, as the case may be, will be
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entitled to: (x) twelve months of salary from the date of termination; (y) accelerated vesting of any unvested RXi stock options held by her as to 50% of the
unvested option shares or the portion of the unvested option shares that would have vested over the following twenty-four months, whichever is greater; and
(z) continued participation, at RXi’s expense, during the severance period in RXi’s sponsored group medical and dental plans.
Director Compensation
Dr. Ahn receives no compensation from us for his service as our sole director. Following the completion of the spin-off of RXi, we anticipate that, in the
discretion of our board of directors, each non-employee director may be paid such fees for his services as a director and be reimbursed for his reasonable
expenses incurred in the performance of his duties as director as our board of directors determines from time to time.
Employment Agreements
Anastasia Khvorova, Ph.D.
Dr. Khvorova serves as our Senior Vice President and Chief Scientific Officer. Under her employment agreement dated September 24, 2011, Dr. Khvorova
receives an annual salary of $310,000. She also is entitled to a grant by us, after the completion of the spin-off transaction, of stock options to purchase 2% of
the fully diluted common stock of RXi at an exercise price per share to be determined based on the fair value of our common stock at the date of grant. The
options will be subject to vesting in equal monthly installments over the four-year period following the effective date of her employment, subject to
accelerated vesting in some events.
Dr. Khvorova’s employment agreement provides that, upon termination of Dr. Khvorova’s employment without “cause” (as defined) by us or by
Dr. Khvorova for “good reason” (as defined), she will be entitled to payment of: (1) any accrued but unpaid salary and unused vacation as of the date of her
termination; (2) twelve months (in the event of such termination within twelve months of the effective date of her employment) or six months (in the event of
such termination after twelve months from the effective date of her employment), as the case may be, of salary from the date of termination; and
(3) continued participation, at our expense, during the applicable severance period in our sponsored group medical and dental plans. In the event her
employment is terminated within twelve months following a “change of control” of RXi, she will be entitled to: (x) twelve months of salary from the date of
termination; (y) accelerated vesting of any unvested RXi stock options held by her as to 50% of the unvested option shares or the portion of the unvested
option shares that would have vested over the following twenty-four months, whichever is greater; and (z) continued participation, at our expense, during the
severance period in our sponsored group medical and dental plans.
Pamela Pavco, Ph.D.
Dr. Pavco services as our Senior Vice President of Pharmaceutical Development. Under her employment agreement dated September 24, 2011, Dr. Pavco
receives an annual salary of $300,000. She also is entitled to a grant by us, after the completion of the spin-off transaction, of stock options to purchase 2% of
the fully diluted common stock of RXi at an exercise price per share to be determined based on the fair value of our common stock at the date of grant. The
options will be subject to vesting in equal monthly installments over the four-year period following the effective date of her employment, subject to
accelerated vesting in some events.
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Dr. Pavco’s employment agreement provides that, upon termination of Dr. Pavco’s employment without “cause” (as defined) by us or by Dr. Pavco for
“good reason” (as defined), she will be entitled to payment of: (1) any accrued but unpaid salary and unused vacation as of the date of her termination;
(2) twelve months (in the event of such termination within twelve months of the effective date of her employment) or six months (in the event of such
termination after twelve months from the effective date of her employment), as the case may be, of salary from the date of termination; and (3) continued
participation, at our expense, during the applicable severance period in our sponsored group medical and dental plans. In the event her employment is
terminated within twelve months following a “change of control” of RXi, she will be entitled to: (x) twelve months of salary from the date of termination;
(y) accelerated vesting of any unvested RXi stock options held by her as to 50% of the unvested option shares or the portion of the unvested option shares that
would have vested over the following twenty-four months, whichever is greater; and (z) continued participation, at our expense, during the severance period
in our sponsored group medical and dental plans.
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CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Agreements with Galena Biopharma, Inc.
Prior to the completion of the transactions described in this prospectus, Galena will continue to be the owner of all of our outstanding capital stock. On
September 24, 2011, we entered into a contribution agreement with Galena pursuant to which:
•

Galena assigned and contributed to us substantially all of its RNAi-related technologies and assets, which consist primarily of novel RNAi
compounds and licenses relating to its RNAi technologies, as well as the lease of its Worcester, Massachusetts laboratory facility, fixed assets and
other equipment located at the facility and its employment arrangements with certain scientific, corporate and administrative personnel who have
become our employees, as well as research grants of approximately $800,000 that are subject to the approval of the granting institutions; and

•

We agreed to assume certain recent accrued expenses of the RXi-109 development program and all future obligations under the contributed licenses,
employment arrangements and other agreements, and we agreed to make future milestone payments to Galena of up to $45 million, consisting of
two one-time payments of $15 million and $30 million, respectively, if we achieve annual net sales equal to or greater than $500 million and
$1 billion, respectively, of any covered products that may be developed with the contributed RNAi technologies.

Agreements with TCP and RTW
On September 24, 2011, we entered into a securities purchase agreement with Galena, TCP and RTW pursuant to which:
•

TCP and RTW agreed to purchase a total of $9,500,000 of our Series A Preferred Stock at the closing of the spin-off transaction and to lend to us up
to $1,500,000 to fund our operations prior to the closing, with the outstanding principal and accrued interest from the loan to be converted into
Series A Preferred Stock at the closing, at a conversion price of $1,000 per share, and such conversion will be applied to the $9,500,000 total
investment by TCP and RTW;

•

We agreed that the Series A Preferred Stock will be convertible by TCP or RTW at any time into shares of our common stock, except to the extent
that the holder would own more than 9.999% of the shares of our common stock outstanding immediately after giving effect to such conversion;
without regard to this conversion limitation, the shares of the Series A Preferred Stock to be held by TCP and RTW would be convertible into shares
of our common stock representing
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approximately 83% of the shares of our common stock that would be outstanding upon the completion of the spin-off transaction and after such
Series A Preferred Stock conversion;
•

We agreed that the Series A Preferred Stock will have the rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions summarized below in the “Description of
Capital Stock—Preferred Stock” section of this prospectus;

•

Galena agreed to contribute $1.5 million of cash to us;

•

Galena agreed to distribute to its stockholders the shares of RXi common stock that are the subject of this prospectus;

•

We and Galena agreed to take all necessary actions to constitute our initial board of directors as described in the “Management” section of this
prospectus; and

•

We agreed to reimburse, upon completion of the spin-off transaction, Galena for up to a total of $300,000, and TCP and RTW for a total of up to
$100,000, of transaction costs relating to the contribution agreement with Galena, the securities purchase agreement summarized below and the
transactions contemplated by those agreements.

Advirna Agreement
As part of the transactions contemplated by the contribution and securities purchase agreements, on September 24, 2011, we entered into agreements with
Advirna, which is affiliated with Anastasia Khvorova, Ph.D., our Senior Vice President and Chief Scientific Officer, pursuant to which:
•

Advirna assigned to us its existing patent and technology rights related to sd-rxRNA technology in exchange for our agreement to pay Advirna an
annual $100,000 maintenance fee and a one-time $350,000 milestone payment upon the future issuance of the first patent with valid claims covering
the assigned patent and technology rights;

•

We will be required to pay a 1% royalty to Advirna for any licensing revenue received by us with respect to future licensing of the assigned Advirna
patent and technology rights;

•

We have granted back to Advirna a license under the assigned patent and technology for fields of use outside the fields of human therapeutics and
diagnostics; and

•

We have agreed to issue to Advirna, upon the completion of the spin-off transaction, shares of our common stock equal to approximately 5% of the
fully diluted shares of RXi common stock assuming the conversion in full of all outstanding Series A Preferred Stock.

Relationships with Employees
Our President, Chief Financial Officer and sole director, Mark J.Ahn, Ph.D., also serves as the President and Chief Executive Officer and as a director of
Galena.
For a summary of the employment agreements that we have entered into with Dr. Khvorova and Dr. Pamela Pavco, our Senior Vice President of
Pharmaceutical Development, see the “Executive Compensation—Employment Agreements” section in this prospectus.
Review and Approval of Related Party Transactions
Upon the completion of the partial spin-off of RXi, we anticipate that our board of directors will adopt appropriate policies regarding the review and
approval of all transactions with directors, officers and holders of more than 5% of our voting securities and their affiliates. The policies are expected to
provide that, prior to board consideration of a transaction with such a related party, the material facts as to the related party’s relationship or interest in the
transaction must be disclosed to the board, and the transaction will not be considered approved by the board unless a majority of the directors who are not
interested in the transaction approve the transaction. Furthermore, when stockholders are entitled to vote on a transaction with a related
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party, the material facts of the related party’s relationship or interest in the transaction must be disclosed to the stockholders, who must approve the
transaction in good faith.
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BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
The following table sets forth information with respect to the beneficial ownership of our common stock as of October [__], 2011 and after giving effect to
the distribution of our common stock to Galena’s stockholders and the other transactions referred to in this prospectus, by:
•

Each person known by us to be the beneficial owner of 5% or more of our common stock, including any “group” as that term is defined in the
Exchange Act;

•

Each director, director nominee and current named executive officer identified in the “Management” and “Executive Compensation” sections of this
prospectus; and

•

All of our directors, director nominees and executive officers as a group.

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with SEC rules, and generally includes voting or investment power with respect to our common stock.
Shares of common stock subject to options, warrants, our Series A Preferred Stock and other convertible securities that are currently exercisable or
convertible within 60 days are deemed to be outstanding and to be beneficially owned by the person holding the options, warrants or convertible securities for
the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of the person, but are not treated as outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of
any other person.
The information below is based on the number of shares of our common stock beneficially owned by each person or entity on October [__], 2011 and the
number of shares subject to any options and warrants granted to these individuals that are exercisable within 60 days after October [__], 2011. Any such
options are indicated by footnote. The information is based upon a distribution ratio of one share of our common stock for each share of Galena common
stock. Except as otherwise noted in the footnotes below, the individual director or executive officer or their family members had sole voting and investment
power with respect to such securities. Upon completion of the distribution of our common stock to Galena’s stockholders and the other transactions referred
to in this prospectus, we will have outstanding an aggregate of approximately [_______] shares of our common stock, assuming no conversion of our Series A
Preferred Stock or exercise of stock options.

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner

Amount and Nature of Beneficial Ownership
Before the Spin-Off Transaction
After the Spin-Off Transaction
Number of Shares
Number of Shares
of Common Stock
Percentage
of Common Stock
Percentage

Directors, Director Nominees and Named Executive Officers
Mark J. Ahn, Ph.D.
Kevin C. Tang(1)
Roderick T. Wong(3)
Anastasia Khvorova, Ph.D(5)
Pamela J. Pavco, Ph.D.
Greater than 5% Holders
Galena Biopharma, Inc.
Tang Capital Partners, LP(1)
RTW Investments, LLC(3)
Advirna, LLC(7)
All directors and executive officers as a group (five persons before, and
seven persons after, the spin-off transaction)
(1)

-0-0-0—
—

-0-0-0—
—

-0—(2)
—(4)
—(5)
—(0)

-09.999%
9.999%
—%
—%

100%
-0-0-0-

100%
-0-0-0-

—
—(2)
—(4)
—

23.5%
9.999%
9.999%
29.4%

-0-

-0-

—(8)

—

The address for Kevin C. Tang and Tang Capital Partners, LP is 4401 Eastgate Mall, San Diego, California 92121. Tang Capital Management, LLC is
the general partner of Tang Capital Partners, LP. Kevin C. Tang is the Managing Director of Tang Capital Management, LLC and, following the spinoff transaction, will be a member of our board of directors. Mr. Tang shares voting and investment power over the shares shown with Tang Capital
Partners, LP and Tang Capital Management, LLC and, as such, may be deemed to be a beneficial owner of such shares. Mr. Tang disclaims beneficial
ownership of such shares, except to the extent of his pecuniary interest therein.
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(2)

Represents shares of common stock issuable upon the conversion of Series A Preferred Stock owned of record by Tang Capital Partners, LP, subject to
the conversion limitation of 9.999%.

(3)

The address for RTW Investments, LLC is 1350 Avenue of the Americas, 28th Floor, New York, New York 10019. Roderick T. Wong is the Managing
Member of RTW Investments, LLC and, following the spin-off transaction, will be a member of our board of directors. Mr. Wong has sole voting and
investment power over the shares shown and, as such, may be deemed to be a beneficial owner of such shares.

(4)

Represents shares of common stock issuable upon the conversion of Series A Preferred Stock owned of record by RTW Investments, LLC, subject to
the conversion limitation of 9.999%.

(5)

The address for Dr. Khvorova is c/o RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation, at 60 Prescott Street, Worcester, Massachusetts 01605. Dr. Khvorova is a
member and a director of Advirna, LLC and, as such, may be deemed to be a beneficial owner of the shares shown. Dr. Khvorova disclaims beneficial
ownership of such shares, except to the extent of her pecuniary interest therein.

(7)

The address of Advirna, LLC is 10 Rocklawn Road, Westborough, Massachusetts 01581.

(8)

Includes _____ shares issuable upon the conversion of Series A Preferred Stock.
DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK
The following information reflects our certificate of incorporation and bylaws as these documents will be in effect at the time of the distribution.

Authorized Capital Stock
Immediately following the distribution, our authorized capital stock will consist of [__________] shares of common stock, par value $0.0001 per share,
and [_____] shares of preferred stock, par value [$0.0001] per share. Immediately following the distribution and the other transactions referred to in this
prospectus, [_______] shares of our common stock will be outstanding, assuming no exercise of stock options, and [_______] shares of our Series A
Preferred Stock will be outstanding.
Common Stock
The holders of our common stock will be entitled to one vote for each share on all matters voted on by stockholders, including elections of directors, and,
except as otherwise required by law or provided in any resolution adopted by our board with respect to any series of preferred stock, the holders of such
shares will possess all voting power. Our certificate of incorporation does not provide for cumulative voting in the election of directors. The shares of
common stock have no conversion rights or sinking fund provisions and are not liable for further call or assessment. Subject to any preferential rights of any
outstanding series of our preferred stock created by our board from time to time, the holders of common stock will be entitled to such dividends as may be
declared from time to time by our board from funds available therefor and upon liquidation will be entitled to receive pro rata all assets available for
distribution to such holders. Our common stock is not redeemable. For a more complete discussion of our dividend policy, please see “Dividend Policy.”
The holders of our common stock, other than Galena, will have no preemptive rights. For any offering and sale of RXi securities that are sold in a capital
raising transaction within one year following the completion of the spin-off transaction, Galena is entitled to preemptive rights to participate (to the extent
permitted under the Securities Act) in each such subsequent offering. Pursuant to this preemptive right, Galena is entitled to purchase a portion of the
securities offered in each subsequent offering equal to Galena’s percentage ownership in our common stock, determined on an as-converted, fully diluted
basis, immediately prior to the consummation of such subsequent offering.
The rights, preferences and privileges of holders of common stock are subject to, and may be adversely affected by, the rights of the holders of shares of
any series of preferred stock which we may designate and issue in the future.
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Preferred Stock
We are authorized to issue up to [_______] shares of preferred stock, par value [$0.0001] per share. Our board of directors, without further action by the
holders of our common stock, may issue shares of our preferred stock in one or more series. Our board is vested with the authority to fix by resolution the
designations, preferences and relative, participating, optional or other special rights, and such qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, including,
without limitation, redemption rights, dividend rights, liquidation preferences and conversion or exchange rights of any class or series of preferred stock, and
to fix the number of classes or series of preferred stock, the number of shares constituting any such class or series and the voting powers for each class or
series.
The authority possessed by our board to issue preferred stock could potentially be used to discourage attempts by third parties to obtain control of RXi
through a merger, tender offer, proxy contest or otherwise by making such attempts more difficult or more costly. Our board may issue preferred stock with
voting rights or conversion rights that, if exercised, could adversely affect the voting power of the holders of common stock. There are no current agreements
or understandings with respect to the issuance of preferred stock and our board has no present intention to issue any shares of preferred stock; provided,
however, that we have agreed to issue our Series A Preferred Stock to TCP and RTW as described below.
Series A Preferred Stock
We are presently authorized to issue Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (“Series A Preferred Stock”), and it is anticipated that, upon the completion of
the spin-off transaction, TCP and RTW will receive [_____] shares and [_____] shares, respectively, of Series A Preferred Stock.
The Series A Preferred Stock has a face value of $1,000 per share and will accrue dividends at a rate of 7% per annum from the date of issuance through
the date of conversion or redemption, payable quarterly in shares of Series A Preferred Stock.
The holders of Series A Preferred Stock do not have any right to elect directors and have only limited voting rights, which consist primarily of the right to
vote under certain protective provisions set forth in the Series A Preferred Stock Certificate of Designations (the “Certificate of Designations”), regarding: (i)
any proposed amendment to the Series A Preferred Stock or its right and preferences; and (ii) any proposed “Deemed Liquidation Event” as defined in the
Certificate of Designations.
The Series A Preferred Stock will be convertible by a holder at any time into shares of RXi common stock. The rate at which the Series A Preferred Stock
will convert into RXi common stock will be established prior to the closing of the spin-off transactions, as set forth in the securities purchase agreement
among RXi, Galena, TCP and RTW. The conversion rate will be adjusted for certain events, such as stock splits, stock dividends, reclassifications and
recapitalizations, and is subject to full-ratchet anti-dilution protection such that any subsequent issuance of common stock at a price, or in the case of common
stock equivalents, at an effective conversion price, below the effective conversion price of the Series A Preferred Stock at the time of such issuance
automatically adjusts the conversion price of the Series A Preferred Stock to such lower price. A holder of Series A Preferred Stock may not convert its
preferred stock to common stock if such conversion would result in the holder beneficially owning more than 9.999% of our then-issued and outstanding
shares of common stock. This limitation on conversion may not be waived.
Upon a Liquidation Event (as defined in the Certificate of Designations), no other class or series of capital stock can receive any payment unless the
Series A Preferred Stock has first received a payment in an amount equal to $1,000 per share, plus all accrued and unpaid dividends, if applicable.
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Anti-Takeover Effects of Provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws
Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaw Provisions
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws to be in effect upon the consummation of the spin-off will include a number of
provisions that may have the effect of encouraging persons considering unsolicited tender offers or other unilateral takeover proposals to negotiate with our
board of directors rather than pursue non-negotiated takeover attempts. They are intended to enhance our long-term value to our stockholders by increasing
the likelihood of continued stability in the composition of our board of directors and its policies and discouraging certain types of transactions that may
involve an actual or threatened acquisition of us. These provisions are also designed to reduce our vulnerability to an unsolicited acquisition proposal and to
discourage certain tactics that may be used in proxy fights. However, such provisions could have the effect of discouraging others from making tender offers
for our shares and, as a consequence, they also may inhibit fluctuations in the market price of our stock that could result from actual or rumored takeover
attempts. These provisions include the items described below.
Filling Vacancies. Any vacancy on our board of directors, however occurring, including a vacancy resulting from an increase in the size of our board of
directors, may only be filled by the affirmative vote of a majority of our directors then in office even if less than a quorum.
No Written Consent of Stockholders. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation will provide that all stockholder actions are required to be taken
by a vote of the stockholders at an annual or special meeting, and that stockholders may not take any action by written consent in lieu of a meeting.
Meetings of Stockholders. Our amended and restated bylaws will provide that only our board of directors or holders of 10% or more of our outstanding
shares of common stock may call special meetings of stockholders and only those matters set forth in the notice of the special meeting may be considered or
acted upon at a special meeting of stockholders. Our amended and restated bylaws will limit the business that may be conducted at an annual meeting of
stockholders to those matters properly brought before the meeting.
Advance Notice Requirements. Our amended and restated bylaws will establish advance notice procedures with regard to stockholder proposals relating to
the nomination of candidates for election as directors or new business to be brought before meetings of our stockholders. These procedures provide that notice
of stockholder proposals must be timely given in writing to our corporate secretary prior to the meeting at which the action is to be taken. Generally, to be
timely, notice must be received at our principal executive offices not less than 90 days nor more than 120 days prior to the first anniversary date of the annual
meeting for the preceding year. The notice must contain certain information specified in the amended and restated bylaws.
Amendment to Bylaws and Certificate of Incorporation. As required by the Delaware General Corporation Law, or the “DGCL,” any amendment of our
certificate of incorporation must first be approved by a majority of our board of directors and, if required by law or our certificate of incorporation, thereafter
be approved by a majority of the outstanding shares entitled to vote on the amendment, and a majority of the outstanding shares of each class entitled to vote
thereon as a class. Our bylaws may be amended by the affirmative vote of a majority vote of the directors then in office, subject to any limitations set forth in
the bylaws.
Blank Check Preferred Stock. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation will provide for [___________] authorized shares of preferred stock.
The existence of authorized but unissued shares of preferred stock may enable our board of directors to render more difficult or to discourage an attempt to
obtain control of us by means of a merger, tender offer, proxy contest, or otherwise. For example, if in the due
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exercise of its fiduciary obligations, our board of directors were to determine that a takeover proposal is not in the best interests of our company or our
stockholders, our board of directors could cause shares of preferred stock to be issued without stockholder approval in one or more private offerings or other
transactions that might dilute the voting or other rights of the proposed acquirer or insurgent stockholder or stockholder group. In this regard, our amended
and restated certificate of incorporation grants our board of directors broad power to establish the rights and preferences of authorized and unissued shares of
preferred stock. The issuance of shares of preferred stock could decrease the amount of earnings and assets available for distribution to holders of shares of
common stock. The issuance may also adversely affect the rights and powers, including voting rights, of these holders and may have the effect of delaying,
deterring, or preventing a change of control of us.
Delaware Business Combination Statute
Section 203 of the DGCL provides that, subject to exceptions set forth therein, an interested stockholder of a Delaware corporation shall not engage in any
business combination, including mergers or consolidations or acquisitions of additional shares of the corporation, with the corporation for a three-year period
following the date that such stockholder becomes an interested stockholder unless:
•

Prior to such date, the board of directors of the corporation approved either the business combination or the transaction which resulted in the
stockholder becoming an interested stockholder;

•

Upon consummation of the transaction which resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the interested stockholder owned at
least 85% of the voting stock of the corporation outstanding at the time the transaction commenced, other than statutorily excluded shares; or

•

On or subsequent to such date, the business combination is approved by the board of directors of the corporation and authorized at an annual or
special meeting of the stockholders by the affirmative vote of at least 66-2/3% of the outstanding voting stock which is not owned by the interested
stockholder.

Except as otherwise set forth in Section 203, an interested stockholder is defined to include:
•

Any person that is the owner of 15% or more of the outstanding voting stock of the corporation, or is an affiliate or associate of the corporation and
was the owner of 15% or more of the outstanding voting stock of the corporation at any time within three years immediately prior to the date of
determination; and

•

The affiliates and associates of any such person.

The restrictions contained in Section 203 are not applicable to any of our existing stockholders that will own 15% or more of our outstanding common
stock upon the completion of the spin-off of RXi.
Section 203 may make it more difficult for a person who would be an interested stockholder to effect various business combinations with a corporation for
a three-year period. We have not elected to be exempt from the restrictions imposed under Section 203. The provisions of Section 203 may encourage persons
interested in acquiring us to negotiate in advance with our board, since the stockholder approval requirement would be avoided if a majority of the directors
then in office approves either the business combination or the transaction which results in any such person becoming an interested stockholder. Such
provisions also may have the effect of preventing changes in our management. It is possible that such provisions could make it
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more difficult to accomplish transactions, which our stockholders may otherwise deem to be in their best interests.
Transfer Agent and Registrar
Computershare Trust Company, N.A. will be the transfer agent and registrar for our common stock.
Trading Market
Following the completion of the distribution, we anticipate that our common stock will trade in the OTC Markets Group under the symbol “RXII.”
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SHARES ELIGIBLE FOR FUTURE SALE
Upon completion of the distribution of RXi common stock under this prospectus and the other transactions that constitute the spin-off transaction, we will
have outstanding an aggregate of [_______] shares of our common stock. Of these shares, [_______] shares, which constitute the shares to be distributed
pursuant to this prospectus, will be freely tradable without restriction or further registration under the Securities Act unless the shares are owned by our
“affiliates” as that term is defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act. Under the Securities Act, an “affiliate” of a company is a person who directly or
indirectly controls, is controlled by or is under common control with that company. Such affiliates may include our directors, executive officers and principal
stockholders.
Immediately following the distribution of RXi common stock under this prospectus: (1) Galena will own [_______] shares of our common stock; and
(2) Advirna will own [_______] shares of our common stock. In addition, TCP and RTW will own shares of our Series A Preferred Stock that are convertible
by either or both stockholders at any time into shares of RXi common stock, except to the extent that the holder would own more than 9.999% of the shares of
our common stock outstanding immediately after giving effect to such conversion.
The shares of common stock described in the preceding paragraph will be “restricted shares” within the meaning of Rule 144 under the Securities Act.
Any shares of RXi common stock held by “affiliates” and any “restricted shares” may be sold in the public market only if registered or if they qualify for an
exemption from registration under Rule 144, which is summarized below. Galena has agreed not to sell or otherwise transfer its shares for a one-year period
following the completion of the spin-off transaction.
Rule 144
In general, under Rule 144 of the Securities Act as currently in effect, once we have been subject to public company reporting requirements for at least
90 days, a person who is not deemed to have been one of our affiliates for purposes of the Securities Act at any time during 90 days preceding a sale and who
has beneficially owned the restricted shares proposed to be sold for at least six months, including the holding period of any prior owner other than our
affiliates, is entitled to sell such shares without complying with the manner of sale, volume limitation or notice provisions of Rule 144, subject to our
compliance with the public information requirements of Rule 144. If such a person has beneficially owned the shares proposed to be sold for at least one year,
including the holding period of any prior owner other than our affiliates, then such person is entitled to sell such shares without complying with any of the
requirements of Rule 144.
In general, under Rule 144, as currently in effect, our affiliates or persons selling shares on behalf of our affiliates are entitled to sell within any threemonth period (after satisfying the six-month holding period described above with respect to restricted shares) a number of shares of common stock that does
not exceed the greater of:
•

1% of the number of shares of common stock then outstanding; or

•

the average weekly trading volume of our common stock during the four calendar weeks preceding the filing of a notice on Form 144 with respect to
such sale.

Registration Rights
We have agreed with TCP and RTW to file a registration statement with the SEC covering the resale of 20% of the shares of our common stock underlying
their Series A Preferred Stock and
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to keep the registration statement effective at all times until the earlier of: (1) the date as of which TCP and RTW may sell all of their common stock covered
by such registration statement without restriction pursuant to Rule 144; or (2) the date on which TCP and RTW have sold all of the common stock covered by
such registration statement.
We also have granted to TCP and RTW what are commonly known as “piggyback” registration rights to include our shares currently owned by TCP and
RTW in other registration statements that we may file with the SEC on behalf of our company or our security holders, provided such offering is underwritten
or placed by a placement agent.
Employee Stock Plans
We currently expect to file a registration statement on Form S-8 under the Securities Act to register up to [_______] shares of common stock that are
issuable under our 2011 Incentive Plan. Shares issued upon the exercise of options after the effective date of such registration statement, other than shares
issued to affiliates, generally will be freely tradable without further registration under the Securities Act.
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MATERIAL UNITED STATES FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES
The following discussion describes certain United States federal income tax consequences of the distribution of RXi common stock to Galena’s
stockholders. The discussion is for general information only and does not purport to consider all aspects of federal income taxation that may be relevant to
Galena, RXi or Galena’s stockholders. The discussion applies only to United States persons, not to foreign stockholders (as defined below), except as
specifically set forth. The consequences to any particular stockholder may differ depending upon that stockholder’s own circumstances and tax position.
The discussion deals only with shares held as capital assets within the meaning of Section 1221 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the
“Code”), and does not address matters that may be relevant to stockholders in light of their particular circumstances. It also does not address matters that may
be relevant to certain stockholders subject to special treatment under the Code, such as financial institutions, insurance companies, S corporations,
partnerships and other pass-through entities, trusts, stockholders liable for the alternative minimum tax, dealers in securities or currencies, traders who elect to
apply a mark-to-market method of accounting, tax-exempt organizations, U.S. expatriates, directors, employees, former employees or other persons who
acquired their shares as compensation, including upon the exercise of employee stock options, and persons who are holding shares as part of a straddle,
conversion, constructive sale, hedge or hedging or other integrated transaction. The discussion does not consider the effect of any applicable estate tax, gift
tax, state, local or foreign tax laws. In addition, this discussion is based upon the Code, applicable U.S. Treasury regulations, administrative pronouncements
and judicial decisions in effect on the date of this document, all of which are subject to change, possibly with retroactive effect. Each stockholder is urged to
consult his or her tax advisor as to the particular tax consequences to such stockholder of the distribution, including the application of state, local and foreign
tax laws and possible tax law changes.
TO COMPLY WITH IRS CIRCULAR 230, YOU ARE HEREBY NOTIFIED THAT: (A) ANY DISCUSSION OF FEDERAL TAX ISSUES
CONTAINED OR REFERRED TO IN THIS PROSPECTUS IS NOT INTENDED OR WRITTEN TO BE USED, AND CANNOT BE USED BY YOU,
FOR THE PURPOSES OF AVOIDING PENALTIES THAT MAY BE IMPOSED ON YOU UNDER THE CODE; (B) SUCH DISCUSSION IS WRITTEN
TO SUPPORT THE PROMOTION OR MARKETING OF THE MATTERS ADDRESSED BY THE WRITTEN ADVICE HEREIN; AND (C) YOU
SHOULD SEEK ADVICE BASED ON YOUR PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCES FROM AN INDEPENDENT TAX ADVISOR.
Consequences to Galena
Galena will recognize gain on the distribution of shares of RXi common stock in an amount equal to the excess of the fair market value of the stock
distributed over Galena’s basis. This gain will be included in determining whether Galena has current year “earnings and profits.” If the gain results in Galena
having current year earnings and profits, it will affect the tax treatment of the distribution to Galena’s stockholders, as described below.
Consequences to Galena’s Stockholders
Each Galena stockholder will be treated as having received a distribution in an amount equal to the fair market value on the distribution date of RXi shares
distributed to such stockholder. This distribution will be taxable as a dividend to the extent of Galena’s current year earnings and profits, if any, allocable to
such stockholder’s Galena shares. For certain U.S. non-corporate taxpayers, dividend income is currently taxed for federal income tax purposes at the same
rate as net long-term capital gain. The excess of the fair market value of RXi shares over the allocable portion of Galena’s current year earnings and profits, if
any, will be treated first as a non-taxable return of capital causing a reduction (but not below zero) in the adjusted tax basis in the
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stockholder’s Galena shares, with any remaining excess taxable as capital gain. Galena is presently unable to make a determination as to whether the gain to
Galena from the distribution will result in Galena having current year earnings and profits such that all or a portion of the amounts treated as a distribution
will be taxed as a dividend.
The stockholder’s basis in RXi shares received in the distribution will generally equal the fair market value of such shares as of the distribution date. The
stockholder’s holding period with respect to RXi shares received will begin on the distribution date.
The actual tax impact of the distribution will be affected by a number of factors that are unknown at this time, including Galena’s final taxable loss for the
year in which the distribution occurs, the gain Galena recognizes upon the distribution and the fair market value on the distribution date of the RXi shares
distributed to you. Thus, a definitive calculation of the U.S. federal income the end tax impact on you from the distribution will not be possible until after the
close of the year in which the distribution occurs. Galena will notify you after the end the year in which the distribution occurs of the tax attributes and
amount of the distribution to you on IRS Form 1099-DIV.
Special Rules Applicable to Corporate Stockholders
To the extent that the distribution to a corporate stockholder is treated as a dividend under the rules described above, such stockholder may be eligible for
the dividends received deduction. The dividends received deduction is subject to certain limitations. Corporate stockholders should consult their own tax
advisors as to the tax consequences of dividend treatment in their particular circumstances.
Federal Income Tax Withholding
To prevent backup federal income tax withholding equal to 28% of the distribution, each non-corporate stockholder who is not a foreign stockholder (as
defined below) and who does not otherwise establish an exemption from backup withholding must notify the distribution agent of the stockholder’s correct
taxpayer identification number (employer identification number or social security number), or certify that the taxpayer is awaiting a taxpayer identification
number, and provide certain other information by completing, under penalties of perjury, Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) Form W-9. Failure to timely
provide the correct taxpayer identification number on Form W-9 may subject such stockholder to a $50 penalty imposed by the IRS. A stockholder that is a
foreign stockholder should generally complete and sign an appropriate IRS Form W-8 in order to avoid backup withholding. For this purpose, a “foreign
stockholder” is any stockholder that is not:
•

an individual citizen or resident of the United States;

•

a corporation (including any entity treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes), partnership or other entity created or organized in
or under the laws of the United States, any state or any political subdivision thereof;

•

an estate, the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income taxation regardless of the source of the income; or

•

a trust whose administration is subject to the primary supervision of a U.S. court and which has one or more United States persons who have the
authority to control all of its substantial decisions or which has elected to be treated as a United States person.
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Consequences for Foreign Stockholders
The treatment, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, of the distribution as a dividend, a tax-free return of capital or as capital gain for foreign stockholders
will be determined in the manner described above under the caption “Consequences to Galena’s Stockholders.” To the extent that amounts received by a
foreign stockholder are treated as dividends, such dividends will generally be subject to withholding of United States federal income tax at the rate of 30%, or
such lower rate as may be specified by an applicable income tax treaty or other exemption, provided Galena has received proper certification of the
application of such income tax treaty. A foreign stockholder that is eligible for a reduced rate of U.S. federal withholding tax under an income tax treaty may
obtain a refund or credit of any excess amounts withheld by filing an appropriate claim for a refund with the IRS. Amounts treated as dividends that are
effectively connected with a foreign stockholder’s conduct of a trade or business in the United States and, if provided in an applicable income tax treaty, are
attributable to a permanent establishment in the United States, are not subject to U.S. federal withholding tax, but generally are instead taxed in the manner
applicable to U.S. persons, as described above. In that case, we will not have to withhold U.S. federal withholding tax if the foreign stockholder complies
with the applicable certification and disclosure requirements. In addition, dividends received by a foreign corporation that are effectively connected with the
conduct of a trade or business in the United States may be subject to a branch profits tax at a 30% rate, or a lower rate specified in an applicable income tax
treaty.
In order to obtain a reduced rate of withholding pursuant to a tax treaty, a foreign stockholder must deliver to the distribution agent before any payment is
made to the stockholder a properly completed and executed IRS Form W-8BEN with respect to the foreign stockholder and, in the case of a foreign
stockholder that is neither an individual nor a corporation, the foreign stockholder may be required to deliver both a Form W-8IMY and an appropriate Form
W-8BEN or Form W-9 with respect to the partners, members, beneficiaries or owners (and their beneficial owners) of the foreign stockholder. In order to
obtain an exemption from withholding on the grounds that the gross proceeds paid pursuant to the offer are effectively connected with the conduct of a trade
or business within the United States or otherwise exempt, a foreign stockholder must deliver to the distribution agent before any payment is made to the
stockholder a properly completed and executed IRS Form W-8ECI or IRS Form W-8EXP, as applicable. Galena and the distribution agent will determine a
stockholder’s status as a foreign stockholder and eligibility for a reduced rate of, or exemption from, withholding by reference to any outstanding certificates
or statements concerning eligibility for a reduced rate of, or exemption from, withholding (e.g., IRS Form W-8BEN, IRS Form W-8ECI or IRS Form W8EXP) unless the facts and circumstances indicate that reliance is not warranted.
Because the distribution agent cannot determine whether payments to any particular stockholder will qualify for sale or exchange treatment, the
distribution agent will withhold 30% of any gross payments made to a foreign stockholder pursuant to the offer (as if such payments were a dividend) unless a
reduced rate of withholding or an exemption from withholding is applicable. Foreign stockholders should consult their own tax advisors regarding their
entitlement to benefits under an applicable income tax treaty or other exemption and the manner of claiming the benefits of such treaty or other exemption.
Information Reporting
A copy of this prospectus will be provided to Galena’s stockholders and to the IRS, reporting the payment of the total purchase price (except with respect
to stockholders that are exempt from the information reporting rules, such as corporations).
LEGAL MATTERS
TroyGould PC, Los Angeles, California, has rendered opinions with respect to the validity of the shares of common stock to be distributed in the spin-off
transaction and with respect to certain tax matters
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regarding the spin-off transaction. Immediately after the distribution, TroyGould PC will own [_____] shares of our common stock, and certain members,
employees and counsel of TroyGould PC will own in the aggregate [_____] shares of our common stock.
EXPERTS
The financial statements as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 and for the years then ended included in this prospectus and in the Registration Statement
have been so included in reliance on the report of BDO USA, LLP, an independent registered accounting firm.
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WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION
We have filed a registration statement on Form S-1 under the Securities Act with the SEC to register the shares of RXi common stock covered by this
prospectus. This prospectus does not contain all of the information set forth in the registration statement and the exhibits and schedules thereto, as some items
are omitted in accordance with the rules and regulations of the SEC. For further information about us and the RXi common stock, we refer you to the
registration statement on Form S-1. Statements contained in this prospectus as to the contents of any contract, agreement or other document referred to are not
necessarily complete, and in each instance reference is made to the copy of each contract, agreement or other document filed as an exhibit to the registration
statement, each statement being qualified by this reference.
Following the distribution of the RXi common stock, we will be required to comply with the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act and will file
annual, quarterly and other reports with the SEC. We will also be subject to the proxy solicitation requirements of the Exchange Act. We will make available
free of charge on our website our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those
reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material
with, or furnish it to, the SEC. We also intend to deliver to our holders of common stock annual reports containing consolidated financial statements prepared
in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles and audited and reported on, with an opinion expressed thereto, by an independent
registered public accounting firm.
You may read and copy all or any portion of the registration statement or any reports, statements or other information we file with the SEC at the SEC’s
public reference room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DE 20549. You can request copies of these documents upon payment of a duplicating fee, by writing
to the SEC. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the operation of the public reference rooms. Our SEC filings, including the
registration statement, will also be available to you on the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov. In addition, you may request a copy of these filings (excluding
exhibits) at no cost by writing or telephoning us at the following address or telephone number:
RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation
Investor Relations
60 Prescott Street
Worcester, Massachusetts 01605
Telephone: (508) 767-3861
We maintain a website at www.rxipharmaceuticals.com. Our website and the information contained on that site, or connected to that site, is not part of or
incorporated by reference into this prospectus.
No person is authorized to give any information or to make any representations other than those contained in this prospectus, and, if given or made, such
information or representations must not be relied upon as having been authorized. Neither the delivery of this prospectus nor any distribution of securities
made hereunder shall imply that there has been no change in the information set forth herein or in our affairs since the date of this prospectus.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
Board of Directors
RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation
Worcester, Massachusetts
We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation, (a subsidiary of Galena Biopharma, Inc.,) (the “Company”), a
development stage company, as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 and the related statements of expenses, divisional equity (deficit), and cash flows for the
years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not
required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal
control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation at
December 31, 2010 and 2009 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.
/s/ BDO USA, LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
October 25, 2011
F-2
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RXi PHARMACEUTICALS CORPORATION
(A Development Stage Company)
BALANCE SHEETS
(Amounts in thousands)
December 31,

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Prepaid expenses
Total current assets
Equipment and furnishings, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization of $574, $491 and
$320 in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively
Deposits
Total assets
LIABILITIES AND DIVISIONAL EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expense and other current liabilities
Deferred revenue
Current maturities of capital lease obligations
Parent company options potentially settleable in cash
Derivatives potentially settleable in cash
Total current liabilities
Capital lease obligations, net of current maturities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 7, 11, and 12)
Total divisional equity (deficit)
Total liabilities and divisional equity (deficit)
See accompanying notes to financial statements.
F-3

June 30, 2011
(unaudited)

$

$

$

$

—
80
80
433
—
513

822
1,388
578
59
960
9,509
13,316
10
13,326
(12,813)
513

2010

$

$

$

$

6,891
150
7,041
419
16
7,476

724
1,113
—
51
—
3,138
5,026
20
5,046
2,430
7,476

2009

$

$

$

$

5,684
120
5,804
432
16
6,252

625
1,077
—
52
—
3,721
5,475
36
5,511
741
6,252
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RXi PHARMACEUTICALS CORPORATION
(A Development Stage Company)
STATEMENTS OF EXPENSES
(Amounts in thousands)

Expenses:
Research and development expense
Research and development employee stock-based
compensation expense
Research and development non-employee stock-based
compensation expense
Fair value of Parent Company common stock issued in
exchange for licensing rights

Period from
January 1, 2003
(Date of Inception)
to June 30, 2011
(unaudited)

2011
(unaudited)

$

$

30,314

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2010
(unaudited)

3,631

$

2,983

Years Ended
December 31,
2010

$

2009

6,046

$

6,728

2,799

392

540

1,084

867

5,988

(75)

667

743

1,297

3,954

—

—

—

—

43,055

3,948

4,190

7,873

8,892

23,907

2,797

3,102

5,493

5,483

2,375

81

500

718

826

304

23

—

—

281

8,649

1,264

1,418

2,541

2,038

35,235

4,165

5,020

8,752

8,628

Total operating expenses

(78,290)

(8,113)

(9,210))

(16,625)

(17,520)

Interest income (expense)
Other income (expense)

628
6,155

—
2,390

2
3,181

5
4,627

(71,507)
—

(5,723)
—

(6,027)
—

(11,993)
—

(18,387)
—

(71,507)

$ (5,723)

$ (6,027)

$ (11,993)

$ (18,387)

Total research and development expense
General and administrative expense
Fair value of Parent Company common stock warrants
issued for general and administrative expense
Fair value of Parent Company common stock issued in
exchange for general and administrative expenses
General and administrative employee stock-based
compensation expense
Total general and administrative expense

Loss before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net loss

$

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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RXi PHARMACEUTICALS CORPORATION
(A Development Stage Company)
STATEMENTS OF DIVISIONAL EQUITY (DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD FROM APRIL 3, 2006 TO JUNE 30,
2011 AND PARENT COMPANY’S NET DEFICIT FOR THE PERIOD FROM JANUARY 1, 2003 (DATE OF INCEPTION) TO
DECEMBER 31, 2006
(Amounts in thousands)
Divisional
Equity
(Deficit)

Predecessor
Inception, January 1, 2003
Net loss
Balance at December 31, 2003
Net loss
Net transactions with Parent Company
Balance at December 31, 2004
Net loss
Net transactions with Parent Company
Balance at December 31, 2005
Net loss
Net transactions with Parent Company
Balance at December 31, 2006

$

$

Successor
Balance at April 3, 2006
Cash contributions from Parent Company
Balance at December 31, 2006
Non-cash equity adjustments from Parent Company
Cash contributions from Parent Company
Stock-based compensation expense
Net loss
Balance at December 31, 2007
Non-cash equity adjustments from Parent Company
Cash contributions from Parent Company
Stock based compensation
Net loss
Balance at December 31, 2008
Non-cash equity adjustments from Parent Company, net
Cash contributions from Parent Company
Stock based compensation expense
Net loss
Balance at December 31, 2009
Non-cash equity adjustments from Parent Company, net
Cash contributions from Parent Company, net
Stock-based compensation expense
Net loss
Balance at December 31, 2010
Non-cash equity adjustments from Parent Company, net (unaudited)
Cash contributions to Parent Company, net (unaudited)
Stock-based compensation expense (unaudited)
Net loss (unaudited)
Balance at June 30, 2011 (unaudited)

$

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
2
2
4,318
15,679
1,814
(10,990)
10,823
750
7,944
3,824
(14,373)
8,968
(1,756)
7,714
4,202
(18,387)
741
(2,326)
11,640
4,368
(11,993)
2,430
(9,071)
(1,730)
1,281
(5,723)
$ (12,813)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Parent
Company’s
Net Deficit

$

Total

—
(89)
(89)
(3,272)
2,393
(968)
(2,209)
2,727
(450)
(2,405)
2,587
$ (268)

$

$

$

$

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
(89)
(89)
(3,272)
2,393
(968)
(2,209)
2,727
(450)
(2,405)
2,587
$ (268)
—
2
2
4,318
15,679
1,814
(10,990)
10,823
750
7,944
3,824
(14,373)
8,968
(1,756)
7,714
4,202
(18,387)
741
(2,326)
11,640
4,368
(11,993)
2,430
(8,734)
(1,730)
1,281
(4,056)
$ (10,809)
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RXi PHARMACEUTICALS CORPORATION
(A Development Stage Company)
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Amounts in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities :
Net loss
Adjustment to reconcile net loss to net cash used in
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization expense
Loss on disposal of equipment
Non-cash rent expense
Accretion and receipt of bond discount
Non-cash stock-based compensation
Loss on exchange of derivatives
Fair value of Parent Company’s shares mandatorily
redeemable for cash upon exercise of warrants
Fair value of Parent Company derivatives issued in
exchange for services
Fair value of Parent Company’s common stock issued
in exchange for services
Change in fair value of derivatives of Parent
Company issued in connection with various equity
financings
Fair value of Parent Company’s common stock issued
in exchange for licensing rights
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Accounts payable
Due to former Parent Company
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Deferred revenue
Net cash used in operating activities

Period from
January 1, 2003
(Date of
Inception) through
June 30, 2011
(unaudited)

Six Months Ended June 30,
2011
2010
(unaudited)
(unaudited)

$

$ (5,723)

(71,507)
584
12
29
35
17,438
900

—

—

(785)

—

2,375

81

500

718

826

304

23

—

—

281

(3,272)

3,954

$
$
$

$ (18,387)

85
—
—
—
2,625

(5,463)

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash received during the period for interest
Cash paid during the period for interest

$ (11,993)

83
—
—
—
1,581
900

(785)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of short-term investments
Maturities of short-term investments
Cash paid for purchase of equipment and furnishings
Disposal of equipment and furnishings
Cash refunded (paid) for lease deposit
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Cash contributions (adjustments) from (to) Parent
Company, net
Repayments of capital lease obligations
Cash advances from former Parent Company, net
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

$ (6,027)

Years Ended December 31,
2010
2009

172
—
—
—
4,368

(3,181)

—

162
4
—
—
4,202

(3,049)

—

858

—

—

(63)
822
(207)
1,822
578
(49,172)

87
98
—
502
578
(5,062)

(190)
(296)
—
333
—
(6,151)

(30)
99
—
243
—
(10,257)

(47)
231
—
101
—
(11,769)

(37,532)
37,497
(739)
(1)
(45)
(820)

—
—
(53)
—
—
(53)

(5,996)
—
(54)
—
—
(6,050)

(5,990)
5,990
(106)
—
—
(106)

—
—
(82)
(1)
—
(83)

41,398
(172)
8,766
49,992
—
—
—

(1,730)
(46)
—
(1,776)
(6,891)
6,891
$
—

11,640
(30)
—
11,610
(591)
5,684
$ 5,093

11,640
(70)
—
11,570
1,207
5,684
$ 6,891

7,714
(34)
—
7,680
(4,172)
9,856
$ 5,684

$
$

$
$

$
$

$
$

724
8

—
1

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Period From
January 1, 2003
(Date of
Inception) through
June 30, 2011

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and
financing activities:
Settlement of corporate formation expenses in
exchange for Parent Company common stock
Fair value of derivatives issued in connection with
Parent Company common stock
Fair value of Parent Company shares mandatorily
redeemable for cash upon exercise of warrants
Fair value of Parent Company stock options
modified
Allocation of management expenses
Equipment and furnishings exchanged for Parent
Company common stock
Equipment and furnishings acquired through capital
lease
Non-cash lease deposit
Value of Parent Company restricted stock units and
common stock issued in lieu of bonuses included
in accrued expenses
Value of Parent Company restricted stock units
issued in lieu of cash bonuses

(unaudited)

Six Months Ended June 30,
2011
2010
(Amounts in thousands)
(unaudited)
(unaudited)

Years Ended December 31,
2010
2009

$

978

$

—

$

—

$

—

$

—

$

14,072

$

8,743

$

2,466

$

2,466

$

2,863

$

785

$

—

$

785

$

785

$

—

$
$

960
551

$
$

960
—

$
$

—
—

$
$

—
—

$
$

—
—

$

48

$

—

$

—

$

—

$

—

$
$

241
50

$
$

44
—

$
$

28
—

$
$

53
—

$
$

101
—

$

474

$

427

$

47

$

47

$

—

$

207

$

—

$

207

$

207

$

—

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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RXi PHARMACEUTICALS CORPORATION
(A Development Stage Company)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Information as of June 30, 2011 and for the
six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 is
unaudited)
1. Nature of Business
Prior to December 31, 2010, Galena Biopharma, Inc. (“Galena” or the “Parent Company”) (formerly known as RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation) engaged
primarily in conducting discovery research and preclinical development activities based on RNAi, and Galena’s financial statements for periods through
December 31, 2010 primarily reflected assets, liabilities and results of operations attributable to Galena’s RNAi-based assets, liabilities and results of
operations. Subsequent to December 31, 2010 but prior to June 30, 2011, Galena broadened its strategic direction by adding the development and
commercialization of cancer therapies that utilize peptide-based immunotherapy products, including a main product candidate, NeuVax, for the treatment of
various cancers. On September 24, 2011, Galena contributed to RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation (“RXi” or the “Company”), a newly formed subsidiary of
Galena, substantially all of Galena’s RNAi-related technologies and assets.
Accordingly, the historical financial information for the six-month period ended June 30, 2011, the fiscal years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, as
well as the cumulative period from inception (January 1, 2003) through June 30, 2011, has been “carved out” of the financial statements of Galena, as our
“Predecessor,” for such periods. Such financial information is limited to Galena’s RNAi-related activities, assets and liabilities only, and excludes activities,
assets and liabilities that are attributable to Galena’s cancer therapy activities.
This carved-out financial information includes both direct and indirect expenses. The historical direct expenses consist primarily of the various costs for
technology license agreements, sponsored research agreements and fees paid to scientific advisors, and employees directly involved in RNAi-related
activities. Indirect expenses represent expenses incurred by Galena on behalf of RXi that have been allocated to RXi. The indirect expenses are based upon
(1) estimates of the percentage of time spent by individual Galena employees working on RXi matters and (2) allocations of various expenses associated with
each employee including salary, benefits, rent associated with an employee’s office space, accounting and other general and administrative expenses. The
percentage of time spent by individual Galena employees was then multiplied by the allocation of various expenses associated with those employees to
develop an allocation of expense per employee and the sum of such allocations for these employees equals the total expense allocable to RXi and reflected in
the carved-out financial statements.
Management believes the assumptions underlying the allocations of indirect expenses in the carve-out financial information are reasonable; however,
RXi’s financial position, results of operations, and cash flows may have been materially different if it had operated as a stand-alone entity as of and for six
months ended June 30, 2011.
To date, RXi’s principal activities including that of its Predecessor have consisted of conducting discovery research and preclinical development activities
utilizing the RNAi therapeutic platform, acquiring RNAi technologies and patent rights through exclusive, co-exclusive and non-exclusive licenses, recruiting
an RNAi-focused management and scientific/clinical advisory team, capital raising activities and conducting business development activities aimed at
establishing research and development partnerships with pharmaceutical and larger biotechnology companies.
The Company and its Predecessor have not generated any revenues since inception nor are any revenues expected for the foreseeable future and as such
the Company is considered a development stage company for accounting purposes. The Company expects to incur significant operating losses for the
foreseeable future while the Company advances its future product
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RXi PHARMACEUTICALS CORPORATION
(A Development Stage Company)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Information as of June 30, 2011 and for the
six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 is
unaudited)
candidates from discovery through preclinical studies and clinical trials and seek regulatory approval and potential commercialization, even if the Company is
collaborating with pharmaceutical and larger biotechnology companies. The Company will need to generate significant revenues to achieve profitability and
may never do so.
On September 24, 2011, RXi entered into a contribution agreement with Galena pursuant to which Galena assigned and contributed to RXi substantially
all of its RNAi-related technologies and assets and RXi agreed to assume certain liabilities. Also on September 24, 2011, RXi entered into a securities
purchase agreement pursuant to which Tang Capital Partners, LP (“TCP”) and RTW Investments, LLC (“RTW”) agreed to purchase a total of $9,500,000 of
RXi’s Series A Preferred Stock at the closing of our spin-off from Galena and to lend to RXi up to $1,500,000 to fund RXi’s operations between September
24, 2011 and the closing of the spin-off transaction, with the outstanding principal and accrued interest from the loans to be converted into shares of RXi’s
Series A Preferred Stock at the closing, at a conversion price of $1,000 per share, and such conversion will be applied to the $9,500,000 total investment by
TCP and RTW. As of October 15, 2011, TCP and RTW have advanced $500,000 to RXi under this bridge loan arrangement. The Company believes that the
cash received from the securities purchase agreement should be sufficient to fund RXi’s operations through December 31, 2012. In the future, RXi will be
dependent on obtaining funding from third parties, such as proceeds from the sale of equity, funded research and development programs and payments under
partnership and collaborative agreements, in order to maintain RXi’s operations and meet RXi’s obligations to licensors. There is no guarantee that debt,
additional equity or other funding will be available to the Company on acceptable terms, or at all. If the Company fails to obtain additional funding when
needed, RXi would be forced to scale back, or terminate the Company operations or to seek to merge with or to be acquired by another company.
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation — For the period from January 1, 2003 (date of inception) to December 31, 2006, the Predecessor financial information consists of
various transactions of CytRx Corporation (“CytRx”) which were identified as direct expenses related to RNAi therapeutics and disaggregated (“carved out”)
from CytRx’s financial statements. In addition, various indirect costs related to RNAi therapeutics (mainly senior management and accounting) were
estimated and included as part of the Predecessor carved-out financial information. For the period from April 3, 2006 (date of incorporation of Galena)
through December 31, 2007, Galena was operating as a subsidiary of CytRx. CytRx is the former parent of Galena. Galena was formed by CytRx and four
prominent RNAi researchers to pursue the development of proprietary therapeutics based on RNAi for the treatment of human diseases. The Predecessor
financial information for the period from April 3, 2006 (date of incorporation of Galena) to June 30, 2011 was compiled from Galena’s books and records, as
well as an allocation in 2007 of indirect costs from CytRx for overhead and general administrative costs provided through December 31, 2007 (that have been
allocated based upon estimates developed by CytRx’s management and include corporate salaries, benefits, accounting, rent and other general and
administrative expenses). There are no Predecessor financial statements for the period from April 3, 2006 (date of incorporation of Galena) to December 31,
2006 as there was no activity.
Unaudited Financial Information —The information presented as of and for the periods ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, as well as the cumulative financial
information for the period from January 1, 2003 (date of inception) through June 30, 2011, is unaudited and has been prepared on the same basis as the
audited financial statements and includes all adjustments, consisting of only normal recurring adjustments, necessary for the fair presentation of this
information in all material respects. The results of any interim period are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations to be expected for a full year.
Uses of estimates in preparation of financial statements — The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates.
Cash and Cash Equivalents — The Company considers all highly-liquid debt instruments with an original maturity of 90 days or less to be cash
equivalents. Cash equivalents consist primarily of amounts invested in money market accounts.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments — The carrying amounts reported in the balance sheet for cash equivalents, accounts payable and capital leases
approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature and market rates of interest.
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RXi PHARMACEUTICALS CORPORATION
(A Development Stage Company)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Information as of June 30, 2011 and for the
six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 is
unaudited)
Equipment and Furnishings — Equipment and furnishings are stated at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method based on the estimated useful
lives (generally three to five years for equipment and furniture) of the related assets.
Depreciation and amortization expense for the six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 was approximately $61,000 and $85,000, respectively and for the
years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 was approximately $172,000 and $162,000, respectively.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets — The Company reviews long-lived assets, including finite lived intangible assets, for impairment on an annual basis, as
of December 31, or on an interim basis if an event occurs that might reduce the fair value of such assets below their carrying values. An impairment loss
would be recognized based on the difference between the carrying value of the asset and its estimated fair value, which would be determined based on either
discounted future cash flows or other appropriate fair value methods. The Company believes no impairment existed as of December 31, 2009 and 2010 or
June 30, 2011.
Patents and Patent Application Costs — Although the Company believes that its patents and underlying technology have continuing value, the amount of
future benefits to be derived from the patents is uncertain. Patent costs are, therefore, expensed as incurred.
Stock-based Compensation — Stock-based compensation was allocated to the RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation and Predecessor carved-out financial
statements in a similar manner as other indirect expenses.
RXi follows the provisions of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 718,
“Compensation — Stock Compensation” (“ASC 718”), which requires the measurement and recognition of compensation expense for all stock based payment
awards made to employees and non-employee directors, including employee stock options. Stock compensation expense based on the grant date fair value
estimated in accordance with the provisions of ASC 718 is recognized as an expense over the requisite service period.
For stock options granted as consideration for services rendered by non-employees, the Company recognizes compensation expense in accordance with the
requirements of FASB ASC Topic 505-50 (“ASC 505-50”), “Equity Based Payments to Non- Employees”. Non-employee option grants that do not vest
immediately upon grant are recorded as an expense over the vesting period of the underlying stock options. At the end of each financial reporting period prior
to vesting, the value of these options, as calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, will be re-measured using the fair value of the Company’s
common stock and the non-cash compensation recognized during the period will be adjusted accordingly. Since the fair market value of options granted to
non-employees is subject to change in the future, the amount of the future compensation expense will include fair value re-measurements until the stock
options are fully vested.
RXi recognized $743,000 and $1,297,000 of stock based compensation expense related to non-employee stock options for the years ended December 31,
2010 and 2009, respectively. Additionally, stock compensation expense (credit) related to non-employee stock options reflected in the six month periods
ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 amounted to ($75,000) and $667,000, respectively.
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RXi PHARMACEUTICALS CORPORATION
(A Development Stage Company)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Information as of June 30, 2011 and for the
six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 is
unaudited)
Derivative Financial Instruments — During the normal course of business, from time to time, Galena issues warrants and options to vendors as
consideration to perform services. It may also issue warrants as part of a debt or equity financing. The Company does not enter into any derivative contracts
for speculative purposes.
The Company recognizes all derivatives as assets or liabilities measured at fair value with changes in fair value of derivatives reflected as current period
income or loss unless the derivatives qualify for hedge accounting and are accounted for as such. In accordance with FASB ASC Topic 815-40, “Derivatives
and Hedging — Contracts in Entity’s Own Stock,” the value of these derivatives is required to be recorded as a liability, as the holders have an option to put
the derivatives back to the Company for cash upon the occurrence of certain events set forth in the agreement.
Obligations to Repurchase Shares of Galena’s Equity Securities — In accordance with FASB ASC Topic 480-10, “Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity,”
the Company recognizes all obligations to repurchase shares of Galena’s equity securities allocated to the Company that require or may require settlement of
the obligation by transferring assets, as liabilities or assets in some circumstances measured at fair value with changes in fair value reflected as current period
income or loss and are accounted for as such.
Deferred Revenue — Deferred revenue consists of advance payments received under government grants. The Company will recognize revenue when the
obligations under the grants are fulfilled.
Research and Development Expenses — Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Included in research and development costs are wages,
benefits and other operating costs, facilities, supplies, external services and overhead directly related to the Company’s research and development
departments, as well as costs to acquire technology licenses.
Income Taxes — The Company recognizes liabilities or assets for the deferred tax consequences of temporary differences between the tax basis of assets or
liabilities and their reported amounts in the financial statements in accordance with FASB ASC 740-10, “Accounting for Income Taxes” (“ASC 740-10”).
These temporary differences will result in taxable or deductible amounts in future years when the reported amounts of the assets or liabilities are recovered or
settled. ASC 740-10 requires that a valuation allowance be established when management determines that it is more likely than not that all or a portion of a
deferred asset will not be realized. RXi evaluates the realizability of its net deferred income tax assets and valuation allowances as necessary, at least on an
annual basis. During this evaluation, the Company reviews its forecasts of income in conjunction with other positive and negative evidence surrounding the
realizability of its deferred income tax assets to determine if a valuation allowance is required. Adjustments to the valuation allowance will increase or
decrease the Company’s income tax provision or benefit. The recognition and measurement of benefits related to the Company’s tax positions requires
significant judgment, as uncertainties often exist with respect to new laws, new interpretations of existing laws, and rulings by taxing authorities. Differences
between actual results and RXi’s assumptions or changes in the Company’s assumptions in future periods are recorded in the period they become known.
For the periods presented, RXi was not a separate taxable entity for federal, state, and local income tax purposes and its operating results were included in
Galena’s tax returns. RXi calculated its income taxes under the separate return method and accounted for deferred tax assets and liabilities under the asset and
liability method described above.
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RXi PHARMACEUTICALS CORPORATION
(A Development Stage Company)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Information as of June 30, 2011 and for the
six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 is
unaudited)
Concentrations of Credit Risk — Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to significant concentrations of credit risk consist principally
of cash and cash equivalents. The Company maintains cash balances in several accounts with one bank, which at times are in excess of federally insured
limits. The Company’s investment policy disallows investment in any debt securities rated less than “investment grade” by national ratings services.
Comprehensive Loss — The Company’s comprehensive loss is equal to its net loss for all periods presented.
Parent Company’s Net Deficit — The Parent Company’s Net Deficit of the Predecessor consists of CytRx’s initial investment in Galena and subsequent
changes in Galena’s net investment resulting from Galena being an integrated part of CytRx. All disbursements for the Predecessor were made by CytRx.
3. Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Effective January 1, 2010, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2010-06, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (Topic
820): Improving Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements, or ASU 2010-06. A reporting entity should provide additional disclosures about the different
classes of assets and liabilities measured at fair value, the valuation techniques and inputs used, the activity in Level 3 fair value measurements, and the
transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3 fair value measurements. The adoption of the additional disclosures for Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements did
not have an impact on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows. The disclosures regarding Level 3 fair value measurements were
adopted by the Company January 1, 2011 and did not have an impact on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows or require
additional disclosures.
Effective January 1, 2010, the Company adopted ASU No. 2009-17, Consolidations (Topic 810): Improvements to Financial Reporting by Enterprises
Involved with Variable Interest Entities, or ASU 2009-17. The amendments in this update replace the quantitative-based risks and rewards calculation for
determining which reporting entity, if any, has a controlling financial interest in a variable interest entity with an approach focused on identifying which
reporting entity has the power to direct the activities of a variable interest entity that most significantly impact the entity’s economic performance and (1) the
obligation to absorb losses of the entity or (2) the right to receive benefits from the entity. An approach that is expected to be primarily qualitative will be
more effective for identifying which reporting entity has a controlling financial interest in a variable interest entity. The amendments in this update also
require additional disclosures about a reporting entity’s involvement in variable interest entities, which will enhance the information provided to users of
financial statements. The Company evaluated its business relationships to identify potential variable interest entities and has concluded that consolidation of
such entities is not required for the periods presented. On a quarterly basis, the Company will continue to reassess its involvement with variable interest
entities.
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RXi PHARMACEUTICALS CORPORATION
(A Development Stage Company)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Information as of June 30, 2011 and for the
six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 is
unaudited)
In December 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-29, Business Combinations (Topic 805) - Disclosure of Supplementary Pro Forma Information for
Business Combinations (Update No. 2010-29). This update requires a public entity to disclose pro forma information for business combinations that occurred
in the current reporting period. The disclosures include pro forma revenue and earnings of the combined entity for the current reporting period as though the
acquisition date for all business combinations that occurred during the year had been as of the beginning of the annual reporting period. If comparative
financial statements are presented, the pro forma revenue and earnings of the combined entity for the comparable prior reporting period should be reported as
though the acquisition date for all business combinations that occurred during the current year had been as of the beginning of the comparable prior annual
reporting period. This Update affects any public entity that enters into business combinations that are material on an individual or aggregate basis and is
effective prospectively for business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on
or after December 15, 2010. The Company adopted updated No. 2010-29 beginning January 1, 2011 and it did not have a material impact on its financial
statements.
In May 2011, the FASB issued a new accounting standard that clarifies the application of certain existing fair value measurement guidance and expands
the disclosures for fair value measurements that are estimated using significant unobservable (Level 3) inputs. This new standard is effective on a prospective
basis for annual and interim reporting periods beginning on or after December 15, 2011. The Company does not expect that adoption of this new standard will
have a material impact on its financial statements.
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RXi PHARMACEUTICALS CORPORATION
(A Development Stage Company)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Information as of June 30, 2011 and for the
six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 is
unaudited)
4. Fair Value Measurements
In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU 2010-06, “Improving Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements” (“ASU 2010-06”). The standard amends FASB
ASC Topic 820, “ Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures” (“ASC 820”), to require additional disclosures related to transfers in and out of Levels 1 and 2
and for activity in Level 3 and clarifies other existing disclosure requirements. The Company adopted ASU 2010-06 beginning January 1, 2010. This update
had no impact on the Company’s financial statements.
The Company’s financial assets and liabilities that are re-measured and reported at fair value at each reporting period, and are re-measured and reported at
fair value at least annually using a fair value hierarchy that is broken down into three levels. Level inputs are as defined as follows:
Level 1 — quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2 — other significant observable inputs for the assets or liabilities through corroboration with market data at the measurement date.
Level 3 — significant unobservable inputs that reflect management’s best estimate of what market participants would use to price the assets or liabilities at
the measurement date.
The Company categorized its cash equivalents as Level 1 hierarchy. The valuation for Level 1 was determined based on a “market approach” using quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets. Valuations of these assets do not require a significant degree of judgment. The Company categorized its
derivatives potentially settleable in cash, which were issued by Galena and allocated to the Company, as a Level 2 hierarchy. The derivatives are measured at
market value of Galena’s stock on a recurring basis using the fixed monetary amount of each derivative that would be received by Galena under the
conditions specified in the stock redemption agreement and are being marked to market each quarter-end until they are completely settled. The derivatives are
valued using the Black-Scholes method, using assumptions consistent with our application of ASC 718.
On March 30, 2011, the Parent Company entered into a severance agreement with its former President and Chief Executive Officer whereby, among other
things, it agreed to issue shares of Galena to the former officer such that the number of shares issued times the market price of the shares on the day
immediately following the separation date equal a value of $300,000. The agreement further provides that the Parent Company will, at its option, provide a
cash payment or additional shares to the former officer if necessary such that the value of 1/3 of the shares issued and 2/3 of the shares issued, respectively, at
the separation date equal a guaranteed value of $100,000 as of the 90th day following the separation date and $200,000 as of the 180th day following the
separation date based on the closing price of the Parent Company’s common stock for the five days preceding each measurement date. At June 30, 2011, a
liability of $200,000 was included in accrued expenses representing the guaranteed value under the severance agreement for the remaining 2/3 shares issued.
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June 30,
2011

Description

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets
(Level 1)

Significant Other
Observable Inputs
(Level 2)

Unobservable Inputs
(Level 3)

Assets:
Cash equivalents

$

—

$

—

$

—

$

—

Total assets

$

—

$

—

$

—

$

—

$

960
9,509

$

—
—

$

960
9,509

$

—
—

Allocated derivative liabilities to Company for:
Parent Company options potentially settleable in cash
Parent Company derivatives potentially settleable in cash
Parent Company common stock potentially settleable in cash
(included in accrued expenses)
Total liabilities

200
$

10,669

—
$

—

200
$

10,669

—
$

—

Description

December 31,
2010

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets
(Level 1)

Significant Other
Observable Inputs
(Level 2)

Unobservable Inputs
(Level 3)

Assets:
Cash equivalents

$

6,891

$

6,891

$

—

$

—

Total assets

$

6,891

$

6,891

$

—

$

—

$

3,138

$

—

$

3,138

$

—

$

3,138

$

—

$

3,138

$

—

Allocated derivative liabilities to Company for:
Parent Company derivatives potentially settleable in cash
Total liabilities
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Description

December 31,
2009

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets
(Level 1)

Significant Other
Observable Inputs
(Level 2)

Unobservable Inputs
(Level 3)

Assets:
Cash equivalents

$

5,684

$

5,684

$

—

$

—

Total assets

$

5,684

$

5,684

$

—

$

—

$

3,721

$

—

$

3,721

$

—

$

3,721

$

—

$

3,721

$

—

Allocated derivatives liabilities to Company for:
Parent Company derivatives potentially settleable in cash
Total liabilities
5. Capital Lease Obligations

The Company acquires equipment under capital leases that is included in equipment and furnishings in the balance sheet. The cost and accumulated
amortization of capitalized leased equipment was approximately $240,000 and $71,000 at June 30, 2011, respectively, $196,000 and $56,000 at December 31,
2010, respectively, and $143,000 and $17,000 at December 31, 2009, respectively. Amortization expense for capitalized leased equipment was approximately
$25,000 and $19,500 for the six months ended June 30, 2011, and June 30, 2010, respectively, and $39,000 and $10,000 for the years ended December 31,
2010 and 2009, respectively. Future minimum lease payments under the capital leases including interest are $62,000, $17,000 and $4,000 for the years ending
December 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013, respectively.
6. Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):
December 31,

June 30,
2011

2010

2009

Professional fees
Research and development costs
Payroll related costs

$

475
476
437

$

313
60
740

$

390
28
659

Total accrued expenses and other current liabilities

$

1,388

$

1,113

$

1,077

7. Commitments and Contingencies
The Company acquires assets still in development and enters into research and development arrangements with third parties that often require milestone
and royalty payments based on the progress of the asset through development stages. Milestone payments may be required, for example, upon approval of the
product for marketing by a regulatory agency. In certain agreements, the Company is required to make royalty payments based upon a percentage
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of the sales. Because of the contingent nature of these payments, they are not included in the table of contractual obligations shown below (see also Note 14).
These arrangements may be material individually, and in the unlikely event that milestones for multiple products covered by these arrangements were
reached in the same period, the aggregate charge to expense could be material to the results of operations. In addition, these arrangements often give the
Company the discretion to unilaterally terminate development of the product, which would allow the Company to avoid making the contingent payments;
however, the Company is unlikely to cease development if the compound successfully achieves clinical testing objectives. The Company’s contractual
obligations that will require future cash payments as of June 30, 2011 are as follows (in thousands):

Six months ended December 31, 2011
Years Ended December 31:
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016 and Thereafter
Total

Operating
Leases(1)

Non-Cancelable
Employment
Agreements(2)

$

100

$

811

$

98
—
—
—
—
198

$

—
—
—
—
—
811

Subtotal
(In thousands)

$

911

$

98
—
—
—
—
1,009

Cancelable
License
Agreements(3)

$

375

$

408
508
633
758
4,942
7,624

Total

$

1,286

$

506
508
633
758
4,942
8,633

(1) Operating leases are primarily facility and equipment related obligations with third party vendors. Operating lease expenses during the six months
ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 were approximately $91,000 and $125,000, respectively. Operating lease expenses during the years ended
December 31, 2010 and 2009 were approximately $274,000 and $260,000, respectively.
(2) Employment agreement obligations include management contracts, as well as scientific advisory board member compensation agreements. Certain
agreements, which have been revised from time to time, provide for minimum salary levels, adjusted annually at the discretion of the Board of
Directors, as well as for minimum bonuses that are payable.
(3) License agreements generally relate to the Company’s obligations with the University of Massachusetts Medical School (“UMMS”) associated with
RNAi and, for future periods, represent minimum annual royalty and milestone payment obligations, of the total amount due $2,250,000 can be paid
in equity, provided that the securities are registered for resale at the time of such payment. The Company continually assesses the progress of its
licensed technology and the progress of its research and development efforts as it relates to its licensed technology and may terminate with notice to
the licensor at any time. In the event these licenses are terminated, no amounts will be due.
The Company applies the disclosure provisions FASB ASC Topic 460 (“ASC 460”), “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for
Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others”, to its agreements that contain guarantee or indemnification clauses. The Company
provides (i) indemnifications of varying scope and size to certain investors and other parties for certain losses suffered or incurred by the indemnified
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party in connection with various types of third-party claims and (ii) indemnifications of varying scope and size to officers and directors against third party
claims arising from the services they provide to us. These indemnifications give rise only to the disclosure provisions of ASC 460. To date, the Company has
not incurred costs as a result of these obligations and does not expect to incur material costs in the future. Accordingly, the Company has not accrued any
liabilities in its financial statements related to these indemnifications.
8. Stock-Based Compensation
The following stock based compensation information relates to stock options issued by Galena. Stock based compensation expense is allocated to the
carved out financial statements based on an estimate of time spent by Galena employees, board members, scientific advisory board members, and outside
consultants on RXi related matters. Galena follows the provisions of the FASB ASC Topic 718, “Compensation — Stock Compensation ” (“ASC 718”),
which requires the measurement and recognition of compensation expense for all stock-based payment awards made to employees and non-employee
directors including employee stock options. Stock compensation expense based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of
ASC 718 is recognized as an expense over the requisite service period.
For stock options granted as consideration for services rendered by non-employees, Galena recognizes compensation expense in accordance with the
requirements of FASB ASC Topic 505-50, “Equity Based Payments to Non- Employees.”
Non-employee option grants that do not vest immediately upon grant are recorded as an expense over the vesting period of the underlying stock options.
At the end of each financial reporting period prior to vesting, the value of these options, as calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, will be
re-measured using the fair value of Galena’s common stock and the non-cash compensation recognized during the period will be adjusted accordingly. Since
the fair market value of options granted to non-employees is subject to change in the future, the amount of the future compensation expense will include fair
value re-measurements until the stock options are fully vested.
Galena is currently using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to determine the fair value of all its option grants. For option grants issued in the six
months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 and the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, the following assumptions were used:
For the Six Months ended June 30,
2011
2010

Weighted average risk-free interest rate
Weighted average expected volatility
Weighted average expected lives (years)
Weighted average expected dividend yield

2.35%
111.78%
5.78
0.00%
Year Ended December
31, 2010

Weighted average risk free interest rate
Weighted average volatility
Expected lives (years)
Expected dividend yield

1.88% - 3.28%
118.3% - 133.62%
6-10
0%

3.06%
120.84%
7.26
0.00%

Year Ended December
31, 2009

1.55% - 3.91%
116.72% - 122.93%
6-10
0%

The weighted average fair value of options granted during the six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 was $1.18 and $4.34 per share, respectively. The
weighted average fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 was $4.31 and $4.11 per share, respectively.
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Galena’s expected common stock price volatility assumption is based upon the volatility of a basket of comparable companies. The expected life
assumptions for employee grants were based upon the simplified method provided for under ASC 718-10. The expected life assumptions for non-employees
were based upon the contractual term of the option. The dividend yield assumption of zero is based upon the fact that Galena has never paid cash dividends
and presently has no intention of paying cash dividends in the future. The risk-free interest rate used for each grant was also based upon prevailing short-term
interest rates. Galena has estimated an annualized forfeiture rate of 15% for options granted to its employees, 8% for options granted to senior management
and no forfeiture rate for the directors. The Company will record additional expense if the actual forfeitures are lower than estimated and will record a
recovery of prior expense if the actual forfeiture rates are higher than estimated.
The following table summarizes the activity of Galena’s stock option plan for options allocated to the Company for the period January 1, 2009 to June 30,
2011:
Stock
Options

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

Outstanding — January 1, 2009
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Outstanding — December 31, 2009
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Outstanding — December 31, 2010
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Outstanding — June 30, 2011

2,223,452
1,622,546
(281)
(263,378)
3,582,339
926,768
(53,500)
(122,471)
4,333,136
2,002,500
—
730,947
5,604,689

$

$

6.11
3.84
4.19
5.05
5.16
4.81
4.75
4.85
5.10
1.42
—
3.65
3.75

Exercisable — December 31, 2009

2,131,298

$

5.42

Exercisable — December 31, 2010

3,155,900

$

5.22

Exercisable — June 30, 2011

3,949,672

$

4.43

The weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding and exercisable at June 30, 2011 was 7.31 years and 6.61 years, respectively. The
weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2010 was 7.35 years and 7.09 years, respectively. The
weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2009 was 8.47 years and 8.14 years, respectively.
The aggregate intrinsic value of outstanding options as of June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010 and 2009 is $0, $137,000 and $1,262,000, respectively.
The aggregate intrinsic value of exercisable options as of June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010 and 2009 is $0, $34,000 and $139,000, respectively. The
aggregate intrinsic value is calculated based on the positive difference between the closing fair market value of the Parent Company’s common stock and the
exercise price of the underlying options.
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The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised during 2010 and 2009 was approximately $164,000 and $1,000, respectively. No options were exercised
during the period ended June 30, 2011.
RXi recorded approximately $1,581,000 and $2,625,000 of stock-based compensation for the six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively. RXi
recorded approximately $4,368,000 and $4,202,000 of stock-based compensation for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.
On November 4, 2009, as part of a planned succession in leadership, Tod Woolf, Ph.D., resigned as Galena’s President, Chief Executive Officer and a
member of Galena’s Board of Directors. According to the Separation Agreement between Dr. Woolf and Galena, Dr. Woolf received in one lump sum
payment his full severance equivalent to a six (6) month salary ($187,500), six (6) months acceleration of vesting of all of his outstanding unvested stock
options of Galena as of November 4, 2009, and an offer to join the Company’s Scientific Advisory Board (SAB) for 3 years (the “New Position”). In addition,
and as part of the Separation Agreement, Galena agreed to extend the exercise period for all of Dr. Woolf’s vested Stock Options as of November 4, 2009, to
the later of: (i) a period of two (2) years from his resignation (until November 4, 2011), or (ii) ninety (90) days following the end of the term of the SAB
Agreement (February 4, 2013) or such earlier date as the SAB Agreement may be terminated pursuant to the terms of the SAB Agreement provided Dr. Woolf
has not violated the non-competition provisions of the SAB Agreement prior to the date of exercise (whether or not the SAB Agreement is still in effect at
that time). Notwithstanding any provision of Galena’s 2007 Incentive Plan, the Company also agreed that Dr. Woolf’s previously awarded stock options shall
continue to vest during his continuing role in Galena in the New Position. The option modification resulted in an incremental value of the options of
approximately $153,000 of which $37,000 was expensed during 2009. The total expense for 2010 was $193,000. As of June 30, 2011, there were 34,779
shares subject to future vesting. Total expense for the six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 was $60,000 and $158,000, respectivley.
As of June 30, 2011, an aggregate of 6,750,000 shares of common stock were reserved for issuance under the Galena Biopharma, Inc. 2007 Incentive Plan,
including 5,604,689 shares subject to outstanding common stock options granted under this plan and 272,589 shares available for future grants. The
administrator of the plan determines the times when an option may become exercisable. Vesting periods of options granted to date include vesting upon grant
to vesting at the end of a four year period. The options will expire, unless previously exercised, no later than ten years from the grant date.
As of December 31, 2010, an aggregate 6,750,000 shares of common stock were reserved for issuance under the Galena Biopharma Inc. 2007 Incentive
Plan, including 4,333,136 shares subject to outstanding common stock options granted under this plan and 2,199,497 shares available for future grants.
Restricted Stock Units — In addition to options to purchase shares of common stock, Galena may grant restricted stock units (“RSUs”) as part of its
compensation package. Each RSU is granted at the fair market value based on the date of grant. Vesting is determined on a grant by grant basis.
In March 2011, Galena granted a total of 220,729 RSUs. The RSUs had an aggregate intrinsic value of $256,046. In 2010 and 2009, Galena granted a total
of 43,541 and 48,500 RSUs, respectively. The RSUs granted in 2010 and 2009 had an aggregate intrinsic value of $112,000 and $222,000. As of June 30,
2011, all of the RSUs had vested in full.
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Derivatives Potentially Settleable in Cash— On August 7, 2008, Galena issued 190,000 warrants to an investment bank as consideration for investment
and business advisory services. The warrants have an exercise price of $7.036 per share and expire five years from the date of issuance, on August 7, 2013.
The warrants vested as to 94,000 shares upon issuance, and vested at a rate of 32,000 shares per month starting on the 90 day anniversary of issuance, and are
exercisable for a period of five years. All shares were vested at December 31, 2009. Galena also agreed to give the holder of the warrants unlimited “piggy
back” registration rights with respect to the shares of Galena’s common stock underlying the warrants in any registration statement Galena files in connection
with an underwritten offering of its common stock. The fair value of these warrants has been estimated based on the Black-Scholes options pricing model and
changes in the fair value are recorded in the statement of expenses in accordance with the requirements of ASC 718 and ASC 505-50. There was no expense
recorded for these warrants for the year ended December 31, 2010. Total expense related to these warrants was approximately $318,000 during the year ended
December 31, 2009 and has been allocated entirely to the Company.
On October 3, 2008, Galena acquired the rights to license exclusive worldwide technology for the oral delivery of RNAi therapeutics. As consideration for
this license, Galena agreed to pay a total license fee of $2,500,000 over a 12 month period, which can be paid in cash, in equity or a combination thereof,
provided that a specified amount of the license fee must be made in cash. Payments made in equity may only be made if, at the time of such payment, the
shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the warrant have been registered for resale under the Securities Act of 1933. No warrants have been
issued under this agreement thru the date of this report. The Company continually assesses the progress of its research and development efforts as it relates to
its licensed technology and may terminate with notice to the Licensor at any time. Accordingly, the amounts are being expensed, as payments are made. There
was no expense for this license for the six months ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 and for the year ended December 31, 2010. Total expense for the year ended
December 31, 2009 was $250,000 and has been allocated entirely to the Company.
On January 29, 2009, Galena issued 142,500 warrants to an investment bank as consideration for investment and business advisory services. The warrants
have an exercise price of $4.273 per share and expire five years from the date of issuance on January 29, 2014. The warrants vested as to 71,250 shares upon
issuance, and vested at a rate of 23,750 shares per month starting on the 90 day anniversary of issuance, and are exercisable for a period of five years. All
shares were vested at December 31, 2009. Galena has also agreed to give the holder of the warrants unlimited “piggy back” registration rights with respect to
the shares of Common Stock underlying the warrants in any registration statement the Galena files in connection with an underwritten offering of the
common stock. The fair value of these warrants has been estimated based on the Black-Scholes options pricing model and changes in the fair value until fully
vested are recorded in the statement of expenses in accordance with the requirements of ASC Topic 718 and ASC Topic 505-50. Total expense related to these
warrants was approximately $509,000 during the year ended December 31, 2009 and has been allocated entirely to the Company.
In connection with the 2009 Offering, Galena issued warrants to purchase 978,142 shares of Galena’s common stock. Details of the transaction can be
found under the heading “2009 Registered Direct Offering” below.
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In connection with the 2010 Offering, Galena issued warrants to purchase 540,000 shares of Galena’s common stock. Details of the transaction can be
found under the heading 2010 Registered Direct Offering below.
In connection with the 2011 Offerings, Galena issued warrants to purchase 17,950,000 shares of Galena’s common stock. Details of the transaction can be
found under the heading 2011 Offering below.
2009 Registered Direct Offering — On March 17, 2009, Galena entered into a placement agency agreement, which was subsequently amended on May 26,
2009 and July 22, 2009, with Rodman & Renshaw, LLC (“Rodman”) as the exclusive placement agent, relating to a proposed offering by Galena of new
securities to potential investors. On July 30, 2009, Galena entered into definitive agreements for the sale and issuance by Galena to certain investors of
2,385,715 units, with each unit consisting of one share of Galena’s common stock and a warrant to purchase 0.40 of a share of common stock, at a purchase
price of $3.50 per unit (the “2009 Offering”). The 2009 Offering closed on August 4, 2009. The warrants have an exercise price of $4.50 per share and are
exercisable for a period beginning on February 3, 2010 until their expiration on August 3, 2014. Galena raised gross proceeds of approximately $8,350,000 in
the 2009 Offering and net cash proceeds, after deducting the placement agents’ fees and other offering expenses payable by Galena, of approximately
$7.7 million. Total warrants issued in connection with the transaction were 954,285.
As part of the placement agency agreement, Galena issued a warrant to purchase 23,857 shares of Galena’s common stock to Rodman. The warrant has an
exercise price of $4.38 per share. The warrant is immediately vested and is exercisable until its expiration on August 3, 2014.
The Company follows the guidance of ASC Topic 815-40, as certain warrants issued in connection with the stock offering on August 4, 2009 were
determined not to be indexed to Galena’s common stock as they are potentially settleable in cash. The fair value of the warrants at the dates of issuance
totaling $2,863,000 was recorded as a derivative liability and was determined by the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Due to the fact that Galena has
limited trading history, Galena’s expected stock volatility assumption is based on a combination of implied volatilities of similar entities whose share or
option prices are publically traded. Galena used a weighted average expected stock volatility of 122.69%. The expected life assumption is based on the
contract term of five years. The dividend yield of zero is based on the fact that Galena has no present intention to pay cash dividends in the future. The risk
free rate of 1.72% used for the warrant is equal to the zero coupon rate in effect at the time of the grant.
The decrease in the fair value of the warrants from the date of issuance to June 30, 2011 is $2,563,000, of which $1,643,000 has been included in other
income and expense in the accompanying statements of expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2011. The fair value of the warrants at June 30, 2011 of
$300,000 is included as a current derivative liability in the accompanying balance sheets and was determined by the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Due
to the fact that Galena has limited trading history, Galena’s expected stock volatility assumption is based on a combination of implied volatilities of similar
entities whose shares or options are publicly traded. Galena used a weighted average expected stock volatility of 98.63%. The expected life assumption is
based on the remaining contract term of 3.1 years. The dividend yield of zero is based on the fact that Galena has no present intention to pay cash dividends.
The risk free rate of 0.81% used for the warrants is equal to the zero coupon rate in effect on the date of the re-measurement. All changes related to the value
of these warrants has been allocated entirely to the Company.
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2010 Registered Direct Offering — On March 22, 2010, Galena entered into a placement agency agreement relating to a proposed offering by Galena of
new securities to potential investors. On March 23, 2010, Galena entered into definitive agreements for the sale and issuance by Galena to certain investors of
2,700,000 units, with each unit consisting of one share of Galena’s common stock and a warrant to purchase 0.20 of a share of Galena’s common stock, at a
purchase price of $6.00 per unit (the “2010 Offering”). The 2010 Offering closed on March 26, 2010. Galena issued warrants to purchase 540,000 shares of
Galena’s common stock at an exercise price of $6.00 per share and that are exercisable beginning on September 26, 2010 until their expiration on March 26,
2016. Galena raised gross proceeds of approximately $16.2 million in the 2010 Offering and net cash proceeds, after deducting the placement agent fees and
other offering expenses payable by Galena, of approximately $15.2 million.
As part of the 2010 Offering, Galena entered in a stock redemption agreement whereby Galena was required to use 25% of the net proceeds from the 2010
Offering to repurchase from CytRx 675,000 shares of Galena’s common stock held by CytRx Shares of common stock that are mandatorily redeemable under
the stock redemption agreement upon the exercise of warrants issued in the 2010 Offering, were determined to embody an obligation that may require Galena
to settle the obligation by transferring assets, and as such, shall be classified as a liability. The fair value of the common stock potentially redeemable under
the stock redemption agreement totaling $785,000 was recorded as a derivative liability was determined using the fixed monetary amount of each warrant
multiplied by assumptions regarding the number and timing of warrants to be exercised. On December 29, 2010, CytRx sold all of their shares held in Galena,
thus reducing the potential redemption liability to zero as December 31, 2010. The Company recorded a gain of $785,000 as other income as a result of this
settlement.
Certain warrants issued in connection with the 2010 Offering were determined not to be indexed to Galena’s common stock as they are potentially
settleable in cash. The fair value of the warrants at the dates of issuance totaling $2,466,000 was recorded as a derivative liability and a cost of equity and was
determined by the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Due to the fact that Galena has limited trading history, Galena’s expected stock volatility assumption
is based on a combination of implied volatilities of similar entities whose share or option prices are publicly traded. Galena used a weighted average expected
stock volatility of 119.49%. The expected life assumption is based on the contract term of 6.5 years. The dividend yield of zero is based on the fact that
Galena has no present intention to pay cash dividends. The risk free rate of 3.22% used for the warrant is equal to the zero coupon rate in effect at the time of
the grant.
The decrease in the fair value of the warrants from date of issuance to June 30, 2011 is $2,144,000, of which $873,000 has been included in other income
and expense in the accompanying statements of expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2011. The fair value of the warrants at June 30, 2011 of $322,000
is included as a current derivative liability in the accompanying balance sheets and was determined by the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Due to the
fact that Galena has limited trading history, Galena’s expected stock volatility assumption is based on a combination of implied volatilities of
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similar entities whose shares or options are publicly traded. Galena used a weighted average expected stock volatility of 98.63%. The expected life
assumption is based on the remaining contract term of 5.25 years. The dividend yield of zero is based on the fact that Galena has no present intention to pay
cash dividends. The risk free rate of 1.76% used for the warrants is equal to the zero coupon rate in effect on the date of the re-measurement. All changes
related to the value of these warrants has been allocated entirely to the Company.
2011 Offerings — On March 4, 2011, Galena closed an underwritten public offering of 6,000,000 units at a price to the public of $1.35 per unit for gross
proceeds of $8.1 million (the“March 2011 Offering”). The offering provided approximately $7.3 million to Galena after deducting the underwriting discounts
and commissions and offering expenses. Each unit consists of (i) one share of common stock, (ii) a thirteen-month warrant to purchase 0.50 of a share of
common stock at an exercise price of $1.70 per share (subject to anti-dilution adjustment) and (iii) a five-year warrant to purchase 0.50 of a share of common
stock at an exercise price of $1.87 per share (subject to anti-dilution adjustment). On April 15, 2011, the holders of outstanding warrants issued in the
March 2011 Offering to purchase an aggregate of 3,450,000 shares of common stock agreed to exchange such warrants for warrants exercisable for the same
number of shares as those being exchanged, but otherwise on the same terms of the warrants sold in Galena’s April 2011 financing. Prior to the exchange, the
Company recorded a decrease in fair value of $1,000,000 related to the exchanged warrants. Upon the exchange, the Company recorded a loss of $900,000,
which represented the difference between the adjusted fair value of the March 2011 warrants as compared to the fair value of the April 2011 warrants received
in the exchange. As a result of a subsequent offering that was completed on April 15, 2011, the exercise price of the remaining 2,550,000 outstanding
warrants sold in the March 2011 Offering was reduced to $1.00 per share as a result of the anti-dilution adjustment.
The thirteen-month and five-year warrants issued in connection with the March 2011 Offering were determined not to be indexed to Galena’s common
stock as they are potentially settleable in cash. The fair value of the remaining 2,550,000 warrants at the date of issuance totaling $1,790,000 was recorded as
a derivative liability and was determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Due to the fact that Galena has limited trading history, Galena’s
expected stock volatility assumption is based on a combination of implied volatilities of similar entities whose shares or options are publicly traded. Galena
used a weighted average expected stock volatility of 113.25%. The expected life assumption is based on the contract term of 1.08 years used for the thirteenmonth warrants and 5 years used for the five-year warrants. The dividend yield of zero is based on the fact that we have no present intention to pay cash
dividends. The risk free rate of 0.26% used for the thirteen-month warrants and 2.17% used for the five-year warrants is equal to the zero coupon rate in effect
at the time of the grant. The decrease in the fair value of the warrants from date of issuance to June 30, 2011 of $479,000 has been included in other income
and expense in the accompanying statements of expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2011. The fair value of the warrants at June 30, 2011 of
$1,311,000 is included as a current derivative liability in the accompanying balance sheets and was determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.
Due to the fact that Galena has limited trading history, Galena’s expected stock volatility assumption is based on a combination of implied volatilities of
similar entities whose shares or options are publicly traded. Galena used a weighted average expected stock volatility of 98.63%. The expected life
assumption is based on the remaining contract term of one year used for the thirteen-month warrants and 4.7 years used for the five- year warrants. The
dividend yield of zero is based on the fact that Galena has no present intention to pay cash dividends. The risk free rate of 0.19% used for the thirteen-month
warrants and 1.76% used for the five-year warrants is equal to the zero coupon rate in effect on the date of the re-measurement. All changes related to the
value of these warrants has been allocated entirely to the Company.
On April 20, 2011, Galena completed an underwritten public offering of 11,950,000 units at a price to the public of $1.00 per unit for gross proceeds of
approximately $12 million (the “April 2011 Offering”). Each unit consisted of one share of common stock and a warrant to purchase one share of
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common stock at an exercise price of $1.00 per share. The shares of common stock and warrants were immediately separable and no separate units were
issued. The warrants are exercisable beginning one year and one day from the date of issuance, but only if Galena’s stockholders approve an increase in the
number of authorized shares of common stock of Galena, and expire on the sixth anniversary of the date of issuance. Net proceeds, after underwriting
discounts and commissions and other offering expenses, were approximately $10.9 million. In connection with the April financing, Galena agreed to hold a
stockholders meeting no later than July 31, 2011 in order to seek stockholder approval for an amendment to Galena’s Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation to increase the authorized number of shares or our common stock. The Board of Directors of Galena subsequently adopted an amendment to
increase the authorized shares of common stock to 125,000,000, which was presented to and approved by the stockholders of Galena at the 2011 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders held on July 15, 2011.
The warrants issued in connection with the April 2011 Offering, including the warrants issued in exchanged for the March 2011 warrants, were determined
not to be indexed to Galena’s common stock as they are potentially settleable in cash. A portion of the liability was allocated to the Company based on the
expected use of proceeds at the time the Offering was completed. The fair value of the warrants at the dates of issuance allocated to the Company totaling
$6,932,000 was recorded as a derivative liability and was determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Due to the fact that the Company has
limited trading history, Galena’s expected stock volatility assumption is based on a combination of implied volatilities of similar entities whose shares or
options are publicly traded. Galena used a weighted average expected stock volatility of 99.04%. The expected life assumption is based on the contract term
of 7.0 years. The dividend yield of zero is based on the fact that we have no present intention to pay cash dividends. The risk free rate of 2.81% used for the
warrants is equal to the zero coupon rate in effect at the time of the grant. The decrease in the fair value of the warrants allocated to the Company from date of
issuance to June 30, 2011 is $277,000, which has been included in other income and expense in the accompanying statements of expenses for the six months
ended June 30, 2011. The fair value of the warrants allocated to the Company at June 30, 2011 of $7,576,000 is included as a current derivative liability in the
accompanying balance sheets and was determined by the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Due to the fact that Galena has limited trading history,
Galena’s expected stock volatility assumption is based on a combination of implied volatilities of similar entities whose shares or options are publicly traded.
Galena used a weighted average expected stock volatility of 98.63%. The expected life assumption is based on the remaining contract term of 6.8 years. The
dividend yield of zero is based on the fact that Galena has no present intention to pay cash dividends. The risk free rate of 2.5% used for the warrants is equal
to the zero coupon rate in effect on the date of the re-measurement. Additionally, in connection with the previously discussed exchange, the Company
recorded a loss of approximately $900,000 which accounts for the remaining change in value during the period.
Parent Company Stock Options Modified
On April 14, 2011, all of Galena’s directors and certain of Galena’s executive officers executed agreements with Galena under which they agreed that none
of their outstanding stock options will be exercisable unless and until Galena increases the number of authorized shares of common stock to a number that is
sufficient to permit the exercise or conversion in full of all then outstanding options of Galena (including their stock options), warrants and other securities of
Galena that are convertible into shares of common stock. An aggregate of 3,489,256 option shares are covered by these agreements. For accounting purposes,
the agreement of all of Galena’s directors and certain executive officers to place restrictions of the exercisability of their options is treated as a modification of
their options resulting in the reclassification of the options from equity to a liability. In connection with the modification, the Company recognized
compensation cost equal to the greater of (a) the grant date fair value of the original equity award plus an incremental cost associated with the modification or
(b) the fair value of the modified award when it is settled.
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As of June 30, 2011, the Company recorded a liability of $960,000 representing the fair value of the vested portion of these options. On July 15, 2011, the
Company’s shareholders approved an increase in “Galena’s” authorized shares of common stock, thereby creating a sufficient number of common stock to
permit the exercise or conversion of all outstanding options, warrants, and other securities of Galena that are convertible into common shares. The fair value
of the option liability at July 15, 2011 was reclassified, as of this date, from a liability to equity as a result of the shareholder approval to increase the number
of common shares.
9. Income Taxes
The components of federal and state income tax expense are as follows (in thousands):
As of December 31,
2010
2009

Current
Federal
State
Deferred
Federal
State
Total deferred
Valuation allowance
Total income tax expense

$

$

—
—
4,853
1,283
6,136
6,136
—

$

—
—

(5,533)
(2,257)
(7,790)
7,790
$
—

The components of net deferred tax assets are as follows (in thousands):
As of December 31,
2010
2009

Net operating loss carryforwards
Tax credit carryforwards
Stock based compensation
Other
Licensing deduction deferral
Gross deferred tax assets
Valuation allowance
Net deferred tax asset

$ 13,328
1,061
5,864
104
3,264
23,621
(23,621)
$
—
F - 26
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The Company has incurred net operating losses from inception. At December 31, 2010, Galena had domestic federal and state net operating loss carry
forwards of approximately $34.0 million available to reduce future taxable income, which expire at various dates beginning in 2012 through 2030. Galena
also had federal and state research and development tax credit carry forwards of approximately $705,000 and $536,000, respectively, available to reduce
future tax liabilities and which expire at various dates beginning in 2022 through 2030.
Under the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code, certain substantial changes in Galena’s ownership may result in a limitation on the amount of net
operating loss carry forwards and research and development credit carry forwards which could be utilized annually to offset future taxable income and taxes
payable.
Based on an assessment of all available evidence including, but not limited to the Company’s limited operating history in its core business and lack of
profitability, uncertainties of the commercial viability of its technology, the impact of government regulation and healthcare reform initiatives, and other risks
normally associated with biotechnology companies, the Company has concluded that it is more likely than not that these net operating loss carry forwards and
credits will not be realized and, as a result, a 100% deferred income tax valuation allowance has been recorded against these assets.
The Company adopted certain provisions of the ASC 740, effective January 1, 2007 which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes
recognized in financial statements and requires the impact of a tax position to be recognized in the financial statements if that position is more likely than not
of being sustained by the taxing authority. The adoption of ASC 740-10 did not have any effect on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.
Galena files income tax returns in the U.S. federal and Massachusetts jurisdictions. Galena is subject to tax examinations for the 2007 tax year and beyond.
Galena does not believe there will be any material changes in its unrecognized tax positions over the next 12 months. Galena has not incurred any interest or
penalties. In the event that Galena is assessed interest or penalties at some point in the future, they will be classified in the financial statements as general and
administrative expense.
The operating results of the RXi for the six months ended June 30, 2011will be included in Galena’s tax return for the year ended December 31, 2011. No
tax provision has been recorded for RXi for the six months ended June 30,2011 due to both Galena’s and RXi’s projected loss for the year.
10. License Agreements
As part of its business, Galena enters into numerous licensing agreements. These license agreements with third parties often require milestone and royalty
payments based on the progress of the asset through development stages. Milestone payments may be required, for example, upon approval of the product for
marketing by a regulatory agency. In certain agreements, Galena is required to make royalty payments based upon a percentage of net sales.
The expenditures required under these arrangements may be material individually in the event that Galena develops product candidates covered by the
intellectual property licensed under any such arrangement, and in the unlikely event that milestones for multiple products covered by these arrangements were
reached in the same period, the aggregate charge to expense could be material to the results of operations. In addition, these arrangements often give Galena
the discretion to unilaterally terminate development of the product, which would allow Galena to avoid making the contingent payments; however, Galena is
unlikely to cease development if the compound successfully achieves clinical testing objectives.
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During the year ended December 31, 2007, Galena entered into a license agreement with Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory (“CSHL”) for small hairpin
RNA, or “shRNA”, for which Galena paid $50,000 and agreed to make future milestone and royalty payments upon successful development and
commercialization of products. Galena also entered into four exclusive license agreements and an invention disclosure agreement with the University of
Massachusetts Medical School (“UMMS”) for which the Company paid cash of $453,000 and issued 462,112 shares of its common stock valued at
$2.3 million, or $5.00 per share. For each RNAi product developed in connection with the license granted by CSHL, the possible aggregate milestone
payments equal $2,650,000. The invention disclosure agreement has an initial term of three years and provides the option to negotiate licenses to certain
RNAi technologies discovered at UMMS. During the six months ended June 30, 2011, the Company cancelled several of its licenses with UMMS.
On August 29, 2007, Galena entered into a license agreement with TriLink Biotechnologies, Inc. for three RNAi chemistry technologies for all therapeutic
RNAi applications, for which Galena paid $100,000 and agreed to pay yearly maintenance fees of $30,000, as well as future clinical milestone payments and
royalty payments based on sales of therapeutic products developed from the licensed technologies. There was no expense recorded in 2010 and 2011. The
Company expensed $30,000 in 2009.
In October 2007, Galena entered into a license agreement with Dharmacon, Inc. (now part of Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc.), pursuant to which Galena
obtained an exclusive license to certain RNAi sequences to a number of target genes for the development of Galena’s rxRNA compounds. Further, Galena has
obtained the right to license additional RNAi sequences, under the same terms, disclosed by Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc. in its pending patent applications
against target genes and has received an option for exclusivity for other siRNA configurations. As consideration for this license, Galena paid an up-front fee
of $150,000 and agreed to pay future clinical milestone payments and royalty payments based on sales of siRNA compositions developed in connection with
the licensed technology. No amounts were expensed in 2009, 2010, and 2011 related to this license.
In November 2007, Galena entered into a license agreement with Life Technologies, Inc., pursuant to which the Company was granted rights under four
patents relating to RNA target sequences, RNA chemical modifications, RNA configurations and/or RNA delivery to cells. As consideration for this license,
Galena paid an up-front fee of $250,000 and agreed to pay yearly maintenance fees of the same amount beginning in 2008. Further, Galena is obligated to pay
a fee for each additional gene target added to the license as well as a fee on the first and second anniversaries on the date of which consent to add the gene
target to the list of those covered by the license was granted. Galena has also been granted, for each gene target, an option to secure preclinical rights and/or
the clinical rights, for which RXi would be required to pay additional fees. Further, Galena is required to make future clinical milestone payments and royalty
payments based on sales of therapeutic products developed from the licensed technologies. The Company expensed $187,500, $62,500 and $250,000 for the
period ended June 30, 2011, and the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 related to this license.
On October 3, 2008, Galena acquired co-exclusive rights to technology for the oral delivery of RNAi therapeutics from UMMS. As consideration for this
license, Galena agreed to pay a total license fee of $2,500,000 over a 12 month period, which can be paid in cash, in equity or a combination thereof, provided
that a specified amount of the license fee must be made in cash. This Agreement was amended on July 1, 2009, allowing Galena to extend the periods for
which certain milestone payments are due to UMMS. Payments made in equity may only be made if, at the time of such payment, the shares of common
stock issuable upon conversion of the warrant have been registered for resale under the Securities Act of 1933. No
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warrants have been issued under this agreement through the date of this report. Galena continually assesses the progress of its research and development
efforts as it relates to its licensed technology and may terminate with notice to the licensor at any time. Accordingly, the amounts are being expensed, as
payments are made. There were no expenses recorded for the six months ended June 30, 2011 and the year ended December 31, 2010. The Company
expensed $250,000 for the year ended December 31, 2009.
In September, 2009, Galena entered into a Patent and Technology Assignment Agreement with Advirna, LLC (“Advirna”), a Colorado limited liability
company co-founded by Galena’s former Chief Scientific Officer. Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, Advirna assigned to Galena certain patent and
technology rights related to chemically modified polynucleotides (the “Rights”) and Galena granted to Advirna a fully paid-up license to the Rights in a
specified field. Under the terms of the agreement, Galena will pay to Advirna an annual maintenance fee beginning on January 1, 2011, certain payments
upon the achievement of regulatory milestones and royalty payments on the sales of certain products. In addition, Galena may terminate the agreement upon
90 days’ prior written notice to Advirna and Advirna may terminate upon 90 days’ prior written notice to Galena in the event Galena ceases to use reasonable
efforts to research, develop, license or otherwise commercialize the Rights. If the agreement expires in accordance with its terms or is terminated by a party in
the absence of a material breach or for cause in the event that Galena fails to pay Advirna certain fees, Galena will assign the Rights back to Advirna. During
the period ended June 30, 2011 and the year ended December 31, 2009, the Company paid and expensed $100,000 and $75,000, respectively, for the initial
and annual maintenance fees under this agreement. There was no expense recorded for the year ended December 31, 2010.
11. Related Party Transactions
Galena’s former Senior Vice President and Chief Scientific Officer was a consultant to Galena from January 2008 until the date of her employment. This
consulting contract resulted in payments to Advirna, the former Chief Scientific Officer’s consulting firm, of approximately $13,400, which was recorded in
the year ended December 31, 2008, in consulting fees and $5,000 recorded as license expense as discussed below. The approximate dollar value of the former
Chief Scientific Officer’s interest in this consulting contract was approximately $9,250.
In addition, Galena and Advirna are parties to an option agreement whereby Galena paid $5,000 in 2008 for consideration to be granted the exclusive
worldwide rights to license certain technology and $75,000 for the initial maintenance in 2009 under a Patent and Technology Assignment Agreement with
Advirna entered into in September 2009 (see also Note 14).
On February 26, 2007, Galena entered into Scientific Advisory Board Agreements (the “SAB Agreements”), with four of its founders. At the time of the
execution of the SAB Agreements, each of the founders were beneficial owners of more than five percent of Galena’s outstanding stock. Pursuant to the SAB
Agreements, on May 23, 2007, Galena granted to each of the founders a stock option under the 2007 Plan to purchase 52,832 shares of its common stock. In
addition, under the SAB Agreements, Galena will grant each of the founders a stock option under the 2007 Plan to purchase 52,832 shares of its common
stock on February 26, 2008, June 5, 2009 and June 4, 2010 with a per share exercise price equal to the closing price of such stock on the public market on the
date of grant unless a founder terminates a SAB Agreement without good reason (as defined) or Galena terminates a SAB Agreement with cause (as defined
therein) in which case no further option grants will be made to the founder.
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All options granted pursuant to the SAB Agreements are fully vested on the date of grant and have a term of ten years. The fair value of stock options granted
during 2010 and 2009 under the SAB Agreement for each founder is approximately $142,000 and $245,000 which was estimated using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model as more fully discussed above under significant accounting policies and the stock based compensation footnote. Included in the
Company’s financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 is approximately $566,000 and $978,000, respectively, of expense related
to the granting of these stock options. Included in the Company’s financial statements for the six months ended June 30, 2010 is approximately $566,000, of
expense related to the granting of these stock options. No options under the SAB agreements were issued during the six months ended June 30, 2011.
Additionally, pursuant to a letter agreement between Galena and each founder dated as of April 30, 2007, the “SAB Letters”, in further consideration of the
services to be rendered by the founders under the SAB Agreements, Galena granted additional stock options on May 23, 2007 under the 2007 Plan to each of
the founders to purchase 26,416 shares of its common stock. Unless a founder terminates a SAB Agreement without good reason (as defined) or the Company
terminates a SAB Agreement with cause (as defined therein), the options granted pursuant to the SAB Letters will fully vest from and after April 29, 2012
and will have a term of ten years from the date of grant. At June 30, 2011 and December 31, 2010, the fair market value of stock options under the SAB
Agreement for each founder is approximately $30,400 and $20,500, respectively, which was estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model as more
fully discussed above under the summary of significant accounting policies and the stock based compensation footnote. Included in the Company’s financial
statements for the six months ended June 30, 2011 and the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 is approximately $147,000 and $38,000 of income and
$73,000, of expense, respectively, related to these stock options.
12. Subsequent Events
In accordance with ASC 855-10, Subsequent Events, management has evaluated subsequent events through to the date these financial statements are filed.
On September 8, 2011, RXi was incorporated in Delaware as a wholly owned subsidiary of Galena. On September 24, 2011, RXi entered into a contribution
agreement with Galena pursuant to which:
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•

Galena assigned and contributed to RXi substantially all of its RNAi-related technologies and assets, which consist primarily of novel RNAi
compounds and licenses relating to its RNAi technologies, as well as the lease of its Worcester, Massachusetts laboratory facility, fixed assets
and other equipment located at the facility and its employment arrangements with certain scientific, corporate and administrative personnel who
have become RXi employees, as well as research grants of approximately $800,000 that are subject to the approval of the granting institutions;
and

•

RXi agreed to assume certain recent accrued expenses of the RXi-109 development program and all future obligations under the contributed
licenses, employment arrangements and other agreements, and RXi agreed to make future milestone payments to Galena of up to $45 million,
consisting of two one-time payments of $15 million and $30 million, respectively, if RXi achieves annual net sales equal to or greater than
$500 million and $1 billion, respectively, of any covered products that may be developed with the contributed RNAi technologies.

On September 24, 2011, RXi entered into a securities purchase agreement with Galena, TCP and RTW pursuant to which:
•

TCP and RTW agreed to purchase a total of $9,500,000 of RXi’s Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (the “Series A Preferred Stock”) at the
closing of the spin-off transaction and to lend to RXi up to $1,500,000 to fund RXi’s operations prior to the closing, with the outstanding
principal and accrued interest on the loan to be converted into Series A Preferred Stock at the closing, at a conversion price of $1,000 per share,
and such conversion will be applied to the $9,500,000 total investment by TCP and RTW;

•

RXi agreed that the Series A Preferred Stock will be convertible by TCP or RTW at any time into shares of RXi common stock, except to the
extent that the holder would own more than 9.999% of the shares of RXi common stock outstanding immediately after giving effect to such
conversion. Without regard to this conversion limitation, the shares of the Series A Preferred Stock to be held by TCP and RTW would be
convertible into shares of RXi common stock representing approximately 83% of the fully diluted shares of RXi common stock upon the
completion of the spin-off transaction;

•

Galena agreed to contribute $1.5 million of cash to RXi;

•

Galena agreed to distribute to its stockholders 8% of the fully diluted shares of common stock of RXi that will be outstanding immediately upon
the completion of the spin-off transaction; and

•

RXi agreed to reimburse, upon completion of the spin-off transaction, Galena for up to a total of $300,000, and TCP and RTW for a total of up
to $100,000, of transaction costs relating to the contribution agreement with Galena, the securities purchase agreement summarized above and
the transactions contemplated by those agreements.

As part of the transactions contemplated by the contribution and securities purchase agreements, on September 24, 2011, RXi entered into an agreement
with Advirna, LLC (“Advirna”), a company affiliated with Anastasia Khvorova, Ph.D., RXi’s Senior Vice President and Chief Scientific Officer, pursuant
to which:
•

Advirna assigned to RXi its existing patent and technology rights related to sd-rxRNA technology in exchange for RXi’s agreement to pay
Advirna an annual $100,000 maintenance fee and a one-time $350,000 milestone payment upon the future issuance of the first patent with valid
claims covering the assigned patent and technology rights;

•

RXi will be required to pay a 1% royalty to Advirna for any licensing revenue received by RXi with respect to future licensing of the assigned
Advirna patent and technology rights;

•

RXi has granted back to Advirna a license under the assigned patent and technology for fields of use outside the fields of human therapeutics
and diagnostics; and

•

RXi has agreed to issue to Advirna, upon the completion of the spin-off transaction, shares of RXi’s common stock equal to approximately 5%
of the fully diluted shares of RXi common stock assuming the conversion in full of all outstanding Series A Preferred Stock.
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On September 24, 2011, RXi entered into employment agreements with Anastasia Khvorova, Ph.D., and Pamela Pavco, Ph.D., pursuant to which:
•

Dr. Khvorova serves as RXi’s Senior Vice President and Chief Scientific Officer at an annual salary of $310,000 and is entitled to a grant of
stock options to purchase 2% of RXi’s fully diluted shares of common stock after the spin-off transaction at an exercise price per share to be
determined based on the fair value of RXi common stock at the date of grant; and

•

Dr. Pavco serves as RXi’s Senior Vice President of Pharmaceutical Development at an annual salary of $300,000 and also is entitled to a grant
of stock options to purchase 2% of RXi’s fully diluted shares of common stock after the spin-off transaction at an exercise price per share to be
determined based on the fair value of RXi common stock at the date of grant.
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PART II
INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS
Item 13. Other Expenses of Issuance and Distribution
The following table sets forth the expenses that are payable by us in connection with the distribution of the common stock registered under this registration
statement. All of the amounts shown are estimates, except for the SEC registration fee.
Description

Amount

SEC registration fee
Printing expenses
Legal fees and expenses
Accounting fees and expenses
Transfer agent and registrar fees and expenses
Miscellaneous fees and expenses
Total

$
$
$
$
$
$
$

14

Item 14. Indemnification of Directors and Officers
Section 145 of the Delaware General Corporation Law (“DGCL”) provides that a corporation may indemnify any current or former director, officer or
employee or other individual against expenses, judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement in connection with civil, criminal, administrative or
investigative actions or proceedings, other than a derivative action by or in the right of the corporation, if the director, officer, employee or other individual
acted in good faith and in a manner he or she reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the corporation, and, with respect to any
criminal action or proceeding, if he or she had no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful. A similar standard is applicable in the case of
derivative actions, except that indemnification extends only to expenses incurred in connection with the defense or settlement of such actions, and the statute
requires court approval before there can be any indemnification where the person seeking indemnification has been found liable to the corporation. The
statute provides that it is not exclusive of other indemnification that may be granted by a corporation’s by-laws, disinterested director vote, stockholder vote,
agreement or otherwise.
Our certificate of incorporation provides that we will indemnify to the fullest extent authorized or permitted by the DGCL or any other applicable law as
now or hereafter in effect any person made, or threatened to be made, a defendant or witness to any action, suit or proceeding (whether civil, criminal or
otherwise) by reason of the fact that he is or was a director of our corporation or by reason of the fact that such director, at our request, is or was serving any
other corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise in any capacity. Our certificate of incorporation also provides that
no amendment or repeal of the certificate of incorporation will apply to or have any effect on any right to indemnification provided in the certificate of
incorporation with respect to any acts or omissions occurring prior to such amendment or repeal.
As permitted by the DGCL, our bylaws, as amended, provide that we will indemnify to the fullest extent authorized or permitted by applicable law as now
or hereafter in effect any person who was or is made, or is threatened to be made, a party or is otherwise involved in any action, suit or proceeding (whether
civil, criminal, administrative or investigative), by reason of the fact that he (or a person for whom he is the legal representative) is or was a director or officer
of our corporation, is or was serving at our request as a director, officer, employee, member, trustee or agent of another corporation or of a partnership, joint
venture, trust, nonprofit entity or other enterprise.
Consequently, no director of the corporation will be personally liable to the corporation or its stockholders for monetary damages for any breach of
fiduciary duty by such a director as a director. However, notwithstanding the preceding sentence, a director will be liable to the extent provided by Delaware
law (1) for any breach of the director’s duty of loyalty to the corporation or its stockholders, (2) for acts or omissions not in good faith or which involve
intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law, (3) for payments of unlawful dividends or for unlawful stock repurchases or redemption, or (4) for any
transaction from which the director derived an improper personal benefit.
Effective upon the consummation of the spin-off, we will have entered into indemnification agreements with each of our executive officers and directors.
These agreements provide that, subject to limited exceptions and among other things, we will indemnify each of our executive officers and directors to the
fullest extent permitted by law and advance expenses to each indemnitee in connection with any proceeding in which a right to indemnification is available.
We also intend to maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was our director, officer, trustee, employee or agent or serving at our request as a
director, officer, trustee, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, non-profit entity or other enterprise against any liability
asserted against the person and incurred by the person in any such capacity, or arising out of his or her status as such.
Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted for directors, officers, or persons who control us, we have been
informed that, in the opinion of the SEC, such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is therefore unenforceable.
Item 15. Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
On September 19, 2011, in connection with our formation, we issued 100 shares of our common stock to Galena in exchange for an aggregate cash
purchase price of $1.00.
On September 24, 2011, Tang Capital Partners, LP and RTW Investment, LLC purchased from us secured convertible promissory notes, with an aggregate
principal amount of $1,500,000, that are convertible into our shares of our Series A Preferred Stock at a conversion price of $1,000 per share.
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All of the transactions described in this Item 15 were exempt from registration under the Securities Act pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Securities Act,
which exempts private issuances of securities in which the securities are not offered or advertised to the general public.
Item 16. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(a) Exhibits
Exhibit
Number

Description

2.1

Contribution Agreement, dated as of September 24, 2011, between RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation (formerly RNCS, Inc.) and Galena
Biopharma, Inc. (formerly RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation).(1)

2.2

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 24, 2011, among RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation (formerly RNCS, Inc.), Galena
Biopharma, Inc. (formerly RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation), Tang Capital Partners, LP and RTW Investments, LLC.(1)

3.1

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation.**

3.2

Form of Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock of RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation.

3.3

Bylaws of RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation, as amended.**

4.1

Secured Convertible Promissory Note, dated September 24, 2011 of RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation (formerly RNCS, Inc.), issued to
Tang Capital Partners, LP.

4.2

Secured Convertible Promissory Note, dated September 24, 2011 of RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation (formerly RNCS, Inc.), issued to
RTW Investments, LLC.

5.1

Opinion of TroyGould PC regarding the securities being registered.**

8.1

Opinion of TroyGould PC regarding tax matters. **

10.1

Employment Agreement, dated September 24, 2011, between RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation (formerly, RNCS, Inc.) and Anastasia
Khvorova, Ph.D.(1)*

10.2

Employment Agreement, dated September 24, 2011, between RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation (formerly, RNCS, Inc.) and Pamela Pavco,
Ph.D.(1)*

10.3

License Agreement between RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation and Dharmacon, Inc. (now part of Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc.), dated
October 29, 2007.(+)

10.4

Non-Exclusive License Agreement, between CytRx Corporation and the University of Massachusetts Medical School, related to UMMS
disclosure number 01-36, dated April 15, 2003, as amended February 1, 2004.(+)

10.5

Patent and Technology Assignment Agreement between RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation (formerly RNCS, Inc.) and Advirna, LLC,
effective as of September 24, 2011.

10.6

Lease between RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation and Newgate Properties, LLC for One Gateway Place, Worcester, Massachusetts 01605,
dated September 25, 2007.(2)

10.7

Amendment to Lease between RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation and Newgate Properties, LLC for One Gateway Place, Worcester,
Massachusetts 01605, dated January 23, 2009.(3)
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Exhibit
Number

Description

10.8

Amendment to Lease between RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation and Newgate Properties, LLC for One Gateway Place, Worcester,
Massachusetts 01605, dated March 5, 2009.(4)

10.9

Amendment to Lease between RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation and Newgate Properties, LLC for One Gateway Place, Worcester,
Massachusetts 01605, dated August 28, 2008.

10.10

Amendment to Lease between RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation and Newgate Properties, LLC for One Gateway Place, Worcester,
Massachusetts 01605, dated November 4, 2008.

10.11

Amendment to Lease between RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation and Newgate Properties, LLC for One Gateway Place, Worcester,
Massachusetts 01605, dated June 9, 2011.

10.12

RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation 2011 Incentive Plan.* **

10.13

Form of Incentive Stock Option.* **

10.14

Form of Non-qualified Stock Option.* **

23.1

Consent of BDO USA, LLP.

23.2

Consents of TroyGould PC (included in Exhibits 5.1 and 8.1).**

99.1

Consent of Kevin C. Tang.

99.2

Consent of Roderick T. Wong.

(1)

Incorporated by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K of Galena Biopharma, Inc. filed with the SEC on September 26, 2011 (File No. 00133958).

(2)

Incorporated by reference to the Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 of Galena Biopharma, Inc. filed with the SEC on
November 19, 2007 (File No. 333-147009).

(3)

Incorporated by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K of Galena Biopharma, Inc. filed with the SEC on January 29, 2009 (File No. 001-33958).

(4)

Incorporated by reference to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Galena Biopharma, Inc. filed with the SEC on May 15, 2009 (File No. 001-33958).

*

Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

**

To be filed by Amendment.

+

Confidential treatment has been requested or granted for certain portions which have been blanked out in the copy of the exhibit filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission. The omitted information has been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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(b) Financial Statement Schedules
All financial statement schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or required or because the required information is included elsewhere in the
financial statements or the notes to the financial statements.
Item 17. Undertakings
The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes that:
(1) For purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, the information omitted from the form of prospectus filed as part of this
registration statement in reliance upon Rule 430A and contained in a form of prospectus filed by the registrant pursuant to Rule 424(b)(1) or (4) or 497(h)
under the Securities Act shall be deemed to be part of this registration statement as of the time it was declared effective.
(2) For the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each post-effective amendment that contains a form of prospectus shall
be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the
initial bona fide offering thereof.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Worcester, Commonwealth of Massachusetts, on October 25, 2011.
RXi PHARMACEUTICALS CORPORATION
By: /s/ Mark J. Ahn, Ph.D.
Mark J. Ahn, Ph.D.
President and Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this registration statement has been signed below by the following person in the capacities and
on the date indicated.
Signatures

/s/ Mark J. Ahn, Ph.D.

Title

Date

President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Executive Officer and Principal Accounting
and Financial Officer) and Sole Director

October 25, 2011

II-5

Table of Contents

EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit
Number

Description

2.1

Contribution Agreement, dated as of September 24, 2011, between RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation (formerly RNCS, Inc.) and Galena
Biopharma, Inc. (formerly RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation).(1)

2.2

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 24, 2011, among RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation (formerly RNCS, Inc.), Galena
Biopharma, Inc. (formerly RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation), Tang Capital Partners, LP and RTW Investments, LLC.(1)

3.1

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation.**

3.2

Form of Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock of RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation.

3.3

Bylaws of RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation, as amended.**

4.1

Secured Convertible Promissory Note, dated September 24, 2011 of RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation (formerly RNCS, Inc.), issued to
Tang Capital Partners, LP.

4.2

Secured Convertible Promissory Note, dated September 24, 2011 of RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation (formerly RNCS, Inc.), issued to
RTW Investments, LLC.

5.1

Opinion of TroyGould PC regarding the securities being registered.**

8.1

Opinion of TroyGould PC regarding tax matters. **

10.1

Employment Agreement, dated September 24, 2011, between RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation (formerly, RNCS, Inc.) and Anastasia
Khvorova, Ph.D.(1)*

10.2

Employment Agreement, dated September 24, 2011, between RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation (formerly, RNCS, Inc.) and Pamela Pavco,
Ph.D.(1)*

10.3

License Agreement between RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation and Dharmacon, Inc. (now part of Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc.), dated
October 29, 2007.(+)

10.4

Non-Exclusive License Agreement, between CytRx Corporation and the University of Massachusetts Medical School, related to UMMS
disclosure number 01-36, dated April 15, 2003, as amended February 1, 2004.(+)

10.5

Patent and Technology Assignment Agreement between RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation (formerly RNCS, Inc.) and Advirna, LLC,
effective as of September 24, 2011.

10.6

Lease between RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation and Newgate Properties, LLC for One Gateway Place, Worcester, Massachusetts 01605,
dated September 25, 2007.(2)

10.7

Amendment to Lease between RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation and Newgate Properties, LLC for One Gateway Place, Worcester,
Massachusetts 01605, dated January 23, 2009.(3)

10.8

Amendment to Lease between RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation and Newgate Properties, LLC for One Gateway Place, Worcester,
Massachusetts 01605, dated March 5, 2009.(4)
II-6

Table of Contents

Exhibit
Number

Description

10.9

Amendment to Lease between RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation and Newgate Properties, LLC for One Gateway Place, Worcester,
Massachusetts 01605, dated August 28, 2008.

10.10

Amendment to Lease between RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation and Newgate Properties, LLC for One Gateway Place, Worcester,
Massachusetts 01605, dated November 4, 2008.

10.11

Amendment to Lease between RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation and Newgate Properties, LLC for One Gateway Place, Worcester,
Massachusetts 01605, dated June 9, 2011.

10.12

RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation 2011 Incentive Plan.* **

10.13

Form of Incentive Stock Option.* **

10.14

Form of Non-qualified Stock Option.* **

23.1

Consent of BDO USA, LLP.

23.2

Consents of TroyGould PC (included in Exhibits 5.1 and 8.1).**

99.1

Consent of Kevin C. Tang.

99.2

Consent of Roderick T. Wong.

(1)

Incorporated by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K of Galena Biopharma, Inc. filed with the SEC on September 26, 2011 (File No. 00133958).

(2)

Incorporated by reference to the Amendment No. 2 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 of Galena Biopharma, Inc. filed with the SEC on
January 20, 2008 (File No. 333-147009).

(3)

Incorporated by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K of Galena Biopharma, Inc. filed with the SEC on January 23, 2009 (File No. 001-33958).

(4)

Incorporated by reference to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Galena Biopharma, Inc. filed with the SEC on May 15, 2009 (File No. 001-33958).

*

Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

**
+

To be filed by Amendment.
Confidential treatment has been requested or granted for certain portions which have been blanked out in the copy of the exhibit filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission. The omitted information has been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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Exhibit 3.2
FORM OF CERTIFICATE OF DESIGNATIONS,
PREFERENCES AND RIGHTS
of
SERIES A CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK
of
RXi PHARMACEUTICALS CORPORATION
(Pursuant to Section 151 of the
Delaware General Corporation Law)
RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation, a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware (the “Corporation”), hereby certifies that the
Board of Directors of the Corporation (the “Board of Directors” or the “Board”) pursuant to authority of the Board of Directors under Section 151 of the
Delaware General Corporation Law (“DGCL”), and in accordance with the provisions of its Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws, adopted the following
resolution on [•], 2011, which authorizes a series of the Corporation’s previously authorized Preferred Stock, par value $[•] per share (the “Preferred Stock”):
RESOLVED, that the Board of Directors of the Corporation, pursuant to authority expressly vested in it by the Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation,
hereby creates a series of Preferred Stock, par value $[•] per share, with such respective voting powers and with such respective designations, preferences and
relative, participating, optional and other special rights and qualifications, limitations and restrictions, as set forth below:
I. DESIGNATION AND AMOUNT
The designation of the new series, which consists of [•] shares of Preferred Stock, is the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (the “Series A Preferred
Stock”).
II. CERTAIN DEFINITIONS
For purposes of this Certificate of Designations, the following terms shall have the following meanings:
A. “Beneficial Ownership” and “Beneficially Owns” shall be determined in accordance with Section 13(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and Regulations 13D-G thereunder.
B. “Change of Control” shall mean any of the following:
(i) the consolidation, merger or other business combination of the Corporation with or into another entity (other than a consolidation, merger
or other business combination in which holders of the Corporation’s voting power immediately prior to the transaction continue after the

transaction to hold, directly or indirectly, in substantially the same proportion as immediately preceding the transaction, the voting power
of the surviving entity or entities necessary to elect a majority of the members of the board of directors (or their equivalent if other than a
corporation) of such entity or entities);
(ii) the sale, lease, transfer, exclusive license or other disposition, in a single transaction or series of related transactions, by the Corporation or
any subsidiary of the Corporation (including, without limitation, any such action effected by the Corporation or any subsidiary of the
Corporation by merger, consolidation or otherwise) of all or substantially all of the intellectual property or assets of the Corporation and its
subsidiaries, taken as a whole, or the sale or disposition (including, without limitation, any such action effected by the Corporation or any
subsidiary of the Corporation by merger, consolidation or otherwise) of one or more subsidiaries of the Corporation if substantially all of
the assets of the Corporation and its subsidiaries taken as a whole are held by such subsidiary or subsidiaries;
(iii) the sale, in a single transaction or series of transactions, of Common Stock and/or Preferred Stock (“Capital Stock”) to any purchaser (a
“Purchaser”) who, with the Purchaser’s affiliates, Beneficially Owns (without giving effect to any blocking provisions that would
otherwise serve to limit the Purchaser’s ability to exercise purchase rights, conversion rights or other rights to acquire Capital Stock)
immediately after such purchase either: (A) a majority of the outstanding Capital Stock of the Corporation, determined on an as-converted
basis or (B) a number of shares of Capital Stock that would entitle the holder(s) thereof to elect a majority of the Board; or
(iv) the consolidation, merger or other business combination of the Corporation with or into another entity that results in the cancellation of
shares of Series A Preferred Stock or that results in the conversion of shares of Series A Preferred Stock into (1) shares of any other class
or series of capital stock of the Corporation; (2) securities of the Corporation or any other person (or the right to receive any such
securities); (3) any property (including, without limitation, cash and the right to receive cash or other property); or (4) any combination of
the foregoing.
C. “Closing Date” means 11:59 p.m. on the date of the closing under the Securities Purchase Agreement, dated September 24, 2011, by and among
the Corporation, Galena Biopharma, Inc. (formerly RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation) and the purchasers named therein, as the same may be
amended from time to time (the “Purchase Agreement”).
D. “Closing Sales Price” means, as of any date, (i) the last trading price of the Common Stock on the principal Trading Market during regular
trading
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hours on which such security is listed or traded as reported by Bloomberg Financial L.P. (or a comparable reporting service of national
reputation selected by the Corporation and reasonably acceptable to the Requisite Holders, if Bloomberg Financial L.P. is not then reporting
closing sales prices of the Common Stock) (collectively, “Bloomberg”) or (ii) if no last trading price is so reported for such date, the average of
the closing bid and ask prices on the principal Trading Market during regular trading hours on which such security is listed or traded as reported
by Bloomberg. If the Closing Sales Price cannot be calculated for such Common Stock as of any of such dates on any of the foregoing bases,
the Closing Sales Price on such date shall be the fair market value as reasonably determined by an investment banking firm selected by the
Requisite Holders and reasonably acceptable to the Corporation, with the reasonable costs of such determination to be borne by the Corporation.
E. “Common Stock” means the Corporation’s common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, and stock of any other class of securities into which
such securities may hereafter be reclassified or changed into.
F.

“Common Stock Equivalents” means any securities of the Corporation or of any subsidiary of the Corporation that would entitle the holder
thereof to acquire, directly or indirectly, at any time, Common Stock or any security of any subsidiary of the Corporation, including, without
limitation, any debt, preferred stock, right, option, warrant or other agreement, document or instrument that is at any time convertible into,
exercisable for or exchangeable for, or otherwise entitles the holder thereof to receive, directly or indirectly, Common Stock or any security of
any subsidiary of the Corporation.

G. “Conversion Date” means, for any Optional Conversion, the date specified in the notice of conversion in the form attached hereto (the “Notice
of Conversion”), so long as a copy of the Notice of Conversion is delivered via electronic mail resulting in notice to the Corporation before
11:59 p.m., New York City time, on the Conversion Date indicated in the Notice of Conversion; provided, however, that if the Notice of
Conversion is not so e-mailed before such time, then the Conversion Date shall be the date the holder e-mails the Notice of Conversion to the
Corporation.
H. “Conversion Price” means the price obtained by dividing $1,000 by the Conversion Rate, and shall be subject to adjustment as set forth in
Article IX below.
I.

“Conversion Rate” means the Series A Preferred Conversion Rate, as set forth in Annex II attached to the Purchase Agreement.

J.

“Face Amount” shall mean, with respect to the Series A Preferred Stock, $1,000 per share, as adjusted (i) for stock splits, stock dividends,
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combinations, recapitalizations, reclassifications or the like and (ii) with respect to any given share or shares of Series A Preferred Stock, to
account for any accretion in the Face Amount as a result of accrued but unpaid dividends or any other increase provided for in this Certificate of
Designations.
K. “Measurement Date” means for purposes of any issuance of securities, the date of issuance thereof.
L. “Original Issue Date” means, with respect to each share of Series A Preferred Stock, the date of issuance of such share.
M. “Other Stock” means (i) any class or series of preferred stock or other capital stock of the Corporation, other than Common Stock, Common
Stock Equivalents and Series A Preferred Stock and (ii) any securities of the Corporation or of any subsidiary of the Corporation that would
entitle the holder thereof to acquire, directly or indirectly, at any time any capital stock listed in clause (i), including, without limitation, any
debt, preferred stock, right, option, warrant or other agreement, document or instrument that is at any time convertible into, exercisable for or
exchangeable for, or otherwise entitles the holder thereof to receive, directly or indirectly, any capital stock listed in clause (i).
N. Unless otherwise expressly provided in this Certificate of Designations, each reference to a “person” refers to any individual, entity or
association, including, without limitation, any corporation, limited partnership, general partnership, joint stock company, joint venture,
association, company, trust, bank, trust company, and trust, business trust or other organization, whether or not a legal entity, or a government or
agency or any political subdivision thereof.
O. “Requisite Holders” means the holders of at least ninety-five percent (95%) of the then outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock, voting
together as one class.
P.

“Trading Day” means, except as set forth below, a day on which the Corporation’s securities are traded on a Trading Market; provided, however,
that in the event that the Corporation’s securities are not traded on a Trading Market, then Trading Day shall mean any day except Saturday,
Sunday and any day on which banking institutions in the State of New York are authorized or required by law or other government action to
close.

Q. “Trading Market” means the OTC Bulletin Board or the Pink Sheets, the NASDAQ Global Select Market, the NASDAQ Global Market, the
NASDAQ Capital Market, the New York Stock Exchange, the NYSE, Amex or any of the markets operated by the OTC Markets Group, Inc.,
or any successor markets thereto.
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III. DIVIDENDS
A. Holders of Series A Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive, and the Corporation shall pay, cumulative mandatory dividends at the rate per
share of seven percent (7%) of the Face Amount per annum, payable quarterly on each March 31, June 30, September 30 and December 31,
beginning on the first such date after the applicable Original Issue Date (each such date, a “Dividend Payment Date”) (if any Dividend Payment
Date is not a Trading Day, the applicable payment shall be due on the next succeeding Trading Day). Such dividends shall be payable in
additional shares of Series A Preferred Stock valued for this purpose at the Face Amount; provided, however, that if such additional shares of
Series A Preferred Stock are not legally available for the payment of dividends on the Series A Preferred Stock, such dividends shall, effective
on the close of business on a Dividend Payment Date with respect to an unpaid dividend, accrete to, and increase, the Face Amount of the
Series A Preferred Stock. Dividends on the Series A Preferred Stock shall be calculated on the basis of a three hundred sixty (360) day year,
consisting of twelve (12) thirty (30) day periods, shall accrue daily commencing on the applicable Original Issue Date, and, subject to the
preceding sentence, shall be deemed to accrue from such applicable Original Issue Date whether or not earned or declared and whether or not
there are profits, surplus or other funds of the Corporation legally available for the payment of dividends. The record date for determining the
holders of Series A Preferred Stock entitled to dividends pursuant to this Paragraph A. shall be the fifth (5th) Trading Day before the Dividend
Payment Date. If any such cumulative dividends would result in the issuance of a fractional share of Series A Preferred Stock, the Corporation
shall issue a fractional share therefor, rounded to the nearest 1/1000th of a share. For the avoidance of doubt, (i) for purposes of any conversion
or redemption of shares of Series A Preferred Stock, any amount accreted to the Face Amount of such shares pursuant to this Paragraph A. as of
such conversion or redemption shall not be deemed accrued but unpaid dividends and (ii) in the event of a conversion or redemption that occurs
between Dividend Payment Dates, dividends shall be deemed to accrue through the date of such conversion or redemption, even if such accrual
is less than a full quarterly dividend period.
B. For any other dividends or distributions by the Corporation, Holders of Series A Preferred Stock will participate with the holders of Common
Stock on an as-converted basis.
IV. CONVERSION
A. Conversion at the Option of the Holder. Subject to the limitations on conversions contained in Paragraph C. of this Article IV., each holder of
shares of Series A Preferred Stock may, at any time and from time to time, convert (an “Optional Conversion”) each of its shares of Series A
Preferred
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Stock into a number of fully paid and non-assessable shares of Common Stock determined in accordance with the following formula:
Face Amount
Conversion Price
Following the effectiveness of any Optional Conversion, the shares of Series A Preferred Stock so converted shall also entitle the former holder of
such shares to receive, on the Dividend Payment Date next following such conversion, a number of shares of Series A Preferred Stock equal to the
unpaid dividends that accrued on the shares so converted through the date of such conversion, divided by the Face Amount.
B. Mechanics of Conversion. In order to effect an Optional Conversion, a holder shall deliver via electronic mail a copy of the fully executed
Notice of Conversion (in the form attached hereto) to the Corporation (Attention: [Secretary]). Such notice shall be delivered to [•]@[•].com or
such other address as the Corporation may, from time to time, provide to the holders upon delivery of a written notice. Upon receipt by the
Corporation of a copy of a Notice of Conversion from a holder, the Corporation shall promptly send, via facsimile or electronic mail, a
confirmation to such holder stating that the Notice of Conversion has been received, the date upon which the Corporation expects to deliver the
Common Stock issuable upon such conversion and the name and telephone number of a contact person at the Corporation regarding the
conversion.
(i) Delivery of Common Stock Upon Conversion. The Corporation (itself, or through its transfer agent) shall, no later than the second Trading
Day following the Conversion Date (the “Delivery Period”), issue and deliver (i.e., deposit with a nationally recognized overnight courier
service postage prepaid) to the holder or its nominee a certificate representing that number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon
conversion of such shares of Series A Preferred Stock being converted. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Corporation’s transfer agent
is participating in the Depository Trust Company (“DTC”) Fast Automated Securities Transfer program or any other program that provides
for the electronic delivery of Common Stock, the Corporation shall cause its transfer agent, by the end of the Delivery Period, to
electronically transmit the Common Stock (not in physical stock certificate form) issuable upon conversion to the holder by crediting the
account of the holder or its nominee with DTC through its Deposit Withdrawal Agent Commission system or with any such equivalent
program.
(ii) Taxes. The Corporation shall pay any and all taxes that may be imposed upon it with respect to the issuance and delivery of the shares of
Common Stock upon the conversion of the Series A Preferred Stock.
-6-

(iii) No Fractional Shares. If any conversion of Series A Preferred Stock would result in the issuance of a fractional share of Common Stock,
such fractional share shall be payable in cash based upon the Closing Sales Price on the Trading Day immediately preceding the
Conversion Date and the number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the Series A Preferred Stock shall be the next
lower whole number of shares.
(iv) Conversion Disputes. In the case of any dispute with respect to a conversion, the Corporation shall promptly issue such number of shares
of Common Stock as are not disputed in accordance with Subparagraph (i) above. If such dispute involves the calculation of the
Conversion Price, and such dispute is not promptly resolved by discussion between the relevant holder and the Corporation, the
Corporation shall submit the disputed calculations to an independent outside accountant within three Trading Days of receipt of the Notice
of Conversion. The accountant, at the Corporation’s sole expense, shall promptly audit the calculations and notify the Corporation and the
holder of the results no later than three Trading Days from the date it receives the disputed calculations. The accountant’s calculation shall
be deemed conclusive, absent manifest error. The Corporation shall then issue the appropriate number of shares of Common Stock in
accordance with Subparagraph (i) above.
C. Limitations on Conversions. Notwithstanding anything in this Certificate of Designations to the contrary, in no event shall any holder of shares
of Series A Preferred Stock have the right to convert shares of Series A Preferred Stock into shares of Common Stock (x) to the extent that such
issuance or sale or right to effect such conversion would result in the holder or any of its affiliates together Beneficially Owning more than
9.999% of the then issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock or (y) if such holder or any of its affiliates together Beneficially Own more
than 9.999% of the then issued and outstanding Common Stock immediately prior to such purported issuance, sale, transfer or conversion. The
restriction contained in this Paragraph C. may not be waived. Any purported conversion effected in violation of this Paragraph C. shall be null
and void. Certificates representing shares of Series A Preferred Stock shall have imprinted, typed, stamped or otherwise affixed thereon a legend
in substantially the following form:
THE SHARES OF STOCK REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE ARE SUBJECT TO TRANSFER AND CONVERSION
RESTRICTIONS AND MAY BE TRANSFERRED OR CONVERTED ONLY AS PERMITTED BY THE TERMS OF THE CERTIFICATE
OF DESIGNATIONS SETTING FORTH THE RIGHTS, POWERS AND PREFERENCES OF SUCH PREFERRED STOCK, A COPY OF
WHICH IS ON FILE WITH THE SECRETARY OF THE CORPORATION AND SHALL BE PROVIDED FREE OF CHARGE UPON A
REQUEST THEREFOR SUBMITTED TO THE SECRETARY.
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V. RESERVATION OF SHARES OF COMMON STOCK
A. If the authorized and unissued number of shares of Common Stock (the “Reserved Amount”) for any three consecutive Trading Days (the last of
such three Trading Days being the “Authorization Trigger Date”) shall be less than a number sufficient to provide for the conversion in full, at
the then current Conversion Price thereof, without taking into account the limitations on conversion set forth in Article IV.C., of all of the
Series A Preferred Stock (i) then outstanding; (ii) then issuable; and (iii) then issuable as the payment of dividends on the Series A Preferred
Stock described in clause (i) or (ii) for a period of four (4) years (the “Required Reserve Amount”), then the Corporation shall immediately
notify the holders of Series A Preferred Stock of such occurrence and shall take immediate action (including, if necessary, seeking stockholder
approval to increase the number of shares of Common Stock that the Corporation is authorized to issue) to increase the Reserved Amount to the
Required Reserve Amount. If the Reserved Amount shall be less than the Required Reserve Amount for more than fifteen (15) days in any
twelve (12) month period, then each holder of Series A Preferred Stock may elect, by delivery of a notice to the Corporation, to have such
holder’s outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock redeemed at the Face Amount (plus the amount of any accrued but unpaid dividends
thereon) out of funds legally available therefor by the Corporation. Nothing contained in this Article V.A. shall limit any other rights or
remedies of the holders of the Series A Preferred Stock hereunder or under applicable law.
VI. FAILURE TO SATISFY CONVERSIONS
A. Conversion Defaults. If, at any time, (i) a holder of shares of Series A Preferred Stock submits a Notice of Conversion and the Corporation fails
for any reason (including without limitation because such issuance would exceed such holder’s allocated portion of the Reserved Amount, but
not including because of the limitations set forth in Article IV.C.) to deliver in strict accordance with the terms hereof, on or prior to the last
Trading Day of the Delivery Period for such conversion, such number of shares of Common Stock to which such holder is entitled upon such
conversion or (ii) the Corporation provides written notice to any holder of Series A Preferred Stock (or makes a public announcement via press
release) at any time of its intention not to issue shares of Common Stock upon exercise by any holder of its conversion rights in accordance with
the terms of this Certificate of Designations (each of (i) and (ii) being a “Conversion Default”), then, in either such case, if such Conversion
Default is not cured within five Trading Days of its initial occurrence, each holder of Series A Preferred Stock may elect, by delivery of a notice
(the “Conversion Default Notice”) to the Corporation, to have such holder’s outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock redeemed at the
Face Amount (plus the amount of
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any accrued but unpaid dividends thereon) out of funds legally available therefor by the Corporation.
B. Buy-In Cure. Without limiting the other rights or remedies of the holders (including, but not limited to, the right to redemption under
Article VI.A.), if (i) the Corporation fails to timely deliver during the Delivery Period shares of Common Stock to a holder upon a conversion of
shares of Series A Preferred Stock and (ii) thereafter, such holder purchases (in an open market transaction or otherwise) shares of Common
Stock (the “Cover Shares”) to make delivery in satisfaction of a sale by such holder of the shares of Common Stock (the “Sold Shares”) that
such holder anticipated receiving upon such conversion (a “Buy-In”), at the election of the holder as a redemption out of funds legally available
therefor, the Corporation shall pay such holder (in addition to any other remedies available to the holder) the amount equal to such holder’s total
purchase price (including brokerage commissions, if any) for the Cover Shares and, upon making such payment, the Corporation’s conversion
obligations shall be deemed satisfied and the Series A Preferred Stock that was tendered pursuant to the Notice of Conversion shall thereupon
be cancelled and the holder shall not have any further right or remedy against the Corporation with respect to such shares of Series A Preferred
Stock that were tendered pursuant to the Notice of Conversion. A holder shall provide the Corporation written notification and supporting
documentation indicating any amounts payable to such holder pursuant to this Article VI.B. The Corporation shall make any payments required
pursuant to this Article VI.B. in accordance with and subject to the provisions of Article XII.I.
VII. RANK
All shares of the Series A Preferred Stock shall rank (i) senior to (a) the Corporation’s Common Stock; (b) the Common Stock Equivalents in existence as
of the Closing Date; and (c) any Common Stock Equivalents and any Other Stock created after the Closing Date (unless, with the consent of the Requisite
Holders obtained in accordance with Article XI. hereof, such Common Stock Equivalents or Other Stock specifically, by their terms, rank senior to or pari
passu with the Series A Preferred Stock) (collectively with the Common Stock and the Common Stock Equivalents in existence as of the Closing Date,
“Junior Securities”); (ii) pari passu with any Common Stock Equivalents and Other Stock created after the Closing Date (with the written consent of the
Requisite Holders obtained in accordance with Article XI. hereof) specifically ranking, by their terms, on parity with the Series A Preferred Stock (the “Pari
Passu Securities”); and (iii) junior to any Common Stock Equivalents or Other Stock created after the Closing Date (with the written consent of the Requisite
Holders obtained in accordance with Article XI. hereof) specifically ranking, by their terms, senior to the Series A Preferred Stock (collectively, the “Senior
Securities”), in each case as to dividends or distribution of assets upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation, whether voluntary or
involuntary. Each share of Series A Preferred Stock shall rank pari passu with each other share of Series A Preferred Stock as to dividends and distribution of
assets upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation, whether voluntary or involuntary.
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VIII. LIQUIDATION PREFERENCE
A. If:
(i)

the Corporation shall (1) commence a voluntary case under the U.S. Federal bankruptcy laws or any other applicable bankruptcy,
insolvency or similar law; (2) consent to the entry of an order for relief in an involuntary case under any law or to the appointment of a
receiver, liquidator, assignee, custodian, trustee, sequestrator (or other similar official) of the Corporation or of any substantial part of its
property; or (3) make an assignment for the benefit of its creditors;

(ii) a decree or order for relief in respect of the Corporation shall be entered by a court having jurisdiction in the premises in an involuntary
case under the U.S. Federal bankruptcy laws or any other applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or similar law resulting in the appointment of
a receiver, liquidator, assignee, custodian, trustee, sequestrator (or other similar official) of the Corporation or of any substantial part of its
property, or ordering the winding up or liquidation of its affairs, and any such decree or order shall be unstayed and in effect for a period
of sixty (60) consecutive days; or
(iii) the Corporation enters into a transaction or a series of related transactions that would result in a Change of Control or Corporate Change;
and, on account of any such event as set forth in Subparagraphs (i), (ii) or (iii), the Corporation shall liquidate, dissolve or wind up, or if the
Corporation shall otherwise liquidate, dissolve or wind up (a “Deemed Liquidation Event”), then in each case, no distribution shall be made to
the holders of any shares of capital stock of the Corporation (other than Senior Securities pursuant to the rights, preferences and privileges
thereof) upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up unless prior thereto the holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stock shall have received the
Liquidation Preference with respect to each share then outstanding. If, upon the occurrence of a Deemed Liquidation Event, the assets and funds
legally available for distribution among the holders of the Series A Preferred Stock and holders of Pari Passu Securities, if any, shall be
insufficient to permit the payment to such holders of the preferential amounts payable thereon, then the entire assets and funds of the
Corporation legally available for distribution to the Series A Preferred Stock and the Pari Passu Securities, if any, shall be distributed ratably
among such shares in proportion to the ratio that the Liquidation Preference payable on each such share bears to the aggregate Liquidation
Preference payable on all such shares.
B. The purchase or redemption by the Corporation of stock of any class, in any manner permitted by law, if approved by the Requisite Holders,
shall not, for the purposes hereof, be regarded as a liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation.
-10-

C. The “Liquidation Preference” with respect to a share of Series A Preferred Stock means an amount equal to the Face Amount thereof plus all
accrued and unpaid dividends on the Series A Preferred Stock (as adjusted for any stock dividends, combinations, splits, recapitalizations and
the like with respect to such shares). The Liquidation Preference with respect to any Pari Passu Securities, if any, shall be as set forth in the
Certificate of Designations filed in respect thereof.
IX. ADJUSTMENTS TO THE CONVERSION PRICE
The Conversion Price shall be subject to adjustment from time to time as follows:
A. Stock Splits, Stock Dividends, Etc. If, at any time on or after the Closing Date, the number of outstanding shares of Common Stock is increased
by a stock split, stock dividend, combination, reclassification or other similar event (in each case, whether by merger or otherwise), then, after
the date of record for such event, the Conversion Price shall be proportionately reduced. If the number of outstanding shares of Common Stock
is decreased by a reverse stock split, combination or reclassification of shares, or other similar event (in each case, whether by merger or
otherwise), then, after the date of record for such event, the Conversion Price shall be proportionately increased. In any such event described in
this Paragraph A., the Corporation shall notify the Corporation’s transfer agent of such change on or before the effective date thereof.
B. Adjustment Due to Merger, Consolidation, Etc. With respect to each share of Series A Preferred Stock, if, at any time after the Closing Date,
there shall be:
(i) any recapitalization, reclassification or change of the outstanding shares of Common Stock (but not of such share of Series A Preferred
Stock), other than a change in par value, or from par value to no par value, or from no par value to par value, or as a result of a transaction
causing an adjustment pursuant to Article IX.A.;
(ii) any Change of Control transaction or event of the type set forth in Articles II.B.(i), II.B.(ii) or II.B.(iv), in each case pursuant to which the
Common Stock (but not such share of Series A Preferred Stock) is converted into or exchanged for capital stock or other securities of the
Corporation or any subsidiary of the Corporation or any other person (or the right to receive any such stock or securities) or into any
property (including, without limitation, cash and the right to receive cash or other property) or any combination of the foregoing; or
(iii) any share exchange pursuant to which all of the outstanding shares of Common Stock (but not such share of Series A Preferred Stock) are
converted into or exchanged for capital stock or other securities of the
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Corporation or any subsidiary of the Corporation or any other person (or the right to receive any such securities) or into any property (including,
without limitation, cash and the right to receive cash or other property) or into any combination of the foregoing (each of Subparagraphs (i) (iii) of this Paragraph B. being a “Corporate Change”);
then in each case, the holder of such share of Series A Preferred Stock shall thereafter have the right to receive upon conversion, in lieu of the shares
of Common Stock otherwise issuable, such shares of stock, securities and/or other property as would have been issued or payable in such Corporate
Change if such share of Series A Preferred Stock had been converted into Common Stock immediately prior to such Corporate Change without
taking into account the limitations on conversion set forth in Article IV. The Corporation shall not effect any Corporate Change unless: (i) each
holder of Series A Preferred Stock has received written notice of such transaction at least twenty (20) days prior thereto, but in no event later than
ten (10) days prior to the record date for the determination of stockholders entitled to vote with respect thereto; and (ii) the resulting successor or
acquiring entity (if not the Corporation) assumes by written instrument (in form and substance reasonable satisfactory to the Requisite Holders) the
obligations of this Certificate of Designations. The above provisions shall apply regardless of whether or not there would have been a sufficient
number of shares of Common Stock authorized and available for issuance upon conversion of the shares of Series A Preferred Stock outstanding as
of the date of such transaction, and shall similarly apply to successive recapitalizations, changes, conversions, combinations, reclassifications,
consolidations, mergers, sales, transfers or share exchanges.
C. Adjustment Due to Distribution. If, at any time after the Closing Date, the Corporation shall declare or make any distribution of its assets (or
rights to acquire its assets) to holders of Common Stock other than a dividend for which an adjustment is provided under Paragraphs A. or D. of
this Article IX.), by way of return of capital or otherwise (including, without limitation, any dividend or distribution to the Corporation’s
stockholders in cash or shares (or rights to acquire shares) of capital stock of a subsidiary (i.e., a spin-off)) (a “Distribution”), then the holders of
Series A Preferred Stock shall be entitled, upon any conversion of shares of Series A Preferred Stock after the date of record for determining
stockholders entitled to such Distribution, to receive the amount of such assets which would have been payable to the holder with respect to the
shares of Common Stock issuable upon such conversion had such holder been the holder of such shares of Common Stock on the record date
for the determination of stockholders entitled to such Distribution. If the Distribution involves rights, warrants, or options and the right to
exercise or convert such right, warrant or option would expire in accordance with its terms prior to the conversion of the Series A Preferred
Stock, then the terms of such right, warrant or option shall provide that such exercise or convertibility right shall remain in effect
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until 10 days after the date the holder of Series A Preferred Stock receives such right, warrant or option pursuant to the conversion thereof.
D. Purchase Rights. If, at any time after the Closing Date, the Corporation issues any securities (“Purchase Rights”) that are convertible into or
exercisable or exchangeable for or impart a right to purchase securities other than Common Stock or Common Stock Equivalents (whether of
the Corporation or any subsidiary of the Corporation) pro rata to the record holders of any class of Common Stock, then the holders of Series A
Preferred Stock will be entitled to acquire (at the same time the holders of Common Stock receive such Purchase Rights), upon the terms
applicable to such Purchase Rights, the aggregate Purchase Rights which such holder could have acquired if such holder had held the number of
shares of Common Stock acquirable upon complete conversion of the Series A Preferred Stock (without giving effect to the limitations on
conversion set forth in Article IV.) immediately before the date on which a record is taken for the grant, issuance or sale of such Purchase
Rights, or, if no such record is taken, the date as of which the record holders of Common Stock are to be determined for the grant, issue or sale
of such Purchase Rights.
E. Adjustment Due to Dilutive Issuances.
(i) Dilutive Issuance. Except as otherwise provided in Paragraphs A. and B. of this Article IX., if and whenever the Corporation issues or
sells, or in accordance with Article IX.E.(ii) hereof is deemed to have issued or sold, any shares of Common Stock for no consideration or
for a consideration per share less than the Conversion Price on the Measurement Date for such shares of Common Stock (a “Dilutive
Issuance”), then effective immediately upon the such Dilutive Issuance, the Conversion Price will be adjusted to equal the per share price
at which such shares were issued, sold or deemed to have been issued or sold in such Dilutive Issuance.
(ii) Effect on Conversion Price of Certain Events. For purposes of determining the adjusted Conversion Price under Subparagraph (i), the
following will be applicable:
(a) Issuance of Options. If the Corporation in any manner issues or grants any warrants, rights or options, whether or not immediately
exercisable, to subscribe for or to purchase Common Stock or Common Stock Equivalents (such warrants, rights and options to
purchase Common Stock or Common Stock Equivalents are hereinafter referred to as “Options”) and the price per share for which
Common Stock is issuable upon the exercise of such Options (and the price of any conversion of Common Stock Equivalents, if
applicable) is less than the Conversion Price (in effect on the Measurement Date of such Options) (“Below Conversion Price
Options”), then the maximum total number of
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shares of Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of all such Below Conversion Price Options (assuming full exercise, conversion
or exchange of Common Stock Equivalents, if applicable) will, as of the date of the issuance or grant of such Below Conversion Price
Options, be deemed to be outstanding and to have been issued and sold by the Corporation for such price per share. For purposes of
the preceding sentence, the “price per share for which Common Stock is issuable upon the exercise of such Below Conversion Price
Options” is determined by dividing (i) the minimum aggregate amount of consideration, if any, payable to the Corporation upon the
exercise of all such Below Conversion Price Options, plus, in the case of Common Stock Equivalents issuable upon the exercise of
such Below Conversion Price Options, the minimum aggregate amount of consideration payable upon the exercise, conversion or
exchange thereof at the time such Common Stock Equivalents first become exercisable, convertible or exchangeable by (ii) the
maximum total number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of all such Below Conversion Price Options (assuming
full conversion of Common Stock Equivalents, if applicable). No further adjustment to the Conversion Price will be made upon the
actual issuance of such Common Stock upon the exercise of such Below Conversion Price Options or upon the exercise, conversion or
exchange of Common Stock Equivalents issuable upon exercise of such Below Conversion Price Options.
(b) Issuance of Common Stock Equivalents. If the Corporation in any manner issues or sells any Common Stock Equivalents, whether or
not immediately exercisable, convertible or exchangeable (other than where the same are issuable upon the exercise of Options), and
the price per share for which Common Stock is issuable upon such exercise, conversion or exchange of such Common Stock
Equivalents is less than the Conversion Price (in effect on the Measurement Date for such Common Stock Equivalents), then the
maximum total number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon the exercise, conversion or exchange of all such Common Stock
Equivalents will, as of the date of the issuance of such Common Stock Equivalents, be deemed to be outstanding and to have been
issued and sold by the Corporation for such price per share. For the purposes of the preceding sentence, the “price per share for which
Common Stock is issuable upon such exercise, conversion or exchange” is determined by dividing (i) the total amount, if any, received
or receivable by the Corporation as consideration for the issuance or sale of all such Common Stock Equivalents, plus the minimum
aggregate amount of additional consideration, if any, payable to the Corporation upon the exercise, conversion or exchange thereof at
the time such Common Stock Equivalents first
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become exercisable, convertible or exchangeable by (ii) the maximum total number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon the
exercise, conversion or exchange of all such Common Stock Equivalents. No further adjustment to the Conversion Price will be made
upon the actual issuance of such Common Stock upon exercise, conversion or exchange of such Common Stock Equivalents.
(iii) Change in Option Price or Conversion Rate. If there is a change at any time in (a) the amount of consideration payable to the Corporation
upon the exercise of any Options; (b) the amount of consideration, if any, payable to the Corporation upon the exercise, conversion or
exchange of any Common Stock Equivalents; or (c) the rate at which any Common Stock Equivalents are convertible into or exchangeable
for Common Stock, such change shall be deemed to be a new issuance of such Option or Common Stock Equivalent as of the date of such
change for purposes of this Article IX.E., and the Conversion Price in effect at the time of such change will be readjusted in accordance
with Paragraphs (i), (ii) or (iii) of this Article IX.E., as applicable.
(iv) Calculation of Consideration Received. If any Common Stock, Options or Common Stock Equivalents are issued, granted or sold for cash,
the consideration received therefor will be the amount received by the Corporation therefor, after deduction of all underwriting discounts
or allowances in connection with such issuance, grant or sale. In case any Common Stock, Options or Common Stock Equivalents are
issued or sold for a consideration part or all of which shall be other than cash, the amount of the consideration other than cash received by
the Corporation will be the fair market value of such consideration as determined by a majority of the Board of Directors and the Requisite
Holders, except where such consideration consists of securities, in which case the amount of consideration received by the Corporation
will be the market price thereof as of the date of receipt; in the event that the Board of Directors and the Requisite Holders cannot agree on
the value of such consideration, then the matter shall be promptly submitted to an independent accountant mutually agreed upon by the
Board of Directors and the Requisite Holders, whose determination shall be binding, absent manifest error. In case any Common Stock,
Options or Common Stock Equivalents are issued in connection with any merger or consolidation in which the Corporation is the
surviving corporation, the amount of consideration therefor will be deemed to be the fair market value of such portion of the net assets and
business of the non-surviving corporation as is attributable to such Common Stock, Options or Common Stock Equivalents, as the case
may be. Notwithstanding anything else herein to the contrary, if Common Stock, Options or Common Stock Equivalents are issued,
granted or sold in conjunction with each other as part of a single transaction or in a series of related transactions, a deduction shall be
made
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to the issuance price of any such securities to account for the fair value of any of the other securities issued, granted or sold in conjunction
therewith or as part of the same transaction or series of related transactions. An adjustment pursuant to this Article IX. shall be made, if
applicable, for each separate security issued, granted or sold as if such security was not issued, granted or sold in conjunction with any
other security as part of a single transaction or in a series of related transactions.
(v) No adjustment shall be made pursuant to this Paragraph E. if such adjustment would result in an increase in the Conversion Price.
F.

Exceptions to Adjustment of Conversion Price. Paragraph E of this Article IX shall not apply to any of the following: (i) the grant or exercise of
any stock or options to employees, directors or consultants of the Corporation which may hereafter be granted to or exercised by any employee,
director or consultant under any stock option, employee stock purchase or similar benefit plan of the Corporation now existing or to be
implemented in the future, so long as the issuance of such stock or options is approved (by vote or written consent, as provided by the DGCL)
by a majority of the Board of Directors or a majority of the members of a committee of non-employee directors established for such purpose;
(ii) upon issuance or conversion of the Series A Preferred Stock; or (iii) any other transaction as to which the Requisite Holders shall have
waived in writing any anti-dilution adjustment hereunder.

G. Notice of Adjustments. Upon the occurrence of each adjustment or readjustment of the Conversion Price pursuant to this Article IX. amounting
to a more than five percent (5%) change in such Conversion Price, the Corporation, at its expense, shall promptly compute such adjustment or
readjustment and prepare and furnish to each holder of Series A Preferred Stock a certificate setting forth such adjustment or readjustment and
showing in detail the facts upon which such adjustment or readjustment is based. The Corporation shall, upon the written request at any time of
any holder of Series A Preferred Stock, furnish to such holder a like certificate setting forth (i) such adjustment or readjustment; (ii) the
Conversion Price at the time in effect; or (iii) the number of shares of Common Stock and the amount, if any, of other securities or property
which at the time would be received upon conversion of a share of Series A Preferred Stock.
X. VOTING RIGHTS
A. The holders of the Series A Preferred Stock have no voting power whatsoever, except as otherwise required by the DGCL, or as contemplated in
Article IX.B., this Article X. or Article XI.
B. Notwithstanding the above:
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(i) The Corporation shall be required to obtain the approval of the Requisite Holders of the outstanding Series A Preferred Stock (by vote or
written consent, as provided by the DGCL), with the Series A Preferred Stock voting together with the Common Stock on an as-converted
basis, without regard to the limitations on conversion set forth in Article IV., prior to the consummation of any transaction that would result
in a Deemed Liquidation Event.
(ii) The Corporation shall provide each holder of Series A Preferred Stock with prior notification of any meeting of the stockholders (and
copies of proxy materials and other information sent to stockholders).
(iii) If the Corporation takes a record of its stockholders for the purpose of determining stockholders entitled to (a) receive payment of any
dividend or other distribution, any right to subscribe for, purchase or otherwise acquire (including by way of merger, consolidation or
recapitalization) any share of any class or any other securities or property, or to receive any other right or (b) to vote in connection with
any proposed Deemed Liquidation Event, then in each case, the Corporation shall mail a notice to each holder, at least ten (10) days prior
to the record date specified therein (or twenty (20) days prior to the consummation of the transaction or event, whichever is earlier, but in
no event earlier than public announcement of such proposed transaction), of the date on which any such record is to be taken for the
purpose of such vote, dividend, distribution, right or other event, and a brief statement regarding the amount and character of such vote,
dividend, distribution, right or other event to the extent known at such time.
To the extent that under the DGCL the vote of the holders of the Series A Preferred Stock, voting together as a single class, is required to authorize a given
action of the Corporation, the affirmative vote of the Requisite Holders (except as otherwise may be required under the DGCL) shall constitute the approval
of such action by such class; provided, however, that if the DGCL requires only the separate vote of any one or more, but not all, of the series of Series A
Preferred Stock, the affirmative vote of at least ninety-five percent (95%) of the voting power of such one or more series, voting together as a single class,
shall constitute the approval of such action by the Series A Preferred Stock in lieu of the approval of the Requisite Holders. To the extent that under the
DGCL holders of the Series A Preferred Stock are entitled to vote on a matter with holders of Common Stock, voting together as one class, each share of
Series A Preferred Stock shall be entitled to a number of votes equal to the number of shares of Common Stock into which it is then convertible (subject to
the limitations on conversion contained in Article IV.C.) using the record date for the taking of such vote of stockholders as the date as of which the
Conversion Price is calculated. The Corporation shall not (i) combine the outstanding shares of any series of Series A Preferred Stock into a smaller number
of shares of such series (whether by reclassification, merger, stock split or otherwise) or (ii) subdivide the outstanding shares of any series of Series A
Preferred Stock into a greater number of shares of such series (whether by reclassification, merger, stock split, stock dividend or otherwise) without the
approval (by vote or written consent, as provided by the DGCL) of the Requisite Holders.
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XI. PROTECTION PROVISIONS
So long as any shares of Series A Preferred Stock are outstanding, the Corporation shall not, and shall not allow any of its subsidiaries to, take any of the
following actions (in each case whether by merger, consolidation, conversion or otherwise) without first obtaining the approval (by vote or written consent, as
provided by the DGCL) of the Requisite Holders:
A. amend, alter, change or repeal the rights, powers, preferences or privileges of the Series A Preferred Stock so as to affect the Series A Preferred
Stock adversely; provided, however, that if such amendment, alteration, change or repeal would affect adversely the rights, powers, preferences
or privileges of any one or more series of Series A Preferred Stock but shall not so affect each series of Series A Preferred Stock, this
Paragraph A. shall require the approval (by vote or written consent, as provided by the DGCL) of the Requisite Holders of Series A Preferred
Stock adversely affected, voting together as a single class, in lieu of the approval of the Requisite Holders required by this Paragraph A.;
B. amend, alter, change or repeal any provision of the Corporation’s (i) Bylaws or (ii) Certificate of Incorporation (including, for the avoidance of
doubt, any Certificate of Designation or Certificate of Designations (including this Certificate of Designations) filed pursuant to Section 151(g)
of the DGCL), so as to affect the Series A Preferred Stock adversely (including, but not limited to, increasing the authorized number of shares of
Series A Preferred Stock (except as may be necessary to allow the Corporation to fulfill the obligations of the Corporation in Article III.);
C. increase the par value of the Common Stock; or
D. authorize, create or issue Senior Securities or Pari Passu Securities (except for the issuance of additional shares of Series A Preferred Stock as
may be necessary to allow the Corporation to fulfill the obligations of the Corporation in Article III.).
XII. MISCELLANEOUS
A. Cancellation of Series A Preferred Stock. If any shares of Series A Preferred Stock are converted pursuant to Article IV. or redeemed or
repurchased by the Corporation, the Corporation shall take all actions necessary to cause the shares so converted or redeemed to be canceled
and return to the status of authorized, but unissued preferred stock of no designated series, and such shares shall not be issuable by the
Corporation as Series A Preferred Stock.
B. Lost or Stolen Certificates. Upon receipt by the Corporation of (i) evidence of the loss, theft, destruction or mutilation of any stock certificate(s)
representing shares of Series A Preferred Stock (each a “Preferred Stock Certificate”) and (ii) (y) in the case of loss, theft or destruction, of
indemnity (without any bond or other security) reasonably satisfactory to the
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Corporation, or (z) in the case of mutilation, upon surrender and cancellation of the Preferred Stock Certificate(s), the Corporation shall execute
and deliver Series A Preferred Stock Certificate(s) of like tenor and date. However, the Corporation shall not be obligated to reissue such lost or
stolen Preferred Stock Certificate(s) if the holder contemporaneously requests the Corporation to convert in full all shares of Series A Preferred
Stock represented by such Preferred Stock Certificate(s).
C. Allocation of Reserved Amount. The Reserved Amount shall be allocated pro rata among the holders of Series A Preferred Stock based on the
number of shares of Series A Preferred Stock issued to each holder then held of record by such holder. Each increase to the Reserved Amount
shall be allocated pro rata among the holders of Series A Preferred Stock based on the number of shares of Series A Preferred Stock held by
each holder at the time of the increase Reserved Amount. Any portion of the Reserved Amount which remains allocated to any person or entity
which does not hold any Series A Preferred Stock shall be allocated to the remaining holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stock, pro rata
based on the number of shares of Series A Preferred Stock then held of record by such holders.
D. Quarterly Statements of Available Shares. For each calendar quarter beginning after the Closing Date occurs and thereafter so long as any shares
of Series A Preferred Stock are outstanding, the Corporation shall deliver (or cause its transfer agent to deliver) to each holder upon its written
request a written report notifying such holder of any occurrence which prohibits the Corporation from issuing Common Stock upon any such
conversion. The report shall also specify (i) the total number of shares of Series A Preferred Stock outstanding as of the end of such quarter;
(ii) the total number of shares of Common Stock issued upon all conversions of Series A Preferred Stock prior to the end of such quarter;
(iii) the total number of shares of Common Stock which are reserved for issuance upon conversion of the Series A Preferred Stock as of the end
of such quarter; and (iv) the total number of shares of Common Stock which may thereafter be issued by the Corporation upon conversion of the
Series A Preferred Stock before the Corporation would exceed the Reserved Amount. In addition, the Corporation shall provide (or cause its
transfer agent to provide), as promptly as practicable delivery to the Corporation of a written request by any holder, any of the information
enumerated in clauses Subparagraphs (i) — (iv) of this Paragraph D. as of the date of such request.
E. Status as Stockholder. Upon submission of a Notice of Conversion by a holder of Series A Preferred Stock, (i) the shares covered thereby shall
be deemed converted into shares of Common Stock and (ii) the holder’s rights as a holder of such converted shares of Series A Preferred Stock
shall cease and terminate, excepting only the right to receive certificates for such shares of Common Stock and to any remedies provided herein
or otherwise available at law or in equity to such holder because of a failure by the
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Corporation to comply with the terms of this Certificate of Designations. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a holder has not received all shares
of Common Stock prior to the last Trading Day of the Delivery Period with respect to a conversion of Series A Preferred Stock for any reason,
then (unless the holder otherwise elects to retain its status as a holder of Common Stock by so notifying the Corporation within five Trading
Days after the expiration of such Delivery Period) the holder shall regain the rights of a holder of Series A Preferred Stock with respect to such
unconverted shares of Series A Preferred Stock and the Corporation shall, as soon as practicable, return any certificate representing such
unconverted shares to the holder. In all cases, the holder shall retain all of its rights and remedies for the Corporation’s failure to convert
Series A Preferred Stock.
F.

Waiver. Notwithstanding any provision in this Certificate of Designations to the contrary, any provision contained herein and any right of the
holders of Series A Preferred Stock granted hereunder may be waived as to all shares of Series A Preferred Stock (and the holders thereof) upon
the written consent of the Requisite Holders, unless a higher percentage is required by applicable law, in which case the written consent of the
holders of not less than such higher percentage shall be required.

G. Reference to Other Agreements and Documents. When the terms of this Certificate of Designations refers to a specific agreement or other
document to determine the meaning or operation of a provision hereof, the secretary of the Corporation shall maintain a copy of such agreement
or document at the principal executive offices of the Corporation and a copy thereof shall be provided free of charge to any stockholder who
makes a request therefor. Unless otherwise provided in this Certificate of Designations, a reference to any specific agreement or other document
shall be deemed a reference to such agreement or document as amended from time to time in accordance with the terms of such agreement or
document.
H. Severability. If any term of any series of Series A Preferred Stock is invalid, unlawful, or incapable of being enforced by reason of any rule of
law or public policy, all other terms of such series of Series A Preferred Stock as set forth herein which can be given effect without the invalid,
unlawful or unenforceable term will, nevertheless, remain in full force and effect, and no term of any series of Series A Preferred Stock will be
deemed dependent upon any other such term unless so expressed in this Certificate of Designations.
I.

Payment of Cash; Defaults. Whenever the Corporation is required to make any cash payment to a holder under this Certificate of Designations
(upon redemption or otherwise), such cash payment shall be made to the holder within three Trading Days after delivery by such holder of a
notice specifying that the holder elects to receive such payment in cash and the method (e.g., by check, wire transfer) in which such payment
should be
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made and any supporting documentation reasonably requested by the Corporation to substantiate the holder’s claim to such cash payment or the
amount thereof. If such payment is not delivered within such three Trading Day period, such holder shall thereafter be entitled to interest on the
unpaid amount at a per annum rate equal to the lower of eighteen percent (18%) and the highest interest rate permitted by applicable law until
such amount is paid in full to the holder. In the event of the Corporation’s breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or other term in any
of the Transaction Documents (as defined in the Purchase Agreement), the Corporation shall promptly provide written notice of such breach to
the holders of the issued and outstanding Series A Preferred Stock, whereupon each holder of Series A Preferred Stock may elect, by delivery of
a notice to the Corporation, to have such holder’s outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock redeemed at the greater of (i) the Face Amount
(plus the amount of any accrued but unpaid dividends thereon); or (ii) the product of (a) the Closing Sales Price one Trading Day prior to the
delivery of such notice, by (b) the number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the Series A Preferred Stock (at the
Conversion Rate in effect on the date the redemption is paid), without regard to the conversion limits set forth in Article IV.C, in each case to
the extent that funds of the Corporation are legally available therefor.
[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Certificate of Designations is executed on behalf of the Corporation this [•] day of [•], 2011.

RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation
By:
Name: Mark J. Ahn, Ph.D.
Title: President and Chief Financial Officer

NOTICE OF CONVERSION
(To be Executed by the Registered Holder in order to Convert the Series A Preferred Stock)
The undersigned hereby irrevocably elects to convert [insert number of shares to nearest 1/1000th] shares of Series A Preferred Stock (the “Conversion”),
represented by stock certificate No(s). [•] (the “Preferred Stock Certificates”), into shares of common stock (“Common Stock”) of [Spinco] (the
“Corporation”) according to the conditions of the Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of Series A Preferred Stock, as of the date written
below. If securities are to be issued in the name of a person other than the undersigned, the undersigned will pay all transfer taxes payable with respect
thereto. No fee will be charged to the holder for any conversion, except for transfer taxes, if any. Each Preferred Stock Certificate is attached hereto (or
evidence of loss, theft or destruction thereof).
The Corporation shall electronically transmit the Common Stock issuable pursuant to this Notice of Conversion to the account of the undersigned or its
nominee (which is [•]) with DTC through its Deposit Withdrawal Agent Commission System (“DTC Transfer”).
The undersigned acknowledges that these securities are “restricted securities” under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Act”), and accordingly
agrees that all offers and sales by the undersigned of the securities issuable to the undersigned upon conversion of the Series A Preferred Stock have been or
will be made only pursuant to an effective registration of the transfer of the Common Stock under the Act, or pursuant to an exemption from registration
under the Act.
Date of Conversion:
Applicable Conversion Price:
Shares of Common Stock Beneficially Owned:
Signature
Printed Name
Date:
Address:

Exhibit 4.1
THIS NOTE AND THE SECURITIES UNDERLYING THIS NOTE HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS
AMENDED (THE “ACT”), AND MAY NOT BE SOLD, TRANSFERRED OR ASSIGNED UNLESS COVERED BY AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION
STATEMENT UNDER THE ACT, A TRANSFER MEETING THE REQUIREMENTS OF RULE 144 OF THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION, OR AN OPINION OF COUNSEL SATISFACTORY TO THE ISSUER TO THE EFFECT THAT ANY SUCH TRANSFER IS EXEMPT
FROM SUCH REGISTRATION.
RNCS, INC.
SECURED CONVERTIBLE PROMISSORY NOTE
Up to $1,421,052.63

San Francisco, California
September 24, 2011

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, RNCS, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), hereby unconditionally promises to pay to the order of Tang Capital Partners,
LP (together with its successors and assigns, “Holder”), in lawful money of the United States of America and in immediately available funds, the principal
sum of up to One Million Four Hundred Twenty One Thousand Fifty Two and 63/100 Dollars ($1,421,052.63), or such lesser amount as the Company may
owe Holder hereunder, as determined in accordance with Section 1.2 (such amount, the “Principal”), together with accrued and unpaid interest thereon, each
due and payable on the date and in the manner set forth below.
This Secured Convertible Promissory Note (this “Note”) is one of a series of Secured Convertible Notes (collectively, the “Notes”) executed and delivered
in connection with that certain Securities Purchase Agreement by and among the Company and the purchasers listed on Annex I thereto (the “Investors”),
dated as of September 24, 2011 (the “Securities Purchase Agreement”). Subject to the terms and conditions of the Notes, funds will be provided to the
Company under the Notes in up to three funding tranches of Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000) each, with the first tranche to be funded concurrently
with the execution and delivery of the Notes (the “First Tranche”). The purchasers of the Notes under the Securities Purchase Agreement other than the
Holder are referred to below as the “Other Holders” and the Other Holders and the Holder are collectively referred to herein as the “Holders.” All capitalized
terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein will have the respective meanings given to them in the Securities Purchase Agreement.
1. Principal Repayment; Security.
1.1 Repayment of this Note will be made in lawful money of the United States of America to Holder at 4401 Eastgate Mall, San Diego, CA 92121, or at
such other place as Holder may designate in writing. Unless earlier converted pursuant to Section 4 hereof, the Principal and accrued and unpaid interest will
be due and payable in cash on the earlier to occur of (the “Maturity Date”): (i) 150 days from the date set forth above, or (ii) an Event of Default (as defined
below). This Note is secured by certain collateral of the Company and RXi (defined below) and subject to a guaranty, as described in that certain: (a) Security
Agreement, dated
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September 24, 2011, by and between the Company and Tang Capital Partners, LP as agent (the “Agent”); (b) Pledge, Assignment and Security Agreement,
dated September 24, 2011, by and between RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation, a Delaware corporation (“RXi”); and the Agent, and (c) General Continuing
Guaranty, dated September 24, 2011, by and between RXi and the Agent.
1.2 The Principal due under Section 1.1 shall be equal to: (x) Four Hundred Seventy Three Thousand Six Hundred Eighty Four and 21/100 Dollars
($473,684.21), which sum the Holder has lent to the Company concurrent with the execution of this Note (the “First Tranche Loan Amount”), plus (y) the
Second Tranche Loan Amount and the Third Tranche Loan Amount (each defined below), to the extent such sums are lent to the Company in accordance
with Section 1.3 of this Note.
1.3 Use of Proceeds; Additional Tranches.
1.3.1 The funds provided by the Holders in the First Tranche will be used to fund the Company’s operations pursuant to the budget attached hereto
as Annex A (the “Initial Budget”). Subject to the approval of the Second Tranche Budget and the Third Tranche Budget (each defined below), the Holders
will provide up to two additional funding tranches of Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000) each, as set forth below.
1.3.2 Within fifteen (15) days prior to the exhaustion of the funds underlying the First Tranche, the Company will present the Holders with an
updated budget for their review and approval, in their sole discretion (the “Second Tranche Budget”), which budget will detail the planned use of proceeds for
a second tranche of funding under the Notes in the aggregate sum of sum of Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000) (the “Second Tranche”). Upon the
Company and the Requisite Holders (defined below) mutually agreeing upon the use of proceeds under the Second Tranche Budget, the Holders will fund the
Second Tranche, with the Holder under this Note thereupon being required to lend the Company an additional Four Hundred Seventy Three Thousand Six
Hundred Eighty Four and 21/100 Dollars ($473,684.21) of Principal hereunder (the “Second Tranche Loan Amount”). Upon the funding of the Second
Tranche Loan Amount, interest will thereafter accrue on such additional Principal balance, as set forth below in Section 2.
1.3.3 Within fifteen (15) days prior to the exhaustion of the funds underlying the Second Tranche, the Company will present the Investors with an
updated budget for their review and approval, in their sole discretion (the “Third Tranche Budget”), which budget will detail the planned use of proceeds for a
third tranche of funding under the Notes in an amount equal to in the aggregate sum of sum of Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000) (the “Third
Tranche”). Upon the Company and the Requisite Holders (defined below) mutually agreeing on the use of proceeds under the Third Tranche Budget, the
Holders will fund the Third Tranche, with the Holder under this Note thereupon being required to lend the Company an additional Four Hundred Seventy
Three Thousand Six Hundred Eighty Four and 21/100 Dollars ($473,684.21) of Principal hereunder (the “Third Tranche Loan Amount”). Upon the funding of
the Third Tranche Loan Amount, interest will thereafter accrue on such additional Principal balance, as set forth below in Section 2. For purposes of this
Note, each of the Initial Budget, the Second Tranche Budget and the Third Tranche Budget are referred to below as a “Budget.”
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2. Interest Rate. The Company further promises to pay interest on the outstanding Principal from the date hereof until payment in full, with interest
accruing from the Funding Date (defined below) with respect to each tranche at a rate of seven percent (7.0%) per annum or the maximum rate permitted by
law, whichever is less. Interest will be due and payable on the Maturity Date and will be calculated on the basis of a 360-day year for the actual number of
days elapsed. Notwithstanding the foregoing, upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, interest shall thereafter accrue at a rate of eighteen percent (18%)
per annum, or the maximum rate permitted by law, whichever is less. For purposes of this Section 2, the “Funding Date” shall mean the respective dates on
which the Company receives the First Tranche Loan Amount, the Second Tranche Loan Amount and the Third Tranche Loan Amount.
3. Prepayment. The Company may not in whole or in part prepay its obligations under this Note without the prior written consent of Holder.
4. Conversion
4.1 Series A Preferred Conversion. At the Closing, the Principal and accrued interest due under the Note will automatically convert into fully paid
shares (the “Conversion Shares”) of Series A Preferred at rate of $1,000 per share. To the extent necessary, the Company may issue fractional shares of
Series A Preferred in issuing the Conversion Shares pursuant to this Section 4.1.
4.2 Common Stock Conversion. If, as of the Maturity Date, (i) neither the Company nor the Investors have terminated the Securities Purchase
Agreement pursuant to Sections 8.01(d) or 8.01(e), respectively, and (ii) the Closing has not occurred, then, in such case, this Note will be automatically
cancelled as to 50% of the outstanding balance (i.e., Principal and accrued interest) thereof in exchange for the Company’s sale and issuance to the Investors
at such time of a number of shares of Company common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, (the “Common Stock”) constituting 51% of the outstanding
shares of Common Stock (measured on a Fully-Diluted Basis) immediately following such issuance, after giving effect to the issuance contemplated by the
Advirna Amendment. The remaining balance due under this Note will be due and payable at the Maturity Date as set forth herein. For purposes of this Note,
“Fully-Diluted Basis” includes the issued and outstanding capital stock of the Company, determined on an as-converted basis, as well as any securities
underlying outstanding options, warrants, convertible securities or future stock issuance obligations, conditional, unconditional or otherwise. In the events
described in clauses (i) and (ii), above, it is intended and agreed that the shares of Company common stock held by RXi shall constitute 44% of the
outstanding shares of Common Stock (measured on a Fully-Diluted Basis) and that the Company, RXi and the holders shall enter into a customary form of
stockholders agreement under which RXi shall be entitled to designate one or more members of the Board of Directors of the Company constituting a
minority of the members of the Board of Directors, to receive periodic financial and other information from the Company, tag-along (and drag-along) rights in
connection with proposed sales or other dispositions of capital stock of the Company, and other protective rights as a minority stockholder of the Company,
all as shall be mutually agreed upon among the Company, RXi and the holders.
4.3 Delivery of Stock Certificates, Etc.
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4.3.1 Conversion Pursuant to Section 4.1. If this Note is converted pursuant to Section 4.1, written notice will be delivered to Holder at the address
last shown on the records of the Company for Holder or given by Holder to the Company for the purpose of notice, notifying Holder of the conversion to be
effected, the principal amount of this Note to be converted, together with all accrued and unpaid interest, the date on which such conversion is expected to
occur and calling upon Holder to surrender to the Company, in the manner and at the place designated, this Note. Upon such conversion of this Note, Holder
agrees to deliver the original of this Note (or a notice to the effect that the original Note has been lost, stolen or destroyed and an agreement acceptable to the
Company whereby the Holder agrees to indemnify the Company from any loss incurred by it in connection with this Note) at the Closing for cancellation;
provided, however, that at such time, this Note will be deemed converted and of no further force and effect, whether or not it is delivered for cancellation as
set forth in this sentence. The Company will, as soon as practicable thereafter, issue and deliver to Holder a certificate or certificates for the number of shares
to which Holder will be entitled upon such conversion.
4.3.2 Conversion Pursuant to Section 4.2. If this Note is converted pursuant to Section 4.2, written notice will be delivered to Holder at the address
last shown on the records of the Company for Holder or given by Holder to the Company for the purpose of notice, notifying Holder of the conversion to be
effected, the amount of this Note to be converted (taking into account all accrued and unpaid interest), the date on which such conversion is expected to occur
and the remaining balance due under the Note. The written notice shall also call upon Holder to surrender to the Company, in the manner and at the place
designated, this Note and the remaining balance due under this Note. Upon such conversion of this Note and payment of remaining balance due, Holder
agrees to deliver the original of this Note (or a notice to the effect that the original Note has been lost, stolen or destroyed and an agreement acceptable to the
Company whereby the Holder agrees to indemnify the Company from any loss incurred by it in connection with this Note) on the Maturity Date for
cancellation; provided, however, that at such time, as long as the remaining balance due under this Note is paid in full, this Note will be deemed converted as
set forth in Section 4.2 and paid in full and of no further force and effect, whether or not it is delivered for cancellation as set forth in this sentence. The
Company will, as soon as practicable thereafter, issue and deliver to Holder a certificate or certificates for the number of shares to which Holder will be
entitled upon such conversion.
4.3.3 Any conversion of this Note pursuant to Section 4 will be deemed to have been made immediately prior to the Closing or the Maturity Date, as
applicable, and on and after such date the persons entitled to receive the shares issuable upon such conversion will be treated for all purposes as the record
Holder of such shares.
5. Default. If any of the following events (hereafter called “Events of Default”) occur:
(a) The Company makes a general assignment for the benefit of creditors;
(b) The Company files a voluntary petition in bankruptcy, or becomes insolvent or adjudicated bankrupt, or files any petition or answer seeking any
reorganization, arrangement, composition, readjustment, liquidation, dissolution or similar relief under the
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present or any future federal bankruptcy act or other applicable federal, state or other statute, law or regulation, or files any answer admitting the material
allegation of a petition filed against the Company in such proceeding, or seeks or consents to or acquiesce in the appointment of any trustee, receiver or
liquidator of the Company of all or any substantial part of the properties of the Company, or the Company commences the winding up or the dissolution or
liquidation of the Company;
(c) Within sixty (60) days after a court of competent jurisdiction has entered an order, judgment or decree approving any complaint or petition against
the Company seeking reorganization, dissolution or similar relief under the present or any future federal bankruptcy act or other applicable federal, state or
other statute, law or regulation, such order, judgment or decree has not been dismissed or stayed pending appeal, or, within sixty (60) days after the
appointment, without the consent or acquiescence of the Company, of any trustee, receiver or liquidator of the Company or of all or any substantial part of the
properties of the Company, such appointment has not been vacated or stayed pending appeal, or if, within sixty (60) days after the expiration of any such stay,
has not been vacated;
(d) The Company or RXi materially breach any representation, warranty or covenant contained in the Transaction Documents and such breach is not
cured (if it can be cured) within five (5) Business Days after the Investors provide notice of such breach;
(e) The Company’s actual aggregate expenditures with respect to any Budget exceed 105% of the aggregate budgeted amount for that time period
covered by such Budget, without the prior approval of the Investors;
(f) There is a Material Adverse Effect with respect to the Company, the Company or RXi provide written notice to the Investors that either of them will
be unable to satisfy a condition to Closing set forth in Article V of the Securities Purchase Agreement, or the Securities Purchase Agreement is terminated by
the Investors as permitted under Section 8.01(e) thereof;
(g) A final judgment or order for the payment of monetary damages or awarding injunctive relief in connection with the transactions contemplated by
the Securities Purchase Agreement is rendered against the Company and the same remains undischarged for a period of thirty (30) days during which
execution has not been effectively stayed, or any injunction, judgment, writ, assessment, warrant of attachment, or execution or similar process has been
issued or levied against a substantial part of the property of the Company, if any and such injunction, judgment, writ, or similar process is not released, stayed,
vacated or otherwise dismissed within thirty (30) days after issue or levy;
then, and in each and every such case, amounts under this Note will be forthwith due and payable, without presentation, protest or further demand or
notice of any kind, all of which are hereby expressly waived. The Company will give prompt written notice to Holder of the occurrence of any and all of the
foregoing events. In addition to the foregoing remedies, upon the occurrence and during the continuance of any Event of Default, Holder may exercise any
other right power or remedy granted to it by the Transaction Documents or otherwise permitted to it by law, either by suit in equity or by action at law, or
both.
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For the purposes of this Note, a “Business Day” means a day other than a Saturday or a Sunday on which banks are open for business in New York.
6. Payment. Unless converted into the Company’s equity securities pursuant to the terms hereof, payment will be made in lawful tender of the United
States.
7. Waiver. The Company waives presentment and demand for payment, notice of dishonor, protest and notice of protest of this Note, and will pay all costs
of collection when incurred, including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs and other expenses. The right to plead any and all statutes of
limitations as a defense to any demands hereunder is hereby waived to the fullest extent permitted by law.
8. Assignment. The rights, interests or obligations hereunder may not be assigned, by operation of law or otherwise, in whole or in part, by the Company
without the prior written consent of Holder.
9. Registration, Transfer and Replacement of the Note. This Note will be a registered Note. The Company will keep, at its principal executive office, books
for the registration and registration of transfer of this Note. Prior to presentation of any Note for registration of transfer, the Company will treat the person in
whose name such Note is registered as the owner and Holder of such Note for all purposes whatsoever, whether or not such Note will be overdue, and the
Company will not be affected by notice to the contrary. Subject to any restrictions on or conditions to transfer set forth herein, the Holder, at its option, may in
person or by duly authorized attorney surrender the same for exchange at the Company’s chief executive office, and promptly thereafter and at the Company’s
expense, except as provided below, receive in exchange therefor one new Note, in the principal requested by such holder, dated the date to which interest will
have been paid on the Note so surrendered or, if no interest will have yet been so paid, dated the date of the Note so surrendered and registered in the name of
such person or persons as will have been designated in writing by such Holder or its attorney for the same principal amount as then unpaid principal amount
of the Note so surrendered. Upon receipt by the Company of evidence reasonably satisfactory to it of the ownership of and the loss, theft, destruction or
mutilation of any Note and (a) in the case of loss, theft or destruction, of indemnity reasonably satisfactory to it; or (b) in the case of mutilation, upon
surrender thereof, the Company, at its expense, will execute and deliver in lieu thereof a new Note executed in the same manner as the Note being replaced, in
the same principal amount as the unpaid principal amount of such Note and dated the date to which interest will have been paid on such Note or, if no interest
will have yet been so paid, dated the date of such Note.
10. Governing Law; Consent to Jurisdiction. This Note and all actions arising out of or in connection with this Note will be governed by and construed in
accordance with the laws of the State of California, without regard to the conflicts of law provisions of the State of California or of any other state. Each of
the Company and the Holder (i) hereby irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the United States District Court sitting in California and the courts
of the State of California for the purposes of any suit, action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Note and (ii) hereby waives, and agrees not to
assert in any such suit, action or proceeding, any claim that it is not personally subject to the jurisdiction of such court, that the suit, action or proceeding is
brought in an inconvenient forum or that the venue of the suit, action
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or proceeding is improper. Each of the Company and the Holder consents to process being served in any such suit, action or proceeding by mailing a copy
thereof to such party at the address in effect for notices to it under the Securities Purchase Agreement and agrees that such service shall constitute good and
sufficient service of process and notice thereof. Nothing in this Section 10 shall affect or limit any right to serve process in any other manner permitted by
law. Each of the Company and the Holder hereby agree that the prevailing party in any suit, action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Note shall be
entitled to reimbursement for fees and expenses, including reasonable legal fees, from the non-prevailing party.
11. Notices. All notices and other communications required or permitted hereunder will be in writing and will be transmitted by e-mail or facsimile, or, if
sent within the United States, mailed by first-class mail, postage prepaid, to the address set forth below the recipient’s signature, or at such other address as
the recipient will have furnished to the other party in writing. All notices will be deemed effectively delivered upon transmission or mailing.
12. Amendment. No provision of the Notes may be modified or amended on behalf of all of the Holders other than by a written instrument signed by the
Company and the holders of at least a majority of the combined principal amount of the then outstanding Notes (the “Requisite Holders”); provided that if any
of the rights of the Holder under this Note are materially diminished by such waiver or amendment in a manner that is not similar in all material respects to
the effects on the Other Holders, then such waiver or amendment shall not be effective with respect to the Holder without the written consent of the Holder.
The Holder acknowledges that any amendment or modification made in compliance with this Section 12 shall be binding on all Holders of the Notes,
including, without limitation, an amendment or modification that has an adverse effect on any or all Holders. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing
provided in this Section 12 shall limit the Holder’s right to waive or amend any provision of this Note on its own behalf. No consideration shall be offered or
paid to any Holder of Notes to amend or waive or modify any provision of the Notes unless the same consideration is also offered to all of the Holders
holding Notes on the date of such amendment, waiver or modification, on a pro rata basis based upon the outstanding Principal amount of the Notes. This
provision constitutes a separate right granted to each Holder by the Company and shall not in any way be construed as the Holders acting in concert or as a
group.
13. Ranking of Notes. The obligations of the Company under the Notes shall be senior in time and right of payment to all other Indebtedness (defined
below) of the Company. Upon maturity or any Event of Default, the Holder will be entitled to receive, before any distribution or payment is made upon, or set
apart with respect to, any Indebtedness of the Company other than Indebtedness represented by the Notes, or any class of capital stock of the Company, an
amount equal to the Principal amount plus all accrued and unpaid interest thereon. For purposes of this Section 13, “Indebtedness” means (a) all obligations
for borrowed money; (b) all obligations evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes, or other similar instruments and all reimbursement or other obligations in
respect of letters of credit, bankers acceptances, current swap agreements, interest rate hedging agreements, interest rate swaps, or other financial products;
(c) all capital lease obligations; (d) all obligations or liabilities secured by a lien or encumbrance on any asset of the Company, irrespective of whether such
obligation or liability is assumed; (e) all obligations for the deferred purchase price of assets, together with trade debt and other accounts payable; (f) all
synthetic leases; (g) any obligation guaranteeing or intended to
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guarantee (whether directly or indirectly guaranteed, endorsed, co-made, discounted or sold with recourse) any of the foregoing obligations of any other
person; (h) trade debt; and (i) endorsements for collection or deposit.
14. Usury. In the event any interest is paid on this Note which is deemed to be in excess of the then legal maximum rate, then that portion of the interest
payment representing an amount in excess of the then legal maximum rate will be deemed a payment of principal and applied against the principal of this
Note.
[Signature page follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Note as of the date first set forth above.
RNCS, Inc.
By: /s/ Mark J. Ahn
Name: Mark J. Ahn, Ph.D.
Title: President and Chief Financial Officer
Agreed and Accepted:
Tang Capital Partners, LP
By: /s/ Kevin Tang
Name: Kevin Tang
Title: Managing Director

[Signature Page to Note]

Exhibit 4.2
THIS NOTE AND THE SECURITIES UNDERLYING THIS NOTE HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS
AMENDED (THE “ACT”), AND MAY NOT BE SOLD, TRANSFERRED OR ASSIGNED UNLESS COVERED BY AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION
STATEMENT UNDER THE ACT, A TRANSFER MEETING THE REQUIREMENTS OF RULE 144 OF THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION, OR AN OPINION OF COUNSEL SATISFACTORY TO THE ISSUER TO THE EFFECT THAT ANY SUCH TRANSFER IS EXEMPT
FROM SUCH REGISTRATION.
RNCS, INC.
SECURED CONVERTIBLE PROMISSORY NOTE
Up to $78,947.37

San Francisco, California
September 24, 2011

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, RNCS, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), hereby unconditionally promises to pay to the order of RTW Investments,
LLC (together with its successors and assigns, “Holder”), in lawful money of the United States of America and in immediately available funds, the principal
sum of up to Seventy Eight Thousand Nine Hundred Forty Seven and 37/100 Dollars ($78,947.37), or such lesser amount as the Company may owe Holder
hereunder, as determined in accordance with Section 1.2 (such amount, the “Principal”), together with accrued and unpaid interest thereon, each due and
payable on the date and in the manner set forth below.
This Secured Convertible Promissory Note (this “Note”) is one of a series of Secured Convertible Notes (collectively, the “Notes”) executed and delivered
in connection with that certain Securities Purchase Agreement by and among the Company and the purchasers listed on Annex I thereto (the “Investors”),
dated as of September 24, 2011 (the “Securities Purchase Agreement”). Subject to the terms and conditions of the Notes, funds will be provided to the
Company under the Notes in up to three funding tranches of Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000) each, with the first tranche to be funded concurrently
with the execution and delivery of the Notes (the “First Tranche”). The purchasers of the Notes under the Securities Purchase Agreement other than the
Holder are referred to below as the “Other Holders” and the Other Holders and the Holder are collectively referred to herein as the “Holders.” All capitalized
terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein will have the respective meanings given to them in the Securities Purchase Agreement.
1. Principal Repayment; Security.
1.1 Repayment of this Note will be made in lawful money of the United States of America to Holder at 1350 Avenue of the Americas, 28th Floor, New
York, NY 10019, or at such other place as Holder may designate in writing. Unless earlier converted pursuant to Section 4 hereof, the Principal and accrued
and unpaid interest will be due and payable in cash on the earlier to occur of (the “Maturity Date”): (i) 150 days from the date set forth above, or (ii) an Event
of Default (as defined below). This Note is secured by certain collateral of the Company and RXi (defined below) and subject to a guaranty, as described in
that certain: (a)
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Security Agreement, dated September 24, 2011, by and between the Company and Tang Capital Partners, LP as agent (the “Agent”); (b) Pledge, Assignment
and Security Agreement, dated September 24, 2011, by and between RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation, a Delaware corporation (“RXi”); and the Agent, and
(c) General Continuing Guaranty, dated September 24, 2011, by and between RXi and the Agent.
1.2 The Principal due under Section 1.1 shall be equal to: (x) Twenty Six Thousand Three Hundred Fifteen and 79/100 Dollars ($26,315.79), which
sum the Holder has lent to the Company concurrent with the execution of this Note (the “First Tranche Loan Amount”), plus (y) the Second Tranche Loan
Amount and the Third Tranche Loan Amount (each defined below), to the extent such sums are lent to the Company in accordance with Section 1.3 of this
Note.
1.3 Use of Proceeds; Additional Tranches.
1.3.1 The funds provided by the Holders in the First Tranche will be used to fund the Company’s operations pursuant to the budget attached hereto
as Annex A (the “Initial Budget”). Subject to the approval of the Second Tranche Budget and the Third Tranche Budget (each defined below), the Holders
will provide up to two additional funding tranches of Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000) each, as set forth below.
1.3.2 Within fifteen (15) days prior to the exhaustion of the funds underlying the First Tranche, the Company will present the Holders with an
updated budget for their review and approval, in their sole discretion (the “Second Tranche Budget”), which budget will detail the planned use of proceeds for
a second tranche of funding under the Notes in the aggregate sum of sum of Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000) (the “Second Tranche”). Upon the
Company and the Requisite Holders (defined below) mutually agreeing upon the use of proceeds under the Second Tranche Budget, the Holders will fund the
Second Tranche, with the Holder under this Note thereupon being required to lend the Company an additional Twenty Six Thousand Three Hundred Fifteen
and 79/100 Dollars ($26,315.79) of Principal hereunder (the “Second Tranche Loan Amount”). Upon the funding of the Second Tranche Loan Amount,
interest will thereafter accrue on such additional Principal balance, as set forth below in Section 2.
1.3.3 Within fifteen (15) days prior to the exhaustion of the funds underlying the Second Tranche, the Company will present the Investors with an
updated budget for their review and approval, in their sole discretion (the “Third Tranche Budget”), which budget will detail the planned use of proceeds for a
third tranche of funding under the Notes in an amount equal to in the aggregate sum of sum of Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000) (the “Third
Tranche”). Upon the Company and the Requisite Holders (defined below) mutually agreeing on the use of proceeds under the Third Tranche Budget, the
Holders will fund the Third Tranche, with the Holder under this Note thereupon being required to lend the Company an additional Twenty Six Thousand
Three Hundred Fifteen and 79/100 Dollars ($26,315.79) of Principal hereunder (the “Third Tranche Loan Amount”). Upon the funding of the Third Tranche
Loan Amount, interest will thereafter accrue on such additional Principal balance, as set forth below in Section 2. For purposes of this Note, each of the Initial
Budget, the Second Tranche Budget and the Third Tranche Budget are referred to below as a “Budget.”
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2. Interest Rate. The Company further promises to pay interest on the outstanding Principal from the date hereof until payment in full, with interest
accruing from the Funding Date (defined below) with respect to each tranche at a rate of seven percent (7.0%) per annum or the maximum rate permitted by
law, whichever is less. Interest will be due and payable on the Maturity Date and will be calculated on the basis of a 360-day year for the actual number of
days elapsed. Notwithstanding the foregoing, upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, interest shall thereafter accrue at a rate of eighteen percent (18%)
per annum, or the maximum rate permitted by law, whichever is less. For purposes of this Section 2, the “Funding Date” shall mean the respective dates on
which the Company receives the First Tranche Loan Amount, the Second Tranche Loan Amount and the Third Tranche Loan Amount.
3. Prepayment. The Company may not in whole or in part prepay its obligations under this Note without the prior written consent of Holder.
4. Conversion
4.1 Series A Preferred Conversion. At the Closing, the Principal and accrued interest due under the Note will automatically convert into fully paid
shares (the “Conversion Shares”) of Series A Preferred at rate of $1,000 per share. To the extent necessary, the Company may issue fractional shares of
Series A Preferred in issuing the Conversion Shares pursuant to this Section 4.1.
4.2 Common Stock Conversion. If, as of the Maturity Date, (i) neither the Company nor the Investors have terminated the Securities Purchase
Agreement pursuant to Sections 8.01(d) or 8.01(e), respectively, and (ii) the Closing has not occurred, then, in such case, this Note will be automatically
cancelled as to 50% of the outstanding balance (i.e., Principal and accrued interest) thereof in exchange for the Company’s sale and issuance to the Investors
at such time of a number of shares of Company common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, (the “Common Stock”) constituting 51% of the outstanding
shares of Common Stock (measured on a Fully-Diluted Basis) immediately following such issuance, after giving effect to the issuance contemplated by the
Advirna Amendment. The remaining balance due under this Note will be due and payable at the Maturity Date as set forth herein. For purposes of this Note,
“Fully-Diluted Basis” includes the issued and outstanding capital stock of the Company, determined on an as-converted basis, as well as any securities
underlying outstanding options, warrants, convertible securities or future stock issuance obligations, conditional, unconditional or otherwise. In the events
described in clauses (i) and (ii), above, it is intended and agreed that the shares of Company common stock held by RXi shall constitute 44% of the
outstanding shares of Common Stock (measured on a Fully-Diluted Basis) and that the Company, RXi and the holders shall enter into a customary form of
stockholders agreement under which RXi shall be entitled to designate one or more members of the Board of Directors of the Company constituting a
minority of the members of the Board of Directors, to receive periodic financial and other information from the Company, tag-along (and drag-along) rights in
connection with proposed sales or other dispositions of capital stock of the Company, and other protective rights as a minority stockholder of the Company,
all as shall be mutually agreed upon among the Company, RXi and the holders.
4.3 Delivery of Stock Certificates, Etc.
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4.3.1 Conversion Pursuant to Section 4.1. If this Note is converted pursuant to Section 4.1, written notice will be delivered to Holder at the address
last shown on the records of the Company for Holder or given by Holder to the Company for the purpose of notice, notifying Holder of the conversion to be
effected, the principal amount of this Note to be converted, together with all accrued and unpaid interest, the date on which such conversion is expected to
occur and calling upon Holder to surrender to the Company, in the manner and at the place designated, this Note. Upon such conversion of this Note, Holder
agrees to deliver the original of this Note (or a notice to the effect that the original Note has been lost, stolen or destroyed and an agreement acceptable to the
Company whereby the Holder agrees to indemnify the Company from any loss incurred by it in connection with this Note) at the Closing for cancellation;
provided, however, that at such time, this Note will be deemed converted and of no further force and effect, whether or not it is delivered for cancellation as
set forth in this sentence. The Company will, as soon as practicable thereafter, issue and deliver to Holder a certificate or certificates for the number of shares
to which Holder will be entitled upon such conversion.
4.3.2 Conversion Pursuant to Section 4.2. If this Note is converted pursuant to Section 4.2, written notice will be delivered to Holder at the address
last shown on the records of the Company for Holder or given by Holder to the Company for the purpose of notice, notifying Holder of the conversion to be
effected, the amount of this Note to be converted (taking into account all accrued and unpaid interest), the date on which such conversion is expected to occur
and the remaining balance due under the Note. The written notice shall also call upon Holder to surrender to the Company, in the manner and at the place
designated, this Note and the remaining balance due under this Note. Upon such conversion of this Note and payment of remaining balance due, Holder
agrees to deliver the original of this Note (or a notice to the effect that the original Note has been lost, stolen or destroyed and an agreement acceptable to the
Company whereby the Holder agrees to indemnify the Company from any loss incurred by it in connection with this Note) on the Maturity Date for
cancellation; provided, however, that at such time, as long as the remaining balance due under this Note is paid in full, this Note will be deemed converted as
set forth in Section 4.2 and paid in full and of no further force and effect, whether or not it is delivered for cancellation as set forth in this sentence. The
Company will, as soon as practicable thereafter, issue and deliver to Holder a certificate or certificates for the number of shares to which Holder will be
entitled upon such conversion.
4.3.3 Any conversion of this Note pursuant to Section 4 will be deemed to have been made immediately prior to the Closing or the Maturity Date, as
applicable, and on and after such date the persons entitled to receive the shares issuable upon such conversion will be treated for all purposes as the record
Holder of such shares.
5. Default. If any of the following events (hereafter called “Events of Default”) occur:
(a) The Company makes a general assignment for the benefit of creditors;
(b) The Company files a voluntary petition in bankruptcy, or becomes insolvent or adjudicated bankrupt, or files any petition or answer seeking any
reorganization, arrangement, composition, readjustment, liquidation, dissolution or similar relief under the
4

present or any future federal bankruptcy act or other applicable federal, state or other statute, law or regulation, or files any answer admitting the material
allegation of a petition filed against the Company in such proceeding, or seeks or consents to or acquiesce in the appointment of any trustee, receiver or
liquidator of the Company of all or any substantial part of the properties of the Company, or the Company commences the winding up or the dissolution or
liquidation of the Company;
(c) Within sixty (60) days after a court of competent jurisdiction has entered an order, judgment or decree approving any complaint or petition against
the Company seeking reorganization, dissolution or similar relief under the present or any future federal bankruptcy act or other applicable federal, state or
other statute, law or regulation, such order, judgment or decree has not been dismissed or stayed pending appeal, or, within sixty (60) days after the
appointment, without the consent or acquiescence of the Company, of any trustee, receiver or liquidator of the Company or of all or any substantial part of the
properties of the Company, such appointment has not been vacated or stayed pending appeal, or if, within sixty (60) days after the expiration of any such stay,
has not been vacated;
(d) The Company or RXi materially breach any representation, warranty or covenant contained in the Transaction Documents and such breach is not
cured (if it can be cured) within five (5) Business Days after the Investors provide notice of such breach;
(e) The Company’s actual aggregate expenditures with respect to any Budget exceed 105% of the aggregate budgeted amount for that time period
covered by such Budget, without the prior approval of the Investors;
(f) There is a Material Adverse Effect with respect to the Company, the Company or RXi provide written notice to the Investors that either of them will
be unable to satisfy a condition to Closing set forth in Article V of the Securities Purchase Agreement, or the Securities Purchase Agreement is terminated by
the Investors as permitted under Section 8.01(e) thereof;
(g) A final judgment or order for the payment of monetary damages or awarding injunctive relief in connection with the transactions contemplated by
the Securities Purchase Agreement is rendered against the Company and the same remains undischarged for a period of thirty (30) days during which
execution has not been effectively stayed, or any injunction, judgment, writ, assessment, warrant of attachment, or execution or similar process has been
issued or levied against a substantial part of the property of the Company, if any and such injunction, judgment, writ, or similar process is not released, stayed,
vacated or otherwise dismissed within thirty (30) days after issue or levy;
then, and in each and every such case, amounts under this Note will be forthwith due and payable, without presentation, protest or further demand or
notice of any kind, all of which are hereby expressly waived. The Company will give prompt written notice to Holder of the occurrence of any and all of the
foregoing events. In addition to the foregoing remedies, upon the occurrence and during the continuance of any Event of Default, Holder may exercise any
other right power or remedy granted to it by the Transaction Documents or otherwise permitted to it by law, either by suit in equity or by action at law, or
both.
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For the purposes of this Note, a “Business Day” means a day other than a Saturday or a Sunday on which banks are open for business in New York.
6. Payment. Unless converted into the Company’s equity securities pursuant to the terms hereof, payment will be made in lawful tender of the United
States.
7. Waiver. The Company waives presentment and demand for payment, notice of dishonor, protest and notice of protest of this Note, and will pay all costs
of collection when incurred, including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs and other expenses. The right to plead any and all statutes of
limitations as a defense to any demands hereunder is hereby waived to the fullest extent permitted by law.
8. Assignment. The rights, interests or obligations hereunder may not be assigned, by operation of law or otherwise, in whole or in part, by the Company
without the prior written consent of Holder.
9. Registration, Transfer and Replacement of the Note. This Note will be a registered Note. The Company will keep, at its principal executive office, books
for the registration and registration of transfer of this Note. Prior to presentation of any Note for registration of transfer, the Company will treat the person in
whose name such Note is registered as the owner and Holder of such Note for all purposes whatsoever, whether or not such Note will be overdue, and the
Company will not be affected by notice to the contrary. Subject to any restrictions on or conditions to transfer set forth herein, the Holder, at its option, may in
person or by duly authorized attorney surrender the same for exchange at the Company’s chief executive office, and promptly thereafter and at the Company’s
expense, except as provided below, receive in exchange therefor one new Note, in the principal requested by such holder, dated the date to which interest will
have been paid on the Note so surrendered or, if no interest will have yet been so paid, dated the date of the Note so surrendered and registered in the name of
such person or persons as will have been designated in writing by such Holder or its attorney for the same principal amount as then unpaid principal amount
of the Note so surrendered. Upon receipt by the Company of evidence reasonably satisfactory to it of the ownership of and the loss, theft, destruction or
mutilation of any Note and (a) in the case of loss, theft or destruction, of indemnity reasonably satisfactory to it; or (b) in the case of mutilation, upon
surrender thereof, the Company, at its expense, will execute and deliver in lieu thereof a new Note executed in the same manner as the Note being replaced, in
the same principal amount as the unpaid principal amount of such Note and dated the date to which interest will have been paid on such Note or, if no interest
will have yet been so paid, dated the date of such Note.
10. Governing Law; Consent to Jurisdiction. This Note and all actions arising out of or in connection with this Note will be governed by and construed in
accordance with the laws of the State of California, without regard to the conflicts of law provisions of the State of California or of any other state. Each of
the Company and the Holder (i) hereby irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the United States District Court sitting in California and the courts
of the State of California for the purposes of any suit, action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Note and (ii) hereby waives, and agrees not to
assert in any such suit, action or proceeding, any claim that it is not personally subject to the jurisdiction of such court, that the suit, action or proceeding is
brought in an inconvenient forum or that the venue of the suit, action
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or proceeding is improper. Each of the Company and the Holder consents to process being served in any such suit, action or proceeding by mailing a copy
thereof to such party at the address in effect for notices to it under the Securities Purchase Agreement and agrees that such service shall constitute good and
sufficient service of process and notice thereof. Nothing in this Section 10 shall affect or limit any right to serve process in any other manner permitted by
law. Each of the Company and the Holder hereby agree that the prevailing party in any suit, action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Note shall be
entitled to reimbursement for fees and expenses, including reasonable legal fees, from the non-prevailing party.
11. Notices. All notices and other communications required or permitted hereunder will be in writing and will be transmitted by e-mail or facsimile, or, if
sent within the United States, mailed by first-class mail, postage prepaid, to the address set forth below the recipient’s signature, or at such other address as
the recipient will have furnished to the other party in writing. All notices will be deemed effectively delivered upon transmission or mailing.
12. Amendment. No provision of the Notes may be modified or amended on behalf of all of the Holders other than by a written instrument signed by the
Company and the holders of at least a majority of the combined principal amount of the then outstanding Notes (the “Requisite Holders”); provided that if any
of the rights of the Holder under this Note are materially diminished by such waiver or amendment in a manner that is not similar in all material respects to
the effects on the Other Holders, then such waiver or amendment shall not be effective with respect to the Holder without the written consent of the Holder.
The Holder acknowledges that any amendment or modification made in compliance with this Section 12 shall be binding on all Holders of the Notes,
including, without limitation, an amendment or modification that has an adverse effect on any or all Holders. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing
provided in this Section 12 shall limit the Holder’s right to waive or amend any provision of this Note on its own behalf. No consideration shall be offered or
paid to any Holder of Notes to amend or waive or modify any provision of the Notes unless the same consideration is also offered to all of the Holders
holding Notes on the date of such amendment, waiver or modification, on a pro rata basis based upon the outstanding Principal amount of the Notes. This
provision constitutes a separate right granted to each Holder by the Company and shall not in any way be construed as the Holders acting in concert or as a
group.
13. Ranking of Notes. The obligations of the Company under the Notes shall be senior in time and right of payment to all other Indebtedness (defined
below) of the Company. Upon maturity or any Event of Default, the Holder will be entitled to receive, before any distribution or payment is made upon, or set
apart with respect to, any Indebtedness of the Company other than Indebtedness represented by the Notes, or any class of capital stock of the Company, an
amount equal to the Principal amount plus all accrued and unpaid interest thereon. For purposes of this Section 13, “Indebtedness” means (a) all obligations
for borrowed money; (b) all obligations evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes, or other similar instruments and all reimbursement or other obligations in
respect of letters of credit, bankers acceptances, current swap agreements, interest rate hedging agreements, interest rate swaps, or other financial products;
(c) all capital lease obligations; (d) all obligations or liabilities secured by a lien or encumbrance on any asset of the Company, irrespective of whether such
obligation or liability is assumed; (e) all obligations for the deferred purchase price of assets, together with trade debt and other accounts payable; (f) all
synthetic leases; (g) any obligation guaranteeing or intended to
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guarantee (whether directly or indirectly guaranteed, endorsed, co-made, discounted or sold with recourse) any of the foregoing obligations of any other
person; (h) trade debt; and (i) endorsements for collection or deposit.
14. Usury. In the event any interest is paid on this Note which is deemed to be in excess of the then legal maximum rate, then that portion of the interest
payment representing an amount in excess of the then legal maximum rate will be deemed a payment of principal and applied against the principal of this
Note.
[Signature page follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Note as of the date first set forth above.
RNCS, Inc.
By: /s/ Mark J. Ahn
Name: Mark J. Ahn, Ph.D.
Title: President and Chief Financial Officer
Agreed and Accepted:
RTW Investments, LLC
By: /s/ Roderick Wong
Name: Roderick Wong
Title: Managing Member

[Signature Page to Note]

Exhibit 10.3
Text Marked By [* * *] Has Been Omitted Pursuant To A Request For Confidential Treatment And Was
Filed Separately With The Securities And Exchange Commission.
RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation
One Innovation Drive
Worcester, MA 01605
Attention: Tod Woolf, President and CEO
Re: Patent Rights Based On Certain Patent Applications To Be Filed Claiming The Benefit Of One Or More Of USSN 10/940892, 10/7 14333, 60/502050
and 60/426 137
Ladies and Gentlemen:
In connection with the future filing of U.S. patent applications by Dharmacon, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Dharmacon”) claiming the benefit of one or
more of U.S. applications 10/940892, 10/714333, 60/502050 and 60/426137 (the ‘Priority Applications”), Dharmacon and RXi agree as follows:
1.

RXi shall pay Dharmacon $150,000 as a non-refundable (except if the 12 applications are not able to be filed, the pro rata amount shall be
refundable) fee within 30 days of the signing of this letter. The $150,000 shall be credited towards the $[***] fee per application filed between
October 24, 2007 and October 31, 2007 that meets the criteria of paragraph 3, below. RXi shall pay Dharmacon a further non-refundable fee of
$[***] per additional (beyond the first 12 cited above) application filed between October 24, 2007 and October 31, 2007 that meets the criteria of
paragraph 3, below, payable within thirty (30) days of RXi’s receipt of notice of the filing of the respective First Round Application. If it comes to
pass that the U S Patent And Trademark Office allows claims to additional gene targets to be filed and prosecuted subsequent to Nov 1st 2007, then
RXi shall have the right to add additional human gene targets under the terms of this agreement for an initial fee of $[***] per additional human
gene target for the First Round Application as specified herein and under the additional terms and restrictions set forth in this agreement.

2.

At or before 3 PM MDT on October 26, 2007, RXi shall transmit to Dharmacon a list of no more than fifty (50) proposed human gene targets (by
name and NCBI accession number) in priority ranking order. Dharmacon shall promptly inform RXi which of the proposed gene targets are
excluded because of Dharmacon commitments to third

parties (“Excluded Targets”) or because Dharmacon has already filed, prior to October 24, 2007, a U S patent application claiming priority from one
or more of the Priority Applications directed to sequences for silencing that human gene target (“Already Filed Targets”).
3.

For each human gene target proposed by RXi which is not an Excluded Target or an Already Filed Target, Dharmacon shall use commercially
reasonable efforts (following RXi’s prioritization) to file a target-specific application before November 1, 2007 directed at multiple sequences
disclosed, but not claimed, in at least one of the Priority Applications. Dharmacon shall report promptly to RXi which such patent applications (First
Round Applications) have been filed and, for each, the serial number and filing date. After Dharmacon’s receipt of the $[***] fee per First Round
Application, Dharmacon shall transmit to RXi a copy of the respective First Round Application Information transmitted by either party to the other
under Paragraphs 2 and 3 shall be subject to an obligation of non-disclosure in effect until December 31, 2008, excluding that which is in the public
domain, but otherwise shall be without obligation except as expressly provided in this agreement.

4.

Each human gene target on which a First Round Application has been filed shall remain subject to the following terms so long as the First Round
Application and any divisional or continuation of that First Round Application remains pending or, if issued, remains in force, provided, however,
that RXi may remove any First Round Application (and the associated human gene target) from the coverage of these terms by thirty days notice to
Dharmacon.

5.

So long as a human gene target is subject to these terms, RXi shall promptly reimburse Dharmacon for: (a) any and all out-of-pocket expenses
(including outside attorney fees and USPTO fees) associated with the prosecution (but not filing which would have already been paid as part of the
fees specified above) of each respective First Round Application and (b) any and all out-of-pocket expenses (including outside attorneys fees and
USPTO fees) associated with the filing and prosecution of each divisional or continuation of each respective First Round Application which RXi
either proposes (and Dharmacon accepts) or which Dharmacon proposes (and RXi accepts). Neither party shall be obligated to file or support more
than three pending applications at any one time on the same human gene target.

6.

So long as a human gene target is subject to these terms, RXi shall have a non-exclusive license under the respective First Round Application and all
continuations and divisionals of it to make, use and sell siRNA (defined herein as RNAi having a duplexed region shorter than 25 nucleotides)
compositions and methods for all purposes including, without limitation, research, diagnostics, the development of therapeutics (subject to the
progress payments of Paragraph 10) and therapeutics compositions and methods (subject to the progress payments of Paragraph 10 having been
paid). Each such license shall be without the right to sublicense or assign, except as provided in paragraphs 8 and 9, below. Furthermore, so long as a
human gene target is subject to these terms, RXi shall have an exclusive license

under the respective First Round Application and all continuations and divisionals of it to make, use and sell RNAi compositions and methods for
RNAi compounds having a duplexed region 25 nucleotides or longer that cleave the respective target mRNA and specifically excludes antigomers,
for all purposes including, without limitation, research, diagnostics, the development of therapeutics (subject to the progress payments of
Paragraph 10) and therapeutics compositions and methods (subject to the progress payments of Paragraph 10 having been paid); provided, however,
that for RNAi compounds having a duplexed region of 25 nucleotides or longer, Dharmacon reserves a non-exclusive right to make, use and sell for
research purposes. Each such license shall be without the right to sublicense or assign, except as provided in paragraphs 8 and 9, below.
7.

Dharmacon shall consult with, and give reasonable consideration to the comments and recommendations of RXi in the prosecution of each First
Round Application subject to this agreement and in the selection, filing and prosecution of divisional applications and continuation applications
claiming priority from each such First Round Application (“Subsequent Round Applications”). To the extent that RXi has made a progress payment
under paragraph 10 with respect to a particular sequence which is within the scope of a First Round Application as filed which has been subject to a
restriction requirement, Dharmacon shall either (after consultation with RXi) elect a species which covers RXi’s sequence of interest or, if the period
for such election has passed, file a divisional application directed to a species which covers RXi’s sequence of interest.

8.

RXi may not sublicense any rights under this agreement to any third party, except for the limited purpose of evaluating siRNA composition made by
RXi for possible acquisition of rights consistent with the terms of paragraph 9, below.

9.

RXi may not assign its rights under this agreement to any third party (including without limitation, a change of control in RXi), in whole or in part,
except:
a.

With respect to a particular human gene target which is subject to this Agreement, RXi may assign its license rights to a third party upon paying
Dharmacon a non-refundable, non-creditable fee of [***], provided that RXi shall remain liable (along with the third party assignee) to
reimburse Dharmacon for patent filing and prosecution costs unless and until Dharmacon is notified by RXi that the license rights with respect
to that human gene target have been terminated.

b.

With respect to all of RXi’s license rights (excluding those assigned to other third parties under subparagraph 9(a)), RXi may assign all of its
rights hereunder in case of a merger or acquisition of its RNAi therapeutics program to a single third party (or such rights may survive a change
of control in RXi).

c.

If such merger or acquisition involves payment to RXi or RXi shareholders of $[***] or more by a company worth [***] dollars or more, RXi
pays Dharmacon $[***].

10. If RXi or a permitted assignee under subparagraph 9(a) or 9(b) achieves any of the following milestones with respect to the therapeutic development
of an siRNA composition covered by any of: a) a First Round Application as filed or b) a pending continuation or division of a First Round
Application or c) any patent issuing on either, then Dharmacon shall be paid the milestone payment indicated below (for which RXi shall remain
responsible, jointly and severally with the permitted assignee unless Dharmacon has expressly accepted the assignee as solely responsible):
a.

Approval of IND or equivalent $[***]

b.

First dosing in a Phase II study $[***]

c.

First dosing in a Phase III study $[***]

d.

Regulatory approval (USA) $[***]

e.

Regulatory approval (EU) $[***]

Each of milestone payments (a) through (e) shall be payable only once per therapeutic indication for any particular human gene target.
11. For sales of siRNA compositions covered by a claim of an issued patent in the country of manufacture, use or sale, RXi and its permitted assignee
shall pay Dharmacon a royalty of [***] percent ([***]%) of Net Sales (subject to standard definitions) for an exclusive license or [***] percent
([***]%) for a non-exclusive license. RXi shall be permitted to downgrade to a nonexclusive license at it sole discretion.
12. Upon payment of either Regulatory Approval milestone payment with respect to a particular human gene target and indication, RXi or its permitted
assignee may notify Dharmacon which particular sequence (among those disclosed in the respective First Round Application) is the basis for the
approval and, then and only then, the licenses provided in this Agreement shall become exclusive for nucleic acids compositions containing that
sequence, directed against that human gene target for that clinical indication (subject to whatever rights Dharmacon may have granted to third
parties during the period of non-exclusivity). Within the scope of such exclusivity, RXi or the permitted licensee shall have the right to participate (at
its own expense) in any enforcement of Dharmacon’s patent rights on such basis as the parties then reasonably determine.

13. No license is granted by either party to the other under any invention, patent application or patent, nor are any rights granted by either party to the
other expressly or by implication with respect to any trade secret or other propriety right by virtue of this Letter Agreement.
14. While the parties shall negotiate in good faith a restated License Agreement to memorialize the terms of this Letter Agreement in greater detail, it is
the intention of the parties that this Letter Agreement be a binding agreement, enforceable as of October 26, 2007 (the “Effective Date”). The parties
may address, but undertake no obligation to address intellectual property in the License Agreement which is not addressed in this Letter Agreement.
15. This Letter Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts irrespective of
conflict of laws principles. Any legal action that arises out of or in connection with its provisions shall be brought solely in the Superior Court of
Suffolk County, Massachusetts unless subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of federal courts, in which event it shall be brought in the federal district
of Massachusetts.
16. This letter agreement may be executed via facsimile or electronic means, and each fully-signed copy exchanged by the parties shall be deemed to be
an original of the same instrument and agreement.
Dharmacon, Inc.
By: /s/ Mitchell Kennedy
Mitchell Kennedy, General Manager
Date: October 29, 2007
RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation
By: /s/ Tod Woolf
Tod Woolf, Ph.D.
President and CEO

Exhibit 10.4
Text Marked By [* * *] Has Been Omitted Pursuant To A Request For Confidential Treatment And Was
Filed Separately With The Securities And Exchange Commission.
NON-EXCLUSIVE LICENSE AGREEMENT
This Agreement, effective as of April 15, 2003 (the “Effective Date”), is between the University of Massachusetts Medical School (“Medical School”), a
public institution of higher education of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts having an address of 55 Lake Avenue North, Worcester, MA 01655 and CytRx
Corporation (“Company”), a Delaware corporation having an address of 11726 San Vicente Blvd., Suite 650, Los Angeles, CA 90049.
RECITALS
WHEREAS, Medical School is owner by assignment of the invention claimed in the United States Patent Application listed in Exhibit A pertaining to the
Medical School’s invention disclosure number UMMC 01-36 entitled RNA Sequence-Specific Mediators of RNA Interference;
WHEREAS, Company desires to obtain a non-exclusive license in the field of therapeutics limited to the narrowed fields of other Medical School license
agreements; specifically, using RNAi to inhibit HCMV Immediate Early (IE) gene expression in Retinitis applications, using RNAi to inhibit mutant SOD1
gene expression in Amytrophic Lateral Sclerosis (ALS) applications, and using RNAi to inhibit gene targets implicated in Type II Diabetes and Obesity under
the rights of Medical School in any patent rights claiming those inventions; and
WHEREAS, Medical School is willing to grant Company a non-exclusive license on the terms set forth in this Agreement.
NOW, THEREFORE, Medical School and Company hereby agree as follows:
1. Definitions.
1.1. “Affiliate” means any legal entity (such as a corporation, partnership, or limited liability company) that is controlled by Company. For the purposes
of this definition, the term “control” means (a) beneficial ownership of at least fifty percent (50%) of the voting securities of a corporation or other business
organization with voting securities or (b) a fifty percent (50%) or greater interest in the net assets or profits of a partnership or other business organization
without voting securities.
1.2. “Biological Materials” means the tangible biological materials described on Exhibit A, as well as tangible materials that are routinely produced
through use of the original materials, including, for example, any progeny derived from a cell line, monoclonal antibodies produced by hybridoma cells, DNA
or RNA replicated from isolated DNA or RNA, recombinant proteins produced through use of isolated DNA or RNA, and substances routinely purified from
a source material included in the original materials (such as recombinant proteins isolated from a cell extract or supernatant by non-proprietary affinity
purification methods). These Biological

Materials shall be listed on Exhibit A, which will be periodically amended to include any additional Biological Materials that Medical School may furnish to
Company.
1.3. “Combination Product” means a product that contains a Licensed Product component and at least one other essential functional component.
1.4. “Confidential Information” means any confidential or proprietary information furnished by one party (the “Disclosing Party”) to the other party
(the “Receiving Party”) in connection with this Agreement, provided that such information is specifically designated as confidential. Such Confidential
Information shall include, without limitation, any diligence reports furnished to Medical School under Section 3.1 and royalty reports furnished to Medical
School under Section 5.2.
1.5. “Field” means therapeutics, prophylactics, and diagnostics arising from the limited use of RNAi to inhibit HCMV Immediate Early (IE) gene
expression in Retinitis applications, using RNAi to inhibit mutant SOD1 gene expression in Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (ALS) applications, and using
RNAi to inhibit gene targets implicated in Type II Diabetes and Obesity.
1.6. “Licensed Product” means any product that cannot be developed, manufactured, used, or sold without (a) infringing one or more claims under the
Patent Rights or (b) using or incorporating some portion of one or more Biological Materials.
1.7. “Net Sales” means the gross amount billed or invoiced on sales by Company and its Affiliates and Sublicensees of Licensed Products, less the
following: (a) customary trade, quantity, or cash discounts and commissions to non-affiliated brokers or agents to the extent actually allowed and taken;
(b) amounts repaid or credited by reason of rejection or return; (c) to the extent separately stated on purchase orders, invoices, or other documents of sale, any
taxes or other governmental charges levied on the production, sale, transportation, delivery, or use of a Licensed Product which is paid by or on behalf of
Company; (d) outbound transportation costs prepaid or allowed and costs of insurance in transit; and (e) allowance for bad debt that is customary and
reasonable for the industry and in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 1.7, Net
Sales does not include sales of Licensed Products at or below the fully burdened cost of manufacturing solely for research or clinical testing or for indigent or
similar public support or compassionate use programs.
In any transfers of Licensed Products between Company and an Affiliate or Sublicensee, Net Sales shall be calculated based on the final sale of the
Licensed Product to an independent third party. In the event that Company or an Affiliate or Sublicensee receives non-monetary consideration for any
Licensed Products, Net Sales shall be calculated based on the fair market value of such consideration.
In the case of Combination Products, Net Sales means the gross amount billed or invoiced on sales of the Combination Product less the deductions set
forth above, multiplied by a proration factor that is determined as follows:
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(i) If all components of the Combination Product were sold separately during the same or immediately preceding Royalty Period, the proration
factor shall be determined by the formula [A / (A+B)], where A is the aggregate gross sales price of all Licensed Product components during such period
when sold separately from the other essential functional components, and B is the aggregate gross sales price of the other essential functional components
during such period when sold separately from the Licensed Product Components; or
(ii) If all components of the Combination Product were not sold separately during the same or immediately preceding Royalty Period, the
proration factor shall be determined by the formula [C / (C+D)], where C is the aggregate fully absorbed cost of the Licensed Product components during the
prior Royalty Period and D is the aggregate fully absorbed cost of the other essential functional components during the prior Royalty Period, with such costs
being determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
1.8. “Patent Rights” means the U.S. patent applications listed on Exhibit A, and any divisional, continuation, or continuation-in-part of such patent
applications to the extent the claims are directed to subject matter specifically described therein, as well as any patent issued thereon and any reissue or
reexamination of such patent, and any foreign counterparts to such patents and patent applications. Exhibit A shall be periodically amended to include any
additional Patent Rights that may arise. “Medical School Patent Rights” means Patent Rights assigned to the Medical School and the joint owners
Massachusetts Institute of Technology, the Whitehead Institute for Biomedical Research, and Max-Planck-Gesellschaft Zur Foerderung Der Wissenschaften
E.V.
1.9. “Royalty Period” means the partial calendar quarter commencing on the date on which the first Licensed Product is sold or used every complete or
partial calendar quarter thereafter during which either (a) this Agreement remains in effect or (b) Company has the right to complete and sell work-in-progress
and inventory of Licensed Products pursuant to Section 6.5.
1.10. “Sublicensee” means any permitted sublicensee of the rights granted Company under this Agreement, as further described in Section 2.2.
1.11. “Sublicense Income” means any payments that Company receives from a Sublicensee in consideration of the sublicense of the rights granted
Company under Section 2.1, including without limitation license fees, royalties, milestone payments, and license maintenance fees, but excluding the
following payments: (a) payments made in consideration for the issuance of equity or debt securities of Company at fair market value, and (b) payments
specifically committed to the development of Licensed Products.
2. Grant of Rights.
2.1. Subject to the terms of this Agreement, Medical School hereby grants to Company and its Affiliates a non-exclusive, worldwide, royalty-bearing
license (with the right to sublicense) under its commercial rights in the Patent Rights and Biological Materials to develop, make, have made, use, and sell
Licensed Products in the Field.
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2.2. Sublicenses. Company shall have the right to grant sublicenses of its rights under Section 2.1 with the consent of Medical School, which consent
shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. All sublicense agreements executed by Company pursuant to this Article 2 shall expressly bind the
Sublicensee to the terms of this. Company shall promptly furnish Medical School with a fully executed copy of any such sublicense agreement.
3. Company Obligations Relating to Commercialization.
3.1. Diligence Requirements. Company shall use diligent efforts or shall cause its Affiliates or Sublicensees to use diligent efforts to develop Licensed
Products and to introduce Licensed Products into the commercial market; thereafter, Company or its Affiliates or Sublicensees shall make Licensed Products
reasonably available to the public. Specifically, Company or its Affiliates or Sublicensees shall fulfill the following obligations:
(a) Within ninety (90) days after the Effective Date, Company shall furnish Medical School with a written research and development plan under
which Company intends to develop Licensed Products.
(b) Within sixty (60) days after each anniversary of the Effective Date, Company shall furnish Medical School with a written report on the progress
of its efforts during the prior year to develop and commercialize Licensed Products, including without limitation research and development efforts, efforts to
obtain regulatory approval, marketing efforts, and sales figures. The report shall also contain a discussion of intended efforts and sales projections for the
current year.
(c) Company shall endeavor to obtain all necessary governmental approvals for the manufacture, use and sale of Combination Product and Licensed
Product. Specifically, Company shall:
(i) Within eight (8) years after the Effective Date, file an Investigational New Drug Application (“IND”) or its equivalent covering at least one
Combination Product or Licensed Product with the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”);
(ii) Within thirteen (13) years after the Effective Date, file a New Drug Application (“NDA”) with the FDA covering at least one Combination
Product or Licensed Product;
(iii) Within eighteen (18) months after receiving FDA approval of the NDA for a Combination Product or Licensed Product, market at least one
Combination Product or Licensed Product in the U.S.; and
(iv) reasonably fill the market demand for any Combination Product or Licensed Product following commencement of marketing of such product
at any time during the exclusive period of this Agreement.
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(d) Within eighteen (18) months after the Effective Date, Company shall successfully undertake a public or private offering of raising ten million
dollars ($10,000,000).
(e) In addition to the obligations set forth above, Company or its Affiliates or Sublicensees shall spend (either directly or through sponsored research
by Company or its Affiliates or Sublicensees at the Medical School) an aggregate of not less than [* * *] per calendar year for the development of
Combination Product and/or Licensed Product commencing with the year 2004.
Company shall have the responsibility to finance its obligations in this Section 3.1, and the Medical School shall provide reasonable cooperation to
Company in this regard. In the event that Medical School determines that Company (or an Affiliate or Sublicensee) has not fulfilled its obligations under this
Section 3.1, Medical School shall furnish Company with written notice of such determination. Within sixty (60) days after receipt of such notice, Company
shall either (i) fulfill the relevant obligation or (ii) negotiate with Medical School a mutually acceptable schedule of revised diligence obligations, failing
which Medical School shall have the right, immediately upon written notice to Company, to terminate this Agreement.
3.2. Indemnification.
(a) Indemnity. Company shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless Medical School and its trustees, officers, faculty, students, employees, and
agents and their respective successors, heirs and assigns (the “Indemnitees”), against any liability, damage, loss, or expense (including reasonable attorneys
fees and expenses of litigation) incurred by or imposed upon any of the Indemnitees in connection with any claims, suits, actions, demands or judgments
arising out of any theory of liability (including without limitation actions in the form of tort, warranty, or strict liability and regardless of whether such action
has any factual basis) concerning any product, process, or service that is made, used, or sold pursuant to any right or license granted under this Agreement;
provided, however, that such indemnification shall not apply to any liability, damage, loss, or expense to the extent directly attributable to (i) the negligent
activities or intentional misconduct of the Indemnitees or (ii) the settlement of a claim, suit, action, or demand by Indemnitees without the prior written
approval of Company.
(b) Procedures. The Indemnitees agree to provide Company with prompt written notice of any claim, suit, action, demand, or judgment for which
indemnification is sought under this Agreement. Company agrees, at its own expense, to provide attorneys reasonably acceptable to Medical School to defend
against any such claim. The Indemnitees shall cooperate fully with Company in such defense and will permit Company to conduct and control such defense
and the disposition of such claim, suit, or action (including all decisions relative to litigation, appeal, and settlement); provided, however, that any Indemnitee
shall have the right to retain its own counsel, at the expense of Company, if representation of such Indemnitee by the counsel retained by Company would be
inappropriate because of actual or potential differences in the interests of such Indemnitee and any other party represented by such counsel. Company agrees
to keep Medical School informed of the progress in the defense and disposition of such claim and to consult with Medical School with regard to any proposed
settlement.
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(c) Insurance. Company shall maintain insurance or self-insurance that is reasonably adequate to fulfill any potential obligation to the Indemnitees,
but in any event not less than one million dollars ($1,000,000) for injuries to any one person arising out of a single occurrence and five million dollars
($5,000,000) for injuries to all persons arising out of a single occurrence. Company shall provide Medical School, upon request, with written evidence of such
insurance or self-insurance. Company shall continue to maintain such insurance or self-insurance after the expiration or termination of this Agreement during
any period in which Company or any Affiliate or Sublicensee continues to make, use, or sell a product that was a Licensed Product under this Agreement and
thereafter for a period of two (2) years.
3.3. Use of Medical School Name. In accordance with Section 6.3, Company and its Affiliates and Sublicensees shall not use the name “University of
Massachusetts Medical School” or any variation of that name in connection with the marketing or sale of any Licensed Products.
3.4. Marking of Licensed Products. To the extent commercially feasible and consistent with prevailing business practices, Company shall mark, and
shall cause its Affiliates and Sublicensees to mark, all Licensed Products that are manufactured or sold under this Agreement with the number of each issued
patent under the Patent Rights that applies to such Licensed Product.
3.5. Compliance with Law. Company shall comply with, and shall ensure that its Affiliates and Sublicensees comply with, all local, state, federal, and
international laws and regulations relating to the development, manufacture, use, and sale of Licensed Products. Company expressly agrees to comply with
the following:
(a) Company or its Affiliates and Sublicensees shall obtain all necessary approvals from the United States Food & Drug Administration and any
similar governmental authorities of any foreign jurisdiction in which Company or an Affiliate or Sublicensee intends to make, use, or sell Licensed Products.
(b) Company and its Affiliates and Sublicensees shall comply with all United States laws and regulations controlling the export of certain
commodities and technical data, including without limitation all Export Administration Regulations of the United States Department of Commerce. Among
other things, these laws and regulations prohibit, or require a license for, the export of certain types of commodities and technical data to specified countries.
Company hereby gives written assurance that it will comply with, and will cause its Affiliates and Sublicensees to comply with, all United States export
control laws and regulations, that it bears sole responsibility for any violation of such laws and regulations by itself or its Affiliates and Sublicensees, and that
it will indemnify, defend, and hold Medical School harmless (in accordance with Section 3.1) for the consequences of any such violation.
4. Consideration for Grant of Rights.
4.1. License Fee. In partial consideration of the rights granted Company under this Agreement, Company shall pay to Medical School, within thirty
(30) days after the Effective Date, (a) a license fee of [* * *], and (b) a payment in the amount of [* * *] to reimburse Medical
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School for its actual expenses incurred as of January 31, 2003 in connection with obtaining the Patent Rights. These license fee payments are nonrefundable
and are not creditable against any other payments due to Medical School under this Agreement.
4.2. Equity. In partial consideration of the license granted to Company under this Agreement, on or about April 18, 2003, Company shall issue to
Medical School a total number of shares of Common Stock of Company, ($.01 par value per share) equal to [* * *] of the outstanding shares of Company.
Company shall register the shares that are issued to the Medical School within ninety (90) days after their issuance and those shares will then be unrestricted.
4.3. License Maintenance Fee. Beginning on the anniversary of the Effective Date, and in each calendar year during the term of the Agreement,
Company shall pay to Medical School [* * *]. This annual license maintenance fee is nonrefundable and is not creditable against any other payments due to
Medical School under this Agreement.
4.4. Royalties. In partial consideration of the rights granted Company under this Agreement, Company shall pay to Medical School a royalty of [* * *]
of Net Sales of Licensed Products by Company and its Affiliates.
(a) If there is a competing product in the marketplace, no royalties are due for a Licensed Product that is within the definition of “Licensed Product”
because it uses or incorporates only Biological Materials.
(b) If during the Royalty Period, patents under the Patent Rights have expired or have been abandoned in a particular country, (i) no royalty is
payable by Company, if there is a competing product in that country, and (ii) if Company reduces its prices for Licensed Products in that country, even if there
is no competing product in that country, Company and Medical School shall negotiate in good faith a reduction in the royalty rate to reflect the reduction in
Company’s gross margins caused by the price reduction.
(c) Company shall pay Medical School [* * *] of Net Sales of commercial clinical laboratory services by Company and its Affiliates.
4.5. Minimum Royalty. At the beginning of each calendar year during the term of this Agreement, beginning January 1, 2016, Company shall pay to
Medical School a minimum royalty of [* * *]. If the actual royalty payments to Medical School in any calendar year are less than the minimum royalty
payment required for that year, Company shall have the right to pay Medical School the difference between the actual royalty payment and the minimum
royalty payment in full satisfaction of its obligations under this Section, provided such minimum payment is made to Medical School within sixty (60) days
after the conclusion of the calendar year. Waiver of any minimum royalty payment by Medical School shall not be construed as a waiver of any subsequent
minimum royalty payment. If Company fails to make any minimum royalty payment within the sixty-day period, such failure shall constitute a material
breach of its obligations under this Agreement, and Medical School shall have the right to terminate this Agreement in accordance with Section 7.3.
4.6. Third-Party Royalties. If Company is legally required to make royalty payments to Medical School under any agreement other than this Agreement
(the “Other
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Medical School Licenses”), or to one or more third parties in the same Royalty Period for which royalties are due under Section 4.5 or 4.7 in order for
Company to make, use or sell Licensed Products or have its sublicense make, use, or sell Licensed Products:
(a) in the case of any payments to Medical School under Other Medical School Licenses with respect to Licensed Products under this Agreement,
the royalty payment made by Company to Medical School under this Agreement for the applicable Royalty Payment shall be reduced by fifty percent (50%)
of the aggregate amounts payable for the same Royalty Period under the Other Medical School Licenses (before making any similar reduction in those
payments pursuant to a corresponding reduction clause in those agreements), with a minimum floor of [* * *] of Net Sales of Licensed Products or [* * *] of
the Sublicense Income to be paid under this Agreement; and
(b) in the case of payments to one or more third parties, an offset of fifty percent (50%) of the amount paid to third parties may be taken by
Company against any royalties payable by Company to the Medical School under this Agreement with a minimum floor of [* * *] of Net Sales of Licensed
Products or [* * *] of all Sublicense Income, provided that in no event shall the royalty payments under Section 4.5 and 4.7, when aggregated with any other
offsets and credits allowed under this Agreement, be reduced by more than fifty percent (50%); in the case of payments to one or more third parties, Medical
School shall receive [* * *] of the Sublicense Income net of the foregoing third party payments; and
(c) in the case of both payments under Other Medical School Licenses and to third parties in the same Royalty Period, the reduction described in
(i) above shall first be made, and then the offset described in (ii) above shall be taken, provided that only a pro rata amount of the offset pursuant to (ii) above
shall be taken against the royalties payable under this Agreement (with the pro-ration calculated based on the relative royalty rates under this Agreement and
the Other Medical School Licenses), with a minimum floor under this Agreement of [* * *] of Net Sales of Licensed Products and [* * *] of Sublicense
Income.
By way of illustration, assume a royalty of [* * *] under the Other Medical School Licenses of Net Sales of Licensed Products and a payment of [* * *] of
Net Sales of Licensed Products to a third party. The reduction and offsets calculation would be as follows:
(i) The [* * *] of Net Sales of Licensed Products would be reduced to [* * *] of Net Sales of Licensed Products (i.e., a reduction of 50% of the [*
* *] of Net Sales of Licensed Products under Other Medical School Licenses); and
(ii) The remaining [* * *] of Net Sales of Licensed Products would be offset by an amount equal to [* * *] of Net Sales of Licensed Products, for
a net royalty to the Medical School under this Agreement of [* * *] of Net Sales of Licensed Products (i.e., the offset of 50% of the [* * *] of Net Sales of
Licensed Products payable to the third party is allocated pro rata against Medical School under this Agreement, with 33 1/3% of this net offset of [* * *] of
Net Sales of Licensed Products being allocated to the royalties under this Agreement (the [* * *] royalty rate under this Agreement divided by the [* * *]
royalty rate under this Agreement plus the [* * *] royalty rate under the Other Medical School Licenses)).
8

5. Royalty Reports; Payments; Records.
5.1. First Sale. Company shall report to Medical School the date of first commercial sale of each Licensed Product within thirty (30) days of occurrence
in each country.
5.2. Reports and Payments. Within sixty (60) days after the conclusion of each Royalty Period, Company shall deliver to Medical School a report
containing the following information:
(a) the number of Licensed Products sold to independent third parties in each country, and the number of Licensed Products used by Company and
its Affiliates in the provision services in each country;
(b) the gross sales price for each Licensed Product by Company and its Affiliates or Sublicensees during the applicable Royalty Period in each
country;
(c) calculation of Net Sales for the applicable Royalty Period in each country, including a listing of applicable deductions; and
(d) total royalty payable on Net Sales in U.S. dollars, together with the exchange rates used for conversion.
If no royalties are due to Medical School for any Royalty Period, the report shall so state. Concurrent with this report, Company shall remit to Medical
School any payment due for the applicable Royalty Period. Medical School shall instruct Company as to the method of payment.
The contents of all such reports shall be the confidential and proprietary information of Company. To the extent permitted by applicable law, Medical
School shall use reasonable efforts to maintain the confidentiality of such reports.
5.3. Payments in U.S. Dollars. All payments due under this Agreement shall be payable in United States dollars. Conversion of foreign currency to U.S.
dollars shall be made at the conversion rate existing in the United States (as reported in the Wall Street Journal) on the last working day of the calendar
quarter preceding the applicable Royalty Period. Such payments shall be without deduction of exchange, collection, or other charges.
5.4. Payments in Other Currencies. If by law, regulation, or fiscal policy of a particular country, conversion into United States dollars or transfer of
funds of a convertible currency to the United States is restricted or forbidden, Company shall give Medical School prompt written notice of such restriction,
which notice shall satisfy the sixty-day payment deadline described in Section 5.2. Company shall pay any amounts due Medical School through whatever
lawful methods Medical School reasonably designates; provided, however, that if Medical School fails to designate such payment method within thirty
(30) days after Medical School is notified of the restriction, Company may deposit such payment in local currency to the credit of Medical School in a
recognized banking institution selected by Company and identified by written notice to Medical School, and such deposit shall fulfill all obligations of
Company to Medical School with respect to such payment.
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5.5. Records. Company shall maintain, and shall cause its Affiliates to maintain, complete and accurate records of Licensed Products that are made,
used, sold, or performed under this Agreement and any amounts payable to Medical School in relation to such Licensed Products, which records shall contain
sufficient information to permit Medical School to confirm the accuracy of any reports delivered to Medical School under Section 5.2. The relevant party
shall retain such records relating to a given Royalty Period for at least three (3) years after the conclusion of that Royalty Period, during which time Medical
School shall have the right, at its expense, to cause its internal accountants or an independent, certified public accountant to inspect such records during
normal business hours for the sole purpose of verifying any reports and payments delivered under this Agreement. Such accountant shall not disclose to
Medical School any information other than information relating to accuracy of reports and payments delivered under this Agreement. The parties shall
reconcile any underpayment or overpayment within thirty (30) days after the accountant delivers the results of the audit. In the event that any audit performed
under this Section reveals an underpayment in excess of the greater of (a) five thousand dollars ($5,000) or (b) ten percent (10%) in any Royalty Period,
Company shall bear the full cost of such audit. Medical School may exercise its rights under this Section only once every year and only with reasonable prior
notice to Company.
5.6. Late Payments. Any payments by Company that are not paid on or before the date such payments are due under this Agreement shall bear interest,
to the extent permitted by law, at two percentage points above the Prime Rate of interest as reported in the Wall Street Journal on the date payment is due,
with interest calculated based on the number of days that payment is delinquent.
5.7. Method of Payment. All payments under this Agreement should be made in the name of the “Medical School of Massachusetts” and sent to the
address identified below. Each payment should reference this Agreement and identify the obligation under this Agreement that the payment satisfies.
5.8. Withholding and Similar Taxes. Royalty payments and other payments due to Medical School under this Agreement shall be reduced by reason of
any withholding or similar taxes applicable to such payments to Medical School, which shall be paid by Company as required by applicable law and reported
by Company to the Medical School.
6. Confidential Information; Publications; Publicity.
6.1. Confidential Information.
(a) Designation. Confidential Information that is disclosed in writing shall be marked with a legend indicating its confidential status (such as
“Confidential” or “Proprietary”). Confidential Information that is disclosed orally or visually shall be documented in a written notice prepared by the
Disclosing Party and delivered to the Receiving Party within thirty (30) days of the date of disclosure; such notice shall summarize the Confidential
Information disclosed to the Receiving Party and reference the time and place of disclosure.
(b) Obligations. For a period of five (5) years after disclosure of any portion of Confidential Information, the Receiving Party shall (i) maintain such
Confidential
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Information in strict confidence, except that the Receiving Party may disclose or permit the disclosure of any Confidential Information to its directors,
officers, employees, consultants, and advisors who are obligated to maintain the confidential nature of such Confidential Information and who need to know
such Confidential Information for the purposes of this Agreement; (ii) use such Confidential Information solely for the purposes of this Agreement; and
(iii) allow its trustees or directors, officers, employees, consultants, and advisors to reproduce the Confidential Information only to the extent necessary for
the purposes of this Agreement, with all such reproductions being considered Confidential Information.
(c) Exceptions. The obligations of the Receiving Party under Subsection 6.1.(b) above shall not apply to the extent that the Receiving Party can
demonstrate that certain Confidential Information (i) was in the public domain prior to the time of its disclosure under this Agreement; (ii) entered the public
domain after the time of its disclosure under this Agreement through means other than an unauthorized disclosure resulting from an act or omission by the
Receiving Party; (iii) was independently developed or discovered by the Receiving Party without use of the Confidential Information; (iv) is or was disclosed
to the Receiving Party at any time, whether prior to or after the time of its disclosure under this Agreement, by a third party having no fiduciary relationship
with the Disclosing Party and having no obligation of confidentiality with respect to such Confidential Information; or (v) is required to be disclosed to
comply with applicable laws or regulations, or with a court or administrative order, provided that the Disclosing Party receives reasonable prior written notice
of such disclosure.
(d) Ownership and Return. The Receiving Party acknowledges that the Disclosing Party (or any third party entrusting its own information to the
Disclosing Party) claims ownership of its Confidential Information in the possession of the Receiving Party. Upon the expiration or termination of this
Agreement, and at the request of the Disclosing Party, the Receiving Party shall return to the Disclosing Party all originals, copies, and summaries of
documents, materials, and other tangible manifestations of Confidential Information in the possession or control of the Receiving Party, except that the
Receiving Party may retain one copy of the Confidential Information in the possession of its legal counsel solely for the purpose of monitoring its obligations
under this Agreement.
6.2. Publications. Medical School and its employees will be free to publicly disclose (through journals, lectures, or otherwise) the results of any
research in the Field or relating to the subject matter of the Patent Rights, except as otherwise provided by written agreement between Medical School and
Company (e.g., a sponsored research agreement).
6.3. Publicity Restrictions. Company shall not use the name of Medical School or any of its trustees, officers, faculty, students, employees, or agents, or
any adaptation of such names, or any terms of this Agreement in any promotional material or other public announcement or disclosure without the prior
written consent of Medical School. The foregoing notwithstanding, Company shall have the right to disclose such information without the consent of Medical
School in any prospectus, offering memorandum, or other document or filing required by applicable securities laws or other applicable law or regulation,
provided that Company shall have given Medical School at least ten (10) days (or such prior shorter period in order to enable Company to make a timely
announcement, while affording the Medical School
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the maximum feasible time to review the announcement) prior written notice of the proposed text for the purpose of giving Medical School the opportunity to
comment on such text.
7. Term and Termination.
7.1. Term. This Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and shall remain in effect until (a) the expiration of all issued patents within the
Patent Rights or (b) for a period of ten (10) years after the Effective Date if no such patents have issued within that ten-year period, unless earlier terminated
in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.
7.2. Termination for Default. In the event that either party commits a material breach of its obligations under this Agreement and fails to cure that
breach within sixty (60) days after receiving written notice thereof, the other party may terminate this Agreement immediately upon written notice to the party
in breach.
7.3. Force Majeure. Neither party will be responsible for delays resulting from causes beyond the reasonable control of such party, including without
limitation fire, explosion, flood, war, strike, or riot, provided that the nonperforming party uses commercially reasonable efforts to avoid or remove such
causes of nonperformance and continues performance under this Agreement with reasonable dispatch whenever such causes are removed.
7.4. Effect of Termination. The following provisions shall survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement: Articles 1 and 8; Sections 3.2, 3.5.,
5.2. (obligation to provide final report and payment), 6.1., 7.5., and 9.9. Upon the early termination of this Agreement, Company and its Affiliates or
Sublicensees may complete and sell any work-in-progress and inventory of Licensed Products that exist as of the effective date of termination, provided that
(a) Company is current in payment of all amounts due Medical School under this Agreement, (b) Company pays Medical School the applicable royalty on
such sales of Licensed Products in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and (c) Company and its Affiliates or Sublicensees shall
complete and sell all work-in-progress and inventory of Licensed Products within six (6) months after the effective date of termination.
8. Dispute Resolution.
8.1. Procedures Mandatory. The parties agree that any dispute arising out of or relating to this Agreement shall be resolved solely by means of the
procedures set forth in this Article, and that such procedures constitute legally binding obligations that are an essential provision of this Agreement; provided,
however, that all procedures and deadlines specified in this Article may be modified by written agreement of the parties. If either party fails to observe the
procedures of this Article, as modified by their written agreement, the other party may bring an action for specific performance in any court of competent
jurisdiction.
8.2. Dispute Resolution Procedures.
(a) Negotiation. In the event of any dispute arising out of or relating to this Agreement, the affected party shall notify the other party, and the parties
shall attempt in good faith to resolve the matter within ten (10) days after the date of such notice (the “Notice Date”). Any disputes not resolved by good faith
discussions shall be referred to senior
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executives of each party, who shall meet at a mutually acceptable time and location within thirty (30) days after the Notice Date and attempt to negotiate a
settlement.
(b) Mediation. If the matter remains unresolved within sixty (60) days after the Notice Date, or if the senior executives fail to meet within thirty
(30) days after the Notice Date, either party may initiate mediation upon written notice to the other party, whereupon both parties shall be obligated to engage
in a mediation proceeding under the then current Center for Public Resources (“CPR”) Model Procedure for Mediation of Business Disputes, except that
specific provisions of this Section shall override inconsistent provisions of the CPR Model Procedure. The mediator will be selected from the CPR Panels of
Neutrals. If the parties cannot agree upon the selection of a mediator within ninety (90) days after the Notice Date, then upon the request of either party, the
CPR shall appoint the mediator. The parties shall attempt to resolve the dispute through mediation until one of the following occurs: (i) the parties reach a
written settlement; (ii) the mediator notifies the parties in writing that they have reached an impasse; (iii) the parties agree in writing that they have reached an
impasse; or (iv) the parties have not reached a settlement within one hundred and twenty (120) days after the Notice Date.
(c) Trial Without Jury. If the parties fail to resolve the dispute through mediation, or if neither party elects to initiate mediation, each party shall have
the right to pursue any other remedies legally available to resolve the dispute, provided, however, that the parties expressly waive any right to a jury trial in
any legal proceeding under this Section.
8.3. Preservation of Rights Pending Resolution.
(a) Performance to Continue. Each party shall continue to perform its obligations under this Agreement pending final resolution of any dispute
arising out or relating to this Agreement; provided, however, that a party may suspend performance of its obligations during any period in which the other
party fails or refuses to perform its obligations.
(b) Provisional Remedies. Although the procedures specified in this Article are the sole and exclusive procedures for the resolution of disputes
arising out of relating to this Agreement, either party may seek a preliminary injunction or other provisional equitable relief if, in its reasonable judgment,
such action is necessary to avoid irreparable harm to itself or to preserve its rights under this Agreement.
(c) Statute of Limitations. The parties agree that all applicable statutes of limitation and time-based defenses (such as estoppel and laches) shall be
tolled while the procedures set forth in Subsections 8.2.(a) and 8.2(b) are pending. The parties shall take any actions necessary to effectuate this result.
9. Miscellaneous.
9.1. Representations and Warranties. Representations and Warranties. Medical School represents and warrants that its employees have assigned to
Medical School their entire right, title, and interest in the Patent Rights, that it has authority to grant the rights and licenses set forth in this Agreement, and
that, to its best knowledge, Medical School does not hold any other intellectual property rights that would be infringed by the exploitation of the Patent
Rights. MEDICAL SCHOOL MAKES NO OTHER WARRANTIES CONCERNING
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THE PATENT RIGHTS AND BIOLOGICAL MATERIALS, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION ANY EXPRESS OR IMPLIED WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. Specifically, Medical School makes no warranty or representation (a) that the
exploitation of any Licensed Product will not infringe any patents or other intellectual property rights of a third party, (b) regarding the validity or scope of the
Patent Rights, and (c) that any third party is not currently infringing or will not infringe the Patent Rights.
9.2. Compliance with Law and Policies. Company agrees to comply with applicable law and the policies of Medical School in the area of technology
transfer and shall promptly notify Medical School of any violation that Company knows or has reason to believe has occurred or is likely to occur. The
Medical School policies currently in effect at 365 Plantation Street, Ste. 130, Worcester MA, 01605 campus are available online at
www.umassmed.edu/research/policies.
9.3. Tax-Exempt Status. Company acknowledges that Medical School, as a public institution of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, holds the status
of an exempt organization under the United States Internal Revenue Code. Company also acknowledges that certain facilities in which the licensed inventions
were developed may have been financed through offerings of tax-exempt bonds. If the Internal Revenue Service determines, or if counsel to Medical School
reasonably determines, that any term of this Agreement jeopardizes the tax-exempt status of Medical School or the bonds used to finance Medical School
facilities, the relevant term shall be deemed an invalid provision and modified in accordance with Section 10.11.
9.4. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, and all of which together
shall be deemed to be one and the same instrument.
9.5. Headings. All headings are for convenience only and shall not affect the meaning of any provision of this Agreement.
9.6. Binding Effect. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties and their respective permitted successors and assigns.
9.7. Assignment. This Agreement may not be assigned by either party without the prior written consent of the other party, except that Company may
assign this Agreement to an Affiliate or to a successor in connection with the merger, consolidation, or sale of all or substantially all of its assets or that
portion of its business to which this Agreement relates.
9.8. Amendment and Waiver. This Agreement may be amended, supplemented, or otherwise modified only by means of a written instrument signed by
both parties. Any waiver of any rights or failure to act in a specific instance shall relate only to such instance and shall not be construed as an agreement to
waive any rights or fail to act in any other instance, whether or not similar.
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9.9. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts
irrespective of any conflicts of law principles.
9.10. Notice. Any notices required or permitted under this Agreement shall be in writing, shall specifically refer to this Agreement, and shall be sent by
hand, recognized national overnight courier, confirmed facsimile transmission, confirmed electronic mail, or registered or certified mail, postage prepaid,
return receipt requested, to the following addresses or facsimile numbers of the parties:
If to Medical School:
Office of Technology Management
Medical School of Massachusetts
365 Plantation Street, Suite 130
Worcester, MA 01605
Attention: Joseph F.X. McGuirl
Executive Director
Tel:
(508) 856-1626
Fax:
(508) 856-1482
If to Company:
CytRx Corporation
11726 San Vicente Blvd., Suite 650
Los Angeles, CA 90049
Attention: Steven A. Kriegsman
Chief Executive Officer
Tel: (310) 826-5449
Fax: (310) 826-5529
All notices under this Agreement shall be deemed effective upon receipt. A party may change its contact information immediately upon written notice to
the other party in the manner provided in this Section.
9.11. Severability. In the event that any provision of this Agreement shall be held invalid or unenforceable for any reason, such invalidity or
unenforceability shall not affect any other provision of this Agreement, and the parties shall negotiate in good faith to modify the Agreement to preserve (to
the extent possible) their original intent. If the parties fail to reach a modified agreement within sixty (60) days after the relevant provision is held invalid or
unenforceable, then the dispute shall be resolved in accordance with the procedures set forth in Article 7. While the dispute is pending resolution, this
Agreement shall be construed as if such provision were deleted by agreement of the parties.
9.12. Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with respect to its subject matter and supersedes all prior
agreements or understandings between the parties relating to its subject matter.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be executed by their duly authorized representatives as of the date first written
above.
MEDICAL SCHOOL OF MASSACHUSETTS

CYTRX CORPORATION

By: /s/ Joseph F.X. McGuirl
Joseph F.X. McGuirl
Executive Director, CVIP

By: /s/ Steven A. Kriegsman
Steven A. Kriegsman
Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit A
List of Patent Rights
UMMC 01-36 “RNA Sequence-Specific Mediators of RNA Interference” Inventors: David P. Bartel, Philip A. Sharp, Thomas Tuschl, and Philip D.
Zamore
I. United States Patents and Application
USSN 60/265232 entitled “RNA Sequence-Specific Mediators of RNA Interference”, by David P. Bartel, Philip A. Sharp, Thomas Tuschl, and Philip D.
Zamore
USSN 09/821832 entitled “RNA Sequence-Specific Mediators of RNA Interference”, by David P. Bartel, Philip A. Sharp, Thomas Tuschl, and Philip D.
Zamore
II. International (non-U.S.) Patents and Applications
PCT/US01/10188 entitle “RNA Sequence-Specific Mediators of RNA Interference”, by David P. Bartel, Philip A. Sharp, Thomas Tuschl, and Philip D.
Zamore
A-1

AMENDMENT NO. 1
TO
NON-EXCLUSIVE LICENSE AGREEMENT
(UMMC 01-36)
This Amendment No. 1, dated as of February 1, 2004 (the “Amendment”) is being made to the Non-Exclusive License Agreement relating to UMMC 0136 (the “License Agreement”), effective as of April 15, 2003, by and between the University of Massachusetts Medical School (“Medical School”), a public
institution of higher education of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts having an address of 55 Lake Avenue North, Worcester, MA 01655, and CytRx
Corporation (“Company”), a Delaware corporation having an address of 11726 San Vicente Boulevard, Suite 650, Los Angeles, California 90049.
RECITALS
WHEREAS, Section 4.6 of the License Agreement provided for the calculation of payments payable to Medical School under Section 4.4 of the License
Agreement in the event Company was required to make certain other payments to Medical School or third parties; and
WHEREAS, Medical School and Company wish to clarify the manner in which Section 4.6 of the License Agreement shall operate;
NOW, THEREFORE, Medical School and Company hereby agree as follows:
1. Amendment to Section 4.6.
Section 4.6 of the License Agreement is hereby amended to read in full as follows:
“4.6 Third-Party and Other Payments. If Company is legally required to make royalty or sublicense income payments to Medical School under any other
license agreement, as well as this Agreement, or to one or more third parties, as well as this Agreement, in the same Royalty Period for which payments are
due under Section 4.4 in order for Company to make, use or sell Licensed Products or have its Sublicensee make, use, or sell Licensed Products:
(a) Other Medical School Payments. In the case of payments to Medical School under Section 4.4 with respect to any Licensed Product, Company shall
pay only the highest rate among this Agreement and any other Medical School licenses, and that one payment shall be deemed to satisfy the payment
requirements for the applicable period under not only this Agreement but each of the other Medical School licenses.
(b) Third Party Payments. In the case of payments to one or more third parties with respect to any Licensed Product under this Agreement, Company may
reduce its payment to Medical School under Section 4.4 of this Agreement for the applicable Royalty Period by fifty percent (50%) of the amount actually
paid to third parties. However, in no event will the reductions made pursuant to this Section 4.6(b) result in more than a fifty percent (50%) reduction in the
payments that would otherwise be payable to Medical School under Section 4.4 (after taking into account Section 4.6(b)).
-1-

(c) Example: Royalty Reductions. By way of illustration for Section 4.4 royalty payment reductions, for a particular Licensed Product, assume a royalty of
[* * *] of Net Sales under another Medical School license and a payment of [* * *] of Net Sales to a third party. The reduction calculation would be as
follows: The total [* * *] royalty rate in this Agreement would apply, and Company would reduce that rate by 50% due to the [* * *] due to the third party
(with a 50% cap on the rate reduction pursuant to Section 4.6), resulting in a [* * *] royalty to Medical School under this Agreement, and no royalties payable
to the Medical School under the other Medical School license.
2. Continuation of All Other Terms of Agreement.
Except for the amendment of Section 4.6 of the License Agreement provided for in Section 1 of this Amendment, all of the terms and conditions of the
License Agreement shall continue in full force and effect.
3. Miscellaneous.
3.1 Dispute Resolution. The parties agree that any dispute arising out of or relating to this Amendment shall be resolved solely by means of the
procedures set forth in Article 8 of the Agreement.
3.2 Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, and all of which together
shall be deemed to be one and the same instrument.
3.3 Headings. All headings are for convenience only and shall not affect the meaning of any provision of this Amendment.
3.4 Binding Effect. This Amendment shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties and their respective permitted successors and assigns.
3.5 Amendment. This Amendment may be amended, supplemented, or otherwise modified only by means of a written instrument signed by all of the
parties.
3.6 Governing Law. This Amendment shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts
irrespective of any conflicts of law principles.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Amendment to be executed by their duly authorized representatives as of the date first above
written.
MEDICAL SCHOOL OF MASSACHUSETTS

CYTRX CORPORATION

By: /s/ Chester A. Bisbee
Acting Executive Director
Office of Technology Management

By: /s/ Steven A. Kriegsman
Steven A. Kriegsman
Chief Executive Officer
-3-

Exhibit 10.5
PATENT AND TECHNOLOGY ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT
This Patent and Technology Assignment Agreement (“AGREEMENT”), is by and between ADVIRNA, LLC, a Colorado limited liability company having
its principal place of business at 10 Rocklawn Road, Westborough, MA 01581 (“ADVIRNA”) and RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation (formerly RNCS, Inc.),
a Delaware corporation, having its principal place of business at 60 Prescott Street, Worcester, MA 01605 (“RXi”). ADVIRNA and RXi may each be referred
to as a “PARTY” and collectively as the “PARTIES”. For good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which is hereby acknowledged, the
PARTIES agree as follows:
1.0 Background of Agreement
1.1 ADVIRNA owns certain PATENT RIGHTS and TECHNOLOGY RIGHTS.
1.2 ADVIRNA desires to assign, transfer and convey to RXi, all right, title and interest in and to selected PATENT RIGHTS and TECHNOLOGY
RIGHTS of ADVIRNA and RXI desires to develop, sell and distribute products derived therefrom.
1.3 The parties agree to simultaneously execute and deliver a Patent and Technology License Agreement relating to the “Grant-Back Field,” a copy of
which is annexed hereto as Exhibit C and made a part hereof as if set out verbatim herein.
1.4 ADVIRNA represents that Anastasia Khvorova, Ph.D., the inventor of PATENT RIGHTS and TECHNOLOGY RIGHTS, developed such rights.
2.0 Definitions
As used herein, the following terms shall have the meanings set forth below:
2.1 “EFFECTIVE DATE” means September 24, 2011.
2.2 “GRANT-BACK FIELD” means all fields of use for the Technology Rights and Patent Rights outside of human therapeutic and diagnostic fields.
2.3 [Intentionally Omitted]
2.4 [Intentionally Omitted]
2.5 “PATENT RIGHTS” mean any ADVIRNA rights to pending or issued patent claims supported by U.S. Patent Application No. 61/192,954 (the “ ‘954
application”), entitled “Chemically modified polynucleotides and methods of using the same,” and any patent application related or claiming priority to the
‘954 application, and any divisional, continuation, or continuation-in-part of the foregoing, to the extent the claims are directed to subject matter specifically
described and supported in the ‘954 application, as well as in any patents issued on any of the foregoing and any reissues or reexaminations or extensions of
the patents, and any foreign counterparts to any of the foregoing including, without limitation, those patents and patent applications set forth in Exhibit A
attached hereto.
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2.6 “ROYALTY-BEARING PRODUCT” means any product that is developed, manufactured, used, or sold in a manner that is covered by one or more
VALID CLAIM.
2.7 “TECHNOLOGY RIGHTS” mean ADVIRNA’s rights in any technical information, know-how, process, procedure, composition, method, formula,
protocol, trade secrets, technique or data developed by Anastasia Khvorova, Ph.D. (“INVENTOR”) at ADVIRNA. Such rights relate to TECHNOLOGY
RIGHTS which are not covered by PATENT RIGHTS, but which are necessary for practicing the invention covered by PATENT RIGHTS. Subsequent to the
commencement of INVENTOR’s employment relationship with Galena BioPharma (formerly “RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation”) (“Galena”) and through
the date hereof, all inventions, patents and technology rights developed by INVENTOR were owned by Galena under an assignment of invention and
disclosure agreement executed by INVENTOR on October 18, 2009, which rights have, as of the date hereof, been assigned to RXi.
2.8 “TERRITORY” means worldwide.
2.9 “VALID CLAIM” means (a) a claim of an issued and unexpired patent within the PATENT RIGHTS which has not been permanently revoked or held
unenforceable or invalid by an unappealable or unappealed decision of a court or government agency of competent jurisdiction or (b) a claim of a pending
patent application within the PATENT RIGHTS that has not been abandoned or finally disallowed without the possibility of appeal or refilling.
3.0 Assignment; Exclusive License in Favor of ADVIRNA
3.1 ADVIRNA hereby assigns, transfers and conveys to RXi all of ADVIRNA’s rights, titles, and interests throughout the TERRITORY in and to the
PATENT RIGHTS and TECHNOLOGY RIGHTS, and further, all rights and privileges pertaining to the PATENT RIGHTS and TECHNOLOGY RIGHTS,
including, without limitation, the right, if any, to sue or bring and recover for, and the right to profits or damages due or accrued, arising out of or in
connection with, any and all actions for past, present and future infringement thereof.
3.2 ADVIRNA agrees to: take such further action and to execute such documents as RXI may reasonably request to effect or confirm the conveyance to
RXi of the PATENT RIGHTS and TECHNOLOGY RIGHTS, including without limitation executing and delivering to RXi the Assignment of Patents
attached hereto as Exhibit A.
3.3 ADVIRNA further agrees that this assignment shall he deemed a full legal and formal equivalent of any assignment, consent to file or like document
which may be required in any country for any purpose regarding the subject matter hereof, as well as constituting proof of the right of RXi or its successors,
assigns or nominees to apply for patent or other proper protection described in the PATENT RIGHTS and TECHNOLOGY RIGHTS, and to claim the
aforesaid benefits of the right of priority provided by the International Convention for the Protection of Industrial Property, as amended, or by any convention
which may henceforth be substituted for it.
3.4 In partial consideration of the parties entering into this Agreement, the parties agree to simultaneously execute and deliver a Patent and Technology
License Agreement
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relating to the “Grant-Back-Field”, a copy of which is annexed hereto as Exhibit C and made a part hereof as if set out verbatim.
3.5 Advirna, for itself and its Affiliates, hereby covenants and agrees that for a period of five (5) years following Effective Date, Advirna and its Affiliates
will not, directly or indirectly, within the Territory (as defined in the License Agreement) engage in activities relating to the development or
commercialization of human therapeutic or diagnostic products or technologies. For the avoidance of doubt, Advirna shall be permitted to provide nontherapeutic and non-diagnostic: (i) products (such as reagents); and (ii) related services, in either case for the modulation of gene function by unaffiliated third
parties, who may use such tools as part of their development of therapeutic or diagnostic products or technologies.
4.0 Stock Payment
4.1 Issuance. In consideration for this Agreement, RXi hereby agrees that it will, on the Payment Date (defined below), issue to Advirna shares of common
stock of RXi (the “Stock Payment”) equaling either: (a) the “Advirna Shares,” as determined in accordance with Annex II to the that certain Securities
Purchase Agreement by and among RXi, Galena, Tang Capital Partners, LP and RTW Investments, LLC (the “Purchase Agreement”), but only if the Payment
Date is triggered due to the occurrence of the Closing, or (b) that number of shares of common stock of RXi representing five percent (5%) of RXi’s fully
diluted outstanding Common Stock after such issuance (and after accounting for the shares of common stock to be issued upon the Note Conversion (defined
below)), but only if the Payment Date is triggered due to the occurrence of a Note Conversion. The shares underlying the Stock Payment (the “Shares”) will,
when issued as contemplated herein, be validly issued, duly authorized, fully-paid and non-assessable. For purposes of this Section 4.1, the “Payment Date”
shall mean the earlier of: (x) the Closing (as defined in the Purchase Agreement) or (y) the conversion of the Bridge Notes pursuant to Section 4.2 of the
Bridge Notes (such event being referred to above as a “Note Conversion”).
4.2 Investment Representations. Advirna understands and agrees that the offering and sale of the Shares has not been registered under the Securities Act,
or any applicable state securities laws and is being made in reliance upon federal and state exemptions for transactions not involving a public offering which
depend upon, among other things, the bona fide nature of the investment intent and the accuracy of Advirna’s representations and warranties as expressed
below.
(a) Advirna is acquiring the Shares for its own account for investment and not with a view toward distribution in a manner which would violate the
Securities Act or any applicable state securities laws.
(b) Advirna, by reason of the business and financial experience of its management, has the capacity to protect its own interests in connection with the
transactions contemplated by this Amendment Agreement and is capable of evaluating the merits and risks of the investment in the Shares. Advirna
understands that an investment in the Shares bears significant risk and Advirna
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represents that it is able to bear the economic risk of an investment in the Shares and is able to sustain a loss of all of its investment in the Shares
without economic hardship, if such a loss should occur.
(c) Advirna is an “accredited investor” as that term is defined in Regulation D promulgated under the Securities Act.
(d) Advirna understands that the Shares will be characterized as “restricted securities” under the federal securities laws inasmuch as they are being
acquired from RXi in a private placement under Section 4(2) of the Securities Act and that under such laws and applicable regulations the Shares may
be resold without registration under the Securities Act only in certain limited circumstances. Advirna acknowledges that the Shares must be held
indefinitely unless subsequently registered under the Securities Act and under applicable state securities laws or an exemption from such registration is
available. Further, it is understood that the certificates evidencing the Shares may bear substantially the following legends (in addition to any other
legends as legal counsel for RXi deems necessary or advisable under the applicable state and federal securities laws):
THESE SECURITIES HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 OR ANY APPLICABLE STATE
SECURITIES LAWS. THEY MAY NOT BE SOLD, OFFERED FOR SALE, PLEDGED OR HYPOTHECATED IN THE ABSENCE OF A
REGISTRATION STATEMENT IN EFFECT WITH RESPECT TO THE SECURITIES UNDER SUCH ACT OR APPLICABLE STATE
SECURITIES LAWS OR AN OPINION OF COUNSEL SATISFACTORY TO THE COMPANY THAT SUCH REGISTRATION IS NOT
REQUIRED OR UNLESS SOLD PURSUANT TO RULE 144 OR RULE 144A OF SUCH ACT.
5.0 Fees and Other Consideration
5.1 RXi agrees to pay a one-time payment to Advirna of $350,000.00 (Three Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars) (“Patent Issuance Fee”), within ten
(10) days following the issue date of the first patent from the Patent Rights with Valid Claims, which would otherwise be infringed by a Royalty-Bearing
Product. If a patent within the Patent Rights is issued for which RXI concludes it does not include any such Valid Claims, then RXi shall notify Advirna of
that fact within thirty (30) days following RXi’s receipt of a Notice of Allowance for that patent. Such notice to Advirna shall recite a specific reason for
concluding that the patent within the Patent Rights does not include a Valid Claim. If Advirna disputes RXi’s conclusions regarding the existence of a Valid
Claim and if the parties are unable to resolve the matter within twenty (20) days thereafter, then Advirna may refer the matter to final and binding arbitration
in Boston, Massachusetts, in accordance with the then commercial rules of the American Arbitration Association (“A.A.A.”). RXi and Advirna will be
equally responsible for the payment of arbitrator’s fee and the filing fee with the A.A.A. and otherwise, each party shall be responsible
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for its own attorneys’ fees and costs, witness fees, travel, transcripts, expert testimony and the like, provided, however, that the arbitrator shall have the right,
but not the obligation, to award the prevailing party its fees and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees).
5.2 RXi agrees to pay an annual maintenance fee of $100,000.00 (One Hundred Thousand) beginning January 1, 2012, to maintain its rights hereunder,
which maintenance fee is non refundable and due on the last day of January each year. In the event that RXi fails to pay such annual maintenance fee, RXi
agrees to assign all right, title and interest in and to the PATENT RIGHTS and TECHNOLOGY RIGHTS to ADVIRNA, provided that at RXi’s option, such
assignment shall be subject to a nonexclusive license to be negotiated by the PARTIES in good faith at such time, which shall be reasonably consistent with
the other terms and conditions of this AGREEMENT. Following any such assignment, RXi shall have no further payment obligations to ADVIRNA
hereunder, other than payments which accrued prior to the date of such assignment.
5.3 RXi shall control the prosecution and pay directly for all patent and maintenance costs during the term of this AGREEMENT. RXi agrees to provide
ADVIRNA reasonable opportunity to review and comment on prosecution matters, including by providing ADVIRNA with a copy of material
communications from any patent authority regarding such PATENT RIGHTS, and by providing drafts of any material filings or responses to be made to such
patent authorities at least thirty (30) days in advance of submitting such filings or responses. RXi shall reasonably consider and incorporate ADVIRNA’s
comments in good faith and ensure that inventorship conforms to the rules of the laws of the country in which such patent application is filed.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, for so long as Anastasia Khvorova serves as an officer of RXi, RXi need not comply with the notice and review provisions of
this Section 5.3.
5.4 If, at any time, RXi decides at its sole discretion to abandon the prosecution and maintenance of PATENT RIGHTS, RXi agrees to assign all right, title
and interest in and to the PATENT RIGHTS and TECHNOLOGY RIGHTS to ADVIRNA and ADVIRNA will be solely responsible for prosecution and
maintenance costs of the PATENT RIGHTS. Following any such assignment, RXi shall have no further payment obligations to ADVIRNA hereunder, other
than payments which accrued prior to the date of such assignment
5.5 RXi hereby grants ADVIRNA, as security for performance of its payment obligations pursuant to this AGREEMENT a first priority security interest in
the PATENT RIGHTS and TECHNOLOGY RIGHTS, as described in the Security Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit B (“SECURITY AGREEMENT”).
As set forth in the SECURITY AGREEMENT, ADVIRNA will have all the rights and remedies afforded secured parties. RXi will execute, deliver, file and
record any statement, instrument, agreement or other document and take any other action (including, without limitation, any filings with the United States
Patent and Trademark Office and any filings of financing or continuation statements under the Uniform Commercial Code) in order to create, preserve,
upgrade in rank, perfect, confirm or validate the security interest or enable ADVIRNA to obtain the full benefits of such security interest.
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6.0 Licensing
6.1 The granting of licenses under the PATENTS RIGHTS and TECHNOLOGY RIGHTS by RXi will be in the discretion of RXi, and RXi will have the
sole power to determine whether or not, to grant licenses, and the royalty rates and terms and conditions of such licenses. All license agreements shall be
shared with ADVIRNA promptly after execution of the documents, all of which shall be deemed to be RXi CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION.
6.2 RXi will pay to ADVIRNA one percent (1%) of any and all income received by RXi from licensing (other than from (i) any equity investments in RXi,
or (ii) payments to RXi for research and development (such as FTE reimbursement)). Payment of ADVIRNA’s share of licensing income will be made to
ADVIRNA semiannually as provided in Section 7.0.
7.0 Payments
Not later than the last day of each January and July, RXi must furnish to ADVIRNA a written statement of all amounts due pursuant to Section 6.2 for the
semiannual periods ended the last days of the preceding December and June, respectively, and must pay to ADVIRNA all amounts due to ADVIRNA in US
Dollars. If no amount is accrued during any semiannual period, a written statement to that effect will be furnished.
8.0 Representations and Disclaimer of Warranties
8.1 MUTUAL REPRESENTATIONS. Each of the PARTIES hereby represents and warrants to the other PARTY that, as of the EFFECTIVE DATE:
(a) Such PARTY has full corporate right, power and authority to enter into this AGREEMENT and to perform its respective obligations under this
AGREEMENT and that it has the right to grant the assignments, licenses and sublicenses granted pursuant to this AGREEMENT;
(b) This AGREEMENT is a legal and valid obligation binding upon such PARTY and enforceable in accordance with its terms. The execution,
delivery and performance of this AGREEMENT by such PARTY does not conflict with any agreement, instrument or understanding; oral or
written, to which it is a party or by which it is bound, nor, to its knowledge; violate any law or regulation having jurisdiction over it;
(c) Such PARTY has not granted any right to any third party that would conflict with the rights granted to the other PARTY hereunder;
(d) Except for regulatory approvals, pricing and/or reimbursement approvals, manufacturing approvals and/or similar approvals necessary for the
development, manufacture or commercialization of a ROYALTY-BEARING PRODUCT (and the components thereof), such PARTY has
Obtained all necessary consents, approvals and authorizations of all government authorities and other persons required to be obtained by it as of
the EFFECTIVE DATE in connection with the execution, delivery and
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performance of this AGREEMENT; and
(e) There is no action or proceeding pending or, to such PARTY’s knowledge, threatened, that questions the validity of this AGREEMENT or any
action taken by such PARTY in connection with the execution of this AGREEMENT.
8.2 ADDITIONAL REPRESENTATIONS OF ADVIRNA. ADVIRNA hereby represents and Warrants to RXi that, as of the EFFECTIVE DATE:
(a) ADVIRNA owns all right, title and interest in and to the PATENT RIGHTS and TECHNOLOGY RIGHTS and has full power and authority to
assign, transfer and convey all right, title and interest in and to the PATENT RIGHTS and TECHNOLOGY RIGHTS as set forth in this
AGREEMENT;
(b) All the patents and patent applications that are part of the PATENT RIGHTS and TECHNOLOGY RIGHTS existing as of the EFFECTIVE
DATE are identified under Section 2.3, and there are no other patents, patent applications or inventions owned by ADVIRNA or to which the
INVENTOR is a named inventor that cover or relate to inventions or claims disclosed in the PATENT RIGHTS or TECHNOLOGY RIGHTS
(except for any patents or patent applications assigned to RXi pursuant to INVENTOR’s employment relationship with RXi). To ADVIRNA’s
knowledge, all patent applications within the PATENT RIGHTS are still pending and all issued patents within the PATENT RIGHTS are in
good standing and have not been abandoned; and
(c) To ADVIRNA’s knowledge, ADVIRNA is not a party to an interference relating to the subject matter of the PATENT RIGHTS.
8.3 LIMITATION ON REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, neither PARTY will be in breach of
any representation or warranty made pursuant to this Section 8 to the extent that the PARTY alleged to have so breached can demonstrate that the PARTY
alleging such breach had, on or prior to the EFFECTIVE DATE, actual knowledge of such breach of such representation or warranty.
8.4 DISCLAIMER OF WARRANTY. EXCEPT FOR THE EXPRESS WARRANTIES SET FORTH HEREIN, NEITHER PARTY MAKES ANY
REPRESENTATIONS AND GRANTS NO WARRANTIES, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, EITHER IN FACT OR BY OPERATION OF LAW, BY STATUTE
OR OTHERWISE, AND ADVIRNA AND RXi EACH SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIMS ANY OTHER REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES,
WHETHER WRITTEN OR ORAL, EXPRESS, STATUTORY OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING ANY WARRANTY OF QUALITY, MERCHANTABILITY OR
FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR USE OR PURPOSE OR ANY WARRANTY AS TO THE VALIDITY OF ANY PATENT RIGHTS OR THE NONINFRINGEMENT OF ANY INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS OF THIRD PARTIES.
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EACH PARTY HEREBY DISCLAIMS ANY REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY THAT THE DEVELOPMENT, MANUFACTURE AND
COMMERCIALIZATION OF A ROYALTY-BEARING PRODUCT PURSUANT TO THIS AGREEMENT WILL BE SUCCESSFUL OR THAT ANY
PARTICULAR SALES LEVEL WITH RESPECT TO THE ROYALTY-BEARING PRODUCT WILL BE ACHIEVED.
8.5 LIMITATION OF LIABILITY. IN NO EVENT WILL EITHER PARTY BE LIABLE FOR LOST PROFITS OR FOR ANY SPECIAL, INDIRECT,
INCIDENTAL, CONSEQUENTIAL OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES, HOWEVER CAUSED, ON ANY THEORY OF LIABILITY AND WHETHER OR NOT
SUCH PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES, ARISING UNDER ANY CAUSE OF ACTION AND ARISING IN
ANY WAY OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT, EXCEPT AS A RESULT OF A PARTY’S WILLFUL MISCONDUCT, GROSS NEGLIGENCE, RECKLESS
CONDUCT OR A BREACH OF THE CONFIDENTIALITY IN SECTION 9.
8.6 Nothing in this AGREEMENT precludes RXi from contesting the validity of any PATENT RIGHTS. In the event evidentiary material comes to the
attention of RXi subsequent to RXi’s execution of this AGREEMENT that, in the judgment of RXi, bears on the validity or scope of any PATENT RIGHTS,
ADVIRNA will in good faith discuss with RXi whether such evidentiary material so affects the validity or scope of the PATENT RIGHTS to which it is
asserted to apply that the terms of this AGREEMENT in respect to such PATENT RIGHTS should be modified.
8.7 In the event RXi intends to assert in any forum that any PATENT RIGHTS are invalid, unenforceable, or unpatentable, RXi will, not less than ninety
(90) days prior to making any such assertion, provide to ADVIRNA a complete written disclosure of each and every basis then known to RXi for such
assertion and with such disclosure, will provide ADVIRNA with a copy of any document or publication upon which RXi intends to rely in support of such
assertion. RXi’s failure to comply with this provision will constitute a material breach of this AGREEMENT.
9.0 Confidential Information
9.1 ADVIRNA, through INVENTOR, has disclosed all relevant CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION as defined in Section 9.2 below, other information,
and data relating to PATENT RIGHTS and TECHNOLOGY RIGHTS that enabled RXi to evaluate the potential commercial significance of the PATENT
RIGHTS and TECHNOLOGY RIGHTS.
9.2 In addition to the initial disclosure described in Section 9.1, the disclosure of further confidential information as of the date that INVENTOR became
an employee of RXi is no longer subject to this Section 9, but to confidentiality provisions of employment agreements entered into by INVENTOR. All
information (a) disclosed by ADVIRNA, whether disclosed initially or at any time prior to the date of INVENTOR’s employment with RXi and (b) disclosed
by RXi to ADVIRNA whether disclosed prior to or during the term of this AGREEMENT will be referred to as “CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION.” Each
PARTY will only use the other PARTY’s CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION as required for the performance of this AGREEMENT. Each PARTY will
continue to use reasonable efforts to prevent the disclosure
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of any of the other PARTY’S CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION to third parties for a period of three (3) years after the termination of this AGREEMENT,
provided that the recipient PARTY’s obligation will not apply to information that:
(a) was known to the receiving PARTY prior to its disclosure to the receiving PARTY by the disclosing PARTY as evidenced by written documents
predating the receiving PARTY’s receipt of such CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION; or
(b) is public knowledge at the time of its disclosure to the receiving PARTY or became public knowledge after its disclosure to the receiving
PARTY through no act or omission or on its behalf; or
(c) is or later becomes published through no fault of the receiving PARTY;
(d) is disclosed or made available to the receiving PARTY by a third party which, to the receiving PARTY’s knowledge, had no direct or indirect
obligation to the disclosing PARTY to maintain the confidentiality of such CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION at the time of such disclosure to
the receiving PARTY; or
(e) is independently developed by the receiving PARTY without the aid or benefit of CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION disclosed to the receiving
PARTY by the disclosing PARTY.
9.3 In the event that information is required to be disclosed by court order, law or regulation, the PARTY required to make disclosure will notify the other
to allow that PARTY to assert whatever exclusions or exemptions may be available to it under such law or regulation.
10.0 Termination
10.1 This AGREEMENT will expire upon the expiration of the last to expire of the PATENT RIGHTS included herein, or upon the abandonment of the
last to be abandoned of any patents included herein, whichever is later, unless this AGREEMENT is sooner terminated.
10.2 RXi may terminate this AGREEMENT at any time upon ninety (90) days written notice in advance to ADVIRNA.
10.3 ADVIRNA may terminate this AGREEMENT upon ninety (90) days’ prior written notice in the event that RXi ceases using commercially reasonable
efforts to research, develop, license or otherwise commercialize the PATENT RIGHTS or ROYALTY-BEARING PRODUCTS, provided that RXi may refute
such claim within such ninety (90) day period by showing budgeted expenditures for the research, development, licensing or other commercialization
consistent with other technologies of similar stage of development and commercial potential as the PATENT RIGHTS and ROYALTY-BEARING
PRODUCTS.
10.4 Either PARTY at any time may provide written notice to the other PARTY of a material breach of this AGREEMENT. If the oilier PARTY fails to
cure the identified breach
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within ninety (90) days after the date of the notice, the aggrieved PARTY may terminate this AGREEMENT by written notice to the PARTY in breach. This
will not be an exclusive remedy, and either PARTY will be entitled, if the circumstances warrant, alternatively or cumulatively, to damages for breach of this
AGREEMENT, to an order requiring performance of obligations of this AGREEMENT, or to any other remedy available at law or equity:
10.5 The word “termination” and cognate, words, such as “term” and “terminate,” used in this Section 10 and elsewhere in this AGREEMENT are to be
read, except where the contrary is specifically indicated, as omitting from their effect the following rights and obligations, all of which will survive any
termination to the degree necessary to permit their complete fulfillment or discharge:
(a) RXi’s obligation to supply a terminal report as specified in Section 7.0 of this AGREEMENT.
(b) ADVIRNA’s right to receive or recover and RXi’s obligation to pay any payments accrued or accruable for payment at the time of any
termination.
(c) Licenses, releases, and agreements of non-assertion running in favor of customers or transferees of RXi in respect to products sold or transferred
by RXi prior to any termination.
(d) Any cause of action or claim of ADVIRNA accrued, or to accrue, because of any breach or default by RXi.
(e) The representation and disclaimer of warranties of Section 8.0.
(f) The confidentiality provisions of Section 9.0.
(g) The re-assignment of the PATENT RIGHTS and TECHNOLOGY RIGHTS to ADVIRNA as set forth in Sections 5.2, 5.4 and 10.6.
10.6 Following any expiration or termination of this AGREEMENT, no further payment shall be payable to ADVIRNA pursuant to this Agreement, except
for payments that accrued prior to such termination or expiration. Upon termination under Sections 10.2 and 10.3, or for cause for failure of payment of fees
to ADVIRNA under Sections. 05.0 and 6.0, or expiration of this AGREEMENT in accordance with its terms, RXi agrees to assign, transfer and convey to
ADVIRNA all right, title and interest in and to the PATENT RIGHTS and TECHNOLOGY RIGHTS.
11.0 Litigation
11.1 Each PARTY will notify the other PARTY in writing of any suspected infringement(s) of the PATENT RIGHTS, TECHNOLOGY RIGHTS in the
TERRITORY and will provide to the other PARTY any evidence of such infringement(s).
11.2 RXi has the right to institute suit for infringement(s) in the TERRITORY so long as this AGREEMENT is in full force and effect. ADVIRNA agrees
to join as a party plaintiff in
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any such lawsuit initiated by RXi, if requested by RXi, with all costs, attorneys’ fees, and expenses to be paid by RXi.
11.3 RXi will be entitled to any recovery of damages resulting from a lawsuit brought by it pursuant to Section 11.2.
11.4 RXi may not settle with an infringer without the prior approval of ADVIRNA if such settlement would affect the rights of ADVIRNA under the
PATENT RIGHTS and TECHNOLOGY RIGHTS, which approval will not be unreasonably withheld or delayed.
12.0 Indemnification
12.1 RXi will hold ADVIRNA harmless against all liabilities, demands, damages, expenses, or losses arising (1) out of use by RXi or its transferees (other
than ADVIRNA) of inventions licensed or information furnished under this AGREEMENT, or (2) out of any use, sale, or other disposition by RXi or its
transferees (other than ADVIRNA) of products made by use of such inventions or information.
13.0 General Provisions
13.1 This AGREEMENT may not be assigned by RXi without the prior written consent of ADVIRNA, which consent may not unreasonably be withheld
or delayed. However, RXi may assign any and all of the rights granted to it pursuant to this AGREEMENT to a successor of all or substantially all of its
business to which this AGREEMENT relates without the approval from or prior notice to ADVIRNA. This AGREEMENT shall be binding upon and inure to
the benefit of the PARTIES and their respective successors and permitted assigns.
13.2 This AGREEMENT constitutes the entire and only agreement between the PARTIES, and all prior negotiations, representations, agreements, options
and understandings are superseded hereby. No agreements altering or supplementing the terms hereof may be made except by written mutual agreement by
the PARTIES.
13.3 The relationship between ADVIRNA and RXi is that of independent contractors. ADVIRNA and RXi are not joint venturers, partners, principal and
agent, master and servant, employer or employee, and have no other relationship other than independent contracting parties. ADVIRNA will have no power
to bind or obligate RXi in any manner, other than as is expressly set forth in this AGREEMENT. Likewise RXi will have no power to bind or obligate
ADVIRNA in any manner, other than as is expressly set forth in this AGREEMENT.
13.4 If any provision of this AGREEMENT is ultimately held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the validity, legality and enforceability of the
remaining provisions will not in any way be affected or impaired thereby.
13.5 Any delay in enforcing a PARTY’s right under this AGREEMENT or any waiver as to a particular default or other matter will not constitute a waiver
of such PARTY’s rights to the future enforcement of its rights under this AGREEMENT, except only as to an express written and signed waiver to a specific
matter for a specific period of time.
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13.6 Any notice required by this AGREEMENT will be given by personal delivery (including delivery by reputable messenger services such as Federal
Express) or by prepaid, first class, certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to:
ATTENTION:
ADVIRNA, LLC
10 Rocklawn Road
Westborough, MA 01581
or in the case of RXi to:
President and CEO
RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation
60 Prescott St.
Worcester, MA 01605
or at such other addresses as may be given from time to time in accordance with the terms of this notice provision.
13.7 This AGREEMENT will be governed by, construed, and enforced in accordance with the internal laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts,
without regard to conflict of law principles that would result in the application of the domestic substantive law of any other jurisdiction other than U.S. federal
law, in regard to any question affecting the construction or effect of any patent.
13.8 If RXi elects arbitration, the arbitration shall be conducted in Massachusetts, by one (1) independent arbitrator who is experienced in licensing
biotechnology intellectual property. The arbitrator shall be chosen by mutual consent of the PARTIES within thirty (30) days after RXi elects arbitration and
pays the fees of the arbitrator.
13.9 In publicizing anything made, used, offered for sale, sold, or imported under this AGREEMENT, RXi may use the name of ADVIRNA or otherwise
refer to any organization related to ADVIRNA, after obtaining written approval of ADVIRNA, which will not be unreasonably withheld or delayed.
13.10 RXi must place in a conspicuous location on ROYALTY-BEARING PRODUCT a patent notice in accordance with 35 U.S.C. §287. RXi agrees to
mark any products made using a process covered by any PATENT RIGHTS or TECHNOLOGY RIGHTS with the number of each such patent and, with
respect to such PATENT RIGHTS and, to respond to any request for disclosure under 35 U.S.C. §287(b)(4)(B).
13.11 Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the respective meanings ascribed to them in the Purchase Agreement.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the PARTIES have caused this AGREEMENT to be executed by their duly authorized representatives.
ADVIRNA, LLC
By: /s/ Alexey Wolfson
Name: Alexey Wolfson, Ph.D., MBA
Its: President
Date: September 28, 2011
RXi PHARMACEUTICALS CORPORATION
By: /s/ Mark J. Ahn
Name: Mark J. Ahn, Ph.D.
Its: President
Date: September 28, 2011
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EXHIBIT A
ASSIGNMENT OF PATENT APPLICATIONS
WHEREAS, ADVIRNA, LLC, a Colorado limited liability company, with its principal place of business at 10 Rocklawn Road, Westborough, MA 01581
(“Assignor”) is the owner of the following United States patent application, including but not limited to all international, provisional and other types of
applications related or claiming thereto (collectively, the “Patent Applications”):
Title

Number

Filing Date

Chemically modified polynucleotides and
methods of using the same

61/192,954
(Atty. Dock. No.
007330-01 USPRV)
PCT/US2009/005247
PCT/US2009/005246
13/069,780
PCT/US2009/005251

September 22, 2008

WHEREAS, Assignor is desirous of transferring the entire and exclusive right, title and interest in and to the inventions disclosed in said Patent
Applications (the “Inventions”) in the United States and throughout, the world, and in and to any Letters Patent which may be granted and issued therefor to
RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation (formerly RNCS, Inc.), a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business at 60 Prescott St., Worcester, MA 01605
(“Assignee”);
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals and other good and valuable consideration the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby
acknowledged, the parties hereby agree as follows:
1. Assignment. Assignor hereby assigns, transfers and conveys to Assignee all of Assignor’s rights, titles, and interests throughout the world in and to said
Patent Applications, the Inventions, and any and all Letters Patent whether U.S. or foreign that are or may be granted therefrom, including, without limitation,
any extensions, continuations, continuations-in-part, divisions, reissues, reregistrations, reexaminations and renewals thereof, or other equivalents thereof
(collectively, the “Assigned Patent Applications”), and further, all rights and privileges pertaining to the Assigned Patent Applications, including, without
limitation, the right, if any, to sue or bring and recover for, and the right to profits or damages due or accrued, arising out of or in connection with, any and all
actions for past, present and future infringement thereof.
2. Further Assignment. Assignor further assigns to and empowers Assignee, their successors, assigns or nominees, all rights to make applications for
patents or other forms of protection for said Inventions and to prosecute such applications and the Assigned Patent Applications, as well as to claim and
receive the benefit of the right of priority provided by the International Convention for the Protection of Industrial Property, as amended, or by any
convention which may henceforth be substituted for it, and the right to invoke and claim such
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right of priority without further written or oral authorization.
3. Authorization of Patent and Trademark Office to Record. Assignor further agrees that this assignment shall be deemed a full legal and formal equivalent
of any assignment, consent to file or like document which may be required in any country for any purpose regarding the subject matter hereof, as well as
constituting proof of the right of Assignee or its successors, assigns or nominees to apply for patent or other proper protection for said Inventions, and to
claim the aforesaid benefits of the right of priority provided by the International Convention for the Protection of Industrial Property, as amended, or by any
convention which may henceforth be substituted for it.
4. Further Assurances. Assignor agrees to take such further action and to execute such documents as Assignee may reasonably request to effect or confirm
the conveyance to Assignee of the Patent Applications and any improvements thereunder.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Assignment of Patent Application as of the last day indicated below.
ADVIRNA, LLC
By:
Printed Name:
Date:
The foregoing Assignment of Patent Application thereof by the Assignor to the Assignee is hereby accepted as of the ____ day of _____________, 2011.
RXI PHARMACEUTICALS CORPORATION
By:
Printed Name:
Date:
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EXHIBIT B
SECURITY AGREEMENT
This Security Agreement (“Agreement”) dated the 24th day of September, 2011, is by and between ADVIRNA, LLC, a Colorado limited liability company
having its principal place of business at 10 Rocklawn Road, Westborough, MA 01581 (“ADVIRNA”), and RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation (formerly
RCNS, Inc.), a Delaware corporation, having its principal place of business at 60 Prescott Street, Worcester, MA 01605 (“RXi”).
RECITALS
A. ADVIRNA and RXi are parties to a Patent and Technology Assignment Agreement dated the 24th day of September, 2011, as it may be amended from
time to time (hereinafter referred to collectively as the “Assignment Agreement”);
B. Pursuant to the Assignment Agreement, ADVIRNA has assigned to RXi certain Patent Rights and Technology Rights as defined in the Assignment
Agreement (herein called the “Collateral”);
C. Pursuant to the terms of the Assignment Agreement, RXi has granted to ADVIRNA a security interest in the Patent Rights and Technology Rights,
subject to no other security interests except those created in accordance with any subordination to which ADVIRNA agrees in writing; and
D. All capitalized terms not defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Assignment Agreement.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises contained herein, RXi and ADVIRNA agree as follows:
1. To secure the complete and timely satisfaction of the obligations of RXi pursuant to the Assignment Agreement solely as to (i) payment of any
licensing-based payments as the same become due and payable in accordance with Section 6.2 of the Assignment Agreement and applicable law (and subject
to any exceptions specified therein or elsewhere in the Assignment Agreement) and (iii) payment of any payments as the same become due and payable in
accordance with Section 4.1, 5.1 and 5.2 of the Assignment Agreement and applicable law (and subject to any exceptions specified therein or elsewhere in the
Assignment Agreement) (the “Secured Obligations”), RXi hereby grants, assigns and conveys to ADVIRNA a continuing security interest in and lien on all
of RXi’s right, title and interest in the Collateral. Nothing herein shall be deemed to create any other security interest in any other asset of RXi, and without
limiting the generality of the foregoing, ADVIRNA shall have no security interest in any other intellectual property rights of RXi.
2. ADVIRNA is authorized to file at any time financing statements, continuation statements, and amendments thereto, including, but not limited to, filings
with the United States Patent and Trademark Office or any other governmental agency, it deems necessary or desirable in order to secure and perfect its rights
under this Agreement or the Assignment Agreement,
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provided that any such filings shall make it clear in a manner reasonably satisfactory to RXi that the scope of the Collateral is limited to such particular
numbered patent(s), patent application(s) and related technology rights so assigned to it by ADVIRNA pursuant to the Assignment Agreement. RXi
authorizes and requests that Commissioner of Patents and Trademarks record this Agreement, or a copy thereof.
3. If a breach of RXi’s Secured Obligations shall have occurred and be continuing beyond the time period (if any) provided to cure such breach in the
Assignment Agreement, or, if none or a shorter period is stated in the Assignment Agreement, then sixty (60) days after written notice of such breach is
received from ADVIRNA, during which RXi shall be entitled to cure such breach, or if any proceeding is commenced by or against RXi under any provision
of the United States Bankruptcy Code, as amended, or any other bankruptcy or insolvency law (collectively, an “Event of Default”), ADVIRNA shall have in
addition to all other rights’ and remedies given it by this Agreement or the Assignment Agreement, those allowed by law and the rights and remedies of a
secured party under the Uniform Commercial Code (“UCC”) as enacted in any jurisdiction in which either the Collateral may be located or is otherwise
applicable.
4. Without the prior written consent of ADVIRNA, which will not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed, RXi covenants after any Event of
Default not to surrender or lose possession of sell, encumber, rent, license, transfer or otherwise dispose of the Patent Rights, Technology Rights or an interest
therein, except as expressly permitted in herein or in the Assignment Agreement. Prior to any Event of Default, RXi may license or otherwise deal with the
Collateral in any manner that it wishes, as long as any transfer or disposition is subject to ADVERNA’s security interest. In addition, the security interest
granted herein by RXi in favor of ADVIRNA shall be at all times subject and subordinate to any bona fide license, sublicense or other contract not creating
any lien or security interest made by RXi in favor of any affiliated or nonaffiliated party at any time prior to any uncured Event of Default notice issued by
ADVIRNA in accordance with this Agreement. ADVIRNA shall promptly execute any subordination agreement as may be reasonably ‘requested by any such
third party beneficiary of this provision in order to confirm or further evidence such subordination hereunder.
5. RXi hereby authorizes and empowers ADVIRNA to make, constitute and appoint any officer or agent of ADVIRNA, as ADVIRNA may select in its
exclusive discretion, as RXi’s true and lawful attorney-in-fact, with the power solely exercised in accordance with the requirements of the UCC and other
applicable law, after an Event of Default, to endorse RXi’s name on all applications, documents, papers and instruments necessary or desirable for ADVIRNA
to use the Patent Rights and Technology Rights, or to grant or issue any exclusive or nonexclusive license under the Collateral to any third person, or
necessary or desirable for ADVIRNA to assign, pledge, convey or otherwise transfer title in or dispose of the Collateral to any third person. RXi hereby
ratifies all that such attorney shall lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof in compliance with this Agreement and the Assignment Agreement and
applicable law. This power of attorney being coupled with an interest shall be irrevocable for the life of this Agreement
6. RXi shall have the right, with the consent of ADVIRNA, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed, to bring suit in its own
name, and to join ADVIRNA, if necessary, as a party to such suit so long as ADVIRNA is satisfied that such
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joinder will not subject it to any risk of liability, to enforce the rights related to the Patent Rights and Technology Rights.
7. At such time as RXi shall completely satisfy all of the Secured Obligations, ADVIRNA shall execute and deliver to RXi all releases, terminations, and
other instruments as may be necessary or proper to release the security interest hereunder.
8. No course of dealing between RXi and ADVIRNA, nor any failure to exercise, nor any delay in exercising, on the part of ADVIRNA, any right, power
or privilege hereunder or under the Assignment Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof; nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right, power or
privilege hereunder or thereunder preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege.
9. All of ADVIRNA’s rights and remedies with respect to the Collateral, whether established hereby, the Assignment Agreement, any other agreements or
by law shall be cumulative and May be exercised singularly or concurrently.
10. The provisions of this Agreement are severable,: and if any clause or provision shall be held invalid and unenforceable in whole or in part in any
jurisdiction, then such provision shall be ineffective only to the extent and duration of such prohibition or invalidity, without invalidating the remainder of
such provision or the remaining provisions of this Agreement.
11. This Agreement is subject to modification only by a writing signed by both parties.
12. The validity and interpretation of this Agreement and the rights and obligations of the parties shall be governed by the laws of the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts, excluding conflict: of laws principles that would cause the application of laws of any other jurisdiction. To the extent the provisions of the
Uniform Commercial Code govern any aspect of this Agreement, the Uniform Commercial Code as the same is, from time to time, in effect in the
Commonwealth of Massachusetts shall govern; provided, that in the event that, by reason of mandatory provisions of law, any or all of the attachment,
perfection or priority of or remedies with respect to the security interest granted on the Patent Rights and Technology Rights is required to be governed, by the
Uniform Commercial Code as the same is from time to time, in effect in a jurisdiction other than the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, then such
jurisdiction’s Uniform Commercial Code, as in effect, from time to time, shall govern only to the extent required by applicable law.
13. All judicial proceedings arising in or under or related to this Agreement may be brought in any state or federal court of competent jurisdiction located
in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.
[remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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WITNESS the execution hereof under seal as of the day and year first above written.
RXI PHARMACEUTICALS CORPORATION
By:
Name:
Title:
ADVIRNA, LLC
By:
Name:
Title:
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EXHIBIT C
PATENT AND TECHNOLOGY
LICENSE AGREEMENT
THIS PATENT AND TECHNOLOGY LICENSE AGREEMENT (“Agreement”), is entered into this 24th day of September, 2011 (the “Effective Date”)
by and between ADVIRNA, LLC, a Colorado limited liability company having its principal place of business at 10 Rocklawn Road, Westborough, MA
01581 (“ADVIRNA”) and RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation (formerly RNCS, Inc.), a Delaware corporation, having its principal place of business at 60
Prescott Street, Worcester, MA 01605 (“RXi”). ADVIRNA and RXi may each be referred to as a “Party” and collectively as the “Parties”. For good and
valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which is hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows:
1. Background of Agreement.
1.1 ADVIRNA assigned to RXi certain Patent Rights and Technology Rights pursuant to the Patent Assignment.
1.2 As part of the consideration for the Patent Assignment, RXi agreed to grant to ADVIRNA an exclusive license (with the right to grant sublicenses)
to the Patent Rights and Technology Rights to develop, manufacture, sell and distribute Licensed Products in the Grant-Back Field.
1.3 Such exclusive license in and to the Grant-Back Field is at no cost to ADVIRNA and is given in consideration of ADVIRNA’s assignment of the
Patent Rights and Technology Rights to RXi.
1.4 On September 24, 2011 ADVIRNA agreed to enter a Patent Assignment with RXi.
1.5 As part of the consideration for such Patent Assignment, RXi agreed to grant to ADVIRNA an exclusive license to the Technology Rights and
improvements to the Patent Rights, and rights to use the RXi Data within the Grant-Back Field.
2. Definitions. As used herein, the following terms shall have the meanings set forth below:
2.1 “Grant-Back Field” means all fields of use for the Technology Rights and Patent Rights outside of human therapeutic and diagnostic fields.
2.2 “Licensed Product” means any product for use in the Grant-Back Field that is either (i) researched, developed, manufactured, used, marketed or sold
in a manner that is covered by one or more Valid Claims; or (ii) developed, manufactured, used, or sold in a manner that utilizes any aspect of the
Technology Rights.
2.3 “Patent Assignment” means that certain Patent and Technology Assignment Agreement entered into by and between ADVIRNA and RXi, dated as
of September 24, 2011.
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2.4 “Patent Rights” mean any patent rights related to RNAi and self delivering technology set forth on Appendix 1 as well as all further improvements
of such sd-rxRNA technology, to the extent the claims are directly related to subject matter specifically described and supported in the patents and
patent applications set forth on Appendix 1, as well as in any patents issued on any of the foregoing and any reissues or reexaminations or
extensions of the patents, and any foreign counterparts to any of the foregoing.
2.5 “Technology Rights” mean any technical information, know-how, process, procedure, composition, method, formula, protocol, technique or data
developed by RXi or Galena BioPharma (formerly, “RXI Pharmaceuticals Corporation”), which are necessary for practicing the invention covered
by Patent Rights.
2.6 “RXi Data” is defined as all data related to Patent Rights and Technology Rights which has been publically disclosed.
2.7 “Territory” means worldwide.
2.8 “Valid Claim” means: (a) a claim of an issued and unexpired patent within the Patent Rights which has not been permanently revoked or held
unenforceable or invalid by an unappealable or unappealed decision of a court or government agency of competent jurisdiction or (b) a claim of a
pending patent application within the Patent Rights that has not been abandoned or finally disallowed without the possibility of appeal or refilling.
3. License to ADVIRNA.
3.1 Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, RXi hereby grants to ADVIRNA an exclusive (subject to Section 3.2 below), sublicensable
(subject to Section 4.1 below), royalty-free, fully paid-up, no-cost, right and license throughout the Territory in and to the Patent Rights and
Technology Rights to make, have made, use, offer to sell, sell, have sold, import and have imported Licensed Products in the Grant-Back Field (the
“License”). For clarity, the License to ADVIRNA in the Grant-Back Field is free of charge, milestones and royalties and is given in consideration of
ADVIRNA assigning to RXi the Patent Rights and Technology Rights.
3.2 RXi reserves rights to the Patent Rights and Technology Rights to make, have made, use, import and have imported products in the Grant-Back
Field for its own non-commercial, internal research and development purposes only.
3.3 Unless this Agreement is terminated or expires as set forth in Section 11 below, RXi shall not grant to any third party any rights or licenses to the
Patent Rights or Technology Rights in the Grant-Back Field.
3.4 Each Party agrees to take such further action and to execute such documents as the other Party may reasonably request to effect or confirm the rights
and licenses set forth herein.
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4. Sublicensing.
4.1 ADVIRNA may, in its discretion, grant to third parties sublicenses and sub-sublicenses under the Patent Rights and Technology Rights solely in the
Grant-Back Field. ADVIRNA will have the sole power to determine whether or not to grant such sublicenses and sub-sublicenses, and the royalty
rates and terms and conditions of such sublicenses, provided that such sublicenses shall be consistent with the terms and conditions of this
Agreement. All sublicense agreements shall be shared with RXi promptly after execution of the documents, all of which shall be deemed to be
Confidential Information of ADVIRNA.
5. [Intentionally Omitted].
6. Patent Prosecution.
6.1 The Parties acknowledge and agree that pursuant to the Patent Assignment, RXi shall control the prosecution and pay directly for all patent and
maintenance costs in respect of the Patent Rights during the term of the Patent Assignment. RXi agrees to provide ADVIRNA reasonable
opportunity to review and comment on prosecution matters, including by providing ADVIRNA with a copy of material communications from any
patent authority regarding such Patent Rights, and by providing drafts of any material filings or responses to be made to such patent authorities at
least thirty (30) days in advance of submitting such filings or responses. RXi shall reasonably consider and incorporate ADVIRNA’s comments in
good faith and ensure that inventorship conforms to the rules of the laws of the country in which such patent application is filed. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, for so long as Anastasia Khvorova serves as an officer of RXi, RXi need not comply with the notice and review provision of this
Section 6.1.
6.2 If, as set forth in the Patent Assignment, RXi decides in its sole discretion to abandon the prosecution and maintenance of the Patent Rights, RXi
agrees to assign all right, title and interest in and to the Patent Rights and Technology Rights to ADVIRNA and ADVIRNA will be solely
responsible for prosecution and maintenance costs of the Patent Rights, provided, however, that Advirna shall grant, and hereby grants, a worldwide,
non-exclusive, fully-paid and royalty-free license to RXi or its assigns to make, have made, use, sell and import products and services that would
otherwise infringe on any Valid Claims contained in such forfeited patents.
6.3 Nothing in this Agreement precludes ADVIRNA from contesting the validity of any Patent Rights. In the event evidentiary material comes to the
attention of ADVIRNA subsequent to the Effective Date that, in the judgment of ADVIRNA, bears on the validity or scope of any Patent Rights,
ADVIRNA will in good faith discuss with RXi whether such evidentiary material so affects the validity or scope of the Patent Rights to which it is
asserted to apply that the terms of this Agreement in respect to such Patent Rights should be modified.
6.4 In the event ADVIRNA intends to assert in any forum that any Patent Rights are invalid, unenforceable, or unpatentable, ADVIRNA will, not less
than ninety (90)
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days prior to making any such assertion, provide to RXi a complete written disclosure of each and every basis then known to ADVIRNA for such
assertion and, with such disclosure, will provide RXi with a copy of any document or publication upon which ADVIRNA intends to rely in support
of such assertion. ADVIRNA’s failure to comply with this provision will constitute a material breach of this Agreement. If Advirna so asserts in any
forum that any Patent Rights are invalid, unenforceable, or unpatentable, then this license shall automatically terminate.
7. Litigation.
7.1 Each Party will notify the other Party in writing of any suspected infringement(s) of the Patent Rights and/or Technology Rights in the Territory and
will provide to the other Party any evidence of such infringement(s).
7.2 RXi has the right to institute suit for infringement(s) in the Territory so long as the Patent Assignment is in full force and effect. ADVIRNA agrees
to join as a party plaintiff in any such lawsuit initiated by RXi, if requested by RXi, with all costs, attorneys’ fees, and expenses to be paid by RXi.
7.3 RXi will be entitled to any recovery of damages resulting from a lawsuit brought by it pursuant to Section 7.2.
7.4 RXi may not settle with an infringer without the prior approval of ADVIRNA if such settlement would affect the rights of ADVIRNA under the
Patent Rights and Technology Rights, which approval will not be unreasonably withheld or delayed.
7.5 In the event that RXi does not take reasonable actions in respect of any such infringement in the Grant-Back Field within one hundred eighty
(180) days after receipt of written notice of such infringement, then ADVIRNA may, at its sole cost and expense, pursue such infringement as it
relates to the Grant-Back Field and recover any damages resulting from a lawsuit brought by ADVIRNA in pursuant to this Section 7.5. RXi agrees
to join as a party plaintiff in any such lawsuit initiated by ADVIRNA, if requested by ADVIRNA, with all costs, attorneys’ fees, and expenses to be
paid by ADVIRNA. ADVIRNA may not settle with an infringer without the prior approval of RXi if such settlement would affect the rights of the
RXi under the Patent Rights and Technology Rights, which approval will not be unreasonably withheld or delayed.
8. Representations and Disclaimer of Warranties.
8.1 Each of the Parties hereby represents and warrants to the other Party that, as of the Effective Date:
8.1.1 Such Party has full corporate right, power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to perform its respective obligations under this
Agreement and that it has the right to grant the licenses granted pursuant to this Agreement;
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8.1.2 This Agreement is a legal and valid obligation binding upon such Party and enforceable in accordance with its terms. The execution, delivery
and performance of this Agreement by such Party does not conflict with any agreement, instrument or understanding, oral or written, to which
it is a party or by which it is bound, nor, to its knowledge, violate any law or regulation having jurisdiction over it;
8.1.3 Such Party has not granted any right to any third party that would conflict with the rights granted to the other Party hereunder;
8.1.4 Except for regulatory approvals, pricing and/or reimbursement approvals, manufacturing approvals and/or similar approvals necessary for the
development, manufacture or commercialization of a Licensed Product (and the components thereof), such Party has obtained all necessary
consents, approvals and authorizations of all government authorities and other persons required to be obtained by it as of the Effective Date in
connection with the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement; and
8.1.5 There is no action or proceeding pending or, to such Party’s knowledge, threatened, that questions the validity of this Agreement or any action
taken by such Party in connection with the execution of this Agreement.
8.2 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, neither Party will be in breach of any representation or warranty made pursuant to this Section 8 to
the extent that the Party alleged to have so breached can demonstrate that the Party alleging such breach had, on or prior to the Effective Date, actual
knowledge of such breach of such representation or warranty.
8.3 EXCEPT FOR THE EXPRESS WARRANTIES SET FORTH IN SECTION 8.1 NEITHER PARTY MAKES ANY REPRESENTATIONS AND
GRANTS NO WARRANTIES, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, EITHER IN FACT OR BY OPERATION OF LAW, BY STATUTE OR OTHERWISE,
AND ADVIRNA AND RXI EACH SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIMS ANY OTHER REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES, WHETHER
WRITTEN OR ORAL, EXPRESS, STATUTORY OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING ANY WARRANTY OF QUALITY, MERCHANTABILITY OR
FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR USE OR PURPOSE OR ANY WARRANTY AS TO THE VALIDITY OF ANY PATENT RIGHTS OR THE
NON-INFRINGEMENT OF ANY INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS OF THIRD PARTIES. EACH PARTY HEREBY DISCLAIMS ANY
REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY THAT THE DEVELOPMENT, MANUFACTURE AND COMMERCIALIZATION OF A LICENSE
PRODUCT PURSUANT TO THIS AGREEMENT WILL BE SUCCESSFUL OR THAT ANY PARTICULAR SALES LEVEL WITH RESPECT
TO THE LICENSED PRODUCT WILL BE ACHIEVED.
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9. Limitation of Liability.
IN NO EVENT WILL EITHER PARTY BE LIABLE FOR LOST PROFITS OR FOR ANY SPECIAL, INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL,
CONSEQUENTIAL OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES, HOWEVER CAUSED, ON ANY THEORY OF LIABILITY AND WHETHER OR NOT SUCH
PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES, ARISING UNDER ANY CAUSE OF ACTION AND ARISING IN
ANY WAY OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT, EXCEPT AS A RESULT OF A PARTY’S INDEMNIFICATION OBLIGATIONS HEREUNDER,
WILLFUL MISCONDUCT, GROSS NEGLIGENCE, RECKLESS CONDUCT OR A BREACH OF THE CONFIDENTIALITY IN SECTION 10.
10. Confidential Information.
10.1 All information: (a) disclosed by ADVIRNA to RXi; (b) disclosed by RXi to ADVIRNA; or (c) related to or arising out of the Technology Rights
owned by RXi, will be referred to as “Confidential Information.” Each Party will only use the other Party’s Confidential Information as required
for the performance of this Agreement. Each Party will continue to use reasonable efforts to prevent the disclosure of any of the other Party’s
Confidential Information to third parties for a period of five (5) years after the termination of this Agreement, provided that the recipient Party’s
obligation will not apply to information that:
10.1.1 was known to the receiving Party prior to its disclosure to the receiving Party by the disclosing Party as evidenced by written documents
predating the receiving Party’s receipt of such Confidential Information;
10.1.2 is public knowledge at the time of its disclosure to the receiving Party or became public knowledge after its disclosure to the receiving Party
through no act or omission or on its behalf;
10.1.3 is or later becomes published through no fault of the receiving Party;
10.1.4 is disclosed or made available to the receiving Party by a third party which, to the receiving Party’s knowledge, had no direct or indirect
obligation to the disclosing Party to maintain the confidentiality of such Confidential Information at the time of such disclosure to the
receiving Party; or
10.1.5 is independently developed by the receiving Party without the aid or benefit of Confidential Information disclosed to the receiving Party by
the disclosing Party.
10.2 In the event that information is required to be disclosed by court order, law or regulation, the Party required to make disclosure will notify the other
to allow that Party to assert whatever exclusions or exemptions may be available to it under such law or regulation.
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11. Termination.
11.1 This Agreement will expire upon the expiration of the last to expire of the Patent Rights included herein, or upon the abandonment of the last to be
abandoned of any patents included herein, whichever is later, unless this Agreement is sooner terminated.
11.2 ADVIRNA may terminate this Agreement at any time upon ninety (90) days written notice in advance to RXi and all of ADVIRNA rights granted
herewith will revert to RXi.
11.3 The word “termination” and cognate words, such as “term” and “terminate,” used in this Section 11 and elsewhere in this Agreement are to be read,
except where the contrary is specifically indicated, as omitting from their effect the following rights and obligations, all of which will survive any
termination to the degree necessary to permit their complete fulfillment or discharge:
11.3.1 The representations and disclaimer of warranties of Section 8;
11.3.2 The limitation of liability of Section 9;
11.3.3 The confidentiality provisions of Section 10; and
11.3.4 The indemnification provisions of Section 12.
12. Indemnification.
ADVIRNA will hold RXi harmless against all liabilities, demands, damages, expenses, or losses arising: (1) out of use by ADVIRNA, or its sublicensees of
inventions licensed or information furnished under this Agreement or (2) out of any use, sale, or other disposition by ADVIRNA or its sublicensees of
products made by use of such inventions or information.
13. General Provisions.
13.1 This Agreement may not be assigned or transferred by ADVIRNA, including without limitation through merger, acquisition, sale of assets, or
operation of law, without the prior written consent of RXi, which consent may not unreasonably be withheld, delayed or conditioned. This
Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns.
13.2 This Agreement constitutes the entire and only agreement between the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof, and all prior negotiations,
representations, agreements, options and understandings are superseded hereby, including without limitation any terms or conditions relating to the
license back to ADVIRNA as set forth in the Patent Assignment. No agreements altering or supplementing the terms hereof may be made except
by written mutual agreement by the Parties.
13.3 The relationship between ADVIRNA and RXi is that of independent contractors. ADVIRNA and RXi are not joint venturers, partners, principal
and agent, master
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and servant, employer or employee, and have no other relationship other than independent contracting parties. ADVIRNA will have no power to
bind or obligate RXi in any manner, other than as is expressly set forth in this Agreement. Likewise RXi will have no power to bind or obligate
ADVIRNA in any manner, other than as is expressly set forth in this Agreement.
13.4 If any provision of this Agreement is ultimately held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining
provisions will not in any way be affected or impaired thereby.
13.5 Any delay in enforcing a Party’s right under this Agreement or any waiver as to a particular default or other matter will not constitute a waiver of
such Party’s rights to the future enforcement of its rights under this Agreement, except only as to an express written and signed waiver to a specific
matter for a specific period of time.
13.6 Any notice required by this Agreement will be given by personal delivery (including delivery by reputable messenger services such as FedEx) or
by prepaid, first class, certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to:
ATTENTION:
ADVIRNA, LLC
10 RockLawn, Westborough, MA 01581
with a copy, which shall not constitute notice to:
Rubin and Rudman LLP
50 Rowes Wharf
Boston, MA 02110
Attn: Peter B. Finn, Esq.
or in the case of RXi to:
President and CEO
RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation
60 Prescott St.
Worcester, MA 01605
or at such other addresses as may be given from time to time in accordance with the terms of this notice provision.
13.7 This Agreement will be governed by, construed, and enforced in accordance with the internal laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts,
without regard to conflict of law principles that would result in the application of the domestic substantive law of any other jurisdiction other than
U.S. federal law, in regard to any question affecting the construction or effect of any patent.
13.8 If either party elects arbitration, the arbitration shall be conducted in Massachusetts, by one (1) independent arbitrator who is experienced in
licensing biotechnology
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intellectual property. The arbitrator shall be chosen by mutual consent of the Parties within thirty (30) days after a party elects arbitration and pays
the fees of the arbitrator. Each party shall have its own costs and expenses, including attorneys’ fees and costs, witness fees, travel and the like.
13.9

In publicizing anything made, used, offered for sale, sold, or imported under this Agreement, ADVIRNA agrees to properly acknowledge RXi as
a source of all data used.

13.10 ADVIRNA must place in a conspicuous location on Licensed Products, a patent notice in accordance with 35 U.S.C. §287. ADVIRNA agrees to
mark any products made using a process covered by any Patent Rights or Technology Rights with the number of each such patent and, with
respect to such Patent Rights and, to respond to any request for disclosure under 35 U.S.C. §287(b)(4)(B).
13.11 Each Party shall duly execute and deliver, or cause to be duly executed and delivered, such further instruments and do and cause to be done such
further acts and things, including the filing of such assignments, agreements, documents and instruments, as may be necessary or as the other
Party may reasonably request in connection with this Agreement or to carry out more effectively the provisions and purposes hereof or to better
assure and confirm unto such other Party its rights and remedies under this Agreement.
[remainder of this page left intentionally blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Agreement to be executed by their duly authorized representatives.
ADVIRNA, LLC
By:
Name: Alexey Wolfson, Ph.D
Its: President and Chief Executive Officer
Date: September , 2011
RXI PHARMACEUTICALS CORPORATION
By:
Name: Mark J. Ahn, Ph.D.
Its: President and Chief Financial Officer
Date: September , 2011
[Signature Page to Advirna License-Back Amendment]

APPENDIX 1
List of RNAi related patent applications covered by Patent Rights:
•

PCT/US2009/005247

•

PCT/US2009/005246

•

PCT/US2011/029867

•

PCT/US2011/029824

•

PCT/US2011/029849

•

13/069,780

•

PCT/US2009/005251

•

PCT/US2010/000019

•

PCT/US2010/000348

•

12/867181

•

PCT/US2011/027165

•

PCT/US2010/000348

•

13/054696

Exhibit 10.9
D’Anne Hurd
Vice President and General Counsel
Vice President for Business Development at Gateway Park
100 Institute Road • Worcester, MA 01609-2280
Phone: 508 831-5072 • Fax: 508 831-6530
e-mail: dhurd@wpi.edu
August 28, 2008
Tod Woolf, Ph.D.
RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation
60 Prescott St.
Worcester, MA 01609
Subject: RXi Pharmaceuticals/Newgate Properties Lease Amendment
Dear Tod,
Per the discussions with Eric Overstrom, Director of the WPI Life Sciences and Bioengineering Center (Newgate Properties, LLC), this letter is to serve as an
amendment to the Lease between RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation and Newgate Properties, LLC dated September 25, 2007.
Beginning September 1, 2008, RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation agrees to add to their premises the Option Space shown in Exhibit D of the existing Lease.
The addition of the Option Space to the current Lease will occur in two stages under the following terms:
•

Lease of room GP3208, containing 240 square feet of usable laboratory space, will commence on September 1, 2008. Per the existing Lease terms,
the rent will increase by a rate of $34.00 per square foot per annum for a total rent increase of $680.00 per month. Therefore, total monthly basic rent
will be $15,716.50 beginning September 1, 2008 until further notice.

•

In addition to the above, lease of the western most lab pod on 3rd floor containing 610 usable square feet of laboratory space (the remaining 3rd floor
option space in shown in Exhibit D) will commence at a later date with at least 60 days prior notice. Shared access to GP3238 is also provided. Per
the existing Lease terms, the rent will increase by a rate of $34.00 per square foot per annum ($1,728.33 per month). Total monthly basic rent will be
$17,444.33 beginning 60 days after notice, effective through the remainder of the Lease term.
1

By signing this letter, we agree to the above terms.
Very truly yours,
LANDLORD:
Newgate Properties, LLC
By: /s/ Jeffrey Solomon
Jeffrey Solomon; Executive Vice President and CFO
Worcester Polytechnic Institute
TENANT:
RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation
Acknowledged and Agreed to as of this 5th day of September, 2008.
By: /s/ Tod Woolf
Tod Woolf, Ph.D., President and CEO
RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation
2

Exhibit 10.10
D’Anne Hurd
Vice President and General Counsel
Vice President for Business Development at Gateway Park
100 Institute Road • Worcester, MA 01609-2280
Phone: 508 831-5072 • Fax: 508 831-6530
e-mail:dhurd@wpi.edu
November 4, 2008
Tod Woolf, Ph.D.
RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation
60 Prescott St.
Worcester, MA 01609
Subject: RXi Pharmaceuticals/Newgate Properties Lease Amendment
Dear Tod,
Per your discussion with Eric Overstrom, Director of the WPI Life Sciences and Bioengineering Center (Newgate Properties, LLC), this letter is to serve as
an amendment to the Lease between RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation and Newgate Properties, LLC dated September 25, 2007.
Beginning November 5, 2008, RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation agrees to add to their premises room GP3009 (as shown on the attached floor plan) which
contains 595 useable square feet of office space. Per the discussed terms rent will increase by a rate of $34.00 per square foot per annum ($1,685.83 per
month). Total monthly basic rent will be $17,402.33 beginning November 5,2008.
By signing this letter, we agree to the above terms.
Very truly yours,
LANDLORD:
Newgate Properties, LLC
By: /s/ D’Anne Hurd
D’Anne Hurd, Vice President and General Counsel
Worcester Polytechnic Institute
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TENANT:
RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation
Acknowledged and Agreed to as of this day ______ of November, 2008.
By: /s/ Tod Woolf
Tod Woolf, Ph.D., President and CEO
RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation
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Exhibit 10.11

June 9, 2011
Mr. Jeffery Solomon
Worcester Polytechnic Institute
100 Institute Road
Worcester, MA 01609-2280
Dear Mr. Solomon
This letter is to serve as an amendment to the Lease between RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation and Newgate Properties, LLC dated September 25, 2007 and
later amended on August 28, 2008 and again on January 23, 2009.
Landlord and Tenant agree to amend:
Section 1.1 as follows:
Premises: For the period from June 16, 2011 to June 30, 2012, the portion of the first floor of the Building consisting of approximately 2,882 square feet of
office space and a portion of the third floor consisting of approximately 2,425 square feet of laboratory space, all as more particularly shown on Exhibit A
attached hereto. On or before June 15, 2011, Tenant agrees to vacant all other third floor premises consisting of approximately 595 square feet of office space
and approximately 850 square feet of laboratory space and Landlord agrees to give Tenant a rent credit of $2047.00 (1,445 x $34.00 / 12 x .5).
Basic Rent: Notwithstanding any verbal or written statements to the contrary, the Landlord and Tenant hereby agree that the schedule of Basic Rent shall be:
1. For the period from July 1, 2011 to July 31, 2011
2. For the period from August 1, 2011 to June 30, 2012
(Computed as 5,307 sf x $37.00 / 12 months)

$15,036.50
$16,363.25 per month

Term: Notwithstanding any verbal or written statements to the contrary, the Landlord and Tenant hereby agree that the Term of this Lease shall terminate on
the earlier of:
1. June 30, 2012, or
2. 90 days from the date that Tenant provides written notice to Landlord of its intent to vacate the Premises and terminate the Lease.
[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
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Tenant:
/s/ Mark Ahn
Mark Ahn, Ph.D., President and CEO

June 10, 2011
(Date)

RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation
Lessor:
/s/ Jeffrey S. Solomon
Jeffrey S. Solomon, EVP &CFO

6 /20/11
(Date)

Worcester Polytechnic Institute
2

Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation
Worcester, MA
We hereby consent to the use in the Prospectus constituting a part of this Registration Statement of our report dated October 25, 2011, relating to the financial
statements of RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation, which is contained in that Prospectus.
We also consent to the reference to us under the caption “Experts” in the Prospectus.
/s/ BDO USA, LLP
Boston, MA
October 25, 2011

Exhibit 99.1
CONSENT OF PROSPECTIVE DIRECTOR
I, Kevin C. Tang, hereby consent to be named as a prospective director of RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation in the Registration Statement on Form S-1 of
RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation, and any amendments thereto.
/s/ Kevin C. Tang
Kevin C. Tang
Dated: October 24, 2011

Exhibit 99.2
CONSENT OF PROSPECTIVE DIRECTOR
I, Roderick T. Wong, hereby consent to be named as a prospective director of RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation in the Registration Statement on Form S-1
of RXi Pharmaceuticals Corporation, and any amendments thereto.
/s/ Roderick T. Wong
Roderick T. Wong
Dated: October 24, 2011

